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I confess that after reading your letter one of my first thoughts was — Why has Forrest not
written a book upon his explorations? I hope now that you are able to look ar all your
surroundings with a mature mind and with more knowledge than any other explorer in
these regions has had that you will put it all down as a story written in the natural manner
of your graphic letters and issue it to the world. It is bound to have a great circulation and
fo be a great success.
Professor 1.B. Balfour, Regius Keeper, Royal Botanic Garden Edinburgh
to George Forrest, 1 October 1917

To have lived down these years of high cndeavour when Forrest stood pre-eminent among
plant hunters, handling his beautiful material either in the herbarium or in the garden, must
have been a rare privilege, a privilege the like of which is unlikely to be given to man again.
Dr. H.R. Fletcher, Regius Keeper, Royal Botanic Garden Edinburgh,

mn Cowan, Dr. J. Macqueen,

The Journeys and Plant Introductions of George Forrest VMH

(Oxford University Press, 1952)
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Preface

garden stroll and the twinkle in an old lady’s eye started me on the detective

trail of George Forrest. The stroll was in the Botanic Gardens at Ness, near
Chester, where their balm and beauty soaked in and a new curiosity welled up
within me. The plant labels showed how plants had come from all over the world,
and one particular post, next to a very handsome bush of Pieris formosa forrestii,
proudly announced, ‘This plant grew from the first packet of seed sent by George
Forrest’. Who was he?

An exhibition explained that these gardens were founded by an enterprising
Liverpool cotton broker, Mr A K. Bulley, and here he started the new nursery of
Bees Lud, for which he paid George Forrest to go to the remote mountains of
Yunnan, in south-west China, to collect seeds. Forrest set out in 1904 and found
an unbelievably rich flora to which he returned on six more expeditions.
Altogether he sent home mule-loads of seeds for our gardens, and 31,000 dried
plant specimens for study. This was a mighty achievement and [ set out to read more
about him.

Unfortunately, Forrest never wrote a book about his travels and, although he is
always mentioned in books about plant hunters in Asia in that period, there are
only two books that concentrate on him. These are:

1. George Forrest, VMH, The Scottish Rock Garden Club (1935)
2. Journeys and Plant Introductions of George Forrest ’HM, ed. J. Macqueen Cowan
(OUP, 1952)

These books leave important questions unanswered. What motivated this man to
keep on going back? What was he like? What was his life like? Who else paid for
him to go on these expeditions, and was it only for plants? I became more curious,
especially as the main hope of ever extending our information on him seemed to
rest on his letters. Where could they be found?

When a friend’s mother came for tea, she suddenly said with a twinkle, ‘T have a
niece in Inverness who has some letters from George Forrest’. I visited the niece
and the neatly folded letters were safely housed in a biscuit tin. As [ excitedly
opened them on the kitchen table, George Forrests accounts of his latest
adventures, and near murder, came tumbling forth in his easily recognised writing.
It was a magic moment. This famous plant hunter, who first set off to roam the
wild, remote and misty mountains of south-west China one hundred vyears ago, was
brought to life. Such nuggets nourished the urge to find more evidence.

A further thrill came with the opening of an attic trunk in Essex. It revealed
documents that even Forrest’s granddaughter had never seen before: Forrests
Chinese passports, his contracts for several expeditions, written in Forrests hand and
signed by his sponsors, together with Chinese currency of silver ingots. It was the
stuff of a biographer’s dream, and lit up the detective trail that has led to this book.



Prologue

In 1880 a thirty-four year old wealthy, English gentleman of extraordinary energy
and vitality was already a widely travelled naturalist. This man of giant frame and
booming voice, Henry John Elwes, had amassed a vast collection of birds. butterflies
and plants. Inspired by the Himalayan Journals of Sir Joseph Hooker,' Elwes had
recently collected in the Sikkim Himalaya. He loved gardening, lilies were one of
his favourite plants, and it seemed an appropriate time to write 3 monograph about
them. He produced a sumptuous folio work of great beauty, the first to bring
together illustrations of every known species of the genus Lilinm.*

On the basis of the evidence before him, Elwes wrote in the introduction to his
monograph:‘l do not think many new species remain to be discovered; for ... not
more than three or four species have been added to the genus in the last four years’.
As he surveyed the world in his mind, he made one important proviso:

The only regions from which much novelty can be expected are the Eastern Himalayas
and the immense tract of unexplored and difficult mountain country which surrounds
our Indian Empire on the north and east, and which lies around the headwaters of the
Irrawaddy, the Brahmaputra and the Yang-tse-kiang.

Thirty-five years later so many new lilies had been discovered in the Sino-Himalayan
mountains that Elwes had to consider the preparation of a Supplement to the
original volume.

George Forrest was one of the intrepid botanical explorers who rose to the
challenge of these remote regions. His plant and seed collections contributed to this
explosion in knowledge of the plants of the Sino-Himalaya. Not only new lilies,
but new species of Primula and Rhododendron were also discovered on a scale
never envisaged. It was a tremendously exciting time for gardeners and scientists as
the new discoveries poured into Europe, and Elwes himself subscribed to one of
Forrest’s expeditions.

This book enters into the excitement, as we examine Forrests life, the
development of his career, and the motivation that led him to make seven long
expeditions to the mountains of Yunnan in south-west China.

L. Hooker. ). Himalayan Journals, 2 vols., John Murray, 1854
2. Elwes, H.). A monograph of the Genus Lilim, London, 1880
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INTRODUCTION

Yunnan — a Botanist’s Paradise

Yunnan is a home of beauties.

1. Bayley Balfour to A.K. Bulley, 31 March 1897

irports and hotels now serve such a thriving tourist industry in the magnificent

mountains of south-west China that it is difficult to appreciate how very
inaccessible this area used to be. Colourful books, with beautiful pictures of the
camellias, gentians, primulas and rhododendrons of Yunnan, make one forget that a
hundred years ago many of these flowers were unseen by the outside world. This
beautiful corner of China is so isolated by mountains and vast distances that
foreigners reached here very late in the country’s long history. Some Yunnan plants
were known from herbarium specimens of dried plants; hardly any had been
introduced to Europe as garden plants. The area still held great potential for George
Forrest when he arrived in 1904

A century before this, the wild plants and animals of the whole of inland China
were almost unknown outside the country. Merchants and collectors were limited
to the coastal ports of Canton and Macao, where one enterprising collector,
Thomas Reeves, employed Chinese artists to paint plants, butterflies and animals
(Plate 2). But only a trickle of horticultural plants reached Europe. The Celestial
Empire was closed to foreigners; exploration inland was forbidden.

Step by step, against Chinese opposition, a series of treaties improved access to the
interior. The first step was taken in 1842 with the signing of the Treaty of Nanking
which opened five coastal ports for trade with foreigners. The next year the
Horticultural Society (now the RHS) sent Robert Fortune to look for ornamental
and useful plants in the vicinity of the newly opened ports. He collected
abundantly from private, nursery and temple gardens. returning with plants such as
Anemone japonica and Trachycarpus fortunei. But Fortune was mainly restricted to
searching out horticultural plants near the coast. Foreigners could still only nibble
at the edge of this vast country; the wild tlowers inland were out of their reach.

The pressure on China to open up its borders continued through the 1850s and
was helped by the decline of the oppressive Ch'ing dynasty. In 1858 Lord Elgin
signed the Sino-British Treaty of Tientsin, which granted Britain the right to have
an ambassador, secured the entry of missionaries and their protection by the Chinese
authorites, and allowed unhindered and protected travel for British subjects on
consular passports. British ships were given the right to trade on the Yangtze and
more ports were opened. This breakthrough in the freedom of travel for the British
was rapidly followed by the same concessions for the Americans, French, Germans,
Dutch and Spanish.' As merchants, missionaries and explorers penetrated far inland,
they discovered an unsuspected wealth of China’s plants and animals.

Intrepid Russian explorers approached China from the north. Carl fohann Opposite:
Maximowicz probed the borderlands through Manchuria in 1854, and later Plate 1. Primutla poissoni.
Russian travellers such as Nicolai Przewalski explored widely i northern China. A historic picture (1892)
They collected for the Imperial Botanic Garden of St Petersburg, and some of their ~ of one of the few species

that came into culuvation

duplicates were exchanged with Kew. preparing the wav for future collectors such : amedn A
p 8 prep ° ’ in Britain, via Kew. from

as Farrer. B»ut th‘e Russians did not reach Yunnan. _ o . Pére Delavay’s seeds. The
Meanwhile, trom the coast, Roman Ctholu and P»rotestant 11115519113rles illustration is from

penetrated to remote and inhospitable areas of China, enduring great hardship and Curtis’ Botanical

ill health, harassment and humiliation, and facing hostility as foreigners and Magazine.



Plate 2. An early 19th
century panting of
Camellia and buttertlies
from John Reeves’
collection, Canton. The
first animals that Forrest
collected in large numbers
were butterflies.

Christians. The French Jesuits, in particular, made collections that revealed the huge
diversity of plant and animal life in inland China.

Jean Pierre Armand David, who arrived in 1862, was one of the first and most
outstanding French missionary collectors to go to China. His specimens were
deemed so interesting that he was released from his apostolic work to concentrate
on collecting plants, birds and mammals. He found the dove or handkerchief tree,
Davidia involucrata, and the giant panda. He travelled more than 3,000 miles
(5.000km) through north. central and western China. as far south as the Yangtze
River. Despite introducing few plants to cultivation, he laid the foundation to our
knowledge of the flora of China.’ Classic publications of all his collections
emanated from the Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle in Paris over twenty years. from
1868 to 1888, including the two-volume Plantac Davidianac produced by the hard-
working director, Adrien-René Franchet.

Yunnan, however, was still largely unexplored and in 1875 Maximowicz reviewed
what remained to be done in China and proposed the Tibet/China border as the
next most important area for exploration. He told Joseph Dalton Hooker, Director
of Kew," That ought to be the exploring field for hardy and experienced travellers:
Szetchuan |sic] and part of Yunnan'.®

Maximowicz was perceptive in pomting to the significance of these remore
mountainous provinces. Agam it was a Jesuit missionary, Jean-Marie Delavay, who
pioneered plant collection in Yunnan. From 1882 he was stationed for nearly ten
vears near Tali (Dali) in north-west Yunnan, the *Switzerland of China’, where high
snow-capped ranges with alpine flowers contrast with deep valley  gorges
contaiing subtropical plants (Plate 3). Delavays enormous collections, compiled in
his spare time. were a model for all those who followed. He repeatedly visited the
same Jocalities, collecting flowers and fruits of the plants, and even some seed. The
well-known garden plants, Dentzia discolor and Osuantlins delarayr, were introduced



Plate 3. A satellite photograph of part of N.W.
Yunnan. The crests of the north-south oriented
mountains are highlighted by snow. The historic
city of Dali lies about two-thirds of the way down
the plain west of the large lake called Erhai. Both
Pére Delavay and George Forrest collected plants i
this area.

by him, although untfortunately only a small proportion of his discoveries were
raised successfullv. Franchet estimated that Delavay sent back to Paris some 2600,000)
botanical specimens, representing more than 4000 species, of which about 1.500
were new to science.’ The size of his collection was overwhelming. Franchet never
completed writing up all Delavays plants. but he published results in several
Journals, most notably mn Plantac Delavayanae. where the stunning Himalavan blue
poppy (Meconopsis betonicifolia) was first described.”

News of such massive missionary contributions gradually spread in the 18805 and
1890s through scientific journals, correspondence and gossip. Their collections
became one of the ‘hot topics’ among botanists and gardeners at the forefront of
knowledge. A few of Delavay’s plants were grown at Kew in the 1890s (Plate 1).
Joseph Hooker referred to Rhododendron rubiginosum as “another of the swarm of
Western Chinese Rhododendrons discovered by the indefatigable Abbé Delavay'”
The possibility of a rich mountain flora in western China, mooted earlier by
visionaries like Elwes. was becoming a reality. Briush focus on Szechuan and
Yunnan was now sure to follow: especially as the expanding British Empire made
possible a new, shorter, route into Yunnan.

In 1886 — the hevday of British imperialism = the Viceroy proclaimed that *Upper
Burma was annexed to the Britsh Indian Empire’.” Burma provided the route into
south-west China via the Irrawaddy river. The Irrawaddy Floulla Company’s
steamers were immortalised in 1890 by Rudyard Kipling: "Can’t you ‘“ear their
paddles chunkin® from Rangoon to Mandalay?™ The company received a
Government subsidy for a regular and increased packet service for the 700 miiles
(1.120km) between Rangoon and Bhamo. From there the trontier of Chima and
Yunnan was only chirtv-five miles (56km) away. albeit by a mountainous mule
track. Traders dreamed of a4 gateway to new markets: others dreamed of new plants
and seeds. As we shall see, the route through Burma was to provide George Forrest's

great opportunity to explore a ‘botanist’s paradise’,
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CHAPTER ONE

Scottish Background

Tinte fiture contained in time past
TS.Elot!

he first thirty years of George Forrest’s life are largely hidden from view, but

there are welcome shafts of light that give us an insight into his background,
upbringing and early manhood. Forrest’s forebears were rooted in and around
Larbert, near the Firth of Forth (Plate 3). As the general population became
increasingly mobile in the nineteenth century, the family spread out but largely
remained in Central Scotland, while Forrest himself was to adventure much further
afield. We shall see glimpses of his forebears around Larbert, Forrest’s early family
life in Falkirk, his training in Kilmarnock, his adventures in Australia and his
budding ambition to be a plant collector.

Family background

George Forrest was a vigorous and determined plant collector who trekked over
rugged mountain ranges in south-west China on foot, horseback and mule, even
through deep snow and dense mist, to find new flowers in cliff crevices or on boggy
mountain passes. He did not spare himself and was renowned for his strong physique.

He was not the first in the family to lead a tough and physically demanding life. Three
generations of men before him, either in the Carron Iron Works or as sailors, had years
of work demanding great fitness and strength, and courage in the face of danger.

All his grandparents came from the Larbert area, north of Falkirk, and both his
parents were baptised at Larbert Parish Church. When his father, who was also called
George Forrest, and his mother. Mary Bain, married they united two fanulies of
contrasting characteristics and talents (see Plate 4). On his fachers side were tough.
skilled craftsmen and businessmen, high-class shopkeepers, property owners, all well

Plate 5. The Forrest
family in Scotland.
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established in their communities. On his mother’s side the Bains were a sea-faring
family, including masters of sailing ships, who led adventurous and hazardous lives.

The Carron Iron Works, by the River Carron, was an important feature of life in
the Larbert area. Established in 1759 to work and smelt iron on a large scale, it
became Scotland’s largest manufacturing plant and a significant employer. Many of
the Forrest family worked with the smelted iron under the very tough conditions
of its mighty blast furnaces, while the Bains sailed in Carron ships.

George Forrest’s great grandfather was a labourer at Carron, his grandfather James
Forrest was a blacksmith, three great uncles were in ironwork and two uncles were
blacksmiths. Carron’s most famous product was the Carronade, a short naval
cannon of large bore, designed for close combat at sea and used eftectively in battles
of the Napoleonic Wars.

The Napoleonic Wars also changed the life of George’s grandfather, Walter Bain,
who became a legendary figure in the tamily. ‘My grandfather fought against the
French for many years in the Napoleonic Wars!” wrote Forrest when friendly with
French missionaries in China.” The son of a sailor, Walter was only twelve years old
when he first went to sea, sailing in ships of the Carron Company that were trading
between Grangemouth and Liverpool. Then in 1810, aged twenty, he was press-
ganged into the Navy’ ~ one of the many that were forced into service to make up
the crews of naval ships. Two years later, having been ‘Prest” as an Able Seaman, he
was on the Muster Roll for HMS Duncan.* The Duncan was a two-decker medium-
sized ship carrying 74 guns, with 590 men on board.® Conditions on board were
cramped and hard; desertion was not unknown, but Walter endured it until the end
of the Napoleonic Wars.

Walter Bain’s first two years on the Duncan were spent patrolling the waters off
the east and south coasts of England. From there the ship went to the
Mediterrancan and in November 1814 she set sail for Brazil as flagship of Rear-
Admiral Sir John P. Beresford (1766-1844), to escort the exiled Prince Regent of
Portugal, Dom Joao, back to Lisbon. They were at sea for two months before
waiting four months in Rio de Janeiro, but returned without the Prince Regent
and sailed back to Portsmouth in the summer of 1815. Walter was then free to
marry Mary Gentles, but the following year he was at sea again, on the Carron ship
Proserpine, one of the fast-sailing schooners trading to London. He served twenty-
three years on this ship as mate, followed by a further thirteen years as master. His
wife bore him nine children and one of his sons, James Gentles Bain, also joined
the ships of the Carron company, becoming master of the screw steamer Denvent.
So three generations of Bains sailed from ports on the River Carron.

Meanwhile, Walter Bain’s family had moved from Carronshore to the next-door
parish of Bothkennar, and in Bothkennar Church, on 9 November 1852, the two
local families, the Bains and the Forrests, were joined when Mary Bain married
George Forrest. They were both twenty-two years old and were to be the parents
of the plant hunter, George Forrest.

Falkirk bairn

George's father was a grocer in Paisley when he married Mary Bain and they had
their first six children there. But tragedy struck the family. Their firstborn died
when nearly a year old, two boys died in infancy and another child was stillborn.
After this loss of four infants, Mr and Mrs Forrest moved with their surviving two
children to make a fresh start in Grahamston, Falkirk. They were part of the young
migrant population that was moving from one swiftly growing town to another
in search of employment, and Mr Forrest became apprenticed to a draper in
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Falkirk. Together they had a further seven children and, when our plant hunter.
George Forrest, was born at Falkirk on 13 March 1873, he was the last of thirteen
children (Plate 6). His mother had borne children for nearly twenty vears but,
when young George arrived, his parents had only one other surviving son, James.
George’s birth must therefore have been a particularly happy addition to the
family. James was then sixteen vears old and he was later to take on special
responsibility for his yvoung brother.

When George was born his parents and their eight surviving children were hving
at 32 Grahams Road. Falkirk, and they no longer had a domestic servant. Their
neighbours were a tobacco spinner, a shoemaker. and another draper: other traders
of the lower middle class in the very stratified society of those Victorian times. In
1876, when another draper’s shop became vacant, Mr Forrest rented these prenuses
and set up a ‘New Drapery Establishment™ at no. 124, on the north side of the High
Street, advertising ‘Drapery Goods of every description’. Six years later Mr Forrest
also became an agent for the flourishing Pullars” dveworks at Perth. He was
bettering himself and. when no. 34 Grahams Road became vacant. the Forrest
household moved into this improved accommodation.

Mr Forrest promised ‘prompt and careful attention” in his shop and honest hard
work was expected of everyone in the houschold. A sense of duty, caring and
seriowsness of purpose permeated the family and was linked to their religious
beliefs. George Forrest's parents embraced the dynanism and vitality of Victorian
religion and were staunch supporters of the Evangelical Union, a branch of the
Free Church which had a special appeal among the skilled artisans and upwardly
mobile middle c¢lass in Scotland. Their daily toil was uplifted by joyous religious
fervour, and thrift went hand in hand with voluntary "givings’ to church missionary
funds.” There was a huge release of missionary energy in Britain and missionaries
in Africa and China had a leading role in overseas explorations.

Plate 6. Register of
births in Forrest tamily
Bible. (One stillborn
child was not recorded.)



In Falkirk George’s father played a prominent part in the local church and an
elder sister accompanied the singing on the harmonium, an instrument popularised
by the American evangelists. Moody and Sankey, in their revival campaign of 1873-
74. George’s elder brother, James, went to Edinburgh to train for the E.U. Church
Ministry. Young George was therefore accustomed to an atmosphere of evangelical
zeal, long before he stayed with missionaries in China. No wonder he felt at home
among missionaries, as well as grateful for their hospitality and assistance.

As George was a ‘lad o pairts’, his parents set great store on giving him a good
education. Schooling in Scotland, at that time, was compulsory only up to the age
of thirteen, but George was to continue until the age of eighteen. He began at the
Southern School in Falkirk, but had to move as in 1885 his father gave up the shop
because of failing health. Young George (aged twelve) and his elder four unmarried
sisters moved with their parents to Kilmarnock to join the eldest son, James, who,
having completed his training, was now a nunister there. In the long term the move
turned out well for the younger son and he always stayed particularly close to his
unmarried sisters, [sabella and Grace, and to his brother, James, with whom he
shared his time in Kilmarnock.

Kilmarnock influences

Moving to Kilmarnock was a major change for the young George Forrest. He left
behind a large network of family and friends and set up home with his brother
James. His brother was now the Revd James Forrest, MA, pastor of Clerk’s Lane
Church, and he took his family responsibilities seriously. He was truly and literally
‘my brother’s keeper’, which was most fortunate for young George Forrest.

Kilmarnock provided an important training ground for this budding teenager up
to his early years of manhood. Forrest benefited from a supportive home, an excellent
school and a climate in which enquiry was encouraged. There was opportunity for
natural history exploits and learned societies, and he gained his first job there.

Forrest attended the Kilmarnock Academy and received a broad education,
subsidised by government grants. This was a privilege as, at that time, only about four
to five per cent of the age group was able to benefit from secondary education, far
less a good school.* The Rector of Kilmarnock Academy, Dr Hugh Dickie, was an
exceptional and much respected person, a learned and outstanding teacher. By the
time George Forrest arrived, Dr Dickie had established the Academy’s good
reputation. He cultivated a high standard of teaching and was keen on promoting
science. In 1887 a new science laboratory was opened. This was the first science
laboratory in Ayrshire and it made the Academy a pioneer in the teaching of science
in the west of Scotland.” Furthermore, Dr Dickie had a ‘marvellous power of
communicating a knowledge of science and leading young people to take an interest
in it and attain a proficiency in it’." This obviously worked for George Forrest.

Everyone at the Academy studied a wide range of subjects that included geology.
physical geography, botany, practical inorganic chemistry, mathematics, French,
German and Latin."" This background later enabled Forrest to gain mastery of
botanical Latin — the lingua franca of all botanists worldwide — and to converse, albeit
somewhat hesitatungly, with the French missionaries in China.

The Revd James Forrest also provided plenty of stimulus for his brother. He was
sixteen years older than George and a man of deep thinking and strong views. He
wrote articles in the local newspapers on Home Rule, Socialism and John Ruskin.”
While pastor of Clerk’s Lane Evangelical Union Church in Kilmarnock he was
tried for heresy. resulting in him and his church members leaving the Evangelical
Union and joming the Unitarians.” Unitarianism was associated with progressive



causes and welcomed intellectual debate and, in 1890, as an enthusiastic recent
convert, James was sponsored by the Trust of William McQuaker to give lectures
on Unitarianism. It was said that ‘his high scholarship and argumentative powers’
made him a valuable lecturer." Argumentative powers were also a feature of his
younger brother, George, and later would almost wreck his career.

Meanwhile, the health of their father deteriorated further. Before Christmas 1888
he became paralysed on one side of his body and in early September the following
year he slipped into a coma. On the morning of 14 September 1889 the sixteen
year old George Forrest woke to learn that his father had died. From then on the
close relatonship between the two brothers seemed to lead George to regard his
older brother more like a substitute father.

The year their father died, the Revd James Forrest became a member of the
Glenfield Ramblers’ Society. Could this have been partly to take his energetic
younger brother out of the house, to share in an acuvity which the lad enjoved:
James was an enthusiastic naturalist who is reported to have fostered his brother’s
interest.'" The Glenfield Ramblers’ Society was active and popular in the town™ and
both Hugh Dickie and David Murray, George’s mathematics master, were
members. There were plenty of enthusiasts in Kilmarnock from whom George
could learn more about the wildlife of the countryside.

One outstanding naturalist in Kilmarnock, who was also the Hon President of the
Glenfield Ramblers, was the Revd David Landsborough IT (1826-1912) (Plate 7). He
had contributed to a revised edition of his father’s book, Arran. its Topography, Natural
History, and Antiguities. He discovered new species of algae, shells and fossils in Ayrshire
and some discoveries were named after him. When the University of Glasgow
conferred an honorary degree of LL.D. on David Landsborough II in 1901, it was said
in the presentation that ‘his untiring energy and enthusiasm...had endeared him to
many students and made his name a household word throughout Ayrshire’.”

It is likely that the teenage George Forrest was one of those students in
Kilmarnock who benefited from the zeal and passion of the Revd David
Landsborough II. Landsborough had three brothers in Australia™ and tales of them
may even have inspired Forrest to go there. One of Landsborough’s particular
enthusiasms was the introduction of Australian and other exotic plants to the Isle
of Arran."” He received seeds of gum trees direct from Ferdinand von Mueller
(1825-1896),™ the leading Australian botanist of the nineteenth century. It would
be utterly surprising if Landsborough’s passions had not rubbed off on Forrest, who
was later to discover new species, introduce many of them to Britain, and even to
take his own family for holidays on the Isle of Arran.

However, when George Forrest left school, aged eighteen. his future as a natural
history collector was not mapped out. He did not go to university, although the
Academy prepared students for university entrance, and we can only speculate on
the reasons why. (Maybe further academic study did not appeal, or financially he
had to find a job.) He took work in the well-established and prospering family
business of Messrs Rankin and Borland, pharmaceutical chemists.*! This enterprise
was not simply a local apothecary’s concern. It had a most extensive stock of
chemicals, drugs, proprietary and patent medicines. and a factory manutacturing
‘aerated waters’ on an extensive scale. It was in the heart of Kilmarnock by the
Town Cross and it had local and country trade. wholesale and retail.

The proprictor. Mr John Borland (Plate 8). an influential member of the
Glenfield Ramblers, was a keen scientist, a professional analyst and a member of the
Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain. Plant-derived drugs and products were
important in pharmacy at that time and it has been said that George Forrest
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Plates 7 and 8. Two
formatve itluences in
Kilmarnock: Revd David
Landsborough (1826-1912)
and Mr John Borland.
chenust.

Plite 9. George Forrest.
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betore his plant collecting

career.
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collected plants, drying, labelling and mounting them while working at the
pharmacy.”™ There are no records to confirm this, although we know that he was
very familiar with A Manual of Botany by Professor Robert Bentley, an Honorary
Member of the Pharmaceutical Society and one of the three editors ot the British
Pharmacopocia, 1885. The Manmal was a textbook of especial value to medical and
pharmaceutical students, being a work of reference for those who required
“accurate and condensed information on the Properties and Uses of plants™. George
Forrest did not become a qualified pharmacist,” although his eldest son said that
he ‘made pills” while at the pharmacy. Certainly. when first in China. George
Forrest asked his brother to send a copy of the Manual out to him. He found 1t a
boon when first sorting out the Chinese flora, as the plant classification i the
Manual was based on the Genera Plantarm used in the Flora of Bentham and
Hooker, which he knew.

Australia — a formative experience

The year of 1898 fortuitously gave Forrest his first big chance of adventure, as he
received a small inheritance from a prosperous uncle. He used the money to travel
to Australia and his experiences there were to have a profound influence on the
young man. He gained a taste for life in the wild and he would later refer to it
when on his plant hunting expeditions i China.

The wealthy uncle was John Forrest.a grocer and wine merchant in Larbert who,
having inherited monies and property through his mothers family, himselt bought
land and property. He owned many properties at Larbert Crossroads, including the
Red Lion Hotel and the large tenement block known as Forrest's Buildigs. He
died on 25 November 1897 without having any children. 1o his will a share was
given to George Forrest’s fate father, to be divided equally among his children. At
the end of February 1898 it was confirmed that a small legacy (probably about
L50, equivalent to approximately /2,800 today: taken as Nov. 2003 throughout)
was available tor George This was sutficient to buyv o ticker to Australia and the
twentv-tive vear old George set off on his first great adventure in forcign lands.

George visited relatives in Australia and tried sheep tarmimg and gold digging. Atter
the Californan Gold Rush of 1849 the Australian discoveries of gold had become



headline news. Many books had been published giving advice on where to po and
how to survive when camping in the outback. Perhaps inspired by these, George
Forrest joined in the last flurry of gold digging in New South Wales. It was a rough,
tough life and, although he discovered at least one sizeable nugget,™ a fortune in gold
eluded him, though he was tortunate that, out of the blue, he inherited a second small
legacy at the end of 1898, from another of his uncles, James Forrest of Larbert.

George's love of exploration also surfaced in other ways and these new adventures
had their challenges. After some time in the interior, George attempted to reach the
coast by crossing a desert area but, as the watering-places on which he relied had dried
up, he got into desperate straits and almost died of thirst before he got through.*

George Forrest was a risk taker and a survivor,a man who coped in the rough and
precarious conditions of the outback, travelled miles on horseback and tound a
happy challenge in firing his Winchester rifle at distant kangaroo. Overall, his time
in Australia was a crucial. formative experience in a wild and hazardous
environment, and he emerged a man of the ‘right grit’ for a natural history collector.

Forrest returned to Scotland via South Africa, richer in experiences if not in
gold, toughened up and eager for more travel and the outdoor life. The appeal of
exploration combined with adventure in the wild had been strongly aroused,
though the way ahead was not clear. This was a pattern that was to repeat itself
many times in his life, one expedition after another.

Back in Scotland

We next find Forrest, aged thirty, living with his seventy-three year old mother and
three unmarried sisters in Linden Cottage. 16 High Street (Linden Place),
Loanhead,” a small coal-mining village in the parish of Lasswade, six miles (9.5km)
south of Edinburgh (Plate 10). The beautiful wooded banks of the North Esk valley
were nearby, with fishing and walking on the Pentlands and beyond. The primary
landmarks of Loanhead were the Reformed Presbyterian Church, with its new
clock, and the community was proud of its even newer cast-iron fountain with its
horse drinking trough, and a street lamp to light the main cross-roads. The Forrests’
neighbours included several miners, a chemist and two greengrocers, a millworker,
papermaker. mason and engineer.” There were two ‘smiddies’ (blacksmiths’
workshops) in the High Street, shoeing horses and ‘ringing’ wooden cart wheels,
and a large engineering workshop's noise clashed with the clatter of horses” hooves
as they passed along the High Street. After Forrest’s travels it must have seemed a
staid, provincial, conservative community, kirk and school being the centres of most
peoples’ lives.

Later, when Forrest looked back at ‘dear old dirty Linden Cottage’.™ it was with
affection; his family had always provided a vital security. As in so many Scottish
burghs, despite the strong feeling of community it was not unusual for a person to
go overseas. Loanhead men took up management positions in India and went to
far-flung corners of the world to mine coal. gold. diamonds and tin. Others went
as missionaries to Arabia and China and one worked as a river pilot on the
Irrawaddy in Burma — which was to become Forrest’s main route into China.* We
don’t know what influences this had on Forrest, but in this expansive era people
were confident and enterprising in working abroad within and beyond the Empire.

Back in Scotland, Forrest's elder brother, James, was again helpful and influential.
He introduced George to a Glasgow natural history society for which George was
to collect local Scottish plants. This was to be of significant importance for future
developments, yet it was only a flickering glow compared with the outcome of the
following unexpected series of coincidences.
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An important letter
There is an element of luck 1n every lite, but the quality of an individual 1s shown
the way chance is used. George Forrest made the most of the luck that came his way.,

The turning point in his life came in Scotland in June 1903 with his chance
discovery of some human bones. This led to an amazing chain of events and a vital
introduction to the Regius Keeper of the Royal Botanic Garden Edinburgh. The
story illustrates Forrests two essential characteristics: an explorer with an enquiring
mind and a collector contributing to knowledge.

Forrest was on a fishing trip at Gladhouse Reservoir, south of Edinburgh. when
he noticed the corner of a stone coffin or cist projecting from an croded bank. He
investigated and found that the end-slab had fallen off and there was a skeleton
inside. Thrilled, he took a few bones to the Keeper of the Muscum of Nauonal
Antiquities in Edinburgh (now part of the National Muscums of Scotland). He
was soon returning to the site of discovery with the Hon John Abercromby,
secretary of the Society of Antiquarics of Scotland. Abercromby was a retired and
fricndly gentleman of leisure, a scholar with wide-ranging interests, including
archaeology. He liked to see what was going on.” There was also something
appealing about Forrest. an open, triendly and persuasive voung man, utterly
laicking in pretence and pretentiousness, and exuding an cager curiosity. The two
men started digging and uncovered three long stone cists, cach contaming a
skeleton laid on it back, but in varving states of decay.” The cists were probably

from the carly Christian period = the second part of the first millennium AL



Being a sociable man in the ‘small world’ of Edinburgh, as it was then,
Abercromby was also acquainted with Professor Isaac Bayley Balfour, the Regius
Keeper of the Royal Botanic Garden Edinburgh (RBGE). hnpressed by Forrest,
and learning of his background and ambitions, Abercromby decided to help him
by writing to this Professor.™ It was a crucially important letter:

June 21 1903
Dear Prof. Balfour

Do you know of any person or society that wants a collector to collect tor them
abroad any kind of botanical specimens. [?]

I have recently come to get slightly acquainted with a young fellow of the name of
Forrest who lives out at Loanhead. At present he is collecting specimens of the plants
in the three Lothians for some society in Glasgow with which his brother. who is a
minister 11 Glasgow has to do. He would rather travel than stay at home and has had
some experience of roughing it as a gold digger in N. South Wales. ..

If you would care to see him [ will tell him. He looks the right sort of man.

Yours sincerely,
John Abercromby

This letter ‘rang bells’ for the Afty year old Balfour. Years before, he had even
invested £100 in gold mining in Queensland, inspired by tales of “Flakes of gold as
big as a man’s hand.. slicing it off with cold chisels. By jingo it’s more like Arabian
nights than modern gold mining’.* Balfour also understood the urge to collect
plants overseas, having collected on the island of Socotra, in the Indian Ocean, in
his youth. However, although new exotic plants were being reported from abroad.
Balfour could find no immediate opening for a collector.

Months passed and Forrest waited anxiously before asking Balfour politely for
news. Balfour was abroad and did not receive the letter immediately. Then, on
1 September 1903, Balfour helpfully made Forrest a tentative offer:

It has ...occurred to me ...it might be possible to give you, should you care for it,
some work temporarily in the garden here — in connection say with the Herbarium of
dried plants, where at any rate you could acquire further knowledge of plants and could
learn the methods of preservation and arrangement of collections. It so happens thac |
have a vacancy on our Staff just now. The lad who has left has been receiving pay at the
rate of 10/~ per week and for a start | should be glad to give that to you as a beginner...
Should a post of this kind suit you I shall be glad to hear from you.You might begin
work at once if you care to come.”

Forrest leapt at the chance. The job offered valuable training and experience that
would increase his skills as a collector. He replied by return of post, ‘I shall be most
pleased to accept the position you offer, and trust to fill it with satisfaction to you.
After this week 1 shall be free and at your service’.

‘Dear Sir, replied Balfour, ‘If you will come to the Garden on Monday next the
7" Sept. you will find the Assistant in the Herbarium prepared to give you
instructions as to your work — Come between 9 and 10 a.m.

This was only a humble, temporary job. The wage was no better than a sixteen
year old could earn in a nursery. Forrest was probably earning more as an
apprentice pharmacist in Kilmarnock. At Kew the minimum wage for an adult
gardener and labourer was 21/- in 1895. But it was as if the genial and kind
Abercromby, with all his experience of life. had turned a key to open the door to
fresh opportunities for Forrest, unlocking his potential. Forrest’s life was to open up
in an exciting way that no-one could have envisaged.
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Left:

Plate 11. Professor Isaac Bayley Balfour, Regius
Keeper of the Royal Botanic Garden Edinburgh,
1888 to 1922, and mentor to George Forrest for

mneteen years.

Below:
Plate 12. The Herbarium where George Forrest
met Clementina Traill. Shown is Helen Miller

who knew Forrest and worked on his specimens.




CHAPTER TwoO
George Forrest and the Lure of China

He is a strongly built fellow and seems 1o me
to be of the right grit for a collector
Professor Isaac Bayley Balfour, 28 April 1904

hen Forrest walked into the Royal Botanic Garden Edinburgh (RBGE) on

7 September 1903 he was entering a new world that would change his life
in two fundamental ways. The RBGE was the ideal training ground for a plant
collector and it was also the place where Forrest would meet his future wife. The
RBGE was a vibrant place to be and it provided a rich learning environment under
the Regius Keeper, Professor Bayley Balfour (Plate 11). Balfour had many contacts
in the worlds of botany and horticulture and he was to be the link between Forrest
and his two loves, his wife and China.

In the Herbarium

Balfour was a dynamic leader, he was superbly qualified and dedicated to the
advancement of the RBGE. He had studied in Germany and had been Professor
of Botany in Glasgow and Oxford. Now aged fifty, he had been making progressive
improvements in the Edinburgh Garden for fiftcen years. He was resolute,
hardworking and had good relations with his staff.

When Forrest arrived at the RBGE Balfour had recently appointed three young men
who were contemporaries of Forrest: Harry Tagg in the Museum, William Wright
Smith on the teaching staff and Robert Adam as an assistant head gardener. All three
were to be Forrest’s loyal colleagues and life-long friends. He would return to them
time and again after his expeditions. Thus, unknown to any of them, the foundations
for the future were forming as soon as Forrest stepped into the Herbarium.

At that time the Herbarium was in the Caledonian Hall, a smallVictorian building
at the southern end of the Garden, which was the hub of the Garden’s taxonomic
work. Dried, pressed plants that represented a huge diversity of floras were sent there
from all over the world. Specimens were treated with chemicals to prepare them for
permanent storage, and they had to be carefully mounted, labelled, examined and
sorted (Plate 12). Forrest was taught the great value of a complete specimen, with
its flowers and fruit, its stems and leaves and even roots. He was honing his skills and
gaining new expertise that was to be invaluable to him in the future. He would later
become renowned for the quality of his dried specimens and the care with which
they were pressed, dried, and arranged for mounting.

Forrest learned of tropical and temperate plant families and worked on genera
that he had never heard of before. He handled Himalayan specimens and saw North
American plants that do not grow naturally elsewhere. It was enriching to come
across this huge spectrum of plant life. His interest and curiosity were aroused.

Stimulus abounded in this confined space. Rows of three-tiered cupboards stored
dried pressed specimens. The walls were lined with journals and books that helped
the people there to classify, describe and name the incoming plants, some of which
were newly discovered. Forrest had expert tuition from specialists who were at the
frontier of knowledge and he saw that being a collector was part of something
bigger: using the system of Linnaeus to bring order to the profusion of the world’s
plants. His time at the RBGE made him all the more determined to go off across
the world to discover plants that were so far hidden from the European gaze.



Plate 13, Clementina

Teaill (far right) ouwide

the Caledonian Hall
which housed the
Herbarium. John E
Jettrev. in charge ot the
Herbarmum, is second
from the lett.

Clementina
A voung lady of twenty-six was already working at the Herbarmum when the durey

vear old George Forrest arrived at the RBGE in 1903, Fler name was Miss Traill,
Harriet Clementina Mary Wallace Traill. She was call and slime smaartly but demurely
dressed. with a quict smile (Plate 13). She was o charming and gracious person of
retiring disposidon, but, as they worked together in this small building by the rock
garden, Forrest won her trust and confidence and the two colleagues gradually
fcarned more about one another.

Clementing was familiar with the passions of plant collecting: it was in her blood.
A love of natural history was a skein that threaded through three generations of
Traills 10 the nineteenth century, The family owned land and lived in the Isles of
Orkney in the days when the sea=shores o Britain were a happy hunting ground
for ardent collectors, Clementinas grandtather was William Traill of Westness and
Woodwick, and his wite Flarriet collected seaweeds with their children. One of
these children, Dr Willam of Woodwick. becamie a surgeon who collected beautitul
Eastern shells from Madras to Malacca. and in China and Smgapore,

Another child was Clementas facher, George W lranlll He tilled his spare me
with the collection and study of marme and treshwater algae. Tle spent torty-two
vears 1 the head othice of the Standard Lile Asurance Co.at grand prennses m
George Streer, Edinburgh, and has been vartously deseribed as a clerk, bookkeeper
and accountnt. Clementina, the third of George Tralls tour children.was born i
1877, Soon afterwards the timily moved from I'dinburgh o Joppa on the Tirth of
Forth. where the rocky shores were clothed in rich carpets of areen. hrown and red

seaweed. There the children acquired from thewr Dcher the skills of detnled,
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accurate observation and they were used to the long hours he spent studving and
arranging his internattonal collection of specimens. He was an intrepid collector,
even with declining health and failing evesight,” and he wrote ten papers on the
marine algae of Joppa. the Firth of Forth and the Orkney Islands.” Seaneeds were
named after him. including the genus Trailliclla: and species such as Phyllophora
trarllii.

Baltour knew Traill through the Botanical Sociery of Edinburgh. They visited
cach other to see their respective algal collections in the Traill home and the
RBGE. and betore Traill died in 1897 he donated part ot his algal collection to
the RBGE (Plate 14).* Balfour knew Clementina from when she was ewelve yvears
old and later offered her a job in the Herbarium where her fathers collection of
algae was lodged.”

Friendship between Clementina and George Forrest soon developed and
blossomed. They found that they both lived with widowed mothers and shared a
sense of humour. She was intrigued by tales of his adventures in Australia and her
quict steadfastness complemented his zeseful spirit. As the bond between them
grew, Clementina’s mother sometimes invited Forrest to their home for meals. It
was springtime. Clementina was a keen walker and naturalist and they shared a love
of the countryside.

Yunnan beckons

It is possible that Forrest had no special mterest in China betore he arrived at the
RBGE. If so, that was soon to change. The Regius Keeper, Bavley Baltour. was alert
to the contnuing revelations of the rich Chinese mountain flora and keen to grow
new introductions. More than ten vears before Forrest arrived at the RBGE. the
Garden was competing for seeds that Abb¢ Delavay had sent from Yunnan to the
Jardin des Plantes i Paris. The Garden obtained seed trom Delavavs newly
discovered Rliododendron vacemesim and in 1893 Balfour proudly sent this tlower for
llustration in Curtiss Boranical Magaziue. Tt was an early Tunt of the many
rhododendrons in Yunnan awaiting seed collection for our gardens.

Plate 14 George Forrest’s
tather-m-law, George W.
Tratl, was an authority on
algae. This seaweed,
Cleraminm strictint, 15 one ol
the rarer species he
collected i Fife m 1885 as
number 11.49% 1 his
Herbarium.
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Plate 15. Cartoon of Arthur
K. Bulley. Liverpool cotton
broker, with a socialist

document in his pocket.
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Balfour had an impressive web of contacts at home and abroad to keep him up
to date with developments in the fields of botany and horticulture, and as an
eminent botanist he was elected to membership of scientific societies on the
Continent and in Britain.” He was Fellow of the Linnean Society which
published, in 1892, the known plants of China. The long list included over thirty
species of Primmula that Delavay had found, providing mounting evidence of the
huge diversity of plants that existed in Yunnan." No wonder that botanists and
gardeners were anxious to obtain more seeds from there. But how?

One of Balfour’s more unusual correspondents who wanted seed from Yunnan
was a Liverpool cotton broker, Arthur K. Bulley (Plate 15). Bulley was a catalyst
who made things happen and he was to be a most unexpected and fortuitous
influence on Forrest’s career.” He was an exceptionally keen and knowledgeable
gardener and a lively, colourtul character. He was a cultured man of great
individuality, with an unkempt look and a trilby hat among the smartly dressed,
bowler hat brigade at the Cotton Exchange. Bulley was the only Liverpool cotton
broker with strong socialist leanings, in those pioneering days of the Labour party.
and he later canvassed (unsuccesstully) as a Labour candidate in municipal elections
and as a Women's Suffrage candidate for parliament.

Bulley and Balfour had a matching enthusiasm and fascination for introducing
new flowers to Britain. Bulley, as an amateur gardener. had a very special
collection of alpine and hardy plants in his garden and he used every means
possible to add to its rarity value. In the [890s he circulated a lithographed letter
to anyone who might be useful, from a Customs man or Consul to a representative
in the cotton trade:

[ am an enthusiastic and devoted lover of wild flowers which are hardy enough to
stand the cold of an English winter out of doors ... All hardy plants are interesting to
me - the smallest gentian or Saxifrage of the mountains. as much as the tallest Lily or
Rose of the woods and plains.

Now for the main question. Have you any natural love of flowers? Or. if not, do you
know of any people in your part of the world who have. Because. if so, and vou would
let me have their addresses. I would gladly write to them and say. that if they have
nothing more important to do, to gather and send me a few seeds or bulbs of anything
they may consider beautiful growing in their neighbourhood. T would with pleasure
pay the carriage, and send them in return seeds of the best things which grow in
English gardens. Gardening is my hobby and delight. And truly 1t would be a pleasing
thought that one had been instrumental in adding to the store of beauty in hardy
flowers available for poor men’s gardens.”

This was a huge gamble, but in Bulley’s global quest for seed he wrote more
personal, pleading letters to other enthusiasts, botanic gardens and nurserymen and
he surprised Balfour by the wide variety of plants that he offered to the Botanic
Garden m Edinburgh.

One of Bulley’s sources of seed was Augustine Henry, recruited as a young man
to the Imperial Maritime Customs Service in China (see Plate 94). He was posted
in lonely and virtually unexplored territory in central China and then Yunnan and,
as an antidote to boredom, Henry offered to collect herbarium specimens for Kew
in his spare time, employing native collectors to help him. He sent Bulley some
seeds, confiding to a friend, 'l don’t know [Bulley|, but he wrote to me for seeds ...
He 1s an enthusiast. | have a weakness for enthusiasts. cranks and the like"

Extracts from Henry's Yunnan letters to the Director of Kew were published in
the Kew Bulletin in 1897, for all to see:



As regards botany, this region is, I imagine, the most interesting in the world. Tt 1s
evidently the headquarters of most of the genera which are now spread all over Europe
and Asia in great part ... | intend to go on collecting vigorously, and hope to rival
Delavay in Yunnan. His 3,000 species will be hard to beat.”

Henry's enthusiasm was infectious and he reported that his shoes were nearly worn
out from all the trekking, but mules were cheap and he had just had a tent made
for trips.

Bulley was gradually being persuaded of the desirability of focusing on Yunnan.
He wrote to Henry, 'I've just been reading Hosie's book, "'Three years in Western
China’... I found the general description of Szechuan and Yunnan very clear and
helpful. What he said about the Flora of Tali [Dali] has made my mouth water."”

The same year Henri Correvon, a leading light on alpine plants. confirmed this
by writing Bulley a firm postcard in his idiosyncratic English:

If you know somebody which is in Yunnan you must write ... All the plants of Delavay
come from there. Read the publication of Franchet on the new Primula: ... Gentians,
Paconies, Anemones, Iriss [irises]. etc. of the Yunnan. I always wish to hear that
somebody would go there ... if you have a friend there ask him for seeds of Primula
and Paeonies etc. etc., faithfully yours H.Correvon.”” (Plate 16.)

Ever eager, Bulley wrote to missionaries who were stationed at Tali [Dali], in the area
where Delavay had been based in Yunnan: ‘I've written to the C.I.M. [China Inland
Mission] people there offering all sorts of bribes. Shortly T shall tackle the papists.”™

But Augustine Henry became adamant that so much time and patence were
needed to collect seeds as well as herbarium specimens that full-time collectors were
required. He tried to persuade the Director of Kew, William Thiselton-Dyer, ‘so great
is the variety and beauty of the Chinese flora and so fit are the plants for [the]
European climate, that an effort ought to be made to send out a small expedition.

In the 1899 issue of the Kew Bulletin Henry echoed the thoughts of the
experienced collector, Henry John Elwes, saying, ‘until the great region north-east,
as it were, of the Himalayas is explored, people will have no idea of the richness of
the world in beautiful plants”” He wished that he could be sent to Tengyueh, near
the border between Burma and Yunnan, where he had heard that a Customs House
was to be established: ‘A little more north there are higher mountains. and I think
there would be quite a new flora there’. In his next published letter in the Kew
Bulletin he was even more precise. ‘there would be a chance of rivalling Delavay's
collections from the mountains near Tali'.

Such news was tantalising to people like Balfour and Bulley. They ached to get their
hands on more seed from Yunnan. Balfour, as director of the RBGE, was bound by
the terms of the Treasury not to raise money for such a venture. whilst Bulley, who
had only just bought the land for Ness Gardens, was resistant to starting his own
commercial nursery. Meanwhile, in 1899, the nursery firm of Messrs James Veitch &
Sons, Chelsea, sent E.H. Wilson to central China to collect seed of the handkerchiet
tree, Davidia involucrata, gaining advice from Augustine Henry on the way.

In 1901 Augustine Henry visited Bulley at Ness and reiterated his thoughts on
the need for a full-time collector in Yunnan. Both men realised that the recent
opening of a Customs post at Tengyueh provided a shorter route through Burma
into Yunnan. As they walked and talked, Augustine Henry gave his constant advice:
‘Don’t waste noney on postage — send a man’.* Bulley eventually decided late in
1903 that he would start his own nursery, named from his initials: A. Bee & Co. A
special feature of his nursery would be a professional, full-time collector to gather



seeds of hardy and alpine plants from the mountains made famous by Delavay.

The decision now made, Bulley wasted no time. He wrote an advertisement for
a collector in the Gardeners’ Chronicle and wrote to Balfour at the Royal Botanic
Garden Edinburgh.

Wanted: a plant collector

On 30 April 1904 a highly compressed message in fairly small print appeared low down
in a ‘Trade’ column under ‘Situations Vacant’ in the Gardeners’ Chronicle. It was seven
months since Forrest started at the RBGE and it was to be a life-changing message:

WANTED, a YOUNG MAN well up in Hardy Plants, to go out to the East and
Collect. - Box 15, G.P.O., Liverpool

Bulley wrote this advertisement as a nurseryman intent on finding the best possible
person to harvest the hardy and alpine flora of the Yunnan mountains.

Even better for Forrest, three days earlier, Bulley had also written to Balfour to
ask him whether he had a suitable man on his staff for such an expedition. The
answer from Balfour was very positive.

Royal Botanic Garden
Edinburgh
28 April 1904
Dear Mr Bulley,

There is a man, Forrest, here who is on the lookout for a billet such as you describe.
I have given your letter to him and he will write to you.

He was recommended to my notice by John Abercromby, the Naturalist, as a man
who was collecting plants for some Society in Scotland and who wished to go abroad
as a collector. I could find nothing for him in that line but took him on my staft in the
Herbarium so that, whilst of use to us, he might gain a wider knowledge of plants. He
has been working here for about 6 months and I have found him an excellent
industrious and steady man. He has had opportunity here of getting to know a good
deal about the plants of the world and he seems to have profited by it. The Head of the
Herbarium speaks very highly of him.

He is a strongly built fellow and seems to me to be of the right grit for a collector.

Yours very truly,
Isaac Bayley Balfour”

Delighted at such good news, Bulley immediately asked Balfour for more details,
which he sent on the very day that the advertisement came out in the Gardeners'
Chronicle. Forrest had a head start.

30 April 1904
Dear Mr Bulley,

Forrest should be all right in the way of health, honesty, steadiness, devotion to work,
general knowledge of plants. Of his gardening powers 1 know nothing; he has not been on
our gardening staff. I should say that if he knew what you want he would do well for you. ..

Yours
Isaac Bayley Balfour™”

With such an endorsement Bulley didn’ hesitate to hire Forrest. Forrest would set
off for China as soon as possible, on behalf of the nursery firm, A. Bee & Co. This
was the kind of job he had hankered after, but which only a few months carlier had



scemed impossble o inds At Last he had the chance to prove what he could do.

And there were extraordimary parallels to the wav i which, five years carhier, ELTL
Wilon had been hired to collect seed o China, Then the Divector of Kew
recommended Wilson to the nursery firm ot Vereeh, just as Forrest was now being
recommended to Bulley and his nursery.

The only thing that could have stopped Forrest Teaving tor China was his love
tor Clemenuna. However,she saw Forrests dilemmua, knowing his present job was
only temporary, not well paid or ideal for him. Having experienced her tathers
enthusiasm tor collecting, Clementina understood Forrests desperate wish to set
out exploring tor plants. Not only had her uncle. William Traill. collected i China,
but on her mother’s side of the fanuly travel was part ot lite. Her grandtfather. Henry
Trew: had held government appomuments in the West Indies and was married 1n
Dominica. Her mother had been born in Antigua.

Mrs Trall did not approve of Forrest as a suttor for her daughrer. Te seems that in those
soctally hierarchical tmes her proud mother thoughe that Clementina would be
marrving beneath her. Clementina came tfrom a long lineage of Tralls, traced back to
their seat m Orkney, and the Trews had moved n colonial socien: Forrests father was
onlv a draper and m s job he only went o the back door of any "Big House'.
Morcover, what securiey of income could Forrest possibly provide as a plane collector?

However, a strong bond had grown up between the two voung people in the
Herbarium and there was nothing that Mrs Traill could do abour it George
Forrest and Clementina Traill became engaged betore he Jeft tor China i the

spring of 1904 [n those Edwardian davs, the combined ethos of Christianiey and

benevolent mmperialism imbued  exploration overseas with high adeals of

manliness, courage and service. Clementina was quictly proud ot Forrest and they
accepted separatton as a necessary sacrifice i a good cause. They were ewo people
of complete integriey who trusted each other and were prepared to face three
vears apart, knowing they would be married on his return. Forrests hte m Austraha
had been caretree: now a new sense of responsibiliey was on his shoulders: The
voung couple™ closeness, Tovaley and love were to be tested more than cither of

them could posaibly have foreseen.

Plaite 16. The wee peony.
Paconia delavayi,
disconvered e NOW
Yunnan by Pere Delavay
i IS4 md miportant m
breedmg warden byvbruds
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Plate 17. The hunting ground of George Forrest. North West Yannan, China. The names are those used by

him and contemporary plant hunters.



CHAPTER THREE

To China for Bees Ltd, 1904

Let us, then, be up and doing,
With a heart for any fate.
H.W.Longfcllow

orrest left the Royal Botanic Garden Edinburgh on Saturday 14 May 1904, He

felt exhilarated and eager to be oft. He was beckoned by the unknown, and
ready for the challenge. ‘Beware the rainy season in Burma’, warned Bulley, but
Forrest could not wait. He booked the quickest passage to Rangoon. via the Suez
Canal and India, and boarded the P&QO passenger liner SS Aunstralia bound for
Bombay (Plate 18). He left his mother in the care of his sisters, his brother in charge
of his money and Clementina (Clem) with his much thumbed Bentham and
Hooker until they met again.

Keen to reach China

Forrest had a long journey ahead of him, by ship, rail. paddle steamer and mule
caravan. The first stage, in the luxury of a2 modern liner. gave no idea ot what was
to come. He was to face new experiences in other culwures and climates before
reaching his destination. But he was prepared for anything — a friend had given him
two revolvers — and he was determined to reach Delavay’s former hunting ground.
around Tali [Dali] in Yunnan, as soon as possible. The Board of the RBGE contacted
the Foreign Office to request the co-operation of the Consuls in China.

Before the ship reached Aden, Forrest discovered that one of the head stewards
knew a plant collector in Australia. Forrest immediately asked the steward for a
package to be sent to Balfour in Edinburgh. on the off chance that it might be useful.
In an explanatory note to Balfour he wrote, ‘Thanking you tor all vour kindness in
the past,”' little realising that their lives would be entwined for years to come.

Forrest arrived at Bombay. the flourishing terminus of the India route, on

Plate 18. A letterhead

used by George Forrest.

outward bound on
S.S. Australia in 1904,
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Plate 19, George Forrest

relaxing on s travels,

Satrday 4 June 1904 and sent Clem o card from the sevlish Wasons Bsplanade

IHotel i those Edwardim davs of che Raj owas mamh patronsed by Brivsh army
officers. Te was i foraculeure shock. The extremes between European uxury and

the natives” poor status struck i toreiblve e wrote home:

No Luropean thinhs of walkimge, ac lease durmg the heat of the dav Gharres as they
are calledoare o be had tor S annas rupee Sd per hour so aes hardly swardh ones
while walking., These gharres are really rubber tvred victorias |4 whecled carrages]
Fhe drvers bemg naoves ealled gharey wallabs AT the paone servanes are called bovs
mrespective of age or positons.ad nemy oprron most servile ey are conomual
salaminge the salub and o nakes one teel most uncomtortable at st an Teast e did
me. o oy opimon they work very cheaphy m Gcalmost for nothinge - Fihimk s a
shame but apparenthy thevare quite pleased st such pavmentand o cne them mote,
av Ltelomchmed o doconhe madkes them Tose respect tor vou T e one s band
to do anvthimg tor onesell” | beheve thay swould Tave washed aond dicssedb e o hod
Alowed it

Forrest adnnred the excepuonally fine buildimes of Bombuas, sonble the Victonn



Terminus of the Great Indian Peninsular Railway that had been claborately
ornamented and completed only sixteen years before, and the carefully planned
streets lined with mangrove and other flowering trees, and the palm decorated
gardens. However, the contrasts within the populace perturbed him:

The strects of the city are swept by natives, men, women carting away the refuse in
baskets on their heads to carts drawn by buffaloes...All the lower caste natives go
practically naked, the children entirely so. The men have nothing on but a loin cloth,
and a turban...[while] The police of Bombay are dressed in khaki trousers, blue putties
and jacket and brilliant canary yellow turban...The pest of the place is...the beggars.
These, in most cases, are afflicted with some disabling and generally loathsome disease,
which they make the most of. They are most persistent and will only leave off on threat
of being kicked. They seemed to think nothing of being pununelied by a white man.
On the launch coming ashore from the steamer, | saw the captain kick and hammer
one of the porters until I thought he intended killing him, for a most trivial
offence...but I don' think although I can swear at them and order them about now
that I shall ever reach the kicking stage.

Forrest's sensitivities were being tested and stretched by the attitudes and callousness
he witnessed. Nurtured in a strong Protestant tradition, he had a powerful sense of
justice and morality, and his own personal discipline and loyalty were shown by his
reactions to what he saw next, when a fellow Indian traveller took him for a drive
to another area of Bombay late on the Saturday night.

I thought I knew a lot regarding the viciousness of the world in general, but that drive
only showed me my own ignorance. In the native quarter the streets are very narrow,
no pavements, the houses generally of two stories, and very small... The stench is
indescribable in places...a mixture of sweaty bodies and all sorts of reeking
abominations;...the streets, altho’ it was nearing midnight. were densely crowded and
all places were in full swing, so much so in fact. that it was impossible for our gharry
to go at more than a walking pace. I never knew what it was Hasan intended showing
me and therefore it came all the more as a shock...the part that we drove through is
simply one vast brothel. Each of these rooms on the ground flat... had a bedstead in
the background with a curtain which could be drawn when in use, I suppose. In front
of each room seated on chairs or walking about in front importuning women of all
ages and nationalities. On the upper story at each window was seated a woman and also
in the background could be seen a bed on the floor. I never thought it possible for vice
to be paraded so openly anywhere. We were continually being tackled by the women,
some of whom even went the length of trying to get into the carriage beside us. As far
as | could see the different nationalities kept pretty well by themselves there being a
native, Japanese, and English or European quarter or districts... Altho’ an experience. it
was most disgusting and sad, and 1 was pleased when once we got back out of it...1
should say roughly that there are three miles [5km] of streets devoted to nothing
else. .. All the women are of course very gaily dressed, and a number of them very good
looking, but what a life to lead...I pity the poor wretches, how they live the life I don’t
know, it must be awful.

A long train journey to Madras followed, and daily, for two weeks after leaving
Bombay, he had to be inspected for plague and carry a plague passport. Over one
million people died from plague in India in 1904 and, as it was present in Bombay,
strict precautions were being taken. In Madras he met men from the Upper Burma
survey department who were a ‘wreck with fever' and full of awful yarns about the
Burmese country Forrest had to pass through. He consoled himself that these
might be gross exaggerations, but there had been a long history of disputes along
the northern border between ‘the peacetul Shan, less peaceful Kachin, and head-
hunting Wa’.> Augustus Raymond Margary (1846-1875), the first Englishman to
traverse the route between Burma and Yunnan, was murdered near the border.

w
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There had also been endless difficulties in defining the boundary between Burma
and China. Surveys of the Burma-China boundary commission in 1897-8 linked
on to the great Survey of India pursued with such determination by William
Lambton and George Everest throughout the first half of the nineteenth century.’

Forrest crossed to Rangoon in bad weather, in an overcrowded, dirty boat in a
stench in which ‘one child died and was thrown overboard like a bundle of brown
paper’. The engines kept breaking down and as darkness fell over the delta of the
Irrawaddy river the powerless steamboat waited for a rescue launch — and Forrest
felt heartily sick of the voyaging ‘that takes me away from all I love and I have
nothing to do but think’.

The heavy rain and heat in Rangoon were ‘atrocious’:

a rain that makes the opposite side of the sereet appear as through a mist, every day
accompanied by heavy thunderstorms...I never heard such thunder, not even in
Australia...Tt was like whole batteries of artillery firing together.

Though everything was ‘simply steaming’, he visited the magntficent, gilded ‘Shive
Dagone’ pagoda and nearby lakes, as well as running round the city getting things
together for the journey and the work to come. He bought a rifle and revolver and
200 rounds of ammunition for each, besides blankets, waterproof sheet, camp
bedstead and medicines, before setting off by train to Mandalay, which is 450 miles
(700km) from the sea. There he chose to continue the next 350 nules (550km) to
Bhamo by the cheaper and pleasanter paddle steamer of the Irrawaddy Flotilla
Company, enjoying the magnificent river scenery.

The small town of Bhamo, in Upper Burma, was the limit of steamer service up
the Irrawaddy. Beyond the hills lay China, only about thirty miles (50km) away.
Since 1867 the British had the right to station a commercial agent at Bhamo, to
profit from overland trade across the frontier, but in 1904 there was still no road
taking wheeled transport into China. After the first ten miles (16km) there was only
a mountain track along which caravans of laden mules and ponies carried the goods
of two empires. A steep path from the river led straight to the huge caravan camp,
which in the dry season would be full of tethered animals, heaps of Chinese saddles,
and an exciting atmosphere with a mixture of races and the flow of traffic. How-
ever, Forrest arrived in early July, at the height of the monsoon, and the (British)
Depury Commissioner at Bhamo strongly advised him to go back to Rangoon and
wait until October when conditions would be better.* This was the last thing that
Forrest would do; he urgently wanted to press on to Tengyueh (Tengchong), the
first walled town beyond the frontier. He was given a letter of introduction to Mr
Litton, who was Consul at Tengyueh and a particular friend of Bulley. Forrest
gained permission to put up at the daks (government bungalows) provided along
the route in Burma and he bought tinned food and other stores. He had his
photograph taken in his new garb and sent copies to his brother, mother. Clem and
a friend. The anticipation was immense. He wrote home:

IET can manage, of course, once [ get right into China T shall puc on the regulation
Chinese dress, big baggy trousers reaching to the calf and a loose blouse with a big hat
and Chinese shoes. Minus the pigtail of coursce, altho’ I could buy one.

(This hairstyle of a long plait was imposed by the conquering Manchus in 1644.)
Some Protestant missionaries in China at the time used to wear this apparel to seem
less foreign and sixty years earlier a Scottish plant collector, Robert Fortune, had
worn  Chinese dress to escape recognition when he ventured beyond the
recognised limit for Europeans. In 1904 Europeans could have permits to travel



inland. Indeed only one photograph of Forrest shows him wearing Chinese
costume when, like Fortune, he needed a disguise. As he set oft from Bhamo he was
simply relishing the thought of this totally new adventure and loved telling his
family about it.

I have been advised by nearly everyone here to buy a youny Burmese girl and take her
with me as a bedmate and help. You never knew of that kind of thing before, did you?
It is the regulation thing in this country and especially here and on such a journey as
I am going. They run from 100 to 1,000 rupees according to their attractiveness and
purity. All the [unmarried| officers in the regiments stationed here, and there are three
regiments, besides all the civil authorities... keep them. The girls are simply delighted
with having a European for a husband. if you like to call it that, and I could get a dozen
tomorrow if [ wanted them, ranging from 10 or 12 to 20.1 have been laughed at several
times for protesting against it ...but I wouldn't touch any of them with a tarry stick.
There is only one woman in the world for me and that is Clem, and she is white all
through...1 have kept straight all my life and I have every reason in the world to keep
straighter than ever.’

With that reassurance he sent fondest love and kisses to all the family and set off
for the frontier.

For this first experience of the main Burmese trade route into China Forrest kept
a daily diary in an exercise book.” In this he vividly recounted for his family the
terrible conditions of his journey, the countryside through which he passed and the
people he met. As it was the only diary he ever kept and holds such intrinsic and
historic interest, some details will now be given to show the experience through
his eyes, as he encountered a new culture and landscape. It is a record not only of
the problems he had to overcome, but of the way he solved then. One early lesson
was that the essential co-operation of both man and beast was not casily won,
especially in the monsoon. He wrote home that “The stubbornness of the Chinese
muleteer is proverbial here and only equalled ...by his animals’. However,
frustrating delays were turned into opportunities to meet people, drink with them
and learn his first words of Chinese. Ordeals could be forgotten in the joy of
watching wildlife or examining an orchid. Then his spirits would lift, making all
seem worthwhile, as if the discovery re-energised him to go on.

This adventurous naturalist never knew the phrase ‘I give up!” He had a mission
he took seriously and an utter determination to fulfil his task. His instinct was to
be alert, adapt and to consider risks and challenges as the spice of life. The diary
reveals his keen observant eye, his quick sizing up of situations and his astuteness of
reaction to dangers and difficulties. Very few Europeans entered China by this
route, so he also aroused much curiosity among the local people. He was offered
hospitality and exchanged gifts, even though to some, as a European, he was a
‘foreign devil'.

None the less, when he arrived in Tengyueh he wrote to his mother admitting
the journey had been most trying and had taken not the nine days that he had
anticipated, but twenty-three days to cover 150 miles (240km). I think if I had
known what | know now of the road, I would have taken Mr Bulley’s advice and
stayed in Bhamo for the winter.”

The inexperienced Forrest knew no Chinese or Burmese and could not find an
interpreter to go with him, so he took two servants, one Chinese who could speak
Burmese and one Hindu who could speak Burmese and very little English. The
muleteers objected strongly to travelling in the rain, and caused a day’s delay, but
eventually Forrest set off with nineteen bullocks and mules loaded for the Consular
and Customs service in Tengyueh, as well as his own twelve bullocks, three mules.

o
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Plate 20, Clravans beimng
loaded 11 compound,
Note the loaded wooden

boy saddles on the ground.

a pony and nine muleteers. Fach animal was laden wich 1 wooden box saddle and

frame carrving loads of up to 2 ewt (100kg) divided mto two packages placed Tike

pannicrs on either side. At mghe this frame with the Toad could be iited out ot the
wooden saddle and placed on the ground (Plate 200,

The road was bounded cither side by an almost impenetrable wall of wet and
marshy tropical jungle: tall teak and wild mango, bamboo. shrubs, tall grases and
imnumerable creepers. There were not many Howers in bloom. but when he stopped
to examine one he was captivared by an approaching green and brown whip snake.
e watched curiousdy "Nothing that T have ever seen™. he wrote, equals the agihity
and beauty of motion of these snakes. They seem to glide over the Teaves and small
stems of a plant. tavelling wlong 1 stem and not around 10 as 15 popularhy supposed’.
He killed one that was about 4it.6in. (1.4m) long and as thick as Ins hetle finger.

The muleteers were dressed in cheir cool, Toose Shan trousers and big grass or
cane hats and Torrest gradually stnpped - off” some clothes as the davenne
temperature rose. He alternated riding and walking the ten nules (Tokm) o the
foot of the hills, where there was avillge of about 1 hundred cane huts, cach rased
above the ground on teak poles, the mam trame of twak supporting walls of
interwoven patterns of sphic bamboo. The Al nmam street had wide gutiers piled
with mud. bullock dung and village retuse and Forrest was not surprised o hear
that chotera was rampant, s 1t was 1 Bhamoo e Todeed comtortbly m adak

bunwdow. the muleteers sleeping on e gronnd beneath. chen animals safe i the



compound. As darkness fell he examined the flickering fireflies, “one of the prettiest
sights of this country’. He timed their flashes of light and wrote a detailed description
of one he captured in a matchbox.

Their journey through the hills was more of a nightmare. He summarised it in a
letter to his mother:

The roads were frightful, miles [of] nothing but streams and ditches sometimes belly
deep and whilst on the hills we had to negotiate numerous landslips and heavy
mountain torrents. Most of these had no bridge and had to be forded.

As they left the village overnight heavy rain caused the head muleteer to avoid the
valley road and steer for the heart of the hills. Even so the track was very boggy, in
many places under water. Forrest rode a mule. admiring the strength, endurance
and agility of these animals.

The mule I rode. to avoid a sloughy piece of ground, clambered up an almost
perpendicular bank over 5ft. [1.5m] high before I could stop it or in fact knew what it
was going to do...walking along a few paces [it] jumped down on to the road again.
It was an awful drop for such an animal, and 1 fully expected to come a cropper but it
landed quite easily.

The hills were wreathed in mist and the rain poured down, and Forrest was pleased
when they arrived at a dak with a view across the Irrawaddy to the mountains.

As they climbed higher. the delightfully cool air on the ridges contrasted with
the ‘disgustingly muggy’ valleys, but the track cut on the side of the hill demanded
their concentration, as the mules seemed to insist on walking on the very edge,
with a drop of 600-700ft. (180-210m) down to the river below.

1 know I can stand a lot of that sort of thing without light headedness, but at last the
one | was riding fairly frightened me. [ts hind near foot slipped at a crumbly place, and
I thought my time had come at last. It was only with a great struggle that it recovered
itself and you may be sure I got off for a bit then.

The next day Forrest had his first experience of a flimsy bamboo bridge across a
small mountain stream, the bamboos having no fastenings, one set simply being laid
across the other. They covered twenty miles (32km) that day and Forrest felt ‘rather
done-up’ on reaching their destination. ‘It is no joke sitting for such a long time in
the saddle in a blazing sun and moist heat’. He was dosing one of his boys with
quinine and antefebrine and hoped he would not succumb himself as he watched
the jungle swarming with monkeys on the far side of the river. The next day the
boy was almost unconscious and they were not able to ford a tlooded river that had
no bridge. ‘One of the muleteers stripped at my request and tried to ford it taking
a rope across, but was nearly swept away’. Forrest summarised his position: ‘Heavy
rain, flooded rivers, beastly roads, and fever, with the chance of taking it badly
myself. However, with the exception of a slight depression at not being able to
proceed, I never felt better in my life’. This was after a ‘lively night’ with bugs the
size of lentils swarming in his bed.

His bravado was tested when Forrest decided that a three feet (a metre) overnight
drop in the water level, was sufficient for them to ford the stream:

It took us about two hours to get everything safely across. The muleteers were all naked
and it took two to pilot cach bullock safely across. Most of the things got wet, more or
less. and a number of my films got completely spoilt and also a part of a side of bacon.
I had to swim my pony over part of the way bare-backed to keep the saddle dry. and
was wet up to the waist before T was finished with the job.
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As heavy rain then continued for the rest of the day, even Forrest admitted, ‘I
haven't even the spirit left in me to keep my eyes open for flowers. [t took me all
[ knew to keep my pony on its feet the path was so rough and slippery’. As they
arrived for the night at a ‘dismal hole’, everything and everyone soaking. he began
to wish he had heeded advice to wait another month. ‘T will just have to make the
best of it and push thro’...If all goes well we will reach the frontier tomorrow’
More troubles were in store. About two miles (3km) from camp a large landslip
had carried away three-quarters of a mile of track. They had to strike across a ridge
by a jungle path and every rider had a fall, including Forrest. Luckily even the boy
weak with fever escaped serious injury and they clambered round other landslips,
although walking through the tall grass disturbed the clegs, horseflies that drove
them nearly crazy. Forrest ‘killed a very pretry snake today of a beautiful bottle green,
as it was crossing the path in front of us. It was about three feet [a metre] long’
About midday they met two Chinese soldiers of the frontier guard. Each was
armed with a fearsome dha, a Burmese weapon with a double handed, slightly
curved single-edged blade about two feet (60cm) long, carried in a wooden scabbard

- slung by a heavy cord, high up on the shoulder, so that the weapon rested below the

armpit. Forrest and his men were told they could go no further. ‘Like the man in
the song’, wrote Forrest, ‘we had come to a river that we couldn’t get across’.

Forrest cursed inside while much talking went on and then the gentlemanly senior
soldier, with a pigtail down to his knees, brought Forrest a bottle of rice spirit, called
arrack. for his refreshment, and offered him one of the bamboo and grass huts. The
whole encounter made a great impression on Forrest, who later described the man’s
dress: the usual baggy blue trousers, with a loose, plum coloured silk jacket, figured
over with Chinese designs and figures in black, and long loose black sleeves and gold
buttons. He wore an agate bracelet on each wrist, had enormously long fingernails
and saluted Forrest ‘by shaking hands with himself, and bowing’. A three-cornered
conversation followed, helped by one of Forrest’s boys. Forrest later wrote, ‘You
would have died if you had seen us each trying to outdo the other in politeness, and
a circle of 40 or 50 muleteers and soldiers admiring us’. Forrest explained his work
and the senior soldier said he would at once call out all the coolies of the
neighbouring villages and get a bridge buile, but it would take at least four days. At
that moment there was only a narrow bamboo footbridge slung across the raging
torrent about 30ft. (10m) above the water.

A visit of three local headmen was preceded by a gift of a duck, a fowl, five dozen
eggs and three visiting cards each comprising a strip of red coloured paper on
which their names were printed in black in large Chinese characters. Twwo men
wore Chinese dress, black silk with canary coloured sashes and blue trousers, and
had come to superintend the building of the bridge. The other, a senior soldier. was
particularly kindly and polite, offered Forrest hospitality in his village and tried to
teach Forrest his first few phrases of Chinese. The first was ‘tsing tso’, or ‘pray be
seated’. In return Forrest opened a bottle of cherry brandy and proffered some
biscuits and cigarettes and an immensely happy hour ensued until the men took
their leave and about fifty coolies began to use their dhas to cut the timber and
bamboo for the bridge.

The next day Forrest received more gifts of chickens, ducks and eggs before the
sume gentlemen reappeared with an extra headman and two servants as bodyguards
armed with very long, handsomely mounted dhas. The new man offered hospitaliey
in his home and a pony. Forrest refused, though tactfully oftering a tin of fruit and
a bottle of whisky. ‘I do wish I could speak the language’, wrote Forrest,” They seem



so pleased when [ appear to understand anything they say’. He knew it would help
him, too, for he later privately admitted in Tengyueh, ‘I have felt horribly depressed
at times...For one thing 1 had no one to speak to in all that time and I took to
mooning which isn’t good for anyone’.

Two days later Forrest opened another bottle of whisky and a tin of plums to
welcome his three friends and they wrote down his name in Chinese. They ordered
two soldiers to attend to Forrest and his servants, but this turned out to be a mixed
blessing as they smoked opium and gambled most of the day and one night they
had a row, one of them receiving two stab wounds that Forrest had to attend to.

Despite almost incessant rain, the bridge was completed in five days and Forrest
persuaded his reluctant bullock men to continue their journey to the nearby village
of Man-Hsien, where they had to report to the customs house of the frontier.
Forrest described the filth and stench of this village as making any ordinary manure
heap at home seem sweet and beautiful, but luckily the head-man’s house was
perched on a nearby hill and he kindly offered Forrest his own bed for the night
while he slept on the floor. (Unlike in Burma, no bungalows were provided for
travellers by the Chinese government.) Because the continuous heavy rain made
the roads almost impassable, with deep, dangerous water-filled holes and enormous
corrugations, this kind man tried to persuade Forrest to stay a few days, but Forrest
still pressed on, after exchanging a tin of fish for their eggs and fowl. A letter of
introduction was sent on to the next village and Forrest had an escort of two
soldiers to take him to Tengyueh.

Once in China they had days of heavy marching through paddy fields along the
‘bunds’ between terraces. Even on horseback Forrest was soaked up to the knees and
splashed to the hat with mud. The small villages they passed through were a sea of
mud on either side of the causeway and the black pigs wallowed and fed on the
excrement and refuse. ‘I used to be rather partial to pork’, wrote Forrest, ‘but never
again after what I have seen here’. However, they were hospitably welcomed at the
next stopping point and Forrest found a bed already made up for him at the back of
a temple behind the main shrine, after receiving more eggs, a fowl and two pineapples.

He did not foresee what would happen next morning. He was woken at abour 4
a.m. by the head priest beating on a large tom-tom hung at the side of his bed and
an immense bell ringing in the nearly temple. Four joss sticks were lighted above
his head and a large pile of paper was lit between his bed and the shrine, to make
an offering to the gods on behalf of the dead. Nearly choking. Forrest lay there
bemused as the gong and bells began again, more paper was burned and prayer mats
were placed on the floor. only five feet from his bed, and people began to troop in
to prayers.

I thought then that it was time to get up and was sorry | had not done so earlier as |
had to dress in front of innumerable men and women who were praying all over the
place...this went on all the time I was having breakfast. a continual stream of men and
women passing to and fro. [ was very uncomfortable but couldn't help smiling when 1
thought of what you people would have said could you have seen me.

Before Forrest left a large crowd had gathered in the courtyard and he dispensed
calomel and guinine to about twelve people. Having tipped the head priest, he then
departed as the tom-toms and bells were played in his honour. Twenty miles (32km)
later they were housed in a more secluded temple and were able to keep out the
curious and rested the bullocks for a day. Bands of armed robbers called dacoits
were reported to be roaming the nearby hills, so he was oftered an extra escort of

41



Opposite:

Plate 21. Tengyueh street
with a city gate in the
distance. A Forrest
photograph, December
1905,
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ten soldiers, but to save money on tips he took only two, to add to the two he had
already, having one in front and one behind and two with the bullocks. They acted
as guides and made everyone stand to one side and dismount to clear the way. As
the next thirty miles (48km) were rough going, mostly along the side of a gorge,
there was no time to pay attention to anything but their own foothold on the track.
That day Forrest was ten hours in the saddle, with only a drink of water after 6 am.
He was welcomed at the next stop with a meal and he used chopsticks for the first
time, with an audience to watch him. He was then entertained with the villagers
to the headman’s five-hour shadow play, ‘a sort of marionette show with the
shadows of the figures being cast on a screen’. He likened it to a Punch and Judy
show with lots of fighting accompanied by cymbals and gongs.

The bullocks were footsore and the rain continuous, so Forrest had to endure an
enforced three-day wait that was frustrating after pushing on so valiantly through
the gorge. He also learned that Litton had passed through in the opposite direction,
so would not be at Tengyueh to greet him. None the less, Forrest was anxious to
get on and when they found the next proposed stopping place was ‘filthy and
vermin ridden’ he resolved to reach Tengyueh that night, however long it took to
cover the next ten miles (16kin). His men objected strongly, so he closed discussion
by getting on his pony and setting off alone to cross the fertile plain. This was a
gamble, but it worked. His men had a meal and then decided to join him. They
arrived at 10.30 p.m., worn and weary, travel stained but safe. Forrest put up at an
‘inn’ for the night and tucked in to a ‘make-do’ meal of rice and hard-boiled eggs.
He had had no food for fifteen hours. Now he could relax, and he ‘turned in dead
tired’. He had come by a long and treacherous route, a three-week foolhardy
struggle at the worst time of year, but his strong constitution had favoured him and
he had no fever. He had reached his first destination, the walled town of Tengyueh
(Tengchong), in the Yunnan province of China (Plate 21).

Launched by Litton
Forrest was now in the ‘Flowery Land’ of China known for its culeural appreciation
of flowers, in gardens, designs, and symbolic associations such as summer with the
lotus flower and August with pear blossom. However, he entered Imperial China
towards the end of the Manchu-led Qing dynasties (1644-1911), when Imperial
control was weak. He also entered the province of Yunnan, in the remote south-west
of China, where there were many ethnic minority groups with their own traditions
and cultures. Nevertheless, each district of Yunnan had its own Chinese civil official
who wore a traditional, Chinese Imperial costume. This included a symbolically
embroidered rank badge or mandarin square in which the image of the sun
symbolised the emperor and the official’s rank was represented by a particular
animal, turning towards the sun, just as the official turned towards the emperor. All
travellers had to pay respects and dues to the Chinese official, although ease of travel
was also at the mercy of social unrest over which officialdom had little control.
The province of Yunnan had long remained virtually unknown to the British.
Tengyueh was one of the most recent and remote of the treaty ports created in
China to serve British and other Western interests in trade. diplomacy and
evangelism. It had only been staffed since 1899. The Union flag flew from the
flagstaff of British consulates and His Majesty's consul at Tengyueh was a ‘listening
ear’ near the Burma border, keeping an eye on trade and social and political unrest,
ready to deal practically and legally with emergencics involving British subjects.
When Forrest arrived, the acting British consul of Tengyueh, Mr G.J.L. Litton, had
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been based in Tengyueh for three years (Plate 22). An enterprising and energetic
man. he had a special aptitude for the post. He travelled widely in Yunnan,
venturing through mountainous, unmapped areas alimost unknown to Westerners.
Litton reported to the Foreign Office in London on such varied affairs as the salt
trade, the army and the possibility of opening up further communications with
Burma. He attended annual Sino-Burmese meetings to settle issues arising from
tribal raids across the border. Indeed, he had been nearly killed on the Burmese
frontier when attacked and knocked unconscious by Wa tribesmen with stones and
crossbows. When he came to, the two British men with him were apparently dead
and Wa were hacking at their heads 25 yards (23m) away. He shot one man who
came towards him brandishing a sword.”

In 1904 Tengyueh had a population of only 1,400 people including four British
residents: Mr G J.L. Litton in the Consular Service and three men employed by the
Imperial Maritime Customs Service. A fourth man had recently died of malignant
smallpox. The Commissioner of Customs, the Hon Cecil Napier, was the eighth
son of Robert Cornelius Napier (1819-1890)" who was created 1st Baron Napier
of Magdala and given the rank of Field Marshal after commanding the Abyssinian
Expedition and capturing the fortress of Magdala." The pomp of his state military
funeral in St. Paul’s Cathedral was said to have been the most imposing spectacle
since that of the Duke of Wellington’s funeral in 1852.

Compared with the older, larger, coastal treaty ports, Tengyueh was a lonely and
difficult European posting. For communications the staff relied on the telegraph
lines and postal services dependent on mules and runners. In this tiny foreign
community, isolated from family and friends, people were thrown upon each
others company. There were no pleasant social diversions, like the races held in the
larger treaty ports, so travellers were especially welcome, bringing fresh
companionship and news. Forrest had plenty of stories to tell and was overjoyed to
converse in English again.

At Litton’s invitation, Forrest settled comfortably at the consulate and explored
the town with a soldier escort. He wrote home that the city was surrounded by a
‘real. fired brick, wall’, 30ft. (9m) high and about 40ft. (12m) thick, with four gates.
Food from the surrounding plain was brought to the market every five days,
attracting crowds of people to the stalls displayed under two lines of bamboo and
paper umbrellas along each side of the main street. He was aware of some insults
being thrown at him and, like the other Europeans, he was always armed and got
through the crowds by having the soldier 10ft. (3m) in front of him, shouting and
pushing people out of the way. At night the Europeans had an escort of four
soldiers and a procession of servants carrying Chinese paper lanterns. Forrest made
light of this to his family, but he also reported Litton’s explanation, 'If it wasn't for
the punishment which they know would be meted out to them our lives would

not be worth a moment’s purchase’.

Forrest spent six busy days in Tengyueh. There were so many basic practical
matters to be attended to, as he learned and adapted to the way of life in Imperial
China, accumulating the necessary paperwork, currency and other articles
necessary for his travels. Litton wrote and spoke Chinese fluently, having learned
both Cantonese and Mandarin. He proved to be a most lively, helpful friend and
Forrest acknowledged his good fortune in having Litton's assistance.

Litton and Napier, who were both about Forrests age. had the fun of deciding
Forrest’s honorary Chinese name, Fu Lishi (Plate 23), They translated it as ‘Fu the
learned scholar’. (‘Rather ridiculous. isnt 162 wrote Forrest.) His new name was
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carved on awooden block. to be used as aseal or “chop’. Farrest then obtained owo

cnormous pasports, made ot good quality: paper. written m verocal columns of

Chimese seript. The iirst was nearly oo foot (6tem) square and stated that Ardcle
9 of the Trunpn Treary allowed Briosh people to hold a passport tor tavel and

business. Forrests Chinese name was inserted, together with his simple ude.

‘Employvee trom Britam™. In the top right-hand corner Litton wrote in i own

hand."Mr G. Forrest, granted Aug. 12, 1904 tor | vear. Good for Yunnan, Kweichow
and Szechuan™. Litton personally signed it and gave it the otheial samp ot the
Brinsh Consulate. Tengyuch. Two days later Forrest visited the chief military othenl
to receive a supporting passport/visa, giving advice to travel only on the main roads
for his safery - a wll order for a plant hunter as determined as Forrest. The first
passport was then verified with a special red stamp in ancient Chinese calligraphy.
Now at Last Forrest was equipped with the necessary papers to show to Chinese
othewls of every district he passed through m the connng vear.”

[itton advised him o open an account with a merchant who acted as a banker

Plate 22. Consul Litton
ready tor his travels witch
two Lissoo sepovs, 1005,



Plate 23, George Forrests Chinese name, Fu Lishi,
inserted in black Chinese seript reading downwards,
on Forresty 1905 provineial passport.

of the 'Tlappy Spring” bank and Forrest made a deposit of 800 rupees, to draw on
when he got to Talifu, as well as keeping his account with Cook & Son in
Rangoon. His bank dealings were to be recorded in a Chinese bank ‘book’ that
opened like a concertina and Litton introduced him to the Chinese currency.
Forrest often withdrew his moncey in taels of sitver. (In 1904 he paid his cook 8
tacls and 3 tacls for food or ‘rice money” per month, his ‘number two boy ™ and his
groom each getting 3 tacls and 3 tacls for tood.) For larger transactions ar that time
he required silver currency ingots or sychee cast in Yunnan from refined silver
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Plate 24. Silver ingots: currency used by George Forrest in Yunnan under
Imperial rule on his first two expeditions.

Above: “Yuansi’ ingots cast in rounded iron moulds. All have concentric
ripple marks on their surface and bubble marks on the underside.
Right: 5-ounce (140g) ‘fangbian’, or saddlepack ingots stamped with
silver marks and made in Yunnan. The scale is in centimetres.
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bullion (Plate 24). The mam ingots used to pay taxes were the fanelin. known in
English as "Yunnan saddlepack ingots”. They were reliably tested for the purine of
their silver and stamped with the names of the responsible bank and official assaver.
Other yiamnsic or “fine silk oval mgon’, were unstamped.” Even the saddlepack
mgots were not all exactly the same weight. so Forrest. like every raveller. banker.
merchant or shopkeeper, acquired small portable money scales, called *dotchin® by
toreigners. Forrest could not even visit the market without one. The "dotchin was
a hand-held balance with a single pan and a counterweight that would he
suspended and <lid along an vory beam with markings like a scale. An ingor that
was too big for a certain transaction would have some sitver chipped off it. Onee
used. the dotchin would be neatly packed mto its hinged wooden case, shaped like
two spoons held together by their handles (Plate 23).

Fortunately for Forrest. Litton was unhampered by routine and he offered to
travel with Forrese to Talitu (Tali. now Dali), and helped him to hire mules and
procure fresh servants. including a good Chinese cook. Litton even asked Forrest
to pick some local Howers to demonstrate his job, in order to dispel rumours that
Forrest was 0 magician who was going to Tali to gee gold and pearls from Erhai,
the nearby lake.

At the end of August 1904 they headed 200 miles (320km) eastwards to Tali.
crossing the gorges of the mighey Salween and Mekong rivers that flow south from
the snowy, windswept heighes of the Tibetan plateau. These deeply entrenched
rivers flow paralle] tor hundreds ot miles, sometimes only fifty miles (80kmy) apart,
and Forrest deseribed the rough road to Tali as crossing 2 ‘regular see-saw of
immense ranges ot mountains and deep vallevs”. On reaching the walled town of
Tali Forrest thought that. but tor the tilth of the place. 1t would be a paradise on
carth. Te Ly beeween a range of mountains towerimg to over 13,000t (4.000m) and

Plate 25, Gieorge Forrests

pnl'ml‘ln' saales or
“dotchin” used o weigh
slver and enclosed moa

wooden case.



Plate 260 The historg
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the shore ot the Like called Lehae sodh s harbour and Gishing boats +Plie 200,
This was within the area ol Pere Delavacs former plant huntimg and Talwas to be
a base tor many of Forrests expeditons, As Forrest approached this mountun range
for the first e, Tivon told Tum that probably no plant collector had vet been to
e top of these mountins, Indeed, many were unsurveyved  (Plie 2770 This
encoutaged Forrests hope that, despite the previous good work of Delavay, he
would sl find hardy and alpine plants totally: new to Britsh saenee and
hortucultre.

A preliminary canter

Forrest had origimally intended to settle at Tali tor the smeer and learn Chinese,
However, Litton was travelling to the annual horse and mule fan held at Sung Kwen
(Songguis Songkui), north of Tali,on the seventh moon. in September. Forrestwent
with him and tresh plans emerged.

Earlier i the vear an Amcerican taveller. M 1 Nichols, e arrived ae Tengsueh,



dressed in Tibetan costume. having spent several months turther north in Chinese

Tibetan country between Tachientu (Kangding) and Batang. He had made triends
with the famas in the arca and spoke Tibetan. He reported to Litton that Chinese
influence was declining in those borderlands and enussaries of the Grand Lama
were openly urging the Tibetans to cast oft their allegiance to the Chinese. Also,
the current Brinsh Expedition to Lhasa, led by Younghusband."” was exciting the
Tibetans and anti-English and anti-Chinese teeling was very strong.™

When Litton met Mr Nichols again at Sung Kwei horse fair he decided he had
better see for himself what was happening in the Tibetan borderlands. He offered
to take Forrest, warning him that they would be pressed for ume, but they would
go by horseback. Forrest leapt at the opportunity to see more of Yunnan with him.
He relished the chance to traverse the northern ranges to gain a bird's eve view of
the land, its people and its wildlife, especially as Bulley had recently acknowledged
his *British pluck’ and given him a free hand to go where he liked. (On the other
hand. the Consul General, WH. Wilkinson, told them not to go and later wired to
say he ‘washed his hands’ of them.”) Litton and Forrest were mobbed at the fair
and had to draw their revolvers in self-defence; some of their horses and mules were
stolen. Once these were replaced, the two friends were nearly ready. Litton was tall
and thin compared with Forrests stocky figure and they came from ditferent
backgrounds, Litton having private means and going from Eton to Oxford
University. But they were glad of each other’s company. enjoyed the same humour
and shared a love of exploration and adventure.

The little party set off tor the Chungrien (Zhongdian) plateau on their way to

Plate 27. Major H.R.
Daviess 1908 map of
part of N'W. Yunnan,
showing unsurveyed
areas, enticing blank

regions tor the explorer.
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Opposite:

Plate 29, The west side of
the Yulong Shan (Iichiang
Range) looking over the
Yangtze river from near
lger Leaping Gorge.
Forrest wrote that it was "
most impressive seene, It
makes one wonder where
Ul the water comes trom,
Flere at over two thousand
niles [3.200km| from the
sea1ts tully 600 s
[53h1] broad .nd very

deep and swale!
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Plate 28 Zhongdun (Chungoen plateau i autimn with cuphorbu and autumn genuans.

e bolhant red of the cuphorbia remmded Consul Tuton of reading about vegetanon

trons Mars i The Tar of the THorld..

the borderlands with Tibet. Thev camped a mile from the Yangtze River (Junha

Jiang) terry and Forrest had his tirst view of this great River of Golden Sand. one

of the Tongest 1 the world, where the mountains torce 1ty turbulent flow in huge
bends squeczed between gigantie chits (Plate 29). They crossed by ferry, “an
immense flat bottomed structure more like a raft than a boat. capable of holdimg
about 30 horses and propelled by 6 oars, cach worked by 3 or 4 men’. In twenty
minutes the current torced the boat about two miles (3kin) downstream. They then
made an cight hour ascene through dense forest over a chilly pass of vak pastures
and descended to the plateaun of Chungrien. As they approached the valley of
Chungtien, Litton deseribed the picturesque view of fields and marsh with dark
pine woods on the lower slopes and bare mountam tops above the sparkling
mountain streams, reporting to London that ie reninded v companion. a Scotch
botanist, of a culuvated highland valley i his naove Lind™.  Titon got carrted away,
writing lyrically about “a spectes of BEuphorbia which i the autimn wirns so
brilliant a red that readers of Hie 1 ar of the 1Torlds might think that the vegetaton
ol the valley came front Mars” (Plate 28).

Forrese was thrilled to be there, telling Baltour thae the plateau s blank on the
maps.and Litcon and 1 were the tint Furopeans 1o pass ap 7 e exctedly old
s mother T have never seen any place 1o equal 1 tor lowers meall my oavels It
is one huge Hower garden™. Despite the v, e was collectmng and numberng plant
specnmens and pressing them between drvimg paperscand harvesung seed whenever
he could winle Titton, ke Forrest, admired the pastures 1ichlv carpeted warh
masses of blue genvans, They esumated alntade byousimg 1 st boihing pomt

thermometer. (The bothng of water falls about 1O dewee tor ooy Lono feet






Plate 30 The autumn
coentan, Gentiang Sno-ormanl,
It v one ot Torrests best
known discoveries and has
been .lLll)P[L'\l by News
Botinie Gardens (once the
home of ALK Bulley) as

therr fogo.

PMate 31,

et photographed Iy

Coetiliana o=

Lorrest o his secomd
expedition, 2 Ocaber
1910

(300m)y ot alutudey At 14-15.000t (45000 above sca level, Forrest collected
specimens ol Genttana sino-orpata. one ot the most popular deep blue autumn
Howering gentians - gardens i Britm today (Plate 300, Trurther ong at about
12-13.000tt. (3.500m), near the town of Chunguen (Zhongdiani. he picked
another new species of gentian, one that he was to name atter his fancee, Gentiana
railliana™ (now Comastona tratdlianunn. They were running short ol stores and. as
the countryside was teeming with game. they kept the pot gomg” wath chenr guns
and had ome lovely shooting on the Chungtien plateau’. m one atternoon

bagging close on tifty brace of pheasants,




Aschey crossed the pliteau they met maore and more Tibetos, They mamly seved m

Iibetan headmens housescnd one swhose company Forrest particalarly enjoved was a

regular savage beaunys qust ke a0 prrate out of Galbert & Sulhivan, Clad i o coarse
Fbetan searlet cloaks open at the neck with immense sleeves. omated black har
hangmg down to hisshoulders, no pigtatls here now hage Tibetn top boots and + par
of searlet puttees on his legs, On top ot adl dus aocap quse the same patcern as the aap
ol Libereyv and dre ad libinon

Forrest and Litton themiselves were the centre ot curtosity and had very hede

privacy. Indeed, Forrest contessed to his tamily that during s travels,

I have ot so callous that T ean stand and have a bach waith o crowd Tookmg on. Tewas
Litton who broke me mto that This s no exageeranon. We have both stood stark naked
mn the open takmg a bath wath o crowd round us and not onlv that but women i the
crowd. What do vou think of chat [7] The fist ame [ ourned pimkoas a Tobster all over

It was certainly a contrast to lis sirict Victoran upbringing.

As they approached Chunguen they sent therr calling cards ahead and were
received i great state with a lime ot soldiers from the garrison and a salute ot three
guns for the Consul. Official viats came with gitts of tood, and 1 return they gave
presents of vlver. The Chimese nulitary and el officials ottered them cach an
escort of a dozen soldiers, but they only took two as they continued their journey:
Sometmmes thev started a4 or 5 aame, by moeonlight. o cover new ground on a
long davs haul as they headed tor the terry that crossed the Yangeze Raver.

Alter terrving the Yangtze, they surted on o saix-dav mareh through the
mountans ol the Mckong Yangtze divide. climbing to the flowery alpine pastures
ot the Kart pass at over T3 0001 (4 ot Trest tme crossed by Europeansy’ wrote
Forrest to his brodher. The seenery was magmiticent and for owo days they tollowed
arver Larger dhan the Clvde wach sohite waeer rapids rushing over beds of boulders
and steep R vng up to 2000t ottmy on- cither sides Further on, when o

tremendous el ook them o about To.onote (3 000mn, they were rewarded by

Plate 320 Coentiania wtoongar
discovered by George
[orrest on s et
expedition. Professor
el m Marburg, named
the tlower m Forrests
honour,



Plate 33. The turbulent a view that entranced them. Forrest wrote home:

Mekong river flowing . ) o

under a precipice. Thc mornmg was \\'(mdvrh]lly clear .'mEi we could see for llgndrcdx ot n}ulc\ on all
sides. Nothing but range after range of tremendous mountains, many of the peaks
capped with snow, and all ghstening in the carly morning sunlight like gems. Add to
this billows of vapour rolling about in ceaseless movement m all the valleys, and above

all the intense stllness ac this elevation, not even the rustle of a blade of grass ... One
feels in assituation such as thate that one is nearer something, call it by any name vou
like. T could have sat drinking it m for hours ..

But that peaceful serenity was soon broken when a sudden gust of wind blew his
hat oft. his pony shied i frighe and careered down a boulder serewn sope. jumping



over the boulders with Torrest feartully hangmg on and Licton helplessly convineed
that horse and rider would be Killed. However, this former polo pony kept his teet
and all was well as chiey contemplated the descent o the Mekong valley

Litton wrote dramancally:

Wewere able to look down a nughoy linestone preapree on the Mekong (Lancang Jangj.
over 7000 teet [ 2.000m] below us. In 3 hours caretul gomg, we came down 6,500 feet
by o dark and narrow gorge Tike the deseent to Avernus i the bowels ot the carth.

The descent was so steep that the mules and ponies had to be led part ot the way
down, and Forrest reckoned that they dropped 5,000t (1.500m) in fess than three
miles (3km).

In the Mekong vallev. confined between two mountain ranges, they headed north
where the road” in che Clitt of the narrow gorge was sometimes hundreds of feet
above the river (Plates 33 and 34). There were no barricades. In the worst places,
brackets were inserted i che cliffs, the path was made of logs. and aavellers made
their way peritlously across the fogs through which they could see the deep and
rapid river rushing along below. "1t was here™. explamned Forrest to s tamily: “that
Prince Henry of Orleans Tost 2 o his mules’™.

Ther destinaton was Tsekou (Clugud,a hamler of o dozen houses and o French

misston statton, at abour Lintude 287N To cross the mighty Mekong River to reach

R o

Plate 34 This road’. cut
trom rock. is probably the
one Forrest used e 1904
on his way north up the
Meckong valley to Trekou.



Opposite:

Plate 35. Iris bulleyana m
the wild. Discovered by
Forrest on his first
expedinon and named in
honour ot A.K. Bulley, it
was proclaimed i the
Gardeners” Chronicle as one
uf the ‘new Chingse

Irises .

Plate 36. Pieris formosa
Jorrestii growing at Ness
Botame Gardens. Tr was
raised by Bees” nursery
trom the tirst packet of
seed sent by George
Forrest from Western

China.

the mission they had to use a rope bridge, where the rope of twisted bamboo <kin
was stretched between two strong posts either side of the great river. Forrest went
first: two green cowhide slings were looped around his body and passed through a
wooden ‘runner” that slid along the rope. the runner and rope being well greased.
He described to Baltour:

One sling is placed round the right shoulder and under the left armpic. the other below
the hips. Hanging on to the runner, lift off the teet, [and] the slope of the rope with
the weight of the body carries one across. The speed at firse is tremendous. . over in a
very few seconds, about 50-70 feet [15 to 20mi] above the river. The sensation is very
peeuliar at tirst but one soon gets used to 1t '

On reading this, Balfour may well have smiled. pleased that he was not erving this
assault course. Forrest’s family was told dramatically chat when the passenger puts his
hands on the runner, the wrists and tace have to be kept well away from the rope
because the speed was so great that "the shghtest graze would mean being cut to the
bone’. He admitted that it telt as if vour inside were falling out. It was a rollercoaster
ride with no satety net and Litton would only cross with experienced assistance.

The mules were also slung on a runner by a“belly band™ and given a kick to start
them. Litton wrote, “betore the unlucky beast knows what 1s happening. he has
been whirled halt across the river and is suspended like the Prophet between
heaven and carth....”" Three Tibetans were sent down by the French Fathers to
assist them, and the party of seven beasts. two Europeans. six Chinamen. four loads
and one dog were sately passed over the river i about 14 hours,

The mission was built round four sides of a 40 vard (36.5m) square. the chapel
forming one side, and the Iiving rooms on the upper floor were approached by a
verandah. Here Forrest and Litton enjoyed two days of generous hospitality, being
treated like princes by the three French Fathers residing there, and sleeping,
according to Forrest. in the room Prince Henry of Orleans had once used. Forrest
said that the eldest missionary, Pere Dubernard, had been there for sixty vears. Only
one spoke a litde English, the others speaking French and Tibetan.* All are thorough
gentlemen, in fact come of very good families™, wrote Forrest, but they lived in
dangerous umes and only cighteen months previously the mission had been the
object of a Tibetn rad by about two hundred men armed with rifles and
cartridges. The Fathers "got wind ot it and. aided by their converts, ambushed the
would-be attackers,

The Freneh Fathers tantalised Forrest by showing him botanical specimens trom
the next mountain range to the west, torming the Mckong-Salween divide. Prince
Henry of Orleans had reported on the rich flora” and now this was vividly
contirmed. Forrest learned that these mountaims were exceptionally rich m the
spectes that he was searching for: rhododendrons, gentians, androsaces and primulas,
“They say™, wrote Forrest, there are at Jeast 7 or 9 species of Primula on the hills
behind their saation.” He collected a0 few gentans while he was there and
determined. there and ¢hen, that he would return to Tsekou the following February
or March. to work the hills as the snow meleed. THe was particularly mtent on this
when he saw the poor quality of the herbartum specimens thae the Fathers were
sending to the Paris Herbariuwm, Fle was confident that he knew more botany and
in a shore time he could do better, both i quality and number of specnmens. It
seems to have been “anything vou can do T ean do better”. Morcover, when he heard
that Bulley was in correspondence with them, he was even keener to colleer plants

before they did! Yot Forrest was ina dilemnia: 1 gave them o good deal of






information but not too much, as [ don’t want to spoil my own chances’. He could
see that the Fathers were desperately poor financially and would be glad of money
if Bulley paid them, yet he was also anxious to please his sponsor, feeling fearful and
insecure lest Bulley should be dissatistied with him and send him home before his
contract was completed. He conipromised. As they had never succeeded in sending
lily bulbs home in good condition, he gave them advice on when and how to pick,
dry and pack bulbs to send to Bulley and Balfour, hoping they would be paid. And
he accepted a very pressing invitation by Pére Dubernard to make the old man’s
house his home when he returned to collect the following year.

Forrest’s next goal was set. Despite the area’s turbulent past and lawless state, it
seemed safe enough to plan a return visit.

Meanwhile, Litton and Forrest completed their round tour via the Weihsi (Weixi)
pass at 14,000ft. (4,500m) where they could hardly believe the beauty of a moor
that was ‘as if painted the richest imaginable blue by one species of gentian’. The
magnificent scenery and flora made an indelible, deep impression on Forrest. This
‘preliminary canter’, as he called it, enabled him to see so many contrasting habitats
and places, from the ravines to the snowy heights. He would never have seen all this
so soon without Consul Litton to lead him. He completed the journey by sending
Bulley a box of seed of 78 species and Balfour a parcel of 380 dried specimens,
dispatched to Bhamo, Burma, by special runner, and he was happily aware that this
was only a small fraction of the potential. He had the promise of rich pickings
ahead of him and he knew that Bulley would be pleased.

Self-doubt creeps in

Forrest had not had a proper rest since he entered Burma and endured the
exhausting journey in the monsoon rains. He reckoned that on his latest trip with
Litton they had covered 900 miles (1,440km) in fifty-three days. He received kind
offers of help from Balfour in Edinburgh and Augustine Henry at Kew, but the
constant travel and demands were beginning to wear him down. Bulley unwittingly
made things worse by suggesting to Forrest that he should make botanical notes
that Bulley could publish in the Gardeners’ Chronicle. Forrest doubted that he would
have time and he reacted badly. ‘I¢ is disgusting and I don’t feel inclined to do it. 1
didn’t come out here on a job of that kind.” After all. he had already given up
writing his diary because of pressure of time. After long weary days on horseback,
it was very difficult to maintain all his correspondence, with evenings spent sorting,
drying, pressing and packing plants and seeds. And correspondence was a high
priority and necessity, to keep precious contact with Bulley and Balfour and his
family. Indeed, once November had come he was writing to his brother asking him
to send, on his behalf, a cheque for £5 (about £275 today) to Clem for a Christinas
and New Year present.

Anxiety added to his sense of weariness. Deep down, Forrest lacked confidence.
He was still worrying that Bulley might not be satisfied with his efforts and might
recall him. Unfortunately, he had already found that his photographs could not be
developed in Tali, because all his filims and glass plates had been destroyed by damp,
s0 he had to write to Bulley to request that more 4 plates be sent from England.
Then he went to collect plants near Lichiang and was heavily thrown from his
pony, landing on his head and right shoulder. When he wrote home in his
exhausted and shaky state, his inner turmoil rose to the surface:

[ am heartily sick of China and everything Chinese, but will have to stick to my guns.
IF 1T was only assured of success T wouldn't mind but | have always the fear of failure



haunting me and when 1 thiok ot all i means for mec | aet vary heartsick. The e s
I un only beginnmyg to see what aomuddle T have made of my Bife 1 thought 1 realised
it before. but it s bemg thrust more and more before me day by din 18 this proves o
fwlure I ehink Twill end 1call, only T will then have the s ful regret of having spoiled
rwo lives instead of only one.

There are plenty of wolves here, Tt s now 2 in the morning and they are busy
howling lor all their worth just on the hills behind vy tent L waish 1 eonld ger ashat
at one. Ie might relieve me a bit to kil something,

With Jove and lots of Kisses to you all and thanks for bemyg kind to Clem.

From your ever loving son and brother
George.”

What we have to remember is that earher in this Tong letter he had written

spiritedly about his plans, and joked about the stare of iy dirty. scabby red face. 'l

doubt if vou would recognise me it vou saw me. I muase be hideous. T behieve 1t

Clem saw mie she would chuck me at once™. But he knew she wouldn't, and it

would take more than a temporary bout of homesickness .and despair to force

Forrest from his plant-hunting mission. Greater tests were to come.

Plate 37, Asmdrosace
bulleyana. Forrest’s patron,
A K. Bulley: considered
this plant "one of the very
tinest of Forrest™s things’.
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CHAPTER FOUR
Death and Determination

1 simply cannot leave those flowers to be discovered by
and named after Frenchmen.

G. Forrest to his brother, 30 December 1905,

The best laid schemes...

At the dawn of 1905 Bulley was full of ambitious ideas. In the safety of his armchair
at Ness, he probably never thought what risks he was demanding of his plant
collector. His eye was on the goal of plants for his nursery. When Forrest, at the
China Inland Mission in Tali (Dali), received Bulley's suggestions, his foremost
thought was to return to the Catholic mission in Tscekou, to forage for flowers on
the surrounding mountains. He wanted to make a really fine collection there. After
consulting with Bulley, he even thought of combining this with a grander project
further north. He wrote to Balfour:

I should like to work my way right across from Atuntze, [eastwards over| that vast tract
of country which is blank on all the maps and which is intersected by the rivers
Yangtze, Li-tang and Yalung. This is one huge plateau or tableland, of 12-16,000 ft,
[3.500-5,000m] and as there have never been Europeans on it before. 1 think ! would
be almost certain to get hold of some good new things.'

All fatigue disappeared from his mind, risks were not mentioned, the new
adventure filled his mind in a huge wave of enthusiasm.

But bold plans were to be thrown into disarray. The proposed journey to Tsekou
was beset by many risks. This culminated in the most well-known and dangerous
incident of Forrest’s life, and his daring has to be seen against the background
influences that fed insecurity in an outwardly confident character.

First, Forrest fell i1l in Tali before he even started. The mission doctor warned him
that he had been overdoing it. Yet it was very difficult for Forrest; new demands
kept coming and he was anxious to oblige. At the request of the Consul General
for Yunnan, W.H. Wilkinson, he had just undertaken a journey of two weeks to
Yunnanfu. And there was always the inner urge to collect plant specimens and
seeds. A daily routine, when collecting, meant a very long day: up at 4am. off from
camp by 6am, then continuous riding until 6pm, with a short break for tifhn. (This
Anglo-Indian word was often used by Forrest for a light midday meal.)

Forrest also felt no security in his job, and had concerns at home, so that professional
and personal factors made him extra keen to succeed. This led to pressures that were
partly in his own imagination. Basically he wanted to prove his worth. He was anxious
that Clementina should see the quality of his herbarium specimens and he wanted to
prove himself to her mother, Mrs Traill, who was against their betrothal *

Both Balfour and Bulley showed sympathy and support when they learned of Forrest’s
personal situation.’ Balfour allowed Forrest’s personal letters to Clem to be posted to the
Herbarium of the RBGE: her presents (china, a fan, and the curio of ladies shoes for
tiny, bound feet) arrived packed in parcels of plants. Bulley wrote sensitively to Balfour:

1 am very glad you are keeping in touch with Forrest. He says he doesn’t mind being
alone, but Yunnan is a pretty far away spot, especially when you are in love. 1 am not
interfering in this matter, save that | have written to Mrs Traill, saying what a high
opinion | have of Forrest. A man sh’ [should] win his wite by himself. If you sh’ [should]
happen to find that Miss Traill is being unendurably persecuted, 1 cd’ [could] probably
find work for her in the nursery here. But [ don't want her to leave, unless badly pressed.*

61



62

Balfour replied:

Mrs Traill is I am afraid rather foolish, and should have learned by now that no other
reply than that you have given is possible trom those who know Forrest. I do not think
Miss Traill is now so unhappy — the subject is become ‘taboo’ at home.®

Balfour’s encouragement
Forrest was fortunate that Balfour was sensitive to his ups and downs and gave him
most enthusiastic encouragement and support. On receiving a case of Forrest’s
dried specimens, Balfour wrote:

...what a treat you have given me! I know something of the difficulties of collecting,
but my experience of obstacles pales before your description of the conditions under
which you have had to work.Yet what a result! Your specimens are splendid and their
interest botanically intense... They have arrived in excellent condition. Beautifully
packed and unharmed in transit.

Balfour was exultant and went on to list five primulas that Forrest had sent:

The gemn is the fifth. | believe a new one. It has bluish flowers arranged in a short spike
at the end of a long stalk and the flowers droop like those of a grape hyacinth (Muscari).
I should call it P muscarioides were 1 describing it. It is a lovely thing, and oh! If you
have got seeds it will indeed be an addition to horticulture.”

That was exactly the news Forrest needed and he duly introduced it to cultivation
that year (Plate 39).

On receiving a second batch of Forrest’s plants, Balfour concentrated on the
names of fifteen plants of the saxifrage family and when Forrest received the list of
preliminary identifications he whooped for joy. He wrote home:

Rejoice with me oh my friends, I am at last assured that [ have discovered something
new...If the average is kept up through the rest of the natural orders contained in my
collections I am a made man as far as the botanical work goes for life.

Then doubt took over: ‘However, that would be “ower guid luck”. You see T am
sceptical even yet’. But Balfour had great faith in him:

Your work ought to bring you some reputation as it will certainly increase your
knowledge of plants. What I hope may be possible is that your collection of dried plants
may make you known in the botanical world.

Balfour set about systematically describing Forrest’s plants in Edinburgh while
encouraging him in a most kindly, avuncular way:

You must take care of your health. [ don’t like to hear of your having fever such as you
describe. Wishing you continued success and thanking vou most warmly for all you
have done and for your interesting letters.”

Danger!
Forrest regained his health and set off from Tali for Tsekou (Plate 38). On arrival at
the end of April he wrote:

I have had a terribly trying journey... Tlost a mule... it fell over a precipice breaking
its back in three places, the two cases which it carried were smashed to atoms.”

Despite warnings of brigands and deep snow, Forrest had tried to cross the Wei Hsi
pass between the Yangtze and Mekong rivers, and this mule had slipped in the snow.
His men refused to go on. Forrest was left with the problem of how to carry his
baggage over the mountainous watershed. He got out of this predicament. as was



Plate 39. Primula muscarioides, first
MS A TR Fach by, ) mtroduced by Forrest in 1905 and
Vinzent Heagley lay 4 Sae § g deaa - .
one of his first discoveries to be
Liemv 309 Lanaar .

2 published.

to be his trademark. by betriending the next people who came along. A party of
Lissoos approached:

Wild-looking fellows they were, dressed as the Tibetans are, and armed wich swords.
guns, crossbows and the hated poisoned arrows. (See Plate 30.) They saw the fix T was
in, and on my asking them for their assistance, readily consented to help me.”

He had already heard dramatic Chinese stories of these people, whose arrows caused
‘death on the slightest scratch’ and who had the reputation as robbers on this range,
having sent a mandarin on his way with ‘nothing on but his breeches" Yet they
helped him carry loads weighing 80lbs (36kg) through deep snow. Occastonally a
man and his load would disappear and then all hands had to turn to dig him out.
Forrest put up at a headman’s house and was visited by a French priest of the Mission
Apostolique, Pere Bourdounec, who could not speak English. Fearful news poured out
and Forrest got the gist of it. Thousands of lamas trom further north up the Mckong
valley were on the warpath and only three days from Tsekou. They had already
murdered Chinese soldiers, native Christians and a French missionary, Pere Mussot.
Forrest arrived at Tsekou to find it ‘practically in a state of siege’, low in food and



Right:

Plate 40. Nomocharis saluenensis, first
collected by Soulié near Tsekou and
later tound several times by Forrest.
This is one of the handsomest of
colour forms.

Opposite:

Plate 41. Rhododendron forrestii,
discovered by Forrest in Yunnan
before he was nearly killed by lamas
n 1905, 1t has been much used in
hybridisation programmes.

L Snalling det et lith

daily expecting a visit from the lamas. He heard that Consul Litton was on his way
with one hundred Indian troops and wrote unconvincingly to Balfour," We will feel
much safer after his arrival’. Balfour was filled with grave anxiety.

Later, Forrest heard that the French medical missionary. Jean André Soulié, aged
forty-seven, had been tortured and shot at Yaragong. on the Yangtze. From 1886 he
had been stationed further north in the Tibetan border regions, making many
dangerous journeys in the troubled Tibetan borderland to collect over 7.000 dried
specimens for the Paris Museum. It was he who discovered Nomocharis salicnsis
(Plate 40) and introduced the ‘butterfly bush’, Buddlcja davidii. His murderers were
dangerously at large in the mountains and likely to cause more trouble.

Amidst all the fear and rumours, Forrest collected as many plants as possible and
had two men collecting for him. In May he happily told Balfour.'l have now nearly
300 species for you, and have located some fairly good things for Mr. Bulley..."
(Plate 41)." As the weather improved in June, he was even busier collecting. He
now employed four men and from morning till evening they scoured the
mountains, ‘minus tracks of any sort™, from 10-15.000tt. (3,000-4.500m).

In poorer weather he developed his photographs and wrote notes about his dried
specimens. numbering and describing cach plant. its habitat and altitude on a slip

of paper inserted with each specimen. In addition, there were always Tetters: in carly
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July he had eighteen to write. Letters were a solace in his solitude, a tonic and
inspiration when they brought good news. His family was very attentive, especially
his sisters, Grace and Isabella (‘Isa’), and when the latter enclosed a celandine ‘Tt was
like a breath from the Scotch hills’."” He was dehighted that his family had invited
Clemn to spend a weekend with them, ‘Many, many, thanks to you all for being so
kind to her’. He had also heard that his brother was renting a house, ‘Springbank’,
in Lasswade, for his mother and sisters to move into, and Forrest showed concern
that they settled happily there.

In his business letters he had good news from Bulley, who now had a new and
expert foreman from the nursery ofVeitch and Co. He reported very favourably on
the packing and condition of Forrest’s seeds. Forrest was relieved and told him of
recent finds. hoping that his seeds would germinate to produce new planes ‘fit to
be introduced to the gardening fraternity’. That was the final test he had to pass.

Meanwhile morale had deteriorated at the Tsekou mission. Forrest and Litton
had seen it at its best in the cold dry season. Now; in the heat, Forrest was disgusted
by the filth, the food and the stinking refuse. He tired of ‘pork and slops’ and shared
his tins of sardines until the supply ran out. As for the lice and tleas:‘Oh! How they
smell when we crack 'em. Kohn's [merchant at Bhamo] extra strong insect powder
1s useless, they thrive on it as a side dish, sort of curried man feed.™

By ecarly July the lamas still bad not come, but Forrest and the missionaries
remained defiant. He wrote home:

We are all rather humpy with the continued strain we have undergone for the past two
months. The want of reliable news tells on us more than anything... Whatever happens
we mean to stick here to the last...even supposing...1 have to take to the hills...

The previous year Forrest had promised to his family that he would not take
unnecessary risks, but now he resolved to risk staving in the area:

By going south now [ should lose practically the whole season. In any case I might as
well be scuppered as go home a failure. That is always the logic 1 have in front of me."

A mixture of pride and desperation meant, to him, that staying had become a
necessary risk, in order to achieve success in his collecting. Besides, there was
probably a grim satisfaction in the daring, with prospects of discoveries. He
suppressed his anxiety and spent a week collecting in the mountains about twelve
miles (19km) north-west of Tsekou. He showed incredible dedication:

For three nights I slept in a bog with split pine boards for my bed. my clothes for
blankets and a log for a pillow. Thunderstorms, rain, hail and snow. struggling over
avalanches and glaciers...Oh! The game is not worth the candle T can tell you at least
not at £100 [about £5.500 today] per year.”

Rumours and counter rumours of approaching lamas continued to fill the air. The
French missionaries at Tsekou doubled their sentries at the rope bridges across the
Mekong River. Yet on 13 July Forrest was thrilled with finding rhododendrons,
primulas, lilies and azaleas and was writing in jubilant frame of his discovery of large
quantities of the beautiful yellow poppywort, Meconopsis integrifolia. This was the
flower that the nursery frmi of Veitch had dispatched E.H. Wilson to find in 1903,
and here was a new Jocality hundreds of miles from Wilson's. Forrest keenly
described the habitat in detail. All his ditFiculties were not without reward. The find
gave him a competitive thrill:

If1 am not the first to send home seed of this species, T hope to be the first to send home
photos of it taken in sitn. 1 hope to be able to send vou a print by next mail.™



Bulley was currently selling this flower for the expensive sum of 10s.6d. (the cost
of a good pair of shoes), so more seed would be very welcome, and a photograph
would be a good advertisement.

Forrest planned to be home in May or June 1906: ‘That is my present plan but
you know ‘the plans o’ mice an’ men’ and there is no knowing how or by what this
may be changed, so don’t count on it”” This turned out to be dreadfully true.

Suddenly — out of the blue — Balfour received news from the Foreign Office. Mr
Litton, His Majesty’s Consul at Tengyuceh, had telegraphed:

... There seems unfortunately little doubt that an Englishman, named Forrest, was
murdered on July 21, in the course of the disturbances which have lately occurred in
the region of the Upper Mekong (Plate 42).*

Balfour broke the tragic news to Clementina and to Forrests mother before
writing to Forrest’s patron, A.K.Bulley:

Dear Mr. Bulley,

You will doubtless have heard through the Foreign Office from Mr. Litton that there
is little doubt that Forrest has been murdered.

His last letter to me written at Tsekou on 27th May told of the troubles around him
~ of the murder of French Missionaries and the scarcity of food — but though anxious
he seemed to be confident that he would come through all right. The date of the
murder 215 uly ...shows that for about two months after his letter no crisis had come.
He was not a man to yield and unless there was treachery he would die fighting as |
sincerely hope he did.

You will be as we are all here deeply grieved by the catastrophe. He seemed to me
to be showing himself a born collector. The dried plants he sent home were in perfect
condition, and 1 gather that you were pleased with the seeds that reached you from
him. It was unlucky that he should go up to Tsekou again just at the moment when
the disturbances broke out for apparently that is a centre of a wealth of new vegetation
and from which you might have obtained a splendid instalment of good things...

We have lost a really good man from whom [ had looked for great horticultural prizes,

Yours very truly,
(Sgd.) Isaac Bayley Baltour™

Bulley replied:

I feel very sick. The vile feeling is that this fine young fellow was working for pay for
me; that he had to do it because he was poor; and that he lost his life in the endeavour
to earn my beastly money.

I had frequently told him that safety must be his first consideration, and not flowers.
And as soon as I got his last letter, | wrote again urging him to run no risks...Of course
it never reached him.

1 cherish no hope of his being alive. He was too full of pluck.”

Incredibly, within thirty-six hours, Balfour received a telegram from the Foreign
Office that brought great joy and relief to everyone: "Further telegram received
from Consul [in] Yunnan stating Forrest is alive and safe. Gorst.™' Telegraph wires
were humming with the happy news. Forrest’s family in Lasswade replied.
‘Overjoved to have good news many many thanks’.

Bulley, the relieved paymaster, ended his next letter to Forrest with very firm
admonitions: ‘Safety must at all times be your first consideration, absolute, undoubted,
safety. Only after that is assured are you to trouble your head about flowers.™

In Yunnan, Litton shared in the family’s happy relief, for he and Forrest were
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close friends after their travels together. He wrote immediately to Forrest, to
welcome him to the C.I.M. (China Inland Mission) in Tali.

Tengyuch, August 190, 1905
My dear Forrest,

I am more glad than | can tell you to hear of your escape. We had all given you up
so numerous and so circumstantial were the accounts of your death both official and
unoflicial including eye witnesses!! 1 had telegraphed to the Foreign Office ‘almost
certain’ you had been killed and had written privately to Professor Balfour and Bulley.
Needless to say | have wired the good news of your escape to London so that your
people...will not be long in suspense. You must have escaped by a miracle and 1 shall
be eager to hear all about it.You must have a good rest and get fit at the C.I.M. at Tali
under Dr Clark’s care and I will be along very soon and you can come down here with
me...Unless you are an experienced journalist write no account home, as [ know a
little about the job and could help you dish up an account wh. [which] ought to bring
you in many dollars wh. are always a consideration — I shall bring a shirt or two and
things wh. may be useful to you...get back your strength as quick as you can — and
believe me always yrs. sincerely

G.Litton
ps. I don’t know though — Such a mighty person as the CONSUL GENERAL having
reported you as dead, can you officially speaking be alive? I doubt it...Had you better
not pretend to be a ghost... G.L~"

Months passed before the family could piece together what had happened. Litton
first confirmed that ‘Forrest by some miracle has escaped ...safe ... after “horrible
experiences”. Thank God for that’** A letter from a missionary at Tali, dated 17
August, told the good news that Forrest was on his way there:

He says he escaped after a fearful experience lasting for 21 days, being hunted like a
mad dog for nine days on the hills, suffering terrible privation — then fell in with some
friendly people who brought him on his way... Two of the French Priests he says have
been massacred...Rest assured we will look after him well when he is here. and we
thank God for thus delivering him.*

Twelve days later Forrest felt well enough to write to Balfour:

I have just passed thro’ [through] the worst experience of my life and 1 sincerely hope
I will never be called upon to suffer the like again...I am in a very weak and nervous
condition now that the strain is off me. I did not feel so bad on my arrival here but 2
days later was thoroughly prostrated, and as yet Dr Clark prohibits me exerting myself
in the slightest, or doing anything that will bring my late experience too vividly to
mund. Even this is written contrary to his orders.

Dr Clark was still treating Forrest's feet, which were in a terrible condition after he
had gone eighteen days barefoot. Forrest continued:

About 20 natives were killed, and a great number more captured and taken into slavery.
The heads and hearts were taken north to Atunze [sic] ...but [I] was lucky and skilful
enough to beat them on their own ground and at their own game. Several times 1 was
surrounded, but always managed to break away.”

He was thankful to have escaped, but desolate about all he had lost:
In the sack of Tsekou, I have ost everything, 700 species of dried specimens, 70 species of

plants” seeds, my camera and over 50 negatives of planes, all my stores, bed, bedding, tents, all
letters, papers, books, including those which vou so kindly sent me, and nearly Tls. Jtack]
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Plite 43, Pere
Bourdonnee dettr wath
PPere Dubernard (righu).
the Superior of the
DHASION station at
Tsekou. Forrest staved in
their house, then Hled
with them when it was
burned down by lanas
July 1905, Both French
MISIONAFIEes Were
murdered.

how ditheult it had been to st through contlicting rumours. He saw i retrospect

that a trator had given him and the Fathers false assurances of their satety. Great
anxiety. uncertainey and delays mounted over three critical dave. On 17 July. ar 2am.
Pere Dubernard awoke Forrest with the news that Atuntze had been surrounded and
was likely to falll Tsekou would be next. Consternation and contusion followed.
Forrest had a close friendship with Pere Dubernard and, as Litton had guessed,
Forrest had felt a loyalty to stand by the old man as he plunged mto extreme griel’
and agitation. Pere Bourdonnee wanted to remain and fight', causing fatetul delays,
whilst Forrest fruitdessly made large offers of silver to anyone who would carry some
of his efteets to the south, fearing that all his collections of plants and buttertlies would
be lost. "It simply maddened me to see my seeds and specimens lying around in their
cases, with the knowledge that [ had to lose them all” On 19 July, at Spm. a runner
brought the news that Acuntze had fallen. Evervone knew the mission would be next.
At 7pm they tled. The two clderly priests mounted horses and. heavily armed. they
all headed southwards along the west bank of the Mckong River. abandomny the
French Catholic Mission and all Forrests collections (Plate 43).

The path was rough and the going slow and after only two hours a peculiar Tibetan
cry had gone across the river intimating their flight. Forrest advised the priests that
any delay would be deadly, yet the priests insisted on stopping for a cup of tea, and
when they heard that it would be necessary to elude capture by taking 2 mountamous
route. the elderly priests seemed, to Forrest. to mve up hope. Fle was ina dilemma,
being strongly inclined to go on alone. Lovaley kept him with them as they clambered
to the sumimit ol'a range. only to see a lrge column of smoke ascending to the north.

Tsekou had been burned, and the Lainmas were probably pursiing them,
Forrest continued:

Here Diade miy Last attempt to haseen the movements of the Fathers, but without aval.
Both seemed to have enurely caven up hope. When Ty i effonts were useless, |
pushed on dhead with one of v servants. Ancon.



The Fathers followed at a distance but, whereas Forrest and Anton crossed the fast
moving stream using a log as a bridge, the Fathers stopped the other side for tiffin,
instead of hurrying on. Over a week later Forrest learned that both priests had been
murdered, and in his letter to Clementina he spared her no horrors:

It appears that Pére Bourdonnec was cornered some time on the second day, shot down,
and whilst still alive cut open and his heart torn out. Pére Dubernard managed to elude
his pursuers until the fourth or fifth day when he was captured. The lamas broke both
his arms, tied his hands behind his back and then led him off in the direction of Tsekou.
However. he became so exhausted that he begged them to kill him at once, on which
one of them struck him down with a sword. He was then cut open and his heart
extracted before death. Both bodies were beheaded and all the parts taken north. It is
the custom of the natives to eat the heart and brain, and partake of the blood of their
enemies (raw of course) if they have died fighting or if they are Christians. [t is said to
impart bravery. Such would have been my fate had I fallen into their hands (Plate 44).

Forrest had been hiding by day and active at night in his search of a safe escape route.
The main hindrance was the lamas’ line of sentries along the crest of a ridge, forming
a cordon blocking all attempts to go south. When he found that his footsteps were
being followed. he discarded and buried his boots, waded in a stream and continued
barefoot. After the third night ‘on the run’, he found on the ground a ‘score or so’ of
ears of wheat. They proved to be the only food he had for eight days. And the
narrowness of his escape during that time is shown by his account:

Once, whilst lying asleep, behind a log in the bed of the stream. I was awakened by a
sound of laughing and talking, and on looking up I discovered thirty of them in the act
of crossing the stream about fifty yards above my hiding place. It was a very near squeak,
both for them and for me.

By the end of the eighth day Forrest was so weak, hungry and exhausted that he
could scarcely stand. Desperate, he headed for a small Lissoo village to beg for food.
He entered a hut, murmured ‘Tsampa’ and collapsed. Fortunately he had fallen
amongst friends who boiled some dough made of Tibetan wheat in water and gave
it to him. He knew it was dangerous to suddenly eat this after days without food,
but he was so hungry that he gorged himself and suffered painful agonies and
diarrhoea for nearly three months afterwards. He rested there for three days, but his
trials were not over. The next day he went into hiding when hearing that thirty
lamas were searching for him and then two guides accompanied him on a circuitous
mountain route to Yeh Chih. They cut their way through rhododendrons and cane
breaks to the summit of the Mekong-Salween divide and spent two days between
14,000 ft and 17,000 ft [4,000 and 5,000m] over snow, ice and wind swept tip-tilted
strata’ that tore his feet to shreds.™ They had no cover from the bitter cold ar night,
and not even a fire when it rained too heavily for this, and they existed on tsampa
and Tibetan tea, catching rain-water in pieces of bark.

It was ironic that Forrest was suffering such hardships in a beautiful mountain
range among magnificent flowers. He told Clem of the sights he saw as they had
pressed on with no time to dally. There were:

several species of meconopsis all of them surpassingly lovely, miles ot thododendrons,
and acres of primulas of which I counted over a dozen species in flower. many of which
[ had never seen before. .. Those mountains have, rightly in my opinion. been called the
flower garden of the world.

He had even picked a few flowers, pressed them in his pocketbook and later sent
them to Balfour. No wonder Balfour was to call him ‘a born collector’.
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Plate 44. Primula dubernardiana. A

plant of cushion habit, first

discovered by Forrest in 1904 on
limestone chffs near Tsekou, and
named in honour of the murdered

Pére Dubernard.

L Snielling del.et lith

Forrest followed one of the ridges until he reached a spur overlooking the Mekong
directly opposite Yeh Chih. It must have seemed like the *Promised Land’. Chinese
officials came to his every need. He found quarters in a house and the representative
of Lichiang-Fu, who was camped for the emergency by the river, brought him a
blanket and a supply of food. Chinese cakes. fowls, eggs, arrack. Forrest was also
brought a change of clothing (Chinese garb for his disguise) and had his beard shaved.
He was given guides to take him to Hsia Wei Hsi and crossed over the Mekong by a
rope bridge. He was overjoyed to find Pére Monbeig there, who received Forrest as
one returned from the dead. They were offered escorts of soldiers, mules, food and
more clothing. Forrest could hardly believe his transformation:

1 was quite richly and gaily attired in a gown of bright blue flowered silk, thick blue cloth
jJacket. lined silk, and Chinese-trousers of the same material. Blue shoes, white socks
(limen) and a black satin cap with red silk button completed my costume. (Plate 45.)

The two men started for Tali on 13 August, twenty-five nerve-jangling days after
the day of destruction of Tsekou. They were given sedan chairs for the last part of
the journey and the missionaries at Tali came out to meet them. They arrived safely
on 25 August. Forrest’s costume covered a thoroughly run-down and weary body.
but at least he could now rest under the watchful eye of a medical missionary. In
particular, during his escape, he had stepped on a sharp and fire-hardencd bamboo
spike that had picreed agonisingly between the bones of his foot. protruding a



couple of inches above the upper surtace.” The wound took months to heal and
~ouple of inches above the upper surt TI 1 took ths to heal and

Forrest was very fortunate that Dr W.T. Clark had been posted to Tah in 1902 and
serviced a busy dispensary there.™ Medical misstonaries were in short supply in
China and Talt was the only C.LLM. medical station in north-west Yunnan.

He described to Clementina his condition on arrival at Tali:

I was really ill, completely worn out. It was a thorough nervous collapse. | was as jumpy
as a young woman and really horrible to look at, hollow cheeks. eyes sunken in regular
caves and black for inches bencath, and my whole features drawn and careworn. I shall
carry the marks of what I have come through ull the day of my death. 1 am utterly
changed...However, 1 have got off with life. ..

And life, for Forrest, was never quiet for long. He and Litton were already hatching
plans for another adventure.

On 11 September — less than three weeks after Forrest’s return to Tali — he wrote
a bright letter to Balfour, ‘I have decided on joining Mr Litton on a journey which
he proposes making up the Salween-Irrawaddi divide’. They were to be far away
from lamas and yet venture into entirely untouched country. where Forrest hoped
to secure ‘many new things’. Only a man of exceptional zeal and energy could have
countenanced another exploit so soon. Maybe, for him, it seemed the best antidote.
He was delighted, excited and curious to visit a new area, and travelhing with his
lively and trusted friend would help make a fresh start.

On 11 October Litton issued him with a new Chinese passport (Plate 46) to be
shown at all checkpoints in Yunnan and Szechwan (Sichuan). He was given a new
title,"Flower collector of the Museum®’ and he could employ local labour for his work.
Appropriately. at the top of the passport were the words of the Treaty advising the
holder to go only in peacetime. The next day the two men set off to explore part of
the upper Salween valley where no European had been betore.

Above lett:

Plate 45. (h‘()l'gc Forrest at
the China Inland Mission,
Tah, immedutely afrer his
escape.

Above right

Plate 46. George Forrests
provincial passport of

11 October 1905, It

was valid for one year

and measured about

16in. x 28in. (40cm x 70cm).
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The Land of the Crossbow

The unmapped area of the upper Salween was inviting exploration. Litton obtained
special permission to go, his object being both political and geographical. First, he
wanted to discover whether the western watershed of the Salween valley formed a
distinct geographical and ethnographical boundary between north-west Yunnan
and Upper Burma. Secondly he aimed to explore the Salween valley between 26°
and 27°30’N. lat., observing its physical form and its people, their customs,
agriculture and trade, organisation and prosperity, with a view to reading a paper
to the Royal Geographical Society in London.

The two men set off from Tengyueh, Forrest as Litton’s assistant, plant collector
and photographer. They were well armed and had an escort of two Lissoo sepoys
from the Burmese frontier (Plate 22). They took servants, baggage animals and a
pointer dog. They headed due north towards the source of the Shweli river and the
Lissoo hamlet of Ta-chu-pa. From here onwards they were among the Lissoo
people, often with some Chinese blood in them. No one spoke English and even
in the south of the valley only the chiefs and their families could speak any Chinese.
The men dressed in Chinese fashion, but the women, while adopting Chinese cotton
cloth, often wore their own characteristic decorations on the head, neck and arms
(Plates 47 and 48). Here Forrest and Litton were supplied with porters who, even in
difficult country, carried a weight of 70lbs (32kg) on their backs for six to eight hours.
The loads were mainly reserve supplies of rice.

They were unlucky with the weather. In days of downpours of rain they trekked
through the desolate, dripping forest of the N’Mai Kha-Shweli dividing range to
the watershed-frontier with Burma, finding swollen streams, landslips and broken
bridges on their way. They camped or took refuge in smoky and verminous Lissoo
huts and lost a mule with its bundle of Forrest’s plant specimens. They turned east
over the lonely, but beautiful Pien-ma pass at 10,500ft. (3,200m) and descended to
the village of Lu-chang, at approximately 6,400ft. (2,000m) and latitude 26°N.
Here they were some 3,000ft. (900m) above the Salween River, and this was to be
their base for exploring further north. They sent back their baggage animals and
were glad to establish friendly relations with the people: a boy chief asked them for
sweets while his mother gave them a large capon.

Later, when Forrest related their journey in an article in the Geographical Journal,™
he described the march north as ‘a trial of strength to the traveller’s legs’. On the
higher slopes they saw limestone crags where the strata were tipped up and
pointing to the sky, while their path led up and down over an endless succession of
steep ridges that descended from the mountainous watersheds on either side of the
Salween river valley. Walking was physically tough and in some places, ‘we had to
haul ourselves over boulders by pendant branches, or scramble along the face of
cliffs by notches in the rocks, more suitable for monkeys’.

But the men were in no doubt that their efforts were worth while. The narrowness
of the valley meant that they could see the mountains on either side and, as the autumn
rains gave way to wintry sunshine, they thought the natural beauty exceeded that of
the valleys of the Yangtze, the Mekong and Irrawaddy rivers. They were captivated:

The great variety of rock formation, the abundant forests and vegetation, and the diversity
of light effects between the summits of the ranges (at 10,000 to 13,000 feet |3,000 to
4,000m)) and the abyss in which the river flows produce a vast panorama of ever-changing
beauty. In the morning the sun, as it touches the top of the Mckong divide, sends wide
shafts of turquoise light down the side gullies to the river, which seems to be transtormed
into silver. The pines along the top of the ridges stand out as if limned by the hand of a
Japanese artist. In the evening all the wide slopes of the Mekong side are flooded with red
and orange lights. which defy photography and would be the despair of Turner.™



Above:

Plate 47. Lissoo people of the
Ming Kwong valley, a
tributary of the Shweli river.

Right:
Plate 48. Three Lissoo girls of
the Ming Kwong valley, 1905.




Plate 49, Consul Litton
with Lissoo people and
their crossbows i the
Salween valley, 1905,

Litton and Forrest found a sparse and poor population hiving e scattered villages

on the higher ground above the river, between 5,000 and 7.000 feet (1,500 and
2.000m). To the north there was no form of overnment and almost no Chinese
mtluence:rice was a luxury and coarsely ground maize, buckwheat and wild honey
were the staple foods. Cloth was much i demand and when the oavellers
themselves becamie short of food one Lissoo suggested bartering their breeches for
a bag of rice. These breeches were not on ofter, but a Chinese coolie in the party
did a deall barterig his ragged and lousy jacket tor some maize and salt.

They were relieved when they came to an arca where fowls and eggs were
available: they were offered a goat or pig for sale and there was sutficient game to

add six brace of pheasants to their larder. At one village there were truit trees, and

the picturesque inhabitants, with their beads, cowries, silver ornaments, and long
hempen garments came out enasse to welcome us, and several ot the village elders

brought trays of rice. eggs, vegetables. ete which they otfered on ther knees.

Nevertheless, at one point they were contronted by warriors armed with huge
crossbows. When these men were shown the firing of a twelve-shot repeating
Winchester rifle, they decided to be friendly and Forrest took photographs ot them
(Plate 49). Progress was slow through wild counery with towering limestone peaks,
but the rewards included (orests rich i orchids. and a camp on a sandbank where
beautiful crinum hlies bloomed amongst the boulders.

Allwas notso serene when the party ot thirey-five persons and 1 dog canie to a sigle
rope bridge across the Salween river, There was afeud beoween the villagers on either
side of the river. Both claimed that the right and profic of assistng travellers across
belonged to them alone. Ofters of head necklaces would not plicate them. The single
rope bridges across the Salween were far more duficult to cross than the double rope
bridges of the Mckong, After being trussed by cords on to a wooden runner. with face
to the sky and back to the water, cach person had o haul hinselt across and over
hand, hoping the rope would not break and risking lands full of pamtul sphnters.

The villagers of the Teft bank crossed over and began o te up one ol the Toads,
whercupon the leader of the right bank whipped out a porsoned arrow and shot it
over the heads of Littons party inco the river. Lle swas about to draw s how again,

when Litton and Forrese rushed at him and Torrest fired several shows from s



Plate 50. Armys of the *Black Lissoo’, Salween valley, given by George Forrest to the (now) Natonal Museums

of Scotland. The crossbow has a bow of wild mulberry, stock of wild plum and a string of nanve hemp. The
shoulder strap and quiver are of black bearskin, the latter strengthened by cane lashed with rattan. Arrows

are of split bamboo, pared with a knife, fledged with bamboo leat and coated with Aconitim poison
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Winchester repeater (‘the gun that won the West'). The bullets smashed against a
stone on the other side of the river and the men were told, through an interpreter,
that if they made a show of stringing their bows again, ‘the next bullet would find a
resting-place in some of their carcasses”. There was an awe-struck silence. All the party
was safely hauled across the rope while Litton and Forrest stood on guard, giving
several more exhibitions of their marksmanship and the power of their weapons.

Litton and Forrest found that nearly all the villages were at war with one another and
suspicion and rumour reigned. This made it very difficult to find a guide and impossible
to get any accurate information about routes or distances. None the less, they
established that there was no plain or open valley in the section they explored, and by
climbing to the western, Chi-mi-li pass, at 13,000ft. (4,000m), they saw it was too wild
and difficult to be a regular line of communication across the watershed to Burma. On
the opposite side of the valley they also climbed the Salween-Mekong divide to
12,300ft. (3,750m) and were rewarded with a wonderful panoramic view, westwards
across the Salween valley and beyond. The great Salween-Irrawaddy dividing range was
spread out before them like a vast limestone wall separating Yunnan from Burma. In
the distance were dazzling snow-peaks. It was easy to see why this mountain barrier
was an ethnographical boundary between the Lissoo and Kachin peoples. On looking
east, across the Mekong, they also had a superb view across north-western Yunnan to
the dominating and glittering snow-mountain west of Lichiang (Yulong Shan).

In private, Forrest summarised this previously unexplored area as ‘No roads,
frightful travelling, people complete savages and the most barren country I have yet
passed through'."" Although he considered the botanical results disappointing, he
sent to Edinburgh 360 plant specimens and seeds of about one hundred species. He
used his photographic skills to record the people and returned to Brirain with a
dramatic armoury: two double-handed swords and their scabbards and two wooden
hunting crossbows complete with their accompanying quivers of poison arrows
{Plate 50). He suggested that a suitable title for a book on the upper Salween would
be ‘The Land of the Crossbow’ and his fascination with these ‘diabolical” weapons
is indicated by his detailed descriptions of them in a later article.” He described the
woods used, how the poison was made and placed in the arrow, and the terrible
power of the poison to kill a cart-horse. An arrow from a war bow pierced an inch
(2.5cm) thick deal board at 70 or 80 yards (about 70m). Forrests collection of
weapons is kept today in the National Museums of Scotland.

Litton described Forrest as ‘done up’ after the physically demanding journey, which
had followed perhaps too quickly after his traumas in the Mekong. But the resulting
articles and collections form a valuable and lasting record of the people, plants and
places that they found in the upper Salween valley, before it was even mapped.

Death intrudes

On their return in mid-December, Litton insisted on Forrest taking a complete rest
for some wecks in readiness for further collecting in the spring.” Forrest had
already negotiated with Bulley to stay an extra year. Earlier he had favoured
returning, as planned, after two years away from home and Clementina. Probably
the loss of so many of his collections persuaded him to stay and do more to make
his expedition a success. Part of him desperately wanted to return to the Mekong
divide and other plateaux at 10,000-13,000ft. (3,000-4,000m), to make good his
losses. The lamas had dispersed, the missionaries had already returned and Litton
could see no reason why Forrest should not try. For a while Forrest found it difficult
to decide, the obvious risks vying in his mind with his competitive urge: ‘I stimply
cannot leave those flowers to be discovered by and named after Frenchmen™.” Inevitably



the competitive urge won. Forrest determined to try and return to the Mekong area.

Balfour had immense respect for Forrest's field work. He had wricten to Litton, *His
collections are indeed marvellous for their perfection. What he has already done is great
and gives promise of even greater things in the future’.” To encourage a fresh start,
Balfour sent him a new camera to replace the one that was lost, a number of % glass plates,
a box of photo chemicals, printing paper, drying paper, all seven volumes of Hooker's
Flora of British India and the Flora of China. At Forrest’s request his brother, James, also sent
him a replacement copy of Bentleys Manual of Botany, a volume of about 900 pages, the
size of The Concise Oxford Dictionary, full of mformation about the classification and
structure of plants. Forrest had had an old copy of this book at home and he was
obviously very familiar with it, possibly since his days working in the pharmacy. He
looked upon it as a ‘perfect godsend’ in Yunnan.

Armed with his new supply of books and photographic equipment, Forrest felt
more positive, though Balfour’s kindness perversely embarrassed him and heightened
feelings of inadequacy and indebtedness. On the last day of 1905, with his strength
probably still at a low ebb, his old doubts resurfaced. He told his brother:

I feel so horribly incompetent at times that I look on praise from a man of
Prof. Balfour’s position more as sarcasm. To say this, after all he has done and is doing
for me, I know must sound most ungrateful but I cannot help it. Just the nature of the
animal, and 1 cannot shake it off. [ wish I had the confidence of some people.

Forrest ended this letter:

I hope to God nothing will come in my way this year...if all goes well this time next year
[ shall be on my way home. All the same [ expect my cursed bad luck will follow me.*

It was just as well that he did not know the devastating news that would break in
only two weeks' time.

The New Year 1906 started with Forrest temporarily elevated to standing in for
Litton at the Consulate in Tengyueh. Litton was suddenly called away on business
to the Burmese frontier and Forrest now spoke and understood Chinese.
Moreover, he found that visiting travellers had heard of his exploits and were keen
for his company. One visitor. Mr Crowley. was a mountaineer and member of the
Alpine Club who had attempted unsuccessfully to gain the summit of
Kanchenjunga, with four of his party killed in the attempt. He failed to persuade
Forrest to be a botanist attached to his next expedition there.

Then the entirely unexpected happened and completely shattered Forrest. He
had faced dangers and frustrations stoically and endured privations and suffering,
but this seemed more than he could bear. Litton died.

The Consulate
Teng-Yueh,
Yunnan
13.1.06
Dear James,
Have just passed thro’ [through] another ordeal which has tried me more than any.
Litton died very suddenly, on his way up from the frontier...

..he intended to be at Teng-Yueh on the 11t __on the evening of the joth
came up and said he was very ill, but still struggling on. This was about 10pm. I left at
once with the native Dr [doctor] here, travelled as quickly as poss. [possible].. .but too
late. He had died at midday the previous day. Escorted the body tied on a chair to
Teng-Yuch, where, as no-one would have anything to do with it in case of infection I had
to strip and lay out the body myself. It was so stiff that I had to cut off the clothing and

a runner
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Plate 31, Consul Ortrewall

an an othaal visic to the
Liotar m Tengyvuceh. Note
the State chair and bearers.

o long exposed that st had gone quite black. The Do Bengaliand most incompetent
could give the divease no nume.
I hove had such a shoek that at present T eannot write more so pray excuse me
I have lost the bese triend ever T had and one thae Tshall never be able to replace
Your loving bro.|brother|

Cieorge Forrest
S

This Tetter was written the dav betore Torrest and Litton had planned o Teave
Tengyuch together for Tali It was 1 oagedy that a voung and strong muan should be
Lud Tow and. as Torrest realised keenly, he had Tost not onhy a triend, but an
experienced guide. fellow explorer and companion.

Litton was only thirevix and the mmmediate cause of death was sand 1o be
ervsipelas. but his successor put it down to four vears of the continual excessive
strain of travelling and working late inro the night on reports (Litton was due for
home leave inthe spring of 1906). Te was buried south of Tengyueh on che slopes
of Laiteng Shan. Atterwards Forrest staved in the town, helping Napier, the
Commissioner of Customs, to deal with Liccons private papers. The new Consul,
LA, Orewill arrived incarly Tebruary, just under o mondh after Diccon died
(Plates 31 and 32). Forrest helped him, too, with Ticcons attais, but the low off
Licton was o preremg sadness, Fle tele sickened and depressed and almost as much

run down as he had the previous August when he reached Tal atter Ias escape:

We were very dose trends. none greaters and T have not only Tost one whom | shall
never replace, bue 1 rear that with b goes all chance of oy indenmniedhe whole
tabric of iy plans has tallen to the groundany nerve s completely gone and 1 oannot

cive battle as Fosed 1o,

I'hiv was o cruel blow onlyv ax months aliter the dieadiul deaths ot s lrench
riends and his osen horrihie experiences. s nind coubd not cope vt el and at

s to tahe i ac long e o recover Tulh



Fortunately. one of the nest visitors to the Consulate was Colonel G.C Iippan,
an avid bird collector on leave from a Burmese regiment, He swas o member of the
British Ornithologists” Club and his reports.and even exhibits, ot new bird species
of Burma and China were sent to their London meetings A new species had been
named atter him the previous year and he was currently eollecting for the Brinsh
Museum. (He was to amass a collecnion of more than 2,800 <kins from Burna.
China and India.) He staved with Torrest tor a week and was most anxaous that
they should travel together. An carhier plan had been that Rippon might taavel with
Litton and Forrest to the Chungtien platcauw and Rippon still hoped that something
of this plan nught be retrieved. He went on ahead to Tali to await Forrest’s arrival.
This bucked Forrest up and he realised that he was the “right side up yet', though
it was ‘a darned hard lite”. ™

Forrests mail also brought kind, supportive and loving letters from his Fauly: and
good news, On Monday 6 November 1905 the Scoraman had publshed Forrests
article headed "Lama disturbances in Northwese Yannan: Destruction of 4 French
Mission. A Scotsman’s personal narrative”. Now he received a cheque tor two
auineas (over £ 100 today). He was thrilled. and the money was divided between
Clem and the familye as o fwee treat tor Easter”. with the request that they should
al toast to his tuture success in the writing hine.™ He had alwavs hoped o
supplement his mcome by wrinng. but this was his first success. Earlier on. when
his family admitted that his diary had not been published. he had replicd.*Another
paving stone. Wish we had some of them out here for the roads™. The menton of
paving stones was turned into a quip, but probably alluded to the road to hell being
paved with good intentions. No wonder he was happy to have an article pubhished
now. It was a small but well-timed spur to carry on.

Forrests contract was for one more vear in Yunnan and ir was not in him to give
up, however ditheult the circunstances. The previous yearys losses had to be
replaced. He didn’t know whether he would ever have another chance and he was
a person who needed to achieve. A strong sense of duty and diligence was also
intrinsic to him, as 1t he were deeply imbued. i his serice Christian upbringing,
with exhortations to industry and honest tol tor the common good. Forrest
implored his brother not to work so hard for the Church. at the same tme pushing
himiselt to his limits, As soon as he could get away from Tengyvuch, he set oft tor

Tali. to catch up with Rippon and prepare to head “for the north™ m the spring.

‘Our Mr Forrest’
At Tali the European nussionaries of the C.LM. were a helpful and steadving
influence. During 1900-7 Forrest came to know Mr LW, Hanna and Mrs Hanna
(née Roxic Wood) particularly well. Having met as missionaries in Yunnantu. the
Hannas had only recently been married’ and were to be firm friends of Forrest in
the future. Fecling welcome, Forrest settled to writing up his account of his recent
travels with Liccon. tricd out lis new camera and was given space tor drving plants.
He kept in touch with Chinese offictaldom ' the hope ot returning to the
Mckong valley. but conditions there were so chaotic that the possibihiey was
oficially closed to him. Maybe this was merciful. Details of the deaths of
Dubernard and Bourdonnee sall came to haunt hin:

They are much oo gruesome o relate and when | think of what Tescaped my blood

runs cold. They must have suttered eerribly. Castranion was one of the least ot the
; ' ;) - Y =
brutalities pracosed on dheme. Plate 32 The —[-lt'LHAUI
Tenevuch, the chiet ol
A< spring approached Forrest covered his grief by tackling his collecting with huge  official.
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Plate 33, Punida forrestin. Torrests gardening adviee i 1909 was

Tewall ot do swadh damp. The most sunny and drey sttiations are
what vou should trveand do not torget to give it pleney ot lime.
Ihe vintons i which 1o found  the species o greatest

luvuriance. were the erevices and ledges of dry Imestone chifis!
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Plate 54, Flerbarium specimen ot Primuda forrestii collected by
Forrest e 1910, wieh Tus handwrinng. e shows a characeeriste
rootstock of wild plant. BT

resolve and organisation. He planned his use ol collectors so that both the
Range (Cang Shan) and the Liching Range (Yulong Shan) could be scoured tor
plints and seed at the same ame. We dont know exactly how many people he
engaged. butin 1905-6 he ramed local Nakhi (Naxi) people from U-lu-kay (Snow
Mountain Village). north of therr ancient capital, Lichiang-Fu. They formed the
core of his collectors on all s subsequent expeditions. In 1906 he also tramed
three Minchia (Minghat) women. mooduced to him by massionaries at Talitu (Plate
56). Thev lived on the Tal plam. and TForrest deseribed cheir toughness and
practicality for their new task: “I'he Minchia women have natural feet. manage
boats, carry Toads, do masons” and bricklayvers” work and even occasionally act as
muleteers” The contrast with Chinese women was very striking. for foot binding
was stll pracused i Yunnan, often reducing cheir teet to only four inches (10cm)
long. When Torrest first saw this, he found 1 pamtul to see them tottering along
on 1 couple of stmps. Soie of them are to be seen with tfeet, seell, Twouldn'e call
them teet aalll they are simply an ankle bone and a4 big toe!”

Forreses zest and indusery and the scale of bis ambiion low breathukingly from

his Tecters. o ond-Apnl he reported trom Tal that he had:

engaged two native collectors whoare to work the Taan Shan . Cang Shoane range West

ol thiy ans durmg iy absence s the nordh o leavimg one of s bovs o charge
of theme and it durmg my absence they work as wellas dhey aee dome now Fhope to
obtan rom this distret perhaps 2000 speaes Alre iy I]m\n \H}mm\:mn coover Jon

speates drredand another Too well an the wan they wall abo collecr seed.



Looking at Forrest’s 1900 collection of primulas alone gives us a good idea of the
extent and thoroughness of his collecting that vear. Collections were made from
the lower slopes to the sunumit of the Tali Range (Cang Shan), and from the pine
forests to the mountain pastures and crags of the Lichiang Range {Yulong Shan)
(Plate 57). Collecting continued into October. In April be was finding the familiar,

blue, Sino-himalavan,"drumstick primula™. Prinnida denticufara, in the pasture-fand of

the lower slopes. By May he was on the castern flank of the Lichiang Range.seeing
the flowers of Prinuda nivalis pushing up along the snow line. together with the
blue high-level alpine lowers of Prinmila sond hitolia. He described the latter as being
one of the first flowers to show on the disappearance of the snow:

In many instances T tound specimens which had actually toreed their wav through the
snow: Insuch cases the surrounding white showed to the greatest advantage the rich
blue of the flowers.

Forrest was in his element. lost in wonder and delight. Further, as he explored the
dry. shady crevices of the limestone clifis, they revealed one of their long-held
secrets, the deep yellow flowers of a primula not tound by a westerner betore, This
plant had a woody rootstock that caused Forrest to ponder on its possible greart
age. Te was lacer named atter bim, Prmda forrestic (Plates 33 and 545, and has

become one of the best known species that bears his name. ™
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Plite 35, Forrest named dhs

tloswer Primda livoniana
mow P pialiy to
commemorate his friend
Consul Litton. When
shown by Bees" nursery an
1909 1¢ receved a First
Class Certticare.

Plate 36. Minchia women
ot the Tali plain who
collected for George
Forrest. Note their
characteristic black cloth
caps. Taken m Sepe 1906 1
the courevard ot the China

Inland Nission, Tali,
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As May turned to June, another lovely surprise awaited Forrest on the Lichiang
Range, for as he walked on the moist mountain meadows he came across tall flower
stems with distinctive whortls of deep golden to pale orange flowers that he had
never seen before. He picked a stem and numbered it, E2,440, and later affirmed
that it was a new species which he ‘named in honour of Mr. A.K. Bulley of Ness,
Neston, Cheshire, for whom I collected”™ In the years to come this was to be a
success story in our gardens and Bulley was so pleased that this beautiful new
species was named after him that he would introduce himself: ‘I am Primula
bulleyana’ (see Plate 62).

In August Forrest collected from the open mountain meadows east of Lichiang,
again finding an attractive plant that was totally new to him. There were blue and
red spires of flowers crowded together so that, like a red-hot poker (Kniphofia), the
spire had a striking red apex. Forrest photographed it and movingly named it
Primula littoniana after his close friend, ‘to commemorate the late Consul Litton of
Tengyueh, to whom I was much indebted for valuable assistance during my stay in
China’.™” Smith and Fletcher showed later that Delavay had previously called it P
vialii, so, according to the rules of nomenclature, this name has to be used today. It
is sad that Litton, whose friendship meant so much to Forrest, is no longer
commemorated in the name of any flower that Forrest collected, but P wvialii
remains a fitting tribute to a great friend and it i1s one of Forrest’s finest and most
popular introductions (Plate 55).

Delavay had been a leading figure, collecting many of the plants growing in this
area of Yunnan, but Forrest showed, in 1906, that there were still more novelties to
be found. Of all the primulas that he collected on the three-year expedition, forty
per cent of the primula species he identified were new to science.

Sadly, there was a price to pay. On 1 September Forrest admitted ‘1 am sorry to
have to tell you I have broken down, temporarily, and have had to return to
Talifu...collapsed’. He claimed that he was ‘picking up wonderfully’, but we don't
know how far that was an optimistic estimate. In November Balfour reported him
as only ‘nearly right again now’. But Forrest’s excellent organisation meant that
collecting did not come to a halt when he was ill: he left his three best collectors
behind in the Lichiang area. And even at the beginning of September, with more
harvesting to come, he was thrilled by the results of his team’s work. He reckoned
that nearly 900 species had been collected from the Lichiang Range, and those
based in Tali had secured nearly 1,200 species. ‘If all goes well 1 hope to bring
home... about 3,000 species, mostly from 9-15,000 feet [2,750-4,500m]".*

Meanwhile, Bulley’s nursery, The Co-operative Bees Ltd, was busy raising plants
from Forrest’s seeds. Pride in Forrest was shown by the manager referring to him
as ‘our Mr Forrest’, and herbarium sheets in Edinburgh already had special labels
announcing that Forrest was the ‘Collector for A.K. Bulley of Ness, Neston,
Cheshire’. The sheer size of Forrest’s collections meant that taxonomists would be
working on them for years to come. In the course of the three-year expedition
approximately 5,500 specimens of plants were numbered, pressed and dried. ready
for identification.

The flora of north-west Yunnan captivated Forrest. Like the miners at Klondike,
he had struck a rich seam. And he’d done his very best to extract a good haul from
it, whatever the dangers and difficulties, Would he be returning for more? At this
point he had absolutely no idea.

By January 1907 Forrest, still run down and ill, was looking forward to being
home again. As soon as the ship docked, he would send his brother and Clem a
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Plate 57. George Forrests camp at 11,000ft. (3,350m) in the Lichiang Range (Yulong Shan)
on his first expedition. Note the piles of drying paper in the right foreground, and boulders
pressing plants between the papers.

wire. During his nearly three years away Clem had written weekly to Forrest,
showing her supportive, utterly reliable love, and he had replied with lengthy
descriptive letters (up to fifty pages of A5), telling her of his travels and expressing
his longing to see her again. He wanted a reunion with Clem in privacy. without
the curious eyes of people from the Botanic Garden, and soon they would be wed.
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An Uncertain Future

There is nothing certain but uncertainty,
nothing mose miserable and wore prowd than man.

Plirny

A x 7 hen Forrest came back to Scotland after his successtul first expedition, it was

still not clear whether he would be able to make plant huntng his career.
There were to be many struggles over the nest four years belore his future would
open out satstvingly. Durimyg these ditheult vearss Forrests reactions to his

experiences reveal the different ades of his character.

The honeymoon period

Forrest received a hearttelt. quict and informal welcome on his return to Scotland
in carly April 1907, Clem was given leave from the Herbarium to meet him,
Balfour sent a telegram of good wishes and Forrest joined his mother and sisters at
their new family home. Springbank’, Lasswade.

There was no basking in the limelight of a hero, Work and marriage were Forrests
urgent priorities and they were closely linked. In tune with the middle classes of those
days, once he and Clem got married. Forrest swwould be the bread-winner.

Balfour arranged for Forrest to have a job in the Herbarium at the Roval Botanic
Garden Edinburgh at the rate of £2 a week (the equivalent of about /103
nowadays). With his collections and knowledge of the Chinese flora. Forrest was
worth more than that to the RBGE, but that was the only money thev had
available.” A< part of the deal. Balfour allowed Forrest the nme necessary to write
up some of his collections tor publications. The Regius Keeper considered that this
was only a just return tor a collector who had risked so much.”

Forrests first assigniment was to study his collections of the gentian tamily in which

he discovered nine new species. Baltour assisted Forrest in the plant descriprions and

Forrest was enormowsly gratetul for his help, He was keenly aware ot Balfour’s

Opposite:

Plate 3%, Pronuda forrestin,
A botnical drawing by
Eve Raid Bennett.

Lett:
Plate 39, Rosslyn Chapel

where George Forrest and

Clementing Traill were
married on 15 July 1907,
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guidance, since he first gave him a job at the RBGE. He wrote to Balfour:

[ feel vour kindness to me more than 1 can tell, and I shall always be deeply grateful to
you for the manner in which you have assisted and advanced me. In the future, as in the
past, so far as lies in my power, I shall strive to merit the good opinion you have of me.*

Balfour was a person who instilled Forrest’s loyalty and encouraged his utmost hard
work. As we shall see, this did not prevent some clashes of opinion, but their close
collaboration was to be of great value in the working up of Forrest’s collections for
many years to come, the young collector observing and recording features of the
plants in the field, the older man being a more experienced taxonomist.

Balfour also suggested that Forrest should write a series of notes for the
gardening press on the new plants he was introducing to cultivation, and include a
photograph of each plant to give publicity to his work.

Photographs had generally replaced botanical artists” drawings as field records of
plants in the wild. Missionary collectors had not had cameras, of course, so Forrest
was able to photograph many wild flowers of Yunnan for the first time. Not that
this was an easy task. His cumbersome camera equipment, chemicals and wooden
boxes of fragile glass plates had to be carried by mule through monsoon
downpours, over mountain ranges and hauled up steep slopes to reach the perilous
positions where Forrest would take his photographs. With patience and
resourcefulness he developed the negatives in the field. Disappointments were
common, such as when the plates were spoiled by damp or were lost en ronte, but
now in Edinburgh Forrest was eager to make and enlarge his prints for publication
and to show Balfour how the plants looked in sitn.

Bulley was relieved that Forrest was back safely and that his seeds were growing well
at Bees Ltd. While looking forward, himself, to profits, Bulley also hoped that Forrest
would benefit from their collaboration, and ‘get a good boom out of his expedition’.!

The future looked bright as George Forrest married Harriet Clementina Mary
Wiallace Tratll on 15 July 1907 in the beautiful and ancient Rosslyn Chapel, which
is poised above the richly wooded gorge of Rosslyn Glen (Plate 59). He was certain
he would never lose her love and was already convinced that she had ‘changed him
for the better’. For a long time he had looked forward to them setting up home
together; two years earlier, when in Yunnan. he wanted to buy a ‘tremendous sword,
decorated with cornelians and turquoises as large as hedge sparrows’ eggs’ as an
ornament for their future home.’ Now the happy couple rented Glenkevock
House, Lasswade,” formerly the home of the manager of the local paper mill (Plate
10).” The detached house was spacious yet homely, with French windows opening
on to a walled garden and rich alluvial soils for growing vegetables and flowers.
Forrest looked forward to experimenting with plants grown from his Yunnan seed.
Clem had a local teenager, Annie Bowman, ‘in service’, and Annie thought of Clem
as ‘a right lady’, kind and sharing* The household was contented and the newly
weds were devoted to each other. When the reprints of his *gentian” paper arrived
Forrest’s pride in his first publication was shared with Clem. She saw he had named
rwo plant species ‘Trailliana” and he wrote inside *With fondest love to my darling
wife Clem. George’.

Frustrations take hold

Forrest found it extremely difficult to settle back into work at the Botanic Garden
after three years away from its autocratic organisation and its strict regulations. He
had become used to a completely different way of life and on his return he needed
to make massive readjustments.



In China he had personal independence and authoriry; he had become used to
getting his own way ultimately by having a *blazing row’ if necessary, or displaying
his prowess with the gun. In the RBGE he had to be more circumspect. In Yunnan
he employed collectors and stood out in a crowd; once he reported that up to one
hundred curious people followed him to a post office. At the RBGE he was just
one of the many workers. He received a weekly pay packet and was expected to
accept what now seemed to him to be very petry regulations ol a hierarchical,
authoritarian institution.

One difficulty was the RBGE's strict attitude to time, often compounded by
Forrest’s problems of health that resulted from his run-down state on his return
from Yunnan. In Yunnan Forrest’s hours of fieldwork were varied and flexible
according to the weather and the season. and he made his own decisions within
this framework. In Britain everything was measured by the exact hour and minute
of the clock. At the RBGE the timepiece was a symbol of centralised authority and
the hours of work were rigid: no flexi-time in those days. Normally Forrest walked
the six miles to work as before, but his expedition had weakened him and he was
prone to colds, flu and malarial fever. In his first winter back he asked to use the
trains, suggesting that, if late, he would work part of the lunch hour. But as the train
timetables from Bonnyrigg and Lasswade did not fit in exactly with the timetable
of the Garden, the answer was plain ‘No!" His initiative was squashed and his
independent spirit rebelled.

The Herbarium provided an odd blend of the comfortingly familiar and increased
irritations. He did not get on well with the senior person there, John F Jeftrey
(Plate 13), and Clem was no longer in the Herbarium to mollify Forrest.
Nevertheless, Forrest toiled meticulously, with Balfour's help, to name and describe
his primula collection. He used the pioneering monograph of Professor Pax and
produced a substantial paper for the Garden’s publication Notes from the Royal
Botanic Garden Edinburgh, with his own photographs of plants in the wild."

However, even Forrest’s relationship with Balfour was subtly changing, and this was
a warning sign. Relationships were very important to Forrest, especially with those
whom he respected. His letters from Yunnan used to please and excite the Regius
Keeper and his industry had been admirable, but he was becoming a difhcult
employee who resented having to ask permission to photograph a plant or use the
lantern to look at his slides. What might be regarded as small problems seemed to
mount up and become bigger ones. Forrest became dissatisfied and critical.

Although Forrest had never been ill in his eight months in the Herbartum before
he went to Yunnan, he now sometimes needed days off on sick leave. As he could not
use the trains, and was unhappy in the Herbarium. he asked, unsuccessfully, if he could
work at home. His family realised that he was deeply unsetded and not his usual self,
and in March 1908 his sister Grace wrote confidentially to Balfour about him. asking
that he be treated leniently." [n May and early June 1908 Forrest took a month off
work to recover, half as holiday, half as unpaid leave. He excused himselt from reading
his paper to the Royal Geographical Society in London on 15 June 1908." As far as
we know, he had never given a public lecture before and at that stage of his life
Forrest would have felt an ‘outsider’ in the company of the Establishment, especially
without the support of the late Consul Litton. Probably anxious and lacking
confidence in public speaking, it seems that he just could not manage it.

A long-term problem that caused Forrest much anxiety was how his thousands
of specimens were to be named. He could not possibly work up all the specimens
without specialists’ help and Balfour was an extremely busy man, with
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responsibilities of administration and teaching. For Forrest a period of frustrated
waiting was inevitable and this was difficult for a man who was a ‘doer’ and liked
to get on with tasks and who had risked his life while collecting these plants. He
longed to know exactly what he had found, how many were new to science — and
he did not want to be forestalled by anyone else. Forrest did all he could to hasten
the process and gradually, but too slowly for Forrest’s liking, selected specimens
were sent for study to other specialists at Kew and across the Continent.

Another basic problem had been simimering away since Forrest returned from
Yunnan: who owned the thousands of dried herbarium specimens that he had
collected? It seems that originally Bulley had simply written a letter to Forrest,
offering to pay him to collect seeds for Bees’ nursery. It had all happened in rather
a hurry. There was no written contract and no detailed stipulations as to how the
dried specimens should be subdivided: just an understanding that they would be
mainly sent to the RBGE for description and naming. We have to remember that
for Bulley, Balfour and Forrest this was their first experience of being involved
directly in a plant hunting expedition. With no written rules there was room for
different interpretations concerning the ownership of the dried specimens.

For more than eighteen months Forrest spent hours and hours each day, at home
and in the Herbarium, simply sorting and labelling the dried specimens. In view of
his hard work in Yunnan and at home, and all that he had endured, he thought that
he would be entitled to keep some dried specimens. He took seeds from them for
his garden and made up sets to sell. On the other hand, the Garden had paid for their
transport and when Balfour eventually realised what was happening he wanted all the
dried specimens in the Herbarium. There was an honest difference of opinion which
resulted from a lack of clarity in the first place. Balfour was not a man to be trifled
with and Forrest had the makings of a good trade unionist in asserting what he saw
as his rights. But Forrest’s stubbornness was nearly his downfall.

The probleni came to a head in the summer of 1908. Balfour was happy for
Forrest to keep a set of specimens in the future, but he sent a lorry to collect all the
specimens that were currently at Forrest’s home, so that they could be sorted in the
Herbarium. Annoyed and angry, and already resentful that Jeflrey, in the
Herbarium, did not trust him over sick leave, Forrest insisted that first he would
have to stay at home for a few days to extract one of each species for himself."” He
refused further discussion and on 14 August 1908 he offered his resignation, which
Balfour accepted. When upset and defiant, Forrest could be as prickly as the thistle
that is Scotland’s emblem.

Balfour was baffled:

You were taken on the staff of the Garden to work up these collections in our
Herbarium_ It appears now, however, that you have at Lasswade a large proportion of
these collections...from which as T understand you propose to let us *have specimens
of each species’... Do 1 understand from this that you regard the collections as your
own property to deal with as you choose?"”

Forrest replied with characteristic directness:

[ most certainly wish you to understand that the portion of my fast collection ... which
I have in hand, I consider to be my own to dispose of as T choose. Any indebtedness
which may have been due the Garden by me 1 consider to be more than repaid by the
collections T have already presented.

Forrest worked at home and continued to send lists of identifications to Balfour.
He kept the normal courtesies of Dear Sir"and * Yours sincerely ™. though he became



peremptory almost to the point of rudeness. He forfeited two months of pay before
Balfour ended the impasse by inviting Forrest for a frank talk that cleared the air
and restored their normal good relations. The warm, good-natured Forrest
reappeared. His whole family felt happier and Grace wrote to Balfour expressing
their relief. Forrest was rescued trom the corner into which he had boxed himself
and Balfour was learning how to handle his protégé; in modern terms, he gave him
more ‘space’ in which to operate. Forrest never forgot how Balfour helped him at
this critical stage of his career. From then on their friendship was sustained by
mutual respect and affection and the future of Forrest’s plant specimens was made
clear before each expedition.

Meanwhile, Forrest’s mind kept returning restlessly to the prospects of going back
to Yunnan. In a memo to Balfour, written only fifteen days after his wedding, he
considered the possibility of a three-year expedition on the Mekong-Salween
divide. But it seemed impossible to raise the money as he estimated the cost at
between £ 1,800 and £2,000, including salary and travelling expenses. However,
twelve days after Forrest’s resignation, the tension was relieved by unexpected news:
a visitor at the RBGE was looking for a plant collector.

An American Offer
26 August 1908
Dear Mr Forrest,

...Prof. Sargent from America was here today. and 1 gave him your name and told
him of your desire to go out again to China. Probably you may hear from him.. he
wants someone ftor this work.

Yours truly.
1.B. Balfour"

Charles Sprague Sargent was an ambitious, energetic and wealthy sixty-seven year
old who directed the Arnold Arboretum of Harvard University, Massachusetts. He
had his eye on Eastern Asia as a source of horticultural novelties'” and was currently
employing Ernest H. Wilson as his collector in China. This was a real coup, as
Wilson had made two very successful expeditions to Western China for the nursery
firm of Veitch. Not vet satisfied, Sargent was on the lookout for another British
plant collector and Forrest sounded ideal. After visiting Edinburgh, Sargent wrote
to Balfour from the Burlington Hotel in London:

Can you arrange for George Forrest to meet me at the Veitch's Nursery, King'’s Road,
Chelsea, on Tuesday Sept. 15. at four o’clock?

I have been talking over with Mr. Veitch the possibility of employing Forrest for a
journey to Northern China. and if Forrest wants to consider such a proposition [
should like to see him before 1 return home.™

After deliberation, Forrest went to see Sargent and Veitch. It was a meeting of
determined men and they came to no agreement. Forrest wanted, above all, to
return to Yunnan, where he believed he would find many new plants. But, much
to his chagrin, Sargent would not even consider the proposition. Sargent thought
it was too warm a region and ‘useless’ for their purposes.” Forrest also wanted
better pay, so Sargent made him an improved offer, but only to go to northern
China. (Previously Sargent had increased his offer to Wilson, who then accepted.)
Canny as ever, Forrest was not so easily captured, especially as Yunnan was his stated
preference. He asked for time to think about it and checked with Balfour what
salary Wilson had received.

Balfour advised Forrest to accept Sargent’s improved ofter of £300 per annum
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salary and £400 travelling allowance to go to northern China. Life as an explorer
and collector suited Forrest and success in northern China should assure his career.
But Forrest was still drawn to those wonderful flowers on the Mekong-Salween
divide in Yunnan which had ‘eclipsed everything 1 saw during my three year's
sojourn in the country’."

In the end the decision was conveniently made for him. According to Forrest,
Sargent suddenly wanted him to set off in January 1909, although he had previously
agreed to some time after March. Clem was expecting their first child in March
and, as Forrest explained to Balfour,You can readily understand that [ cannot well
leave her until I see her safely through this’."™ Fatherhood came first, and no
amount of persuasion would change his mind.

George Forrest jnr. was born on 26 March 1909. He was a welcome son and heir,
but his father’s future as a plant collector was still only a dream. News that Sargent
and Veitch were to send a Kew man, Purdon, to northern China, emphasised that
Forrest had no definite sponsor. Knowing that Wilson was completing his third
expedition in China cannot have made his position easier. His only hope rested on
Bulley, who would give no promise: ‘It is quite impossible for me to say whether |
shall be able to commission you for aYunnan expedition next winter’. That decision
depended on the prosperity of his nursery business, which he might not know until
November: ‘I most emphatically urge you not to bank on this uncertainty...I think
the only safe plan is not to take it into your reckoning until it occurs’*

Forrest’s immediate future hung on the horticultural success of his flowers at Bees
Ltd. Sargent had recognised Forrest’s worth as a collector, so who else might finance
him to go to Yunnan? How could he ensure that more people heard of his talent
for collecting? There was an urgent need to publicise his work to a wider world.
Publicity was also in the interests of Bees Led and soon the names of Forrest and
Bees Lid were frequently mentioned in the horticultural press and came to the
attention of another American.

News spreads
In November 1908 the popular, weekly Gardeners' Chronicle began reporting the
results of Forrest’s expedition. At a fortnightly meeting of the Royal Horticultural
Society (RHS). Prinmila malacoides was shown by Messrs Bees Ltd and given an
Award of Merit. ‘“This new spectes has been raised from seeds gathered by
Mr George Forrest in the high alps (9,000ft. |2,750m]) of Yunnan, China’ In
December Balfour submitted a drawing and a photograph of Primula malacoides,
referred to Forrest as an ‘excellent collector’ and rightly predicted that this Primula
would become a general favourite. It was one of Forrests most important early
introductions (Plate 60).” In the spring of 1909 its name was splashed across Bees’
catalogue in large bold letters, together with descriptions of this “splendid
acquisition’, a floriferous, winter blooming plant for the greenhouse. This was a
great beginning for Forrest’s flowers: an arable weed from Yunnan was acclaimed i
British horticulture and subsequent plant selection produced many spectacular
strains. In the 1950s it was reckoned that all cultivated material of P malacoides
outside China was probably derived from the first seeds Forrest sent to Bees.
1909 was a bumper year for publicity of Forrest's newly introduced plants. Balfour,
Bulley and Forrest made a concerted effort to bring the flowers to people’s attention.
Three new species of primula, P bulleyana, P forrestii and P littoniana (vialii) were all
shown at RHS Shows by Bees Led, gaining First Class Certificates. Well-illustrated
articles appeared in the Gardeners’ Magazine. and the Gardeners' Chronicle. In May



Baltour wrote jovtully of Prinmada forsestii (Plates 38 and 62):
JOY \ ]

[t whets the appente tor more of the novelues which the enterprise ot Ay Bulley and
the ~kilful exploration of M Forrest have brought to this country:

In July there were three illustracions cach of Prinuda billeyana and P litroniana (eialii)
and Baltour reported that the colours of P littonrana (Plate 55) “makes this the most
extraordinary of all known Primulas™ In November and December two whole
pages of The Gardeners” Chronicle were filled with Forrests photographs ot three
different primulas™ and two smking Chinese orchids. Cypripedivm nbericon and
C.margarmtacenin,

Regular readers were lett in no doubr that Forrest’s plants were worth obraming
and the RBGE sent Forrests primulas to keen gardeners across the lind from
Aberdeen to Bristol and the Botanie Gardens of Kew and Glasnevin (Dublin).
Bees” and Forrests names were becoming well known and interest i Forrest’s
credentals as a plant collecror and photographer continued to mount i the
coming monthy and vears as the columns of the Gardeners™ Chronicle frequently
featured his plant photographs o seriking effect. with Forrest now providing
ACCOMpanying noges,

News of Forrest spread to America for a second time. this time to the United
States Department of Agriculture where an enchusiastic American hotanist. David
Farchild, was in charge of Plant Introduction. He was 1 correspondent of Bulley
and, in the summier ot 1909 visted hiny at Ness, where part of Bulleys garden was

devated to his commercial nursery, Fairchitd was amazed by the array of Chinese

= hed

Plate 60, A photagraph of
Primda malacondes taken i
st by George Fotrest,
and used by Bulley as an
advermement in Bees

catalogue.



Ploce 610 Provwda bedleyana, Torrest tournd this beauatul primula

covermg several acres ot the Yulong Shans Fle named i atter his
it sponsor and collected several pounds ot seed D ot the
rvhy coleured Howers now eonhance many sireane sede candens
i Bt

Plite 620 A draeing of Poonda woocan pubhished m

909, [orrest commented, Did vou ever see such o
freak as the drawimg m the GO- the peron
Should be on the st of a0 Ladies” pertadical draw g

oral x|t'\lg1]\ for teacloths”

plants grown Irom Forrests seeds, Tn Yannan Forrest had collected as mueh as 4lbs

(1.8kgp of hand=cleanced seed of some Primulas such as 2 bifleyana 1Plate 610,

P littoniana trialiiy and P forrestiic enabling Bees Tud 1o establish o good stack. TForrest.

ever the pertectionist, had previousy compliined that many ot Bees” new plangs

were “butchered in the growing’, but Fairchild panted aomuch roster pretunre,

deseribing what he saw as “one of the lrgest collections ol Chinese ornamentl

plants i Great Bricam™

Bulley imtroduced Torrest to Farchild and the tswwo men immediacehy Jdeveloped

a good rappart. Forrest was delighted 1o el the mrerested and trwendly Farchild

about his collecting in Yannan and Farrchild was mpressed and cluarmed by lane

[le v mun of exceptionally

pleasing personahing o coed oilker. an sl

photographer.a tamed botamstand aread explore
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Forrest had the skills and enthusiasmt that Farehild was looking tor and he realised
that Forrest could be useful for plant introduction to the U.S. He even wondered
whether Forrest could be hired tor research into the problem of the introduction
of American corn into Chinaz he decided to keep an eve on Forrest.

Fairchilds visit heralded new prospects tor Forrest, whose tlents and success
were being recognised bevond the shores of Britain. Bullev felt more confident.
too. On top of Bees™ selling Forrests new flowers, Bulley's personal mcome as a
cotton broker must have mcreased with the rising consumption ot raw cotton in
the U.K. He decided to send Forrest back to Yunnan for one vear, extendable to
three vears. Forrest would have a salary of £200 per annum, plus mitial expenses
and a travelling allowance of over £650.7 Forrest had wanted a salary of £300 per
annum, as promised by Sargent. but here was his chance to return to his old
hunting ground and he accepted the offer.

After reading Forrests account in the Geographical Jonrnal of his travels with
Litton up the Sahween vallev. Fairchild also encouraged Forrest to write more
articles. Fairchild was related by marriage to the editor of the National Geographic
Magazine, Gilbert Grosvenor.™ and showed him Forrest's photographs of people
and places m Yunnan.

Grosvenor liked new ideas for articles, especially dispatches trom the back of beyond.
He retained twelve of Forrest’s photographs for $18. and promised him a turther $50
for a 6.000 word article. He hoped that this was only the first of many contributions
and he promised to pay $1.50 for cach additional photograph they used.”

Forrest was delighted: he had found a new outlet tor his photographs and a wider
readership abroad. He submitted his article to Grosvenor on 20 December 1909,
before leaving for China on his second expedition. and he assured Grosvenor that
he had already arranged tor extensive photographic work of the country and "the
tribes-people” in a practically unexplored area. Moreover, he fully intended to take
advantage of Grosvenory ofter to send him more articles.” The editor was pleased

and asked Forrest to keep the magazine in mind while in the Ornent. ™

L S

Plate 63, Pronuda forrestis
proudly displaved 1 the
letter heading of Bees Led.



Oppostte:

Plate 64, Iris forrestit.

The illustrated flower was
grown trom Forrests seed
and drawn by EH. Round
for the monograph The
Genus Iris (1913) by WL
Dyvkes, the Charterhouse
schoolmaster who named
the plant in 1910,

Plate 65 A porteat iy

Gieorpe Forrest of a
Chinese Ludy i trong o
lnlnlcd serolls dedicated o
the Consuls wite

I

Forrest’s second expedition

Happiness, tor Forrest, was often associated with the pleasure of approaching some goal;
and what better goal than returning to Yunnan for a second expedition? The increased
activity gave him a“buzz', and his nund whirred with all the jobs he had to do.

First Forrest requested the help ot Balfour and the Foreign Office in procuring an
Imiperial passport and all the facihties that he might need from the Consuls and other
officials in China. He wanted maximum cover in the event of trouble, having received
a warning that the country was 1 a ‘most disturbed condition’.” The Manchu
dynasty was in its last vears of declining power. Far from Yunnan, i the seclusion of
the Forbidden City and the Sumimer Palace, the Empress Dowager, Tzu Hsi. died in
1908 and the new Emperor of the Ching dynasty, Pu Y1, was then only two years old.

Forrest was determined to make the very best use of his expedition. He contacted
the Natural History Museum in London and oftered to collect small mammals tor
them. He explained:

It is not altogether a macter of £ s.d.with me T ke akeen mterest i collecting, buc owing
to circumstances 1 shall only be too glad to add a litde to my income by my labours.

Forrest pointed out that he already had some practice in skinning and asked for
information on preservative soaps and small labels. In the event no financial deal
was forthcoming, but Forrest was cager to make some zoological collections if the
opportunity arose. ;

Baltour gave Forrest a camera and books, including Pax’s mdispensable monograph
on primulas, but in the midst of his preparations Forrest had a totally: unexpected
blow, Without any prior allness his mother died suddenly on Sunday evening
2 January 1910, She was the head of the family, Forrest was very fond of her and
his leteers to the fannly had always begun, 'Dear Mother and all of you™. That was to
be no more. After the funeral, upset and in mourning. Forrest finished his packig
and his departure tfor China was far more difficult than betore as he took leave of his
bereaved siblings and left behind his wite and his son of only nine months old.

Forrest satled from Liverpool on a ship of the Henderson Line SS Trraweaddy (11), bound

for Burma. On approaching Port Said he wrote to Balfour of his continuimg sadness:

I have not vet recovered. nor do T eapect to for some time. from the wrench ot leaving
mv wife and clild. Inall my wanderigs T never feleso utterly home-sck as Tdo now.

He kept humself occupied on the long journey and passed the ome writing a
two-part article for the Gardeners' Clironicle on *The Perils of Plant-Collecting . which
was published a few months later.™ e was a gripping version of his horrific escape
from warring lamas. death and torture in 1903, From the satety of the ship he related
the tale hike a Boyd Ownr adventure, liede knowing what was in store tor hin,

On arrival at The Royal Hotel. Rangoon, Forrest was aghast to find that Bulley
had faled to send him enough money for his expedition. Only 225 awatted him;
about enough to pay his train fare and expenses to Bhamo, but leaving nothing to
pay tor supplies for his expedition. Forrest had no money to buy the tentssaddlimg,
amuniton. bedding and drugs which he nceded. or even to pay his hotel
expenses in Rangoon, where he had expected to spend a week. e fele within an
ace of returning home by the same steamer”, disillusioned by the seemingly
ancaring unrchability ot his emplover. However, Forrest was i resourcetul person:
he asked the caprain it he could remain on board dhe ship. unal, hopetulhy more
money arrived.” Te cabled Bullev, who sent him /130
Forrest learned Later that the Lick of funding had been due to a niusup at Bees

office. But the homesick Forrest was vulnerable i Iangoon. stranded thousands of
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miles from home and over a thousand miles (1,600km) from his destination. He felt
so undermined and let down that he decided he simply could not work with such
an employer longer than necessary; he would finish the agreed year of his contract,
enough to explore more of the Lichiang Range, but that was all. He could not
know that financial problems would be a recurring nightmare on this expedition.

When Forrest reached the Chinese border town of Tengyueh, another promised
sum from Bulley had failed to arrive and again Forrest was reliant on the friendship
and goodwill of others. He arranged with Consul Rose for a loan. Forrest now
wrote to Bulley confirming that he would return home as soon as he had secured
the year's harvest. He knew that this might jeopardise his career, but he felt that
Bulley was behaving ‘in an impossible manner’. Fortunately, Forrests missionary
friends were still in Yunnan — Mr Embery at Tengyueh and Dr Clark in Tali - so
he had a warm welcome and support as he gathered together as many of his former
collectors as he could. They also stood loyally by him and there was a sympathetic
and encouraging letter from Balfour, with a request from the lily expert, Arthur
Grove, anxious for seeds or bulbs of Lilinun davidii and Lilium oxypetalum, which
were unknown in cultivation. Forrest’s balance was restored as he settled to work
and his appetite was once again whetted for plant hunting. Social unrest meant that
the region of the Salween valley was closed to exploration, which precluded some
work for Fairchild. However, ‘Delavay’s territory’ was politically possible and
Forrest was keen to search out more of Delavay's discoveries.

On Forrest’s arrival at Tali he noticed big changes had occurred in the past three
years. The Government had established a garrison of fully 3,000 well-equipped
soldiers, drilled by Japanese instructors. At each street crossing there was a sentry
box. The city was properly policed, more prosperous. and wages were higher. There
is no question about the matter’, wrote Forrest, ‘China is awakening’. But his
financial problems had not changed. Forrest was still waiting for money from Bulley
and now had only £30 left, enough only to take him to Lichiang-fu and to keep
him for a fortnight. He declared himself ‘thoroughly sick of the whole affair” and
added ‘One thing is certain if ever | go anywhere again as a collector it shall never
be for Messrs Bees Ltd.”™

Imiportantly, at that particular time, the love of flowers that he and Bulley shared
temporarily restored harmony between them. At Tali Forrest received a letter from
Bulley, asking if he had ever found Lithospernmon hancockianm. which he rated as
dear as gentians. The plant hunter’s instinct came to the fore. Forrest had seen this
flower in 1905, just north of Yunnan-fu. He was currently on his way to Lichiang,
but left detailed instructions for the collection of its seed with Dr Clark, who was
supervising his collectors at Tali.

However, when Forrest heard from his wife that a quarter’s salary, due to be paid
in advance to her, was five weeks overdue, he was incensed; even his wife and child
had now been let down by Bulley. This was the last straw and confirmed his
determination to return home in January 1911 and not to work for Bulley again.

It seems ironic that Bulley, who had the enterprise to send Forrest to Yunnan, and
gave him a second opportunity to go there, then discouraged him through
inefficiency and thoughtlessness. On top of not sending remittances trom Bees’
office on time. there was also a serious lack of understanding of the personal
support needed to bolster a collector in the field, so far from home. and i a
country on the verge of civil war. Bulley was proud of his plant hunter: in Bees’
catalogues he was still ‘Our Mr Forrest” doing great things. But Bulley never realised
that showing his appreciation and giving even a liedle praise would have been like



gold dust to Forrest. Only after leaving Bulley’s employ did Forrest eventually learn
that Bulley actually appreciated his endeavours. In Yunnan Forrest felt increasingly
like a servant of commerce. When a new iris was named Jris forrestii, Bulley's only
comment to Forrest was that it was not showy enough to sell well (Plate 64). Such
an outlook, combined with what he saw as low pay, brought a strong reaction from
Forrest. He wrote of Bulley as a *cad of the first order’. He decided never again to
work for any nurseryman and railed against them:

There is a lot said about the meanness of the Scotch but in my time | have met more
stingy English than I ever did Scotch. and Bulley and Veitch, the great Sir Harry, are
types., extreme types!”

When Bulley said he was willing to continue “the speculation’ and offered Forrest
two more years in Yunnan, it was firmly rejected.

On the other hand, as often in life, the situation was complex. Forrest's particular
family situation must have swayed him towards returning home after one year, and
he admitted there were faults on his side. On his first expedition he had overcome
problems of loneliness and depression and even after Litton’s death he had stayed
the course. On this second expedition, however, Forrest had a bad start and never
had the company of anyone with Litton’s zest, who could have made light of the
financial let downs and countered them with humour and some slighty mad
diversion. Nevertheless, Bulley admitted that it was shocking of him to leave
Forrest short of funds and Forrest considered him neither a reliable nor reasonable
emplover. The problems that Forrest experienced with Bulley rankled him for
months after his return to Britain.

In contrast, Balfour offered practical support, even a donation of £25 when
hearing of Forrest’s financial difficulties. His understanding and sympathy were an
emollient and strengthening influence. Forrest expressed his warm gratitude to
Balfour and there i1s no doubt that the excellent relationship that had built up
between the two men was fundamental in bringing out the best in Forrest.

A successful outcome

The wealth of bloom that greeted him in May, on the Sung Kwei pass, was a
wonderful welcome and recompense for earlier troubles. From the margin of the
open pasture that surrounded a small lake, to the tops of the enclosing low hills, a
zone of rhododendron forest stretched for about 1,000ft. (300m) altitude. He
relished every detail:

The foreground is occupied by large matted muasses of a dwarf species, 1-2 teet
[30-60cm)], with deep purplish-blue flowers: behind this come groups of R. yunnaneise,
simply showers of bloom, forming a belt of the very palest conceivable shade of
rose-lavender, almost white and showing so at a short distance; then a taller species
bearing huge and well-formed umbels of beautiful rose-magenta flowers, and. behind
all, to the verge of the alpine pasture at the summits, an almost impenetrable forest of
tree thododendrons, from 20-30ft. [6-9m] in height. composed of such species [of
Rhododendron] as bureavii, irroranm, aassum, lactetom, heliolepis, etc. etc. all n the very
perfection of bloom, with a dense undergrowth of dwart bamboo. Viewed from the pass
the surface of this forest appeared almost level; it was an ideal day: and the cffect of the
brilliant sunshine on the dark glistening sea of foliage. interspersed with masses of
colouring, ranging from the almost pure white of bureauvi and creamy yellow of
irroratunt, through nearly every shade of lavender-magenta to the deepest crimson, was a
sight far beyond my power to describe. To be appreciated such has to be seen. It was with
the greatest effort I tore myself away: I think 1 could have remained for days drinking in
the beauty of the scene. Truly our home knowledge of rhododendrons is nil.™
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Plate 66. Meconopsis integrifolia. One of George

Forrest’s most used photographs, for example
in the Gardeners’ Chronicle (1911), Bees’
catalogue (1912) and Country Life (1923)

Plate 67. Meconopsis integrifolia growing in the
wild above Lijiang on the Yulong Shan
(Lichiang Range).

Plate 68. Primula dryadifolia photographed by
Forrest in its natural habitat and published in
the Gardeners’ Chronicle in 1911.

Plate 69. Primula dryadifolia, a plant of high,
\'\]Ni\nl mountain screes and stony gl'()llll\i
[his photograph was taken at 4,300m
(14,000ft.) on the Beima Shan.
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Plat R tent rowing on the slopes of the Cang Shan above Dali (Tali). It was mtroduced to

Britain by George Forrest in 1910
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Here we have our first vivid indication of what was to motivate Forrest for many
years to come. The range and variety of rhododendrons were weaving their own
allure, capturing his curiosity and fuelling his drive to find more. Any
rhododendron-lover would savour his description, and we see what drew him to
Yunnan, leaving his wife and child. In Britain there was official mourning for King
Edward VII who had died at Buckingham Palace and the Gardeners’ Chronicle had
black lines between the columns, but Forrest was entranced by the beautiful flora
of Yunnan and he was realising how much more there was to discover.

Forrest strove hard to use the tme available in the most productive way. He made
his base at the foot of the southern end of the Lichiang Range, camping at about
9.000ft. (3,000m), and again the beauty and interest of the flowers revitalised him.
He went into overdrive and, whatever the weather (it was often raining in torrents
or blowing a gale), he filled his time fully. Hours were spent on photography. He
admitted that he was not the most patient of individuals and photographing planes
in the mountains was a severe test in those days of less advanced technology. To
secure a photograph of Prinula pinnatifida he returned to its habitat five times, each
journey representing a climb of at least 4,000ft. (1,200m). He exposed a dozen
plates, yet all of them were spoilt by the movement of plants in the wind, or the
underexposure of plates in the fog. It was heart-breaking and he admitted that in
such moments he could *hurl the camera into space, and have done with it". He said
that it was only his ‘Scots dourness’ which enabled him to carry on.*' Sometimes
Forrest even developed prints at his campsite and struggled in the damp conditions
with poor paper and insufficient chemicals. Yet he produced some winners,
mcluding photographs of Mcconopsis integrifolia (Plates 66 and 67), Primula dryadifolia
(Plates 68 and 69) and the magnificent rock plant, Isopyrum grandiflorum. He was
thrilled when photographs turned out better than expected, posting them to
Balfour to share his joy.

Forrest was also ambitious in his field observations. He set himself to find as many
primulas as possible on the Lichiang Range and on a three-week trek along the range
to the north of the Yangtze bend he spent three weary and unsuccessful days ‘beating
the ground around the base of the great glacier’ in search of P glacialis Fr. which Delavay
had found there.” However, in general he was delighted with the number he found.
He carefully searched five miles (8km) of country to find Prinmla pulchella and when
he came across acres of it in open alpine pasture it was worth all the toil. He returned
to the area where he had found Primula bulleyana before, and when he found specnnens
with ‘crushed strawberry’ or apricot-red’ colouring he realised that these must be
matural hybrids between P bulleyana and P beesiana. He discovered and introduced
Roscoea hmeana (see Plate 91). And when he hunted in the habitat of Prinmda littopiana
(now P vidlii), to the east of the valley of Lichiang, he discovered a bonus in a lovely
rose-coloured form of Nomocharis pardanthina which he had not seen before.

One of the finds of the season was Primula dryadifolia (Plates 68 and 69) and. when
writing to Balfour one evening, he wrote so vividly that Baltour could casily
imagine the plant in its wild, high, mountain home:

How T wished when I came on it that you were with me. How you would have
enjoyed the sight. Its habitac is a cup-shaped, boulder-strewn basin about a mile m
extent, almost at the limit of vegetation at an altitude of approximately 155004
[4.700m]. Snow and barren limestone peaks all around, a cutting wind, and moisture
everywhere. The centre of the basin was occupied by a small lake ot erystal clearness,
formed of the melting snows, cvery depression of any size was filled with heavy
snowdrifts, but on the bare intervening prominences, and in every crevice of all the larger
boulders capable of retaining a sufficiency of loam and woisture, was P dryadifolin.”



One of his most controverstal and strniking discovernies on this expedition was the
growth of thododendrons on limestone. Fle observed the conditions caretully and

expluned to Ballour:

Ihe sonl was composed ol peat. dismiegraed Timestone, with o wood adimsrune of
limestone chups,a compost which T aannot get M Bullev to believe i nor ver am
member of vour staft m the Garden,

As rhododendrons e Britain generally grow best on acerdic sorls, 10 was under-
standable that British gardencers were meredulous at Forrest’s report.and it was to
be a topie that continued m discussions with Forrest over many vears and s sall the
subject of research today

On top of all his fieldwork, Forrest mamtaned o prodigious correspondence, but
did nor tulfib all the commissions requested. such as articles for the National Grograplii
Magazine. Amongse the many Jetters he recenved were ones from Gregory ol the
Botany School. Cambridge, Dyvkes of Charterhouse, Palibin of the Museum o the
Botanic Garden, St Petersburg. and Farrchild in the US T hese letters were testimony
to peoples apprecuation of his work. and the building up of his reputanon.

Despite months of wretched weather (in which Forrest saw a man and two

bullocks Killed by lighming). it was a productive expedition. As an unpaid sidehne

he did some zoological collecting, donating to the (mow) National Muscums of

Scotland approximately 2,000 insects. mainly trom the neighbourhood of Lichiang,
and some buttertlies from Rangoon. From the Lichiung area he added 1 a fen
trogs, leeches, birds and bats. and was particularly keen to send eighteen snakes to
the Keeper of Natural Historve Mr Lagle Clark. The snakes were preserved in spirit
m glass bottles. and needing aspeaial form sanctionmng recerpt of dutv-tree spirit,
Thev sull torm part of the museum’s rescarch collections (Plate 727,

Forrest decided not to collect all the commoner plant species, but he despatehed
several cases of planes. totlling approximateh 20000 herbarium specimens,

mcluding tvpe speaimens, Through his seed collections he meroduced awide range

of plants into cultivation. one being the unusual Rescocd Tnncana, « hardy plant of

the largely topical ginger tumily see Plate 91) and another, the beavatul blue
avntumn gentian, Centna sino-ornata. {(Place 30). Of rhododendrons, he imtoduced
the compact lictle shrub Rompeditim, evpe E3RG3 (see Plate 97 and another tor
sall gardens, R. dichroanthun. He discovered and introduced R. ercorrephies, which
Kingdon Ward later recommended for 16 "pale rosv-mauve Howers s and R lacrenn,
with 1t rounded trusses of vellow Hlowers that Lionel de Rothsehild, at Exbury
later used extensively tor hvbridising (Plate 700,

Despite Baltours disappoitment that Forrest had returned so soon, he was
delighted with Forvests splendid specimens’™. marvelled ac his activiey and

congratulated him on what he had achieved.

Place T Pleione gnnditfont. A photograph by Forrestin April 1906 taken on the Cang Shan
el Rancet Ens sen-cpiphyoe orchud has tragrane white flowers with an orange-brown
Labelhim.
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Plate 72, On 15 January 1911 Forrest wrote from Rangoon that hie had dispatehed “halt a dozen bottles ol snakes
preserved inspirins”. This is one of them, named Tropidononrs nichalis inoxwe Riabdophis nuchalis). and part o the first
zoological collection that Forrest presented to the Natonal Musens ot Scotland,
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CHIAPTER SIX

The Third Expedition, 1912-1915

Forrest s waquestionably thie finest collector of wodern tine:

LB B dioan v AR Badies 85 Apnl 12

rehur K. Bulley made a huge mvesoment i Forreses first o expeditions: i
Atcrm\ of the present value of the pound (November 20025 1¢ 15 esumated that
he spent LI85.0000 In return. Bees” bursery was the tire to marker Forrests
introductions and requested that some new garden planes be naumed acan
advertisement: bulleyvana™ “heesiana” or “beesii™. Forrest was convineed that mans
more species awaited discovery and he ser his heart on rerurnmg to Yunnan. But

who would sponsor him?

Rescued by a Cornishman

As Torrest steamed homeward on SIS Amarapoora i January 19711, he looked
forward to bemg reunited wath his famile His sononow asardy toddler, would not
know him after his vear away: Clementing had been Tovallv "keepmg the home tires
burning” i ther rather solated house and i dhetr dehight at bemng together she
conceived their second child. But dhiss homely togethierness was to Last less than a
year. Unknown to them. betore Forrest had even left Rangoon, Bullevs networkig
was Jeading to new beginmmgs for Forrest’s plant hunting: 1 different emplover. a
third expedinon. and another protessional plant hunter at work on what Forrese
had begun to think of as his” terricory,

Bulley had consuleed Balfour about the prospect of replacig Forrest. Baltour
reccommended Frank Kingdon Ward, & twenov—ax vear old sehool master
Shangha who was longing to go on an expedinon. He had waken a Cambridge
Iripos in Natural Sciences had 1 good knowledge of botany and of plne’.and he
had aready tavelled by junk and on foot across the breadth of China, collecting
birds and anmmals on an American zoological expedinon. When, in January 1911,
Bulley oftfered him an expedition to colleet hardy and alpime planes tor Bees Led,
Ward acceped at oneeand he was in Tengvuch Yunnan, by March. He was to hunt

tor new herbaccous plants - the mountuns of Yunnan but. officiallv, avording

Forrests main stamping ground. 1t was vet to be seen how this would aftect Forrest,

Plate 730 Caerhays Castle,
Cornwall, the home of
J1.C A Hhams who
sponsored George Forrest
trom s third expedinon
onmwards,
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Plate 74. A photograph
by Forrest of pages from
a book of pictographs,
used in Nakhi religious
ceremonies, and donated
to the National Museums
of Scotland in 1911.

106

Bulley was also in touch with J.C. Williams of Caerhays Castle, Cornwall, an
eminent gardener who was particularly keen on introducing trees and shrubs and
was well informed on the work of E.H. Wilson. He had received his first batch of
Wilson’s Chinese rhododendrons from Veitch's nursery in 1903, and they were now
growing splendidly in the sheltered valley of his Caerhays garden. As Bulley was
more interested in growing herbaceous plants, he invited Williams to look over
Ness gardens in 1910 and to select all the rhododendrons that seemed worth
growing.' Williamis offered to pay Bulley £300 for all of Forrest’s rhododendron
and conifer seeds from his 1910 expedition;’ he was clearly aware of Forrest’s
collecting abilities.

In spring 1911 J.C. Williams mvited Forrest to stay at Caerhays Castle, his
castellated mansion on the south Cornish coast (Plate 73). Williams, who was born
in Caerhays Castle and educated at Rugby and Trinity Hall, Cambridge, had
inherited a large capital sum and his father’s landed estate, Caerhays. He had bought
Werrington Park on the Devon-Cornwall border and he rented an estate,
Strathvaich, in the Scottish Highlands. It was a contrasting world to any that Forrest
had inhabited, but the two men shared an enthusiastic love of plants, and an
eagerness to introduce new plants from China. Williams wanted to meet Forrest
and show him his rhododendrons,® as he planned to develop his garden with new
species. He had the wealth to employ a plant hunter and admired Forrest’s courage.
tenacity, and evident success in finding new plants. Williams was the same age as
Bulley and. for him, gardening was a pleasurable hobby. He had a generous,
sympathetic and considerate nature that appealed to Forrest, while Williams
described Forrest as ‘a very small compact man with a fine chest on him, built for
fatigue. Has done much and can probably do much more’."

As they wandered round the garden at Caerhays they had a stimulating
conversation. the collector and grower sharing their expertise on the plants before
them. The two men warmed to cach other. They were both countrymen with a
loathing of the city and a love of fishing and shooting (fly fishing for salmon and
trout had been Forrest’s chief pastime since he was ‘as tall as your walking stick’).’
In the coming months it was as if Williams took Forrest ‘under his wing'. and
Forrest opened up to him as to a new and understanding friend.

Forrest was busy. He presented his zoological and ethnographic collections from
N.W.Yunnan to the National Museums of Scotland (Plates 72 and 74). At home he
was writing up his plant collections from the second expedition, and he took up



some taxononiic work on his primulas and other plants, naming Dracocephalum
isabellae after his sister (Appendix 8). He began to reinvigorate his garden at
Glenkevock House, asking Balfour for a sample of the Yunnan rhododendron seeds
that were germinating freely in the Botanic Garden.

In the second halt of 1911, at approximately monthly ntervals, he submitted
notes to the Gardeners’ Chronicle on eight herbaceous plants of Yunnan. and these
were published alongside striking. full-page photographs that showed his
photographic skills as well as the plants. It was useful pocket money and the
gardening public was also being reminded of George Forrest and the riches of the
Chinese flora before he went oft again.

By August 1911 Williams and Forrest were discussing plans for Williams to fund
an expedition. He oftered to increase Forrest’s salarv from £200 a vear to £500 a
year (£27,500 today) for three vears, and was flexible over where Forrest collected,
since much would depend on the political sitvation in and around Yunnan. He
agreed that sets of herbarium specimens and the greater part of the seeds would be
shared with the Edinburgh. Kew and Dublin Botanic Gardens. although there also
seems to have been agreement that some seeds of herbaceous plants should go to
the nursery of Wallace of Colchester.

All augured well and 1t 1s interesting to note the conscientiousness with which
both men approached the expedition. Williams ted Forrest with all manner of
information: the Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, a copy of Wilson’s Notes and a
set of 700 of Wilson's photographs, Bretschneider’s Notes on Chinese Botany, and
Ward’s letters contirming that he had met no untoward trouble in China. Then, for
good measure, Williams sent Forrest a water-proof cover to protect his telescope
and a box of cuttings for his garden. How quickly Forrest changed from the man
who had sometimes felt so desolate on his second expedition. With all this attention
and encouragement, Williams was not only rescuing Forrest’s career but restoring
his enthusiasm and seltf-esteem.

A happy Forrest began the background reading and detective work that ensured
that he was well prepared. Above all, he wanted to update himselt on what other
collectors had found. He studied Volume I ot E.H. Wilson's Plantac IWilsonianae. He
visited Vilmorin's nursery in Paris to find out what Chinese plants they grew, and
spent three days in the Paris Herbarium. where he was thrilled to find tine species
of rhododendrons new to him. Caretully he noted their localities, hoping to find
them to collect seed. He also spent several days at Kew.”

There he had the charming idea of sending the ninety-four year old Sir Joseph
Dalton Hooker. formerly Director of Kew, a bloom of a Chinese balsam, Impatiens
delavayi.” One senses that Forrest valued his hink with this great man and felt a huge
respect for him. In Hooker’s younger days he had discovered marvellous
rhododendrons in the Sikkim-Himalaya and compiled the classic seven volumes of
the Flora of British India, with which Forrest was famuliar. Balsams were among
Hooker's favourite tlowers, and their study had become his all-consuming passion.
After examining Indian balsams he moved on to study Chinese ones, including
some of Forrests collecting.” The old man probably received Forrest’s gift of a tresh
flower a few weeks before he died.

However, trouble was erupting in China. With a young boy as Emperor, the
Manchu dynasty was weak. The revolutionary Sun Yat-sen was exiled but
engineered many uprisings from abroad, and on 26 October 1911 a Chinese
Republic was proclaimed. Forrest was worried. He feared that isolated Europeans
would be threatened by rebel troops. but hoped that conditions would improve by

Plate 75. Forrest’s second

son, Eric. with Clementuna’s
mother, Phoebe Marshall
Traill. The photograph was
taken atter Forrest had lefe
on his third expedition.
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the spring. He suggested making arrangements as usual, and on arrival at Tengyueh
he would see whether to use that as his base, or go further north, or even retreat
into Burma — though he was reluctant to learn another language, either Kachin or
Burmese. He wrote to people in Tengyueh for the latest information and asked
Williams to watch the papers for news.

We can only guess at Clementina’s thoughts on all these developments. Forrest
declined to go to Kew in December because she was expecting to be confined in
the middle or end of that month, and he wished ‘to be at hand’.” But Clementina
knew that the proposed expedition would mean that she would be left at home
with two young children for three whole years. And there was nothing she could
do about it.

Forrest had already prepared a detailed shopping list of items to be bought before
he left Britain (Appendix 4)." Guns were his most expensive equipment, especially
a 12 bore double-barrelled fowling piece and a 12 bore automatic repeating
fowling piece, followed by a .45 Colt repeating pistol and a 12 shot Winchester
repeating carbine. Boots and other special clothing were costly, including an oilskin
coat and sou’wester. Camping equipment was essential, and he listed a camp bed
and stout linen, camp table and chair, a pillow and a rubber bath, a medicine chest,
and leather cases for mule travel. For field-work he needed two axes and a
sharpening stone, sheath knives, and lots of stationery: field notebooks, envelopes
for seeds and lined envelopes for forwarding seeds, and 3-5,000 labels. He added in
his photographic equipment: reflex camera, wide-angle lens, cases of plates and
chemicals. Altogether, with his passage monies to and from Rangoon and other
travelling expenses, he reckoned, meticulously, that he would need to spend
£106.95.6d before he got to Burma.

Forrest also sent Williams a list of the articles he would need to buy in Burma,
including two canvas tents, a mosquito curtain, a saddle and bridle, his stores and
ammunition. Together with his salary and travelling allowance he estimated the
initial total outlay for Williams would be over £3,000" (£163,000 today). Williams
appears not to have quibbled over anything and Forrest started placing his orders.

Forrest had carefully drafted in longhand, on lined foolscap paper embossed with
the Royal Coat of Arms, a legal document on the proposed expedition. He
undertook to collect ‘bulbs and seeds of plants of horticultural value, and botanical
specimens’ in accessible areas lying on the NLE. frontier of Upper Burmah |sic] and
West and N.W. Yunnan, exclusively for J.C. Williams. and subject to conditions of
expenditure already agreed.” He signed it on 4 December 1911 and sent it to
Williams, who accepted and signed the agreement on 23 December, having sent
Forrest his first vear’s salary in advance.

All was set for the expedition. It was just a matter of waiting for the baby to
arrive. John Eric Forrest was born on 7 January 1912. By 23 January Forrest
reported that Clementina was ‘slightly better’ and he left her overnight whilst he
met Williams." On his return he was pleased to find her ‘somewhat better™ and n
February he left Clementina to cope, with their families near at hand to help. as he
boarded S.8. Martaban bound for Rangoon.

To the new Republic

Forrest had an uneventful journey to Rangoon and used it to catch up with his
work. He wrote up specimens that W. Wright Smith had sent him from the RBGE,
and notes on more of his photos for the Gardeners’ Chronicle. In one article,
‘Rhododendrons in China’. he expressed his belief that the real thome” of the genus



was in the high alpine regions on the Chino-Tibetan frontier, where many
different species were to be found.” That was the area that he dearly wished to go
to on this third expedition. His hopes of getting there had been thwarted on his
second expedition and all would now depend on the state of unrest in China,

On arrival in Rangoon he was cheered on his way by a letter from Balfour with
the happy news that some of his orchids, sedums and saxifrages were described in
the current Notes _from the RBG Edinburgh, that Diels’ naming of his plants would
soon be published, and that Stewart, the propagator, was looking forward to the
flowering of Forrest’s seedlings. At the same time, the Commissioner of Customs in
Tengyueh, E.B. Howell, reported poor prospects of getting into Yunnan.

When Forrest reached Bhamo, there was no definite news from Tengyueh.
Instead he heard the most blood-curdling tales circulating among the Europeans,
though he realised they might be rumours and arttributed them to ‘the fecundity of
the drink-soddened Bhamo brains™." Sensibly cautious, Forrest crossed quietly into
Yunnan, prepared to escape by another route if necessary.

China, an ‘active volcano’

When he reached Tengyueh, Forrest compared living in China to camping alongside
an active volcano. Brutal murders were rife. Since before the proclamation of a
Republic, Tengyueh had been in the hands of revolutionary troops, ‘a band of
undisciplined ruffans’.”” Forrest reckoned that 250 people in Tengyueh, out of a
population of 5-6,000, had been beheaded without any kind of trial, leading to such
revulsion that many people favoured the restoration of the Manchus.

Forrest had to live from month to month in this perilous situation, and travel
north to the ‘home’ of the rhododendrons was impossible. Only four days’ travel
away, on the Tali road, the town of Yungchang-fu was practically burned down and
many people killed. To make matters more complicated, all the silver ingot
currency that had been in circulation during the Manchu Dynasty was replaced by
a new republican dollar. The rate of exchange was dropping and the price of food
was rising rapidly, so Forrest had to pay his collectors and servants more than
double the amount he paid them in 1907. During the next tew months he had to
increase their wages twice, until he was forced to ask Williams for more funds.™

He began work in the area around Tengyueh in early May. when some of his
previous Nakhi collectors rejoined him from the Lichiang valley and worked as hard
as ever for him." They collected freely in local areas and on to the Shweli-Salween
Divide, with its rich, semi-tropical forest vegetation, and in less than a month Forrest
had thirty-five plant presses going. By July his excitement mounted, as he had fully
nine hundred dried species in hand, many of them written up and ready for
dispatch, including berberis. buddlejas, clematis, primulas, roses, rhododendrons,
‘three superb jasmines’ and twenty to thirty epiphytic orchids. He was working hard
to make the season a success, even though the British Consul in Tengyueh would
not allow him to go further up country. Disorder prevailed over much of the
province, with uprisings and stories of people being tortured and burned alive.
Forrest himself did not thirst for adventure among such disturbances, feeling that he
had already had his share in the past, and didn’t *hanker after another turn’.

Williams sent Forrest new supplies of photographic plates, cuttings from The
Times, and a book for an ‘enjoyable read’: In Forbidden China. The d’Ollone mission,
1906- 1909, China-Tibet-Mongolia, translated from the French.”” He reported that
Forrest's plants were to the fore at the Roval International Horticultural Exhibition
at Chelsea in May 1912, being shown by Bees Ltd and Wallace of Colchester. He
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told Forrest that he was experimenting with his seeds in all three of his gardens,
and later in the year he delighted Forrest further by thoughtfully sending
Clementina some bulbs.

However, on 31 August Forrest wrote anxiously that Tengyueh was about to be
attacked. He might have to leave at any moment. His collection of 1,700 dried
species of plants and nearly 100lbs (45kg) of seed were at risk, including some
undried rhododendron seed from the Shweli-Salween divide. The thought of losing
it all made him feel sick, so he was desperate to get them on the way to Mr Williams
as soon as possible. (Williams had agreed to send the specimens and a portion of
the seeds on to the RBGE.) Forrest planned to risk sending eight cases of
specimens and seeds down to Bhamo, with Chinese wrappings to disguise them as
Chinese exports. Moreover, he asked Balfour to tell only one of his staff
(W.W. Smith) of this potential trouble, and Mr Simith was not to tell even his wife,
for fear that news would reach Clementina and cause her extra anxiety.*

Forrest’s export plan failed; the road to Bhamo was blocked, so the cases could
not be sent along that road. Conditions in Tengyueh deteriorated, Forrest could not
go out collecting, and the British Consul refused to take any further responsibility
for him or his collections. The only option was for Forrest to take his eight cases
of specimens and seeds with him and escape over the mountains to Myitkyina in
Burma. He later summarised the journey as, Jungle frightful, 9 days out of the
twelve, heavy tropical rains, several places had to build bridges’.”

He left Tengyueh in torrents of rain on the morning of 4 September, taking with
him some of his collectors, on the offchance that they might all return later. He had
twelve mules carrying his “kit of tents, etc.” and thirty coolies. But the mules were
‘underfed, undersized creatures’ and the coolies were ‘opium smokers to a man!" He
gave the coolies one tent, and described the sight on peeping inside: ‘Door closed,
40 pipes going, and an atmosphere one could have sectioned with a microtome’.
Towards the summit of the pass two bearers broke down in the cold and wet, two
deserted, and he had to replace themn with local Lissoo people. Forrest walked and
admitted to Williams that he kept the ‘gang’ on the move by sheer force of will and
‘a display of language which astonished even myself”.

To make matters more difficult, Forrest had promised to take a petrified Customs
man and his wife, Mr and Mrs Ross, with him to safety together with their two
staff, a wife and three youngsters. They were reliant on Forrest’s tents and
equipment and part of his stores. Ross rode a mule and his wife had a sedan chair
and four bearers. They did not know the dialect, so Forrest translated for them.

Conditions were terrible:*Rain poured in solid sheets, the valleys were filled, and
the mountains swathed in heavy mists and the streams continually rose’. It was a
miserable journey, with mules falling, loads slipping, and five large mountain
streams to cross. The mules were towed or swam across the water, after their loads
were taken off their backs and carried over separately. In places Forrest had to
commandeer local Kachin people to build bamboo bridges padded with grass and
foliage to prevent slipping. The bridges trembled as they crossed rivers of ‘boiling,
beer-coloured foam™ and one, which Forrest was the last to use, became almost
submerged. and a few minutes later was washed away (Plate 76).

After five nights in dripping tents and soaked bedding it was a relief to reach the
frontier, with its fort garrison and official rest house. They had a day’s rest before
the three day journey to Myitkyina. the rail-head in Upper Burmah, and the civil
officer heliographed for a strong guard to escort them safely. They crossed the 700
yard (640m) wide [rrawaddy river in a big Burmese dug-out canoe, Forrest’s



hageage alone needing four double mrips. and Forrese was gready relieved when his

responsibihey to Mroand My Row had been completed. Leaving them in
Myidhvina, he continued on by i and river steamer to Bhamo, serded ina
bungalow and deaded o his nexe serategy: Al lns collecnions were with him and.,
as he had wken the precaution to varnsh the casescand to seal the jonts inade and
out with beeswax. the contents were 1 pertect condition,

Forrest relaxed. met old triends ke Caprain Medd. the Bhamo agent for the
brrawaddy Floulla Co.oand retlected that China was becommy altogether too
nerve-rackimg. In some wavs he felt like “chucking it in"and going home tor the winter,
but his conscience would not let himy Williams conomued to write encouraging letters.
Consul Smuth reported that the region around Tengyvueh was more peacetul again and
Forrest resolved to return to callect seed tor the rest of the season. He had “marked
down™ i his ficld notebook those numbered specimens tor which he would hke seed.
He sent Ins headman, Tao Chao, and four of his best collectors inadvance, while he
stved - Bhamo o complete the writing up ot s specimens and fintsh the seed
drving. The specimens, seeds and o few bueeerthies were then packed o cases, ready
for disparch on the Trrawaddy Floolla Steamer to Ruangoon, and Forrest walked back
over the mouncins, 130 nnles (200km). to rejom Jus men.

1he collectors who had gone ahead to Tengvueh first worked for Forrest in 1906,

He had tramed them and he orusted them completels He deseribed s chiet

collector asaewel and sid that he put more tuth m him than he did in hnnselt
Hle has been tried many tames now and never taled me” Forrests confidence in

his collectors was well rewarded. On his arrival i Tengvueh they rerurned from the

Plate 760 Forrests
photograph of a bridge
made of cane and hanas
across a tribuctary of che
Salween Raver.



Riododendion
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112008 one ot Forrests most
dramate rhododendrons,
with leaves up to 2feom
oo long and capsules s
ik as ones thumb'. 1o
1934 1 mmmense truss ot
Hovwers and leaves, grown
Artsaig. was carmed Dike a
magniticent umbrelle along
Prmees Sueet. Edmburgh,
lllki 10y ONTICT Was ‘lllll()\l

maobbed.

seed. Hle could naot

1 mule-load o

Shweli-Salhween Divide with prase them
enough: “Thev have worked Tike Trojans” When he Tooked over ther dried
specimens ol plants he found hydrangeas, cotoneasters. vacemiums, a Py and
many rhododendrons, Fle hoped some were new o science, and one particular
‘magnilicent species” caught his evee The speamen had been procked from o oree

1ot Rhododendron

20-301 (6-9m) high and scems o have been s fist sig

bl
sinogrande, o wondertul discovery, Te desenibed ic to Willlame:
222 3 oo longs shghthv carved and as thck s vour chumby 'The

fohage runs from T x G {A0cm s [3em] o as much as 24me s Tom jotem x 23em.

I'he capsules are
duk green and glosse on the upper surtace, ashecoloured heneath. Very handsome!

No wonder Forrest was impressed: this rhododendron has the largest leaves ot the
venus (Plite 77).

Fortumately the arca remamed peacetul and. to collect as much as posable. Forrest
made detaled wrmmgements as to where cach man would go over the coming
months. He would have seven men based i Tengvueh ol winter to continue
collecting while he went 1o Rangoon to obtan new supplies, Tao Chao would
return to his home vallage near Dichiang to recruit tour more men. so that there
would be vwelve collectors ready o start e che spring e assured Williams that he
hoped 1o have the same exeellent collectons throuchout the expedition. "We
thoroughhy understand cacly other’, Torrest explamed. and Wil could counton
lum “domg right by them’

I postseript on his Tast fetter of the vear, heashed Wailloms i e wounld be possible,
please to et N s Torrest” have the stamps ol all bis Jeters o packages, Wallams
readhhy agreed. Clementina was the tnseen, private and constant loure meLorrests
hte: the hudden person i this story She and Forrest wiote to cach other weekhe bat
i b Bite I veguesting messazes and

few ot her Teters remann, e mvolved he

sendimg hevall oy photographs of ceneral interest nrclodime nsecms, photocraphs of



the exccutions m Tengvuch, *Ghastly sabject. | know, bur i asense mteresung”, Yt

he tried to protect her by asking Williams not to let her know when he was facig
increased risks. THe would tell her in his own wavs as "There s no call to worry her
more than she s now!” Sometimes he didn't tell herr Don't give this {bad news| away
to anvone m case Mrs Forrest gets it mowriting to her just as usual this week. Should
anvthing happen she'll get e through the press soon enough. poor girl!

Balfour and Williuims were very sensitive to Clementinas dithcule and important role
and they tried to keep her informed and supported. Balfour sent her Nores from the RBG
Edmbure. many ot which published or reflected Forrests work, Williams torwarded
items from Forrest and sent her little gitts of his own. for which Forrest alwavs returned

his deeply gratetul thanks. Clementina kept going with admirable resolution.

Expansive ambition

1913 began tull of promise for Forrest. A mutiny at Tengvueh was quelled and the
Consul predicted a quicet vear.so Forrest was free to organise the distribution ot his
men over a much wider area. He also increased the number of his collectors. Lao
Chao, as promised. returned from his home village near Lichuang with three more
recruits, and more to come. including his brocher, Lao ST would willingly give
him {Lao Chaol treble the salary he has’, wrote a gratetul Forrest."but he s guite
contented and T fear to spoil hime Ul give Inme a big present when finished with
him™ (Plates 78 and 87).

Forrest’s strategy was to have his men readv to collect the spring-time flowers in
relatively unexplored arcas. He used parties of men as probes, to explore, collect and
report back on thew findings. Tn 1913 he planned that four men would go back to
the Salween-Shweli divide, two men would work™ the relatvely untouched
western flank of the Tali Range (Cang Shan), Forrest and cight men would work
the north-west and most northern part of the Lichiang Range (Yulong Shan). and

two or lour men were to go a further 120 miles (190km) north-west to work the

Plite 78, Forrests
headiman. Lao Chao thith
tfrom righti. and nine
other collecrors with
stacks ot drving papers
roped to wooden saddles
ready for mule ranspore.



Plate 79, 1he castern
lank of the Lichiang
Runge (Yulong Shan)

with Srellera chamacasine

var. dipsantha n the
toreground.

ranges bevond Chungtien (Zhongdan). They all set oft with mules Toaded with

plant presses and papers mowhich to preserve therr collecuons,

On Forrest’s journey an imcrdent with the army renunds us ot the quick thinking
audacity that served Forrest so well i the unseded tmes in which he did his
ficldwork, He knew the regulations that a European had to respect and it he were
challenged  falsely e stood no nonsense. Hle now  had contidence bred ot
experience, knew the lainguage, and was determined not to be messed around by
anvone. On this occasion he was on the “road” to Tali. ascending the castern slope
of the Mekonyg valley. along a very narrow, steep and tortuous path. when he met
forey soldiers from Yonnanfu (Kunming). Forrese was ahead of his caravan. with five
collectors. cach responsible for separate 1tems such as plant presses. camera
cquipment, and ritles. The officer i commuand was Japanese. and he and Forrest
bowed and greeted one another. Then™ wrote Forrest afterwards,

without more palwvas he commenced crreling round my men. Like 1 mouse round

preces ot cheese examming all they carred. Feentally 1 got racher meensed and asked

him rather abrupdy what hie waneed. e replicd mrather a sareastic tone that he simply
wanted to see what my men’s loads consisted of ) 1 got mad at that my temper vt the
sweetest at the best of times,and turning myv back on hin I gave the order to march

We lett Inm standing i the centre of the road way

Forrests destination was the village of U-lu-kay. or Snow Mountin Village. the

home ot his collectors. Teis about Htteen nules 24k north ot Lichang (Lipang)

near the southern end ol the mam range of [ade Dragon Mountamn (Yulong Shan).
with the maimn peak towermg above (Place 795 1as beauttul spot was to be s base
tor the season. so he rented a house and hved e the garrer (Place 801 and his
renewed delight at plant hunting on the mountans shines trom: his lewers. Te
found fowers of exceptional beauty and wrore eestateally, T shows swe may expect

aAmost anything from the lora of dhis region™ e nurvelled athe range of colour



produced by natural hvbnds ot Prosda brdlc pana and I hecsrana, and asked " Cuanvou

canceive a plant with the habie and robustess of 12 bl yan . carrving the colow
of 2 cockbirnnamar 1 eannot, Te seems oo cood o be trues st He desanbed
Bmsellas heing i atwatter of excitement” over the possibilite of collecting viable
seed and tikmg the world by storm Te tound a Buddler wieh oswers as near blue
as possible” and o clemuats with lowers almaost chocolate colour, Just the Enntest
tnge of maroon to throw 1t out of that colour. I'm not romancg!” Then he came
upon Lirge quantites of the beavutul Paconia firea a0 magnmiticent sight, flowers 2-
S5 TAem] damerer and apure canary vellow sand he was sad that he had ron
out ol plates Tor his camera. though he sent Wilhams a pachet o torev-one prints,

Willms was Keen to see photographs of plants growing i s Flowever, as on
previous expedivons, Torrest was often workig under ditticulues, especially while

campig i the mountams, e wrote vividly of swarms ot thes on very hot dayss

Fhese mseets apparenty magimed the lens o the camera was a beanatul open eveoand
most davsowhen Clhing photos . avameg tor o lallm the amost meessant wind. ovang
to heep e eves dlear o those thes whilse Reeping oowacch oncthe phintand detending
the fens o the conera acanst then attacks. D was reaily dinven o the verge ofmadiness

with them

Avthe end o a Jong dav the photographs had to be developed maent atter dark,

Thase e Thow pese’s Lo,
probabic N
Mounron Vflice vl
Pockots of socds hanne
fron beams fow cnough
tor b to bump s head.
Fhe end of s camyp bed

i the Joreground



Plice ST Rbcdodendion soxearsn. Forrest named s species e

Ay Ronae Pl grattude tor the kind hospreatiey diae she o
her husband cave o at die China Inland Aisaon, Talitu

Plite 820 Promuda capsules atter an October snow nll m Yunan.

Pl

which was about cight o'clock mdhe summer, Some nighes he was busy unal the
carly hours of the mornmyg and " he dien found thae o baeeh had been fogged m
the changing bag and uteerly sporlcs he fele melmed to st down md weep.

As ever.there were many demands on Forrests e, and wirh s collectors based
i several places owasn 't casy to supervise them all This sense o humour came o
the rescue and he joked sk Williams, You couldn™ by oy means mvest m
monoplane for me could vou! Tt waould be qust the dung tor this country! Ny
word! What a haul I'd show vou for g season!” However, that time had not come
and.as well as relving on orated and truseed Tocal headmen. Furopean friends aoften
substicuted for i O dus expedinion one was My Howell the Commistoner off
Customs at Tengvaeh, nd stalwarts were Mroand M TLhinna ot the China Inlind
NMisston at Taliowho provided supervivion and o room tor divig plants

Forrest first niet the Flannas when they were new b nered i 1906 Although
he tended to harbour grievanees agamst some people, he pever Torzor Kimdnesses
and he recenved many o the Thomas, N T L was ane ol the first people to
outhne o i the mimaoriy croups of NV Younnan and mooduced i to
potential collectors rom thie survoundimg phans The Thinnas kept an open house
that. tor an noerant person ke Torrest. was o wondertul thine, espectally as the
s were Tl bevornd concepaon™ W hen he rerarned e ned acomn to Yonnan,

the Luropean mistonaries s ho aenimed 0 dven sonore prooded nnalualble



ongoing friendship and support. Forrest was so gratetul that he asked Williams for
seed of English garden flowers to distribute to missionaries who helped him. He
suggested a long list, from laburnum, lilac and broom to dahlias and delphiniums,
phlox and hollyhocks, as well as good vegetables. He also named a fine new species
after Mrs Roxie Hanna, Rhododendron roxieanum, writing in his dedication, ‘I take
this opportunity of acknowledging my indebtedness for kind hospitality to Mr and
Mrs Hanna, of Talifu, by dedicating this plant to the latter' (Plate 81), The Hannas’
hospitality was to continue to be a boon. It is notable that when Forrest had three
children, and was on his fourth expedition, Mr and Mrs Hanna witmessed his will
on 9 May 1918 at the C.I.M. Talifu.

In 1913, it was a happy move for Forrest to settle for the collecting season into
Snow Mountain Village, nine miles (15km) north of Lichiang, where most of his
collectors lived. It was a change from camping and he got to know his collectors
and their families as friends and neighbours. While an “exile’ from his own home
and country, he was happier living in that Nakhi community than anywhere else
in Burma or China. When he returned there in 1914, the elders of the village came
out to meet him and he received many gifts of pork, chickens, eggs, vegetables and
delicious honey in the comb. [n the village he taught some people English and was
sympathetic when villagers were sick. He kept a stock of quinine and when malaria
was prevalent in 1914 he had almost two dozen patients on his list. A touching,
undated letter from “Yung’ showed appreciation of his medical help: ‘Dear Mr
Forrest, Many thanks your medicines my son’s red eyes is getting better’, and he
asked for another dose.™

On another occasion, when Forrest heard that Lao Chao's father was seriously ill
and dying in Snow Mountain Village, he immediately wrote to Tengyueh to tell
Lao Chao’s brother, Lao Si, so that he could return home, and sent two men to
relieve him in Tengyueh. However, it later emerged that Lao Si had returned
already, before permission had been given, and when Forrest found out and the
man lied to him. and had few seeds as evidence of work done, Forrest promptly
discharged him. There is a Scottish saying, ‘Better meddle with the devil than the
bairns of Falkirk’, and it applied uncannily to Forrest. No-one could mess around
with him. His strategy depended on the trustworthiness of his collectors and he
would brook no laziness or deceit. He was strict and decisive, open and straight,
and every one knew where they stood.

If his collectors did not bring in some particular seed that Williams wanted,
Forrest simply sent out another search party. He sent two men all the way to
Tengyueh to collect seed of Rhododendron sulftureum, keeping back half their wages
until he had the seed and specimens to hand. In another case, men just back from
the Lichiang Range had secured only a few capsules of Primnla dryadifolia, saying
there was eighteen inches (45cm) of snow. ‘Snow or no snow. I must have it,’ was
the reply, and Forrest sent off two more men (Plate 82). He did not shirk from
collecting in snowy conditions on the range himself, camping at 12,000ft. (3,600m)
with heavy frost at night and several snowfalls, so his men could hardly refuse him.
Such is the work of a collector.

One big advantage of Forrest living in Snow Mountain Village was the rapport
that he built up with his collectors. By living and working in close contact with his
men, they could readily discuss plans and give feedback to one another. When a
party of men set off, Forrest showed them a sketch map or demonstrated samples
of dried specimens from which he wanted seed. When they returned to the village
weeks later. he sorted their haul and directed the drying of seeds in his courryard.
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Plite 83, Roseoea cautleyoides was
tound by Forrest i the spring.
growing m pme and oak torest m
‘magniticent trty glades carpeted
with Rocantfeyoides, R prrpinea,
Cyprpedion tibencin and Siellera
chamaciasme’. The plant was

mtroduced [lll'nllg]] Bees Lad.

[Ty ambitions became therr ambitons. and 1t was not one man, Forrest, but teams
of men who were emploved i the elfort to obem the plines and seeds that he and
his patron desired. By October 1913 Forrest rechoned that he and iy men had
scourcd an area nearlv To0 nules (1ookmy across (Plate 78,

Forrest was dehgheed wich the total haul and, as he had st recenved an
enthustastic report trom the Edinburgh Garden Propagator, Srewart, giving
glowing account of the “finer things” that were growing trom his seods, e lelo very
optimistic, With the good harvest. a sense of triamph tilled the am

Forreats letters show  that working for o svmpathetic sponsor made a great
difference to him. There s no trace of the depression that sometimes overtook him
on hissecond expedition. e did not forget the pase. which came back to hoall oo
readily, oceasionally spoiling a gorious moment fas when he tound 4 new feaga "ol
arand proportions” and was remmded thae Sareent and Veweh had lartully pooh
poohed” his idea ol such conifers exisung i Yunnani. Beed catalogues were
advertising Forrests "New Chinese Primualas” but. as he had developed o jaundiced
view ol Bees” propagators. he was sure that they had lost some ot his mooductons
unnceessarily. Morcover, e resented getting htde credue tor meroductions such s
Roscoca cantleyordes. trom which Bees camed aeclann (Plie 830

JC WAl was generous mpav, words and actions, Tle was unsuntng the
rrouble he took to propagate and distribute Tonea’s secds, Tle arote sooman

letters that Forrest somenmes tound st dathicalt to ind tie o repda Willams sent



newspaper cuttaings and artacles.mcluding a report of the 1913 Primula conterence

on which Forrest commented. T don't think I have enjoved any article so much tor
along time™ Indeed, swhen he read the discussion hie must have glowed 1 his garret
1 Snow Mountain Village, for Baltour explained the usefulness of collectors” notes
to gardeners, That 1s where Mr. Forrest excels: he gives us a lot ot detail ot the exact
habitat, and you can correlate it

In return he sent Williams a book of pictographs used by the Nakhi (Plate 74).
obtained some ancient bronzes for him. and was eftusive m his gratitude:

Fam everlastingly gratetul to you, tor the painstaking labour you are lavishing on the seed
material.af you only realised how much I appreciate vour kindness and the mcentive it
gives to my work vou would be amply repaid. It is indeed 4 pleasure to work tor vou!
You may count on me doing my utmost tor vou at all times.”

However, in November 1913, Forrest had one caveat: “Nothing will ever
compensate me for the separation from my wite and children! Nothing! Bue don't
think 1 grumble it saving so. What needs be must be!™

The tension between wanting to be with his family and yet working in Yunnan,
was something Forrest learned to live with. He expressed his feelings openly in
regular letters to Clementina and in Yunnan he immersed himself in his job. the
beaury and grandeur of the mountains and the changing seasons. At the time of his
outburst to Williams, Forrest also wrote a glowing account ot the autumn colours.
He enjoyed camping in an alpine meadow filled with autumn gentians, and relished
the scene of the bare limestone crags of the Lichiang Range powdered with snow
against the deep, sapplure blue sky, or by the light of the full moon (Plate 79).
Despite his tace being chapped in the tierce and cold winds, when more men
returned laden with nearly a mule-load of seed he telt ‘like whisting that night’.
He told his sponsor proudly, T have seed enough to sow all Cornwall” Whereupon
he left mseructons tor his headman i Lichangtu uneil the coming spring. and set
oft tor Tal with a caravan of his men and cherr collections. to find what others had
gathered m trom the Tah Range (Plate 84).

Plite 84 Gieorge Forrests
photograph of the
snow-covered Talr Range
(Cang Shany trom the back
court of the China Inland
NMission. Tah (Dali),

Muarch 19006,
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Approaching Tali on 8 December, Forrest feared the worst. There was gunfire and
people fleeing for safety from the city gates told him that the garrison of three
regiments had mutinied that morning. Learning that foreigners were not being
molested, Forrest entered the north gate and went immediately to the China Inland
Mission where he found Hanna tending the wounded. The mission chapel and
school-house became temporary hospitals filled with the wounded and dying. Hanna
carried out surgery and Forrest nursed the wounded. They were thankful that only
three patients in their care died. Two weeks of terror reigned in Tali and no-one dared
go on the streets. When troops rescued the city from the rebels, the burned body of
the leader was exposed to public view and Forrest took a photograph. Gruesome
executions continued, but the affairs of the city settled down.” Strained, but very
thankful to be alive, Forrest and the Hannas spent Christumas together. Their
experience, in the words of Forrest, had been ‘too narrow a squeak to joke of".
Reflecting on the help and kindness shown him by Mr Hanna throughout the past
year, Forrest suggested that perhaps Williams might give a small donation towards the
building of their new chapel, which he was very pleased to do.

The country was in intermittent turmoil and, only six months later, Forrest heard
of the murder of his collector friend, Pére Monbeig, at Litang. However, once the
mutiny at Tali had been quelled, Forrest and his caravan continued safely on to
Tengyueh in January 1914, Forrest had a delayed reaction to the traumas of Tali but,
after some rest, he continued on to Bhamo to dispatch the collections and procure
more stores for the coming season (Plate 85).

Forrest and his men gathered a bumper harvest in 1913; in the eyes of Balfour
and Williams, he had established himself as a plant collector of exceptional qualities.
He had survived two uprisings unscathed and made the best of the peaceful times.
He had organised more men as collectors and distributed them to work over a
larger area than ever before. Balfour gave him fulsome praise.

Forrest’s collection is, like all his previous ones, magnificent. He is undoubtedly the
prince of collectors. No-one approaches him, alike for the excellence of the specimens,
number of specimens, proper selection of forms, and notes upon habitat. There are
this collection naturally many plants which he has obtained in previous years, but there
are also many new ones."

Buoyed by a new patron and new hunting grounds, a renascent Forrest was a happy
man fulfilling his potential. But what of Forrest’s relationship with other plant
hunters who came on the scene?

Friends or rivals?
Forrest’s work satisfied deep yearnings. At the end of 1913 he admitted

I have always the intense longing to get into an entirely new area; a sort of new world
where everything was new...to have such an opportunity as had Delavay or
|Augustine] Henry.™

In the mountains of Yunnan, where Delavay had been, the flora was so rich that
Forrest was still finding new plants, and he believed there were more to discover
on the next mountain or the next. However, with his ambition and
competitiveness, it was natural for him to view one more plant hunter as one rival
too many. As he said, ‘Even the veriest novice might fall on something good’.
leaving fewer undiscovered treasures for him to find.

No other British plant hunter had worked in north-west Yannan during Forrests
first two expeditions, but by 1912 that had changed and Forrest found it hard to
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adpust. In Tengvuch he tound chat even the Commisstoner ot Customs, Mr T Towell,
was collecumyg phints for Protessor Balfour, it only on an occastonal basis. Forrest
teared that Flowell's collectors might find some new species betore he did and he
asked Baltour 1o stop Howell collecung. Baltour was amazed at Forrests
apprehension and was certamn they could work i differene vallevs; the area ought
to be large enough tor both! " In the event. Forrest and Howell became good
triends, and m 1913 Howell supervised two ot Forrests collectors,

Frank Kmgdon Ward, on the other hand. had been collecting for Bees Lid in
Yunnan during 1911 while Forrest was at home. On hearing that Ward  had
discovered two or three new species of primula, Forrest became anxious, though
Baltour assured him that he had nothing to fear as Ward was relatively new to plant
collecting. New or not, Forrest was very conscious of an intruder. With Ward's
re-appearance i 1913, Forrest was watchtul, like a robm guarding it territory. for
Ward was a tull-time professional. potentially more mobile and thorough than
Howell Forrest gave Ward no clues as to the best hunting areasc s plans, or his
route, He learned of Wards movements trom missionaries and then heard. to his
amazement., that Ward had been plaving with aset of instruments” lent by the Roval
Geographical Society. The next development was that Forrest was nustakenly
named by suspicious authorities as the toreigner making maps ot the country. when
the culpric was Ward who, accordig to Forrest, was “attempting to map country
which was surveved betore he went to school’. Forrest was as ‘mad as o bag-tull of

cats” to be caught up i the backwash of Wards acevities. but at least there was no

Plite 83, Paching cases
of seeds and specnnens
collected m 19130 paled
up at che Chima Infand
Misston i Tali. ready tor
dispareh to O Wil
m Cornwall. The
phatograph was probabhy
taken i Januwary 1914
atter the Tah muony

| 2T



Plate 86. Forrest with his
missionary friend, Arie
Kok from Amsterdam.
Forrest signed the birth
certificate of Kok'’s

daughter, Elsje Evangeline,

m July 1914,

concern over local competition for plants as Ward went north towards Atuntze. ™

Balfour was so impressed by Forrest’s “army’ of collectors in 1913 that he warned
one potential ‘poacher’. Reginald Farrer, against going to Yunnan. “Yunnan is swept
up’ was Balfours vivid phrase, reporting that Forrest was now systematically
scouring that rich area with an army of some hundred collectors, and pointing out
that Ward was also collecting further north, with Atuntze as his base. As all the
trained collectors in the region were likely to be employed by Forrest or Ward,
Balfour thought Farrer would have to train his own mien if he were to venture into
that area of China.™ Farrer went to North China instead.

As 1913 progressed, Forrest still kept a safety net of secrecy. When he sent
Williams a list of his discoveries, he ended with the instructions, ‘Keep all this for
yourself alone at present. [ have no desire for the appearance of poachers on my
preserve’. However, as Forrest’s confidence grew he realised that other professional
European collectors would not necessarily spoil his success. The flora of the region
seemed ‘almost inexhaustible’, and he reckoned that even after ten years in Yunnan,
the work would be far from finished. It was just as well, because a German botanist
was, in Balfours words, ‘on the warpath’.,

In fact, this German made a delicate approach that could not have been better
caleulated to get the best out of Forrest. In February 1914 Forrest received a most
courteous letter from Camillo Schneider,” who was collecting in China with an
Austrian botanist, Dr Handel-Mazzett. They planned to come to Lichiangfu later
in the year, after travelling through Yungning, and Schneider enquired after Forrest’s
intentions, sensitively suggesting that Forrest should tell him, if it would be “better
I don’t come to Lichiangfu’. A letter from Schneider in May confirmed that they
would arrive at Lichiangfu in July.

Was it a comcidence that Forrest made a journey to Yungning betore the visitors
reached there? Certanly he panicked that Schneider and Handel-Mazzetti might
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also discover two primulas that he had tound “right 1 Schineider’s tack™. and he

Ba¥|
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asked Balfour to publish quickly any new finds of his 1913 collections. Baltour
could sec no reason for Forrest to panie, He wrote to Williams, 'l think Forrest
should now recognise that his position as an explorer of the vegetation of Western
China is established for all tme on the plane of Henry, Fortume, Delavay, Wilson.
1o namie the glanes.” Forrests reputation did not depend on numbers of new plants
alone.*Surely’. wrote Baltour, "Forrest need not worry s soul over that™

Baltour was overlooking the force of Forrests ambition. Forrest once admitred
that,"In the compass of the Bend [of the Yangtze| alone there is work suthicient tor
many vears for several Schoeiders, Wards and Forrests’, but rationahity does not
always overcome gut reaction.

When Schneider and Handel-Mazzett arrived at the Pentecostal Mission in
Lichiangtu, Forrese had dinner with them and acted as interpreter of the local dialect.
Charmingly, too. a six-imonth old baby brought Forrest and Schneider together in a
small ceremony, when they both signed her birth certihcate on 26 July 1914, The
lietle gurl, Elsje Evangeline. was the daughter of his missionary friend, Arie Kok, and
born on 24 January 1914, soon atter the mutiny in Tali™ (Plate 86).

Atter their meeting in Lichiang, Forrest realised that these visitors were eager to

learn about the local mountam flora, firse made tamous by the collections ot

Plate 87, Torrests capuon
tor this photograph was
“Yours and 2 crond”. On
the right s Lao Chao. e
was taken on 17 Auguse
1914, At this nme Forrest
was botanising with
Cannllo Schneider. who
mayv have wken the
photograph. Who would
have guessed that war
had Just been declared?



Plate B8, Cypripedim
theticrm: These Howers
appear almost mmediately
on the mielting of the
siiows s, T orrest found thae
an the castern slopes of
the Mekong-Salween
Iyade scarcel an Alpine
pasture can I‘k‘ traversed
swhich s pot stareed wach
s dark nodding blooms™
Favrer compared et
nhgnnn Tibetn wad™ m
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Delavay. Schneider even offered to pay for samiples of Forrest’s seeds.™ Both mien
appreciated Forrest’s expertise and he felt he was in control. So much so, that when
he heard of their unsatsfactory accommodation i Lichiang. he suggested they stay
i a house in Snow Mountan Village. Handel-Mazzetti stayed nine davs and thu']
went his own way to colleet herbarium specimens and do some surreptitious
surveving to update the available maps.” Schneider stayed for two months and
botanised with Forrest on the Lichiang Range”™ (Plate 87). It was an enjovable time
for they were both plant enthusiasts, of much the same age, experts in their own
tields and learning from one another. They shared dreams of venturing to other
distant mountains. Schneider ‘raved” about the flora of the Andes that Forrest had
heard of from his brother-in-law who spent ten vears i Western Argenting, He
wrote to Willlams:'T ¢hink it T get a chance my next choice would be the Argentine
and Patagonian Andes™.”

Schneider and Forrest were brought closer by the onset of war in Europe and the
predicament of being far from home, in China. News of the war trickled i
disconcertingly during August 1914 and inevitably brought fear to many Europeans
in China. What would happen to their malsz How could they send tharr
collections home safelv? What would be the effect on banking arrangements? On
17 August they heard that the Chinese telegraphs would onlv accept wires worded
mm English or French. not German. Schneider was anxious because his home, wite
and  family  were in Vienna, Handel-Muazzeta was recalled by che Austrian
governnent.”

Their Consuls in Yunnan sent conflicting news, Forrest and Schineider longed tor
newspapers. Pourmyg rain added to their woes: collecang and photography came w
astandsull. On 20 Seprember Schneider deaded to oy to leave China to avord

being mterned. He promised that when the war was over they would exchange

Herbartium specimens and he would send Forrest photographs, including ones ot




Plate 890 Meconopas mircendolia cromvmg on Big Snow Mountin, Da NXue Shan.

himy e his house w Snow Mountam Village. tor My Forrest to see. He eventually
left Shanghai satelv and worked at the Arnold Arboretum in Boston, to work on
Plantac 1 ilsonianae unal the war ended.” and he and Forrest kept in contct.

Forrest renained at Lichiang to gather i the seed harvest betfore sathng to Britain
m January 1915, He sent men i diverse direcuons. meluding the upper Mekong
valley and on to the Beima Shan.and sent to Britain an meermiteent stream of simall
seed packets to prevene bulk losses from German submarines. Fortunately his
specimiens and seeds arrived safely and. despite the heavy and prolonged rains of
1914, he concluded this expedition with 1 haul of over 6,000 numbered specimens,
the Lirgest total of any ot his expeditions. He pocketed some limestone to show to
people hack home the substrate on which rhododendrons may grow. He expressed
moving thanks to Willams tor all his support and, as the war mtenatied and
Williams sons joined up, he sent his sincere good wishes,"May all of them be kepe
sately through the course of the war’,

At Rangoon the government commandeered the ship on which he was booked.
but Forrest returned sately to Britin on 8.8 Tonasserin. Exhausted but relieved. he
rejotned his family atter a4 gap ot three vears. The family had moved to a4 house m
Peebles that hie had never seen and Tus second son, whom he last saw as a newly

born baby, was now an encraetic voungseer.
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CHAPTEIRR SEVEN

War and a Syndicate of Gentlemen

This damned war has spoiled everything
G Forrest to WA Somth, | Febraary 1918

eteers in the Edinburgh archives show how the lite of cach person in our story
L\\'a% atfected by an event that became known simply as the Grear War, Some of
these lives were devastated. Others. including Forrests, were Tess seriously attected,
but none was entirely unscathed.

Within a month of Britains declaration of war on Germany i August 1914 fifty
of the men who worked at the Edinburgh Garden had enlisted. They ranged from
garden boy. labourers, time-keeper. hall attendant and lab assistant to an implement
keeper and a packer. This threw a parvcularly heavy burden on Baltour, who wrote
to Reginald Farrer a few months later:

We are..on our beam ends so o gardening v concerned. Every one of my
gardeners who s sound has joined the colours. One. . has been Killed = another
permanently manmied = and several wounded. . No less than sixey went from here.
have to carry on as best I ean with such old men of non-mihtary age or vounger men
unfic as we can secure from the ranks of the unemploved. It makes gardenmg very
ditheule and T fear = nav T know = that our collections are suttering sadly,

At least two new species discovered by Forrest. Roscoea Tumeana and Buddlcja

Sfallorpiana. were to be named atter voung RBGE gardeners who were killed m the
war (Plate 91).

Oppostte:

Plate 90, Lilivn ochracerom
var. hrmanicim. Forrest
collected bulbs and seeds of
this lily. The flower shown
was grown in Ehwes’
carden. Te was illustrated by
Lilian Snelhng in Grove®s
supplement to Elwey’
Monograph on the Genus

Lilium

Lt

Plate V1. Roscoea Tnuncand.
Introduced by Forrest. this
Hower was At culovaced ac
the Roval Botanic Garden
Edinburgh. where 1t was
named o commemorate
David Flume, a vouny
cardener on the sutt who
tell m action during the
retredt from Mons, on

26 August, 19147
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The national mood in Britain near the start of hostilities is caught in a letter from
Prain, Director of Kew, to Balfour:

Our own anxiety is keen, but my wife bears up wonderfully... As for the boy
himself...he is probably happier in the trenches than I am out of themn... Where is your
son? Is he also among the fortunate ones who are at the front?*

(He did indeed enlist with the 14th Battalion of the Royal Scots.)

By November 1914 a conflict that had confidently been expected to be over by
Christmas seemed set to last longer. For their own sanity, those at home needed
something else to think about, and J.C. Williams wrote:

It is hard to get away from the one subject for long, but it is certainly better to try to....
My sister’s son went down in the Manritius... all our 4 boys are in it somewhere. .}

Many, like Williams, sought solace in gardening.

Seeds of joy

As the war continued, Williams’ distribution of Forrest’s seeds and specimens in
spring 1915 brought particular pleasure to the Botanic Gardens of Edinburgh,
Dublin and Kew. At Edinburgh Balfour was so pleased with the seed germination
that he foresaw a ‘superabundance’ of plants. They agreed that any surplus should
be sent to a nurseryman, Wallace of Colchester. Balfour also thanked Williams for
the gift of Primula sinolistert:

one of the coming garden plants. Already at Wisley they have had some beautiful results
from crossing with it...If Forrest had done nothing else but introduce
P malacoides.. .and P sinolisteri .. his name would have been enrolled on the scroll of
leading benefactors to Horticulture.?

Williams agreed that P malacoides was ‘an unceasing delight’ and wrote that the
success of the seeds was because Forrest 'is an old hand at the business ... I have
learnt to look at home for the fault if his stuff fails.?

EW.Moore, Director of Glasnevin Botanic Garden, Dublin also thanked Williams
‘for the wonderful collection of seeds from Forrest’ and paid this remarkable
tribute: ‘Forrest has been a wonderful man, and has done much, and suffered much,
in introducing some of these fine new plants. His name will certainly now live for
ever in gardens.” 1oes the tone of this accolade reflect its wartime background? It
sounds like an epitaph, but happily, at the time it was written, Forrest was alive
(although weakened by 'flu) and was being welcomed back to the Edinburgh
Garden. Everyone wished to hear about his latest adventure and what he had
found. ‘Forrest was here... vesterday being pumiped. We are far from knowing all
we want from him, but in tme will get all we can’, wrote Balfour to Prain.’

Balfour had the double delight of receiving dried plants as well as seeds. On
‘Spring Holiday” 1915 in Edinburgh, he examined the new tweasure, eagerly
anticipating what it might yield. He sent a fine series of twenty-two Meconopsis
specimens to Prain to study at Kew, and commented that they were all *of the
characteristic Forrestian standard’.* There was a wonderful lot of good things, heaps
of seed’ and a pleasant prospect of flowers. Forrest had got at least one plant that
was new and, as Balfour observed, 'In no place more than in plant collecting does
the appetite grow!™

Propagation or patriotism?
In Edinburgh. the germination of Forrest’s seeds depended largely on the skill of



one man i particular. the Plnt Propagator, Lanrence Stewart, He had jomed the
Garden i 1901, <o would have been famihar wath these seeds sinee Forrests 1imt
expedinon. When Balfour cave a0 Musters Memorial Lecture 1o the oyl
Horteultaral Sociery in 19120 he deseribed hum oy cthe enthusiastie plant
propagator, whom [ am so tortunate as to have oo my et But at the end o1
May 1915 Stewart way thinking serioudy of enlisang, This prompred 1 reveading
exchange of views between Balfour and Henry |0 Elwes, whom we met i the
Prologue in 1880, A wealthy gentleman laindowner, irmer and Tormer big gane
hunter. a keen naturalist and gardener, Elwes would have been a larger than lite
figure i any age. Since 1880 he had been clected Fellow of the Roval Society and
awarded the Roval Horteultural Societys prestigious Victoria Medal of Honour.
[n 1913 he completed a seven-volume work, The tees of Cacar Bittain and Ireland.
in collaboragon with Augustine Henry (Plates 90 and 94,

Now aged sixty=nine and soll atine houre ot a man. Flaes expressed torthrighr
views to Baltour:

| cannot conceive that Stewart s serving his country berter by comyg to dhe Avimy now
than he will be at he sucks to the work no-one che can do <o well while dhore e
plenty of men younger and stronger o fightoand af he were my servant U should eell
i this pretey planh

Plite 92 Torresty room
m one of his bases 1
Yunnan, Packers of sceds
hang to drscammal skans
actas rugs: his
belongmgs are neatly

arranged mcludmg s

fegamgs above his bed.
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Plate 930 P chonaslia ssp. snopiinpned growang on Bre Snow Mountin, Da Xue Shan. T cave great pleasure to Bavles

Battour whenat blossomed s the Roval Botainie Garden. me the spring atter s son was killed ae Gallipol.

tdin

Plac o4 Stndimg s Avcustine Henry, who
collected plane e Clima and advised Bualle
to e s own collevtor dthere, Seated s
Fionme Jobm [ lves, FRS whao collected binds,
BurranTies and plines e nany Linds. The was o
pronc tova e fornmme the ssodicae thar

tncded Torests towth expedimon,

Baltour replicd irmly:

Lamatrand Tdo not agree swith vou about Stewartowho s o orack nitle
shotand a splendid evehstand motor-cvehist 1 e has done a great deal
ol scouting already and has gone through two or three anbulimee
courses. Te s therctore an extreniely Bt man tor the Armiy work Lol
aovele dispatel rider He s unguestonablv b great Toss tooas, [but|
what does our gardenmmg matter moa erisis ke this? 10 we Tost ons
whole collecnon it could be worked up agam i ame T he saentihic
and propagating work which Stevart superimtends for me.canno
be carried onas it has beensand personally T hall sutler mumeduarely
very aready becanse a lor of expermiments that are m progress wall
probably come toan end. I do not complun. To s an madentin the
law of sacrttice Eshould teel crmmmal i had pac the smallest obstacle

i the way of s romy

Faced with this idealism, Ehves wrote humbh g note trom the
Athenacum: You are perfecty right about Stewart as he s such g
cood man, I stand correeted!

Srewart went to awar Forrest could hardiv hehieve the newss s he
reallv goma? Tis leaving mcans somuch to me” Hhas reachon was
nataral, tor Forrest rechoned that Steveart knew “more about the
treatment ol choree: plane than any nan e Great Britam.
\illtms, alarmied at the prospecc of the dmbareh Garden losing
Forrests seeds, cencrowsdy offered Baltour /2 100 abone /24,000

todavy to replace Stevvart T he ofter was refised. tor o voung man.



trained by Stewart and discharged from the army, had returned to the Garden."
Balfour did not expect to be able to get anyone better, but admitted to Elwes that
‘Now...there is nobody except Mr. Harrow [the experienced Curator, too old for
military service] who knows anything about our plants™*

Soon Balfour suffered a more grievous loss. His own son, also named Isaac Bavley
Balfour, was killed in action at Gallipolt on 28 June1915." Poignantly, Elwes’ next
letter (on 13 July) was addressed to Balfour’s Deputy, W.W. Smith:*l am writing to
you as | do not like to bother poor Balfour in his distress’. Smith immediately
forwarded it to Balfour, who replied: "My dear Elwes, Thank you for your
consideration. Work is not a conqueror at such times but it is an anodyne." The
following spring Balfour found consolation in seeing Primula sinopurpiirea ‘sending
up bravely its glorious trusses™ (Plate 93).

How did the war atfect Forrest himself? Throughout most of it he was over the
age of conscription but, in 1918, even fifty-year-olds were called up. Forrest was
then forty-five and expressed himself ‘perfectly willing to serve” although, having
had blackwater fever, he regarded himself as unable to withstand any long service
in a hot climate.” He learned from the British Consul at Tengyueh in June that his
registration papers were on their way but, before arrangements were complete, the
war ended. Unlike the younger men, Ward, Farrer and Cooper, who also undertook
plant collecting for Bulley, Forrest was fortunate in not having his work interrupted
by any form of war service. Some of his specimens were lost when the Ciry of
Adelaide was sunk off the coast of Sicily by enemy action on 11 August 1918, but
he had wisely kept duplicates in reserve. It was nothing to compare with
Clementina’s brother, Charles, being gassed at Gallipoli, or the death of two of
J.C. Williams™ sons, and on Boxing Day 1918 Prain wrote to Balfour: ‘Alas! For us,
as for you, what remains of life will be marked by that unfilled blank which causes
a constant heartache!

Forming the Syndicate

The mountains of Yunnan continued to beckon Forrest. ‘I hope to go out again as
soon as this wretched war is...settled’. he wrote to his fellow plant collector,
E.H.Wilson, on 14 June 1915.7 But he needed financial backing. A few weeks later
Forrest addressed the Royal Horticultural Society (RHS) in London on the flora
of North-Western Yunnan. He began by telling his audience that its flora is ‘one of
the richest in the world, and the most likely to supply us with gardening novelties
for many vears to come’. The close of his lecture was a clarion call: *‘Much of the
province is yet unexplored...a great harvest awaits the first in the field, a
harvest...which...will astonish us’

His call struck a chord in Elwes, who knew the thrill of hunting for plants and
animals in distant lands. Elwes had followed in Hooker’s footsteps and collected
birds, butterflies and ferns in Sikkim before Forrest was born. Now he took the
initiative in rallying support for Forrest, meeting him to find out whether he was
willing to collect for a syndicate of wealthy gardeners, and what it would cost.

By June 1916 Elwes was contacting his friends in an attempt to raise the money.
J.C. Williams told Elwes that he was ‘very glad indeed for Forrest’s sake that there
is a chance of work for him' and offered to contribute £350 a year for two years,
on condition that he got all the rhododendron seeds and specimens and had no
involvement whatsoever with any other aspect of the expedition. He also urged
that Forrest should go where he could make use of his trained men, who ‘double
his value as a worker”.” Within a few weeks Elwes had promises of £100 a year
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from the Duke of Bedford, Sir John Llewellyn of Penllergaer, Swansea and
Col. Stephenson Clarke of Borde Hill, Sussex. Gerald Loder (who became
Baron Wakehurst, whose garden i1s now managed by Kew) promised £50 per year
and Elwes himself gave £100 a year for two years ‘which is as much as [ ought to
spend’. He was delighted that *a new man called Cory’ was willing to give £150 3
year and he also hoped to secure backing from the RHS.

These seven gentlemen were part of the horticultural elite of the day. All were
trom the South of England or Wales (Plate 95). All but two were offered the coveted
VMH at some stage of their careers. The oldest of the group, Llewellyn, now aged
eighty, had chaired RHS Primula Conferences in both 1885 and 1913. Reginald
Cory and Stephenson Clarke were to be amongst Forrest’s most important
sponsors.

Cory, a director of colliery, shipping and oil firms, was a cultured and generous
man who had extended and remodelled the gardens at his family seat of Duftryn
near Cardiff (Plate 96). Assisted by the editor of the Gardeners’ Chronicle, he had
recorded the Royal International Horticultural Exhibition of 1912, that had been
housed in what was then the largest tent ever erected. Cory had impressed Elwes
by ‘buying plants at fabulous prices’ at an RHS sale in aid of the Red Cross, ‘where
he must have spent near £1,000 [equivalent to £34,000 today]’.”

Stephenson Clarke had much in common with Elwes. Both men had been army
ofticers with sons who fought in the Great War. Both had hunted big game. They
were farmers, and both were fine all-round naturalists with specialist knowledge of
trees and birds. In the 1920s Elwes became President and Clarke Vice-President of
the British Ornithologists’ Union.

Four of the seven sponsors were members of the recently tormed Rhododendron
Society. The popularity of the genus was increasing as new Chinese species were
introduced by Wilson, Forrest, Ward and Farrer, and the new Society provided a
forum for exchanging plants and seeds and disseminating ideas on propagation. The
founding members of the Rhododendron Society were J.C. Williams (Chairman)
and his cousin, PD. Williams of Lanarth, Charles Eley of East Bergholt (Secretary)
and J.G. Millais of Compton Brow, Horsham (son of the distinguished
Pre-Raphaelite painter). Membership, by invitation only, was soon extended to
Stephenson Clarke, Llewellyn and Loder.

Millais never sponsored Forrest, but was one of his many correspondents. He was
keen on birds (and shooting) as well as rhododendrons. He was also adept at
spotting gaps in the literature, As a boy, he had realised the need for books on ducks,
and his volumes on British surface-feeding ducks (1902) and diving ducks (1913),
illustrated by Thorburn and others, became classics. Now he saw that there was no
book on the new rhododendrons, so he planned to write one and asked Forrest for
his help.

At the end of June 1916, Elwes still needed to secure the RHS’s contribution to
the syndicate and he wanted Balfour 'to father the scheme’ and name the dried
specimens. He was concerned at Forrest's terms. *If he sticks to £ 1,000 a year for
salary and expenses + £250 for outfit and passage out, which is what he talked ot
when I saw him, I fear it will not come off at all". Telling Balfour that ‘Scotchmen
[sic] are much better at driving hard bargains than we are’, Elwes asked the Regius
Keeper to “see what |Forrest| really will go for'. He wanted to know quickly at
the Athenaeum.

Balfour replied that he would be very happy for the RBGE to name the plants,
saying that *We have the finest West China collection in the world and ... Smith
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and Craib know more about these Chinese plants than anyone else in the country’.  Plate 95. The distribution
But he refused to be drawn into negotiating with Forrest. He observed that the  of sponsors ot George

syndicate gave Forrest no promise of future work, and advised Ehwes that ‘Forrest
having given vou his terms, you will find it dithicult to get him to look at less. If

Forrest for his different
expeditions.

you give him them, he will slave for vou. If he be pinched, it soon becomes a

.

grievance . Balfour also pointed out the importance of agreeing in advance the

ownership of letters and photographs.

Elwes had the ear of Dr Keeble, Director of the RHS Gardens at Wisley, who was
keen that the RHS should take part. On 1 August, Keeble secured the RHS
Council’s agreement to contribute £,250 a year. The RHS was also to represent the
svidicate in correspondence and distribute Forrest’s seeds.™ Sir Harry Veitch,



Plate 96. Duftryn’, the home of Reginald Cory, who sponsored four of Forrest’s expeditions.
Forrest was invited to visit Cory in December 1920, but was unable to do so before leaving

for his fifth expedition. This view of the house was painted by Edith Helena Adie m 1922/3.

134



Sir David Prain. Mr E.A. Bowles and Dr Keeble represented RHS interests on the
syndicate. Later that dav, members of the syndicate met Forrest and we can imagine
them sitting round a table. I all were present. there would have been one duke. one
baron to be. three kmghts, at Teast two other ex-army officers, and at least two
company directors, Forrest was not deterred by this august gathering, and thev
agreed to pav him /300 a vear salary {as on his previous expedition for Willams).
L7004 vear expenses and £300 down for outtit and passage to Bhamo. Ehwves
reported to Baltour thae *Te is practucally settled and the money found™. There was
no tme to settle all the detatls of an agreement, and it was lett to Forrest to prepare
a dratt.

A month lter Forrest’s dratt was circulated and Elwes objected to “two conditions

that T thought quite unreasonable’. One was that the money should be free of

mcome fax. the other that a vear’s salary as well as the £300 for outhit and passage
should be pard i advance. *1 told him chat he had better withdraw these two

conditions, but have had no reply’. he wrote to Baltour. ™ Elwes was also anxious to

Plate 97, Rhododendron
unpedinm, Discovered by
Forrest i alpine
meadows i Yunnan in
1910, this compact shrub
was i cultivation in
Britain by 1916, T
widely available and has
been used to produce
well-known hybrids (see
Appendix 7).
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settle where Forrest would go and repeated an earlier request to Balfour to advise
him on the matter, referring to ‘an excellent map by Major Davies’ (Plate 27).
Balfour advised Elwes to let Forrest choose where to go:

He has been over more ground in the extreme west of China than anyone else.. he is
sufficiently jealous of his work and reputation to select a promising area and you will
be well advised ...to let him have his way. He has always been a free lance and you'll
get little out of him if you try to prescribe particular areas to him.* ’

Behind the scenes, Balfour confided to Williams that ‘knowing Forrest as I do, you
will agree 1 am wise in declining to give any advice. Forrest needs a loose rein’, to
which Williams replied ‘If they really want to get the best out of [him], they should

ride him on a snaffle and not a curb’.”

On 10 September Elwes wrote to Balfour that he feared ‘the Forrest
arrangement” would break down. Forrest refused to divulge his plans until the
agreement was signed.

This means that we are to bind ourselves to find £2,500 for a journey of which the
plans are to be arranged entirely by him. I am writing to tell him that | for one shall
withdraw if he adheres to this ... Tt is quite a new idea to me that a man should demand
41,500 in advance for a journey of [whose] plans... we are to remain ignorant. Does
he really want to go or not? G. Loder seemed to think |Forrest’s] wife was against it.
‘What do you think?

Again Elwes was keen for a prompt reply and asked that it should be sent to him
c/o Secretary, RHS,Vincent Square, where he would be meet ‘Keeble and others’
in two days’ time. His anxiety to hear from Balfour prompted him to write a
postcard from his home at Colesborne, Gloucestershire shortly before leaving for
London. The PS informed Balfour that ‘If you have not written about the F affair,
[ shall be in town [London} Wednesday morning |13 September]| at the club’.

Balfours reply on 11 September is worth quoting in some detail, for it reveals his
deep understanding of human nature and of the individuals concerned, as well as
his desire for an amicable and fair agreement. He admired Forrest and had his
tuture at heart. Speaking up for the collector and his wife, he wrote:

Your doubt of Forrest's sincerity is hardly fair to him. Mrs. Forrest hates the life — but
what is the alternative? — this is no factor in the situation. You seem to have drifted on
the rock of which I warned you and. if you are not to shipwreck, you must get some
pilot to steer you. You and Forrest are both too masterful for the negotiation ...I take
it Forrest’s position is:- "You (Ehwes) asked me to go out. I did not ask you to send me.
There have been difficulties over the finance already, and now you want me ...to tell
you all I know about areas of exploration in Yunnan — to give away to you all my
experience — without guarantee that you will sign the contract. You won't trust me.
How am I to trust you? You may insist on my going to some area that I think is no
good, and T won’t risk my reputation. Better end the business now...” That, or
something like it, is no doubt passing through Forrest’s brain. Absurd you will say. Well,
you do not know Forrest. If Forrest has said what you tell me, he will stick to it, and if
you stick to your statement there will be an end of your project. You may easily find a
way out of the impasse by getting. say, Mr. Williams to deal with the matter. Forrest will
never be moved by threats nor will he give his best if he harbours a suspicion of being
bullied — but he is most amenable to gentle treatment. Like many other men he is most
intractable behind his pen. ... Tell him the sort of plants you want and he’ll get them if
they exist — trust him as he fully descrves to be trusted and he'll bring you a rich
harvest. You've made an unfortunate start... Your only chance of [a] successtul result is
to let himt go without the smallest suggestion i his mind of a grievance.”

Members of the syndicate met Forrest again on 10 October. Balfour's words must
have been taken to heart. for Elwes reported that the mecting with Forrest went



off ‘much better than | expected. He withdrew both the conditions which we
objected to, told us his plans, and made no diliculties of any sort’. Veitch had also
been present at the meeting and Elwes told him later in the day that he was
extremely pleased that Forrest was not ‘difficult’. Recalling this conversation, Veitch
remarked: ‘It did not. 1 suppose, occur to him that his manner of treating Forrest
when talking to him may have had something to do with making him “ditficulc’™.”

It remained for a lawyer to produce a printed legal form of the agreement. When
completed, it ran to eight pages. Forrest was to collect *bulbs, seeds and plants of
horticultural value, and also botanical specimens of plants’. He was also to take
photographs of ‘plants, scenery and objects of interest’. For the first time in any
Forrest contract that has been preserved, zoological collecting is mentioned, Forrest
having to ‘direct and supervise the work of any zoological collector or collectors
who may accompany the expedition’. Elwes, Stephenson Clarke and Cory were
probably the syndicate members who encouraged Forrest to widen his collecting
to birds, butterflies and mammals (see Chapter 10). All the thododendron material
was to go to J.C. Williams. Everything else was to be divided between the other
members in proportion to their financial contributions. The expedition was to be
for the years 1917 and 1918 in the first instance, with Forrest agreeing to sty for
1919 on the same terms, if notified by 1 October 1918. The first page of the
agreement bore four stamps of the Commissioners of Inland Revenue, and each of
the signatures was witnessed (in Forrests case by Balfour).

Forrest received his copy of the printed agreement in mid-December. His eagle
eye spotted a clause apparently requiring him to present vouchers or receipts to the
syndicate in support of his statement of accounts. He fired off a four-page letter to
Dr Keeble protesting that this had not been his understanding of what had been
agreed face-to-face on 10 October.‘Am [ to be trusted or not?” he demanded. ‘If
the latter, then a thousand times rather I should keep out of it” A small flurry of
correspondence ensued, Keeble writing to Wilks (RHS Secretary) and both Keeble
and Wilks writing placatory letters to Forrest. The lawver who drew up the
document had been wrong to retain the word ‘vouchers’. It had been an oversight.
The last minute hiccup was over.

Forrest and Balfour had done their own preparation for the expedition. Balfour
made sure that Forrest was familiar with all the Edinburgh rhododendrons from
Yunnan and the borderlands of Tibet, that he knew which ones were in cultavadon,
and how to distinguish difficult forms. He provided a list ‘as complete as I can make
it” of all Chinese rhododendrons and a package of about 130 dried plants collected
by Forrest himself. Balfour gave Forrest the opportunity to learn about colour
photography. The bond between the two men could not have been stronger, and
Forrest knew how fortunate he was to have such close links with a botanic garden.
‘Accept my warmest thanks for the reprints of your most interesting papers. [ am
grateful for your remembrance. I was pleased to learn of the improvement in your
condition...", wrote Forrest to his mentor." Balfour was pleased with his protégé, and
told Williams that ‘[Forrest] will ... start on his thododendron work better equipped
than any previous collector and will doubtless obtain correspondingly better results’.

Forrest sailed from Liverpool on 11 January 1917 aboard S.S. Chindivin bound for
Rangoon. He had been home for nearly two years and enjoyed holidays with his
family by the sea at Crail and in the Highlands at Balguhidder. near the foot of
Ben More. They had moved back to the district of Lasswade, to Broomhill House,
where their young sons could roam in two acres of garden. Here Forrest planted
over 1,000 daffodil bulbs, due to flower for the first time in the spring. Perhaps
neither parent knew that a third child was on the way.






CHAPTER EiGi

R hododendrons Galore

Perhaps we are not all quite sane on the subject of Rhododendrons

JoCoWillams at a mecting of the I—hododendron Saciets an 6 Mav 1425

he fourth expedition was a bold plan. especially in wartime. Three weceks alter

leaving Liverpool, Forrest reported that S.S. Chliindivin was about 1o dock at
Dakar on the west coast of Africa and that it had been “an anxious tme for all”,
Tongue in cheek. he told Keeble that French censorship forbade him to reveal his
route, but there would be no further stop before Rangoon, so he would not be able
to write from the Cape! On reaching Rangoon. he described his vovage as ‘tedious
and most uneventful’, to which Balfour responded that it was preferable to *24 days
in an open boat after the visit of a U-boat’.

The home of rhododendrons

The desire to find new species of rhododendrons was a strong motivacion tor Forrest
from his third expedition onwards. just as the desire to grow them was an abading
passion for his sponsor, J.C. Williams. Ever since 1912 Forrest had a theory that the
richest arca for rhododendrons lay in “those high alpme regions on the Chino-Tibetan
frontier, which form the basins and watersheds of the Salween. Mekong and Yangtze!
His search for this home of the genus” was akin to the quest for the Holy Grail. e
was a search for pertection, but with no certainty of its existence.

At this pomt another motivating factor came mto plav: competition. It attected
Balfour at home and spurred on Forrest in the field. Baltour had compared the
numbers of Chinese rhododendrons introduced into culdvation by difterent
collectors.” "You will see™. he wrote delightedly to Forrest in April 1917, that you
top the list beating Wilson casily’, As for discoveries of new species of the genus,
‘vour record nearly doubles his™ (Plate 99). Some collectors might have rested on

their laurels at this news. but not Forrest. Balfour told him that the Paris Herbarium

were sending all their unnamed rhododendrons to Edinburgh for him to work up,

Opposite:

Plate 8. Rhododendron rex

ssp. ficrolactennt towering
above the deep pink
flowers of Rhedodendron
principis in Ness Boranie
CGrardens.

Lett:

Plate 99. George Forrests
photograph of
Rhwododendron rex ssp.

Sictolactenne in Yunnan.

Several torms are 1n
cultivation (See Plate 980,



Plate 100, Professor 1saac

Bayley Balfour towards the
end of his life: a
photograph probably taken
m Inverleith House, RBG
Edinburgh. where he lived
when Regius Keeper of
the Garden.
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‘so please bustle up when you get on the Mekong-Salween where Soulié collected,
as | would rather name the plants as yours™*

At Bhamo Forrest met “all the best” of his collectors: ‘my head-man and fifteen
others, the cream of the crowd’. They had been waiting for him for three weeks,
not knowing that he had been forced to go round the Cape. He told Keeble that
he expected to make ‘a big haul” and vowed that ‘1 shall do my utmost to make it
a record’. He travelled via Tengyueh and Tali. leaving a small party of men in each
place. Those at based at Tengyuch were to collect on the Shweli-Salween divide,
whilst those at Tali would work the western flank of the Tali Range before moving
to a range of hills to the north-east where Delavay had collected. Forrest intended
to establish his own base for the 1917 season at Tsedjrong, a few miles north of
Tsekou, where he escaped from the lamas in 1905,

By 5 May he had reached Tali and found the central part of Yunnan in a very
disturbed state. The route to Yunnanfu was virtually closed by robber bands and
disbanded soldiery who plundered and murdered over a large area. To the north
the remnants of White Wolf's gang were still dangerous, but Forrest assured Keeble
that he would ‘scrape through, it my usual luck holds!” Happily, it did, for by
mid-June he had reached his destination and camped in the house of a Tibetan
farmer, ‘an old friend of mine of 1905’. The house stood on a flat area of land at
Shiemalatsa in a big bend of the Mekong river where the valley was ‘a mere gorge’
2,000ft. (600m) deep whose flanks were angled to 70° (Plates 42 and 101). He
described the scene:

On every side we are enclosed by mountains, the divides rising to about 15,000 feet
[+.500m], with 1solated peaks, such as the sacred mountains, Doker-la and
Ka-gwr-pu....of 20,000 feet [6,000m] or even more, snow-capped and glacter-clad! ...
At our feet runs the Mekong, a raging cocoa-coloured torrent of 200 vards [180m]
breadth, with a ten-knot current, rising and falling like a gigantic pulse, 16 feet [3m] or
more, day by day.®

Forrest wrote regularly to the RHS and to Balfour. His letters to the RHS were
circulated to members of the syndicate and published in the Gardeners” Chronicle. His
correspondence with Balfour in this period reveals both the respect and deep regard
that each man had tor the other. There was an age gap of twenty years between then.
Balfour had recently lost his only son. Much carlier, Forrest had lost his father. Is 1t
too fanciful to suggest that their relationship corresponded in some degree to that
between father and son? What 1s apparent is that Forrest’s letters and specimens re-
mvigorated the sixty-four year old Balfour and gave him new zest for his work. By
this time Forrest was a most experienced collector, as Balfour acknowledged:
I congratulate you...It is quite evident that you are at the top of your form and [ am sure
that you are going to reap a rich harvest that will repay you for all you are going through
to get it. [ confess that after reading your letter one of my frst thoughts was — Why has
Forrest not written a book upon his explorations? I hope, now that you are able to look

at all vour surroundings with a mature mind and with more knowledge than any other
explorer in these regions has had, that vou will put it all down as a story.

Balfour was thrilled at Forrest’s descriptions.”Every paragraph of vour letter fills me
with delight tinged ... with sorrow that 1 cannot go out myself to see the plants in
their native habitat. How I wish [ were ten years vounger!™ (Plate 100)

In 1917, letters took at least two months to go berween Yunnan and Edinburgh,
but Balfour and Forrest appear to be resuming 1 conversation dropped only
minutes ago. Forrest refers to ‘many species, old friends and new’. including



Rhododendron wardii. Balfour responds that they have not got it growing at
Edinburgh, so please would Forrest get seed and, if possible, compare it ‘on the spot’
with Rh. croceum. Also, could Forrest distinguish in the field between different forms
of Rh. salucniense? The complexities of rhododendron identification became apparent
as geographical variations within some species were discovered. Forrest wrote that:

The wealth of rhododendrons is almost incredible, and the number of new spucies and
forms more than confusing. I have really given up acempting to define the limits of
species; each individual seems to have a form, or an affinity, on every range and divide
differing essentially from the rype.

He collected ‘a very great number’ of specimens to help Balfour sort them out.”

Forrest had a keen eye for colour. Some of his descriptions of colour variation in
rhododendrons would not be amiss in a fashion writer’s column. In Rh. proteoides,
a species he had discovered in 1914, the type was ‘pale canary-yellow, beautifully
marbled deep crimson’, whilst on some plants the flowers were ‘white flushed rose’,
on others ‘pure rose’, ‘yellow’ or even ‘white’. The flowers of Rl campylogynum
varied from ‘almost light pink’ to ‘the deepest plum-purple’. But would any fashion
writer have described one colour form of Rh. sanguincum as ‘black-crimson — the
colour of dried bullock’s blood’?

He was prepared to go to great lengths at all seasons in search of new plants. In
autumn 1917 near Shiemalatsa in the Upper Mekong, Forrest and his collectors did
a most exhausting climb of 6-7,000 feet (2,000m), a steady grind from 6.30am till
4pm, with the last 2,000 feet (600m) ‘up faces of rugged limestone and slate cliffs,
hand and foot work all the time, in drenching rain and blinding nusts’.* He had to
dispense with boots, the going was so bad. Sometimes they had to push through
thickets of ‘most evil smelling’ Rhododendron hypolepidotium (now Rh. brachyanthum
ssp.hypolepidotum), where the odour was ‘really sickening’. Later during this fourth
expedition, J.C. Williams observed to Balfour that *where Forrest serves us so well
is in the iron way in which he battles to ger the seed when most men would
abandon the task as hopeless after the early snow has set in’." Balfour’s reply, that
Forrest had ‘more grit than any of the other collectors’, echoed and confirmed
what he had written to Bulley in 1904, that Forrest ‘seems to me to be of the right
grit for a collector’.

On 1 February 1918, Forrest wrote to Balfour’s Assistant Keeper, William Wright
Smith: ‘Dear Mr.Smith, Don't you think we might drop the “Misters” between us
now as we have known one another so long?’ For the previous twenty-five days
Forrest had been in Tengyueh ‘pinned to a chair for 8-10 hours a day’ writing up
the dried specimens collected in 1917. With the job completed, he was in a relaxed
and expansive frame of mind, enjoving reading the gossip from Edinburgh in
Smith’s letter written four months earlier. Smith, like Balfour, had suggested that
Forrest could write a book. ‘I have no doubt 1 could’, replied Forrest, ‘but, like the
man who hadn't changed his shirt for 2 years, I have so much else to think of! |
may some day, when I get a nice cosy job in the RBG or elsewhere’

Forrest was glad to learn thar Smith still had some time to examine plants from
Yunnan. Had he received those sent from the Upper Mekong in the autumn? ‘1
have been more than successful this season — you and the others will have enough
to rummage in for the next 3 or 4 years, never mind what [ bag this season’. He
had amassed 2,509 spp. in Herbaria and 300 or 400lbs (160kg) of seed, covering
6-800 of the best species, including seed and fruiting specimens of nearly all the
rhododendrons he had missed on his previous expedition. ‘It is a glorious haul and
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Plate 101, Rhododendron mekongense lattened by swinter snow near the Doker Ta, ar about
| 2,000t (350000, Forrest sent seed to Bricam m 1917 aned 1922,

I've had to work some to get e But! It those submarines bag it vou'll never see mie
agam, tor I'll take to drink or do something cven worse!” Forrest was eostatic. The
rhododendrons were “excellent, more than excellent!”. with enough new species
“almost to duplicate Millais” monograph™ ot 1917,

Oh! IF T only had the freedom, nme, money and men 1o do the NW ol dus Provinee

as Twould ke to, Id cram my theory down the throats ot all doubters that s the
richest rhododendron arca m the whole world. T know. though 1 have only seratehed

1. 1 know! What T have seenswhat T have done this List season is proot enough tor me!
But this damned war has spoiled evervthing, and 1 feel T'm getung old. Tet us hope
someone younger and more able for the work inevery way may start out where Iahall

have to leave off?

Forrest had seen a litde ot the richness of the Salween-Mekong divide i 1905,
when he had been foreed to flee for his lite tfrom Tsekou. Political unrest prevented
his return to the area unal 1917, when he judged that “the optimum of the genuy’
lav i Taarong, the region of Tibet just bevond the north-west border of Yannan.
But he had no authority to go further and he kept his promise to the Consul and
Chinese otficials that he would not enter Fibet without a permie e had ghimpsed
the Holv Grail. but could not grasp 1. A turther attempt by Balfour to secure a
permt for hime faled e 1918 Was his goal actamable?

As always, the resourcetul Torrest had made 1riends with people on the spotin
paracwdr with Pére Valenun ac the Roman Catholic Misson i [sedprong. just

north ot Tsekou (Plate T02), Valentin agreed to help by supervisimg some ol

Plate 1020 Pere Valensme a D rench nissionary stitioned av sedprong, m the upper Mekong
river valley, N Yunman, where he superviscd sees o Forrests collecronss Fores named

a rhododendvon. Rovalenminanm, i his honom
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Plate 103. Rhododendron gricrsoniantm was named by Forrest ‘in compliment to R.C. Grierson
Esq. of the Chinese Maritime Customs at Tengyueh, whose help I gratefully acknowledge’.
Introduced in 1917, and valued for its geranium-scarlet flowers, it has produced many award-

winning hybrids. (See Appendix 8).



Plate 104, George
Forrest’s fine close-up
photograph of
Rhododendron edgervortliis
m Yunnan,

144

Forrests collectors. They did not need permits to enter Tarong. Ballour was o

pleased at this news that he otiered to pay tor Valenuns ielp and et Torrest to
make appropriate recompense. Ther grantude was also shown by the naming of
Riwododendron valenrinianmn. Tn spice of border hosaliaes, the men managed o reach
the sacred mountains of Doker-Lo and Ka-gwr-pu om 1918, seeuring speenmens of
nearly three hundred species, meluding fifey rhododendrons,

Forrest continued to colleet tor the syndicate m 1919 and Valenan conunued to
help hime (There were some changes i the swndicate at dns ume, Ehwes
withdrawing. and Bulley, who had already been getting seeds trom Elwes, joinimg
. See Appendix 3. Under Pere Valentins supervision, three ot Forrest’s collectors
set out tor Tsarong in lae May 1919 with twvo miales, a map drasen by Valenom and
some siall presenes” for the headmen they mer on thenr wav Valentin told them ‘o
work their very hardest”. concentrating on rhododendrons and primulas. Therr
wages would be augmented by o soall reward for cach new species tound” Valentin
was aware that a Chino- ibetan armistice might not hold and he told the men
where to go if this happened. Torrest was deeply gratetul tor Pere Valenuns help
and sent i astock ot drags tor s medical work.

Meanwhile, the discovery of new plants i Yonnan and Tarong provided much
excitement and amountam’ of work for sttt ac die RBGH L he thiall ofunpacking
Forrests cases of collectons was like openme a treasure chests Ehe sentor botanists,

Baltour, Smiuth and Crab, gathered round and Tad ahekd day
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Expeditions based in Yunnan (i.e. time away from home)
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Laurence Stewart, back in harness after the war, not only raised seeds sent by
Forrest, but ‘got a fine armful of seeds’ from Forrest’s herbarium specimens. At the
start of 1919 ‘shoals’ of Forrest seedlings were coming up. Surveying the scene,
Balfour proudly surmised in a letter to Forrest:'Next to Mr Williams’ collection of
rhododendrons at Caerhays we have, thanks to your efforts, the finest collection of
species in the world”" Moreover, the collection was expanding. By the autumn
three pits at the back of the RBGE were completely filled with Forrest's
thododendron seedlings. Anticipation was high that plants from the mountains in
and near Tsarong would be hardy and not difficult to grow.

As for the dried specimens, the naming and describing of so many new forms
made it impossible to keep up with the number that were coming in. In October
1919 Balfour had worked on Forrest’s specimens for two whole months and
arranged all his rhododendron specimens ready for Williams to come and discuss.
He wrote to Forrest, ‘It has given me cause to marvel more than ever at what vou
have done... I shall not be surprised if your rhododendron collection turnishes us
with at least 250 new species’.” He looked forward to filling many subsequent
pages of the Garden’s Notes with descriptions of Forrest’s finds, which were adding
to the prestige of the Edinburgh Garden, as well as to Forrest's reputation.

Such an immense collection had wider implications, too. Forrest’s rhododendron
specimens were aiding the evolving classification of the genus and, when his conifer
specimens of the genus Tsiga were compared to those in the Paris Museum, they
also challenged former ideas of classification."

The increasing numbers of newly discovered plants gave Forrest an excellent
opportunity to honour and show his gratitude to relatives, friends and
acquaintances by naming plants after them. A new species, Rhododendron traillianum,
honoured his father-in-law, G.W. Traill. He named others after Customs Othicers
(Rhododendron griersonianum) (Plate 103) and missionaries (Rhododendron genestietiamun)
and Williams' head gardener at Caerhays (Rhododendron martinianum) (Appendix
6). The increase in new rhododendrons and primulas which Forrest named is
shown in the graph of Plate 103, and reflects the close relationship built up
berween Forrest and the taxonomists at Edinburgh who dealt with his new plants.

Plate 105. New plant
spectes, discovered by
Forrest. tor which he was
author or co-author. The
graph shows the upsurge
of new rhododendrons
that he had a part in
naming and/or describing
after the First World War.



Plate 106, The Boozery
Club™ Tengyuch, Apnil
1919, where Forrest
probably discussed Farrery
telegram wath his pals, On
14 April Farrer wired
Forrest to order his
collectors to leave him
alone in Burma, Consul
Atfleck (seated next to
FForrest) advised i to

aive a briet el reply.
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Illness

Forrest witnessed a lot of suttering and endured o lot of illness himselt on nuny
expeditions, but especnally m 1919, The original plan was tor hum to return home
at the end of 1918, after two years in the ficld. Forrest’s contrace. however, stipulated
that he would contimue to work in Yunnan for a turther vear, it the svadicate
mtormed him by 1 October 1918, The cable conveving this wish did not arrive
until the sccond week of December. As this was well bevond the agreed date.
Forrest had assumed that he was free to return home, so had already booked his
passage and sold his tents. Greatly annoyed, but sall Toval, Forrest cancelled all his
arrangements and staved for o third vear. Apart from not seeing his faly, this
change of plan attected hinm in twvo wave A worsening exchange rate forced him to
Ly oft men at one pomt, and he nussed some much-needed rest.

Forrest was il in November 1918, ths friend Hanna diagnosed  possible
appendicis but, by carly December, Forrest was recovering, convinced that it had
been "1 bad attack of congestion of the liver’. From Lichuang he tavelled south
through Tali to Tengyuch. The journey became a nightmare, vividly recalled ina
letter to the RHS and. months later, in one to Wright Snmch.” The 1918-19
world-wide epidemic of influenza followed by pneumonia was ravaging some ot
the valleys of Yunnan, “tull 30 of the population gone = m nuany cases much
more . When Forrest pased through Taliin December, the rrouble was atits height,
people dving by scores datlv'. He tried to keep his men ofl the market to isolate

them fram intection, but this did not suceeed s amn,

[ Tose several of my men, 2 charbearers and 3 mulereers, and anived here | lengyuceh|

with two of my collectors delirous. touch and co with then tor several davs, Two days
out from here v cook, Yang, dicd of e atter onlv o tess hours lhess and we hrought
s body m Lished to Tus pony T had o be docton, cook and cveryding ehe and cannat
vet magine how I escaped mtection. Poor Yang had served e tor cisho vears, Pl never

getanother tellow co equal bim and s b vers mach odeed



Phitc 107 Comomeanter feinesin o
i the rowk

Cordens s phoe sy the neld

_‘;‘u\h‘n a0 N Botin
martalber T HOSTA comes froan
P21 22 collevnon which was

ormadle cown ar the RBGL.

In Tengvuch Torrest was dignosed as havmg Kidoney noable, probabl broughic on Iy
drmkomg heaviy Toned swaer and aggravated by exposure and overaork ™ The doctor
stronglv advised huime o ke Tengvueh s base tor the 1919 weasan dPlace Toe,
Despate acceprmg this advice, Torrest got lu at the end of Apnl. then, onrecoveny,
he had o dong and severe tusle with malirs When he gor about agan an
accumulinon of work made him teel more sick than when down wadh the fever'. Fle
had second bad atack of o e dhe fist halt of Augost, wriang on Lo o a bie
shaky ver and v head feels asar plled swarh cotton-wool™ One of lus men: had
blachwater fever another swas sichening tor i By 23 Angust Forrest was sall not veny
e The monsoon had been abnormal with licele rain and greac heat.and all Furopeans
m Tengvoeh had been down waith fever or dvsenterns At the end of Octaber he
learned that Pore Valenun had been serioushy 1l with tvphord tor o months,

Te s aowonder that v collectmg got done under chese condinons, Flowever,
Lorrest in Yunnan was not 4 one-man show, but a rehable neework ot friends and
helpers, b 1919 croups of his collecton, meluding those supervised by Valentin,
were sent out o collect plants onat least v mountin ranges reachimg berween
lotudes 25 and 297N, che turthest group bemg as taras 230 nules (400kmy trom
lenevuch. Portest alwavs did his best 1o the syndicate. Knowmyg members’
mterests, e was particularly pleased o get "quite o number of e epiphvue
archids thac were new o b and he planned o collect preudobulbs. On Tearming
mSeptember thae LC A CHhams wanted more seed ot certam rhododendrons,
Forrest sent herbarum specnnens north to Tarong to show his collectors which

ones to Jook Tor e g st chanee! he wrote o Baltour They may tal with most,

RS



but are sure to succeed to get some’. Thanks to his collectors, he was able to report:

I have done fairly well this season, not the bumper hauls of past seasons, but quite
satisfactory in every way. Excluding the collection from Tsarong, 1 shall have fully 1,000
spp. in the herbaria here by the end of the season, most new to previous years."”

‘My men worked admirably during my illness’, wrote Forrest on 7 January 1920, He
had been up for twelve days, but had to husband his strength to get through a day’
work. About four days later he was on the road. On 15 he wrote from Bhamo that,
although he had been very weak at the start of his journey from Tengyueh, he
regained much of his strength on the way, doing two and a half or three hours steady
marching at the finish when only three weeks out of bed! On 30 January he wrote
from Rangoon: ‘I am fairly fit though I haven’t regained my full weight as yet, some
201bs [9kg] short’ . Forrest pushed himself to the limit to achieve his goals.

The incorrigible collector

It is hard to say whether Balfour or Forrest was more excited by the thought of
finding the ‘home’ of rhododendrons. The older man was convinced that Forrest
had been collecting ‘on the fringe of the chief centre of Rhododendrons in Asia’
and egged him on by writing:

It will be the creaming of the richest area in the world — and the last to be explored ~
when some one gets into those high hills that rise about where Tibet, Burma,
Szechwan and Yurman meet. 1 hope this will be your work.”!

Forrest could not resist the challenge. At the close of the expedition in early January
1920), when still very underweight, he wrote to Williams about a further trip, but
urged him ‘to say nothing to Mrs.F™*

In order to rest and recuperate, Forrest returned to Britain as the only passenger
on a cargo steamer, S.S. Sittang. As he relaxed, he looked forward to seeing his
family; his youngest son would be three in the summer, but they had not yet met.
His eldest son had just started in secondary school. ‘Kids are a great responsibility,
even when distant a few thousands of miles!’, he had written to Smith.” The
dilemma of spending so many years away from home resurfaced. It was the price
he had to pay for his collecting life, and it was certainly a hard life for Clementina.

After only ten months at home in 1920 Forrest immade two more expeditions in
quick succession. Overall, he was at home for less than two of the nine years from
January 1917 to March 1926 (Plate 105). Clementina had no choice. She would have
understood why the wife of an England cricketer wrote a book entitled Anothier
bloody tonr...,* even though she would never have used such language herseif.

To do one thing supremely well, as Forrest did, other aspects of life often have to
take second place. The inbuilt irony for Forrest was that, in searching for the ‘home’
of rhododendrons in 1917-20, he sacrificed being in his own home n Scotland.

When considering Forrest’s decision to revisit Yunnan in this period, it is
important to remember some relevant facts. His annual salary had stayed at £500
for each of his six years away between 1912 and 1919, Inflation saw this drop in
value during the period from about £27,000 to £12,000 in present-day terms.
Williams and Cory doubled his annual salary to £1,000 for the 1921-22 and
1924-25 expeditions, equivalent to an average of about £25,000 for each of the
first two years and £29,000 for each of the last two as the value of the pound rose.
In addition, he received /375 (equivalent to /£11,000) per year from Lord
Rothschild to collect birds in 1924 and 1925. The salary was attractive.



Plate TOS T he Bema Shansae T3000tc 4 3000y venimded Torrest of Scottsh iioors aronnd

the headwaters of nghland sereams wath patches ot smows the Scotash heather bene vepliced
by nule upon nle of dwart rhododendron. Te wrote that the raws damp wind sorenathened
the impresaion tor me andeas Tsioad thereony heare warmied to i and Toould almost mmagme
el ac home™ cPhine collectmg i Chinas Gasdenerns” Clponiele. 27 October 1917 pol603),

Edinburgh sttt realised the added burden that Forrests collectmg placed on his wite,
and both Baltour and Snuth tele a responsibibiey towards her, In Julv 1919 she consulted
Baltour about the choice of secondary school for her eldest son. Baltour not only
recommended that the boyv should go o George Waron™s College m Edinburgh, bue
wrote to the Headimaster on Mrs Forrests behalt, referrng to the bovs tather as “the
ditingunshed saentitic explorer of Western China”, " The bov was aceepted. Smth and
his wite Kept m touch with Clementma by visiang her and. on one occasion, knowing
her Orkney background. Smich sent her a acket tor a Botaieal Society talk on Orkney
plaes Towas evpieal of thar thoughttulness and support.

What then. ot the home of rhododendrons? Between expedinions, in 1923,

Forrest lectured to the Rhododendron Society:

O finds on the great ranges of the Tibetan marches durmg 19172200 astonshing as
they undoubtedi proved. were ol echipaed by the molatude of beanatul speaies
and torms discovered by us durmg 1921 and 1922 on dhe Salween-Kin Chung divide

Vaaalth o thodadendron hevond our waldest expection. Plints new o us were
seen and collecred every other davs even to the Tne dav of our search. giving praniise

of even ureater ruches tairther north west

Ihe coneept of aChome” of thododendrons had given Forrest a thnlhng and very
frudul journes, And 1or b, as Tor so oy explorers, there was alwavs the

posibility of findme more wonders ust over the horzon.
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CHAPTER NINE

Rivalry Resurfaces

In such country as this, one looks on a spot already visited by half a dozen
whitemen, as ahnost as populous and overtrodden as Piccadilly!
Reginald Farrer to Francis Younghusband, 13 September 192

Imagine three determined, ambitious plant collectors, all of them strong
characters on individual missions, yet all searching for new discoveries in
neighbouring mountain ranges. If they were to come rather close to each other,
you might expect at least some wariness. So what happened when Forrest
overlapped with Reginald Farrer or Kingdon Ward?

The scene is set on the borders of North West Yunnan and we shall focus on the
post-war period when Forrest is well established and extending his collecting from
his core area outwards. He is confident, experienced and well organised, with his
bands of collectors doing forays in various directions. His main territory for collecting
has evolved over many years, but its boundaries are fluid, and his plans are purposely
secretive, No-one is ever quite sure where he or his men might turn up next.

Ward is a free spirit, even more unpredictable in his movements, and given to
exploring further afield. He has a long-term goal of reaching the Brahmaputra River,
and exploring more of the Himalayas, yet the botanical riches of Yunnan are still
tempting. His impulsiveness can lead him into trouble, and since before the War he
has not been allowed a passport into China. For the moment he is exploring Burma
before, he hopes, going into Yunnan. But no-one is quite sure where he will go next.

Farrer enters on stage, nervous that he might upset Forrest or Ward by poaching
their territory, but eager to stake a claim to collecting in this botanically rich area.
His last expedition was in the north of China, and this is his first expedition to the
mountainous region of Burma, west of Yunnan. He has a companion, E.H.M. Cox,
and he has collected intensively in the European alps, but Farrer lacks the
confidence and experience of the other two in tackling the remote, mountainous
wilds. However, he had written to the wise Balfour for advice.

Seated in his office in Edinburgh, Balfour cannot understand why there should be
any problem. Looking at the Foreign Office map of the Sino-Burmese border, there
were unexplored areas waiting for such men. He advised Farrer to go to the very
north of Upper Burma, with Putao as his base, far from Forrest’s sphere of influence.

People in this country seem to imagine that these highlands between China, India, and
Tibet, form an area which any one man could easily cover. Tiventy men working for
twenty vears won't exhaust it.”

Forrest — Farrer rivalry
In March 1919 Reginald Farrer stayed at the comfortable Minto Mansions Hotel,
Rangoon, having seen the pyramids at Cairo en route. Just off, my dear, on the great
adventure’, he wrote to his mother. before setting off for the high alps of Upper
Burma. The War was over, his two volumes of The English Rock Gardenr were
published and he was looking forward to collecting seed of alpine tlowers for British
gardens. He was now relishing the thought of the floral riches of the Burmese
mountains, although he was not heading as far north as Putao; he was going to an
area near the Yunnan border. Ward had previously shown it was rich in new plants.
Farrer took the railway north to Myitkyina where he collected mules and began
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By mnd=April he swas setded o bungolow v Hpimees Tore i s onsrpont o
Eogland™ There swas 1 gurkha garrson o keep the Clhimaese our and o bieathedong
view ot the nearby midee of spow-cipped mountims swhch tormed e ot
Burmese boundary: All was peacetel but Farrer adnneeed o e mather thae the
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tve Chinese. who turned out to be collectors of Farrests, with commssaon to
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Forrest repeating his request. It was a clash of wills, and Williams remarked to
Balfour, ‘No two less suited to each other can possibly be found™

Ward arrived in Burma, too, and, although he disappeared over the ridge to
collect on a neighbouring range, he made Farrer teel that the district was ‘rather
overpopulated with botanists’.

Two weeks later, Farrer was painting a rhododendron with an umbrella in one
hand, while enveloped in a fog of midges and of stinging smoke designed to keep
them off, when a pink-turbaned Lisu ‘policeman’ brought him a letter from his
mother. He replied disparagingly about Forrest, showing the strain: ‘It is indeed a
nuisance to find Forrest’s collectors perpetually coming up into this region, while
the great man himself sits down at Tengyueh'.” (Forrest had been instructed by his
doctor to stay in Tengyueh that year) Farrer felt unnerved by the presence of
Forrest’s men, as if Forrest had octopus tentacles, and one kept reaching out to him.

By September Farrer was wishing he could have been at Ingleborough to see the
illuminations celebrating peace. And in October, before he and Cox set off to camp
for two weeks at 11,000ft. (3,350m) on the Upper Chimili, in search of new plants,
he wrote to his mother requesting special luxuries like ‘12 tins of pressed American
caviare, or Asparagus or of those delicious soups in tins, - hare and oyster and so
on...™ as if this might provide some compensation for his disappointments.

Forrest haunted Farrer thereafter. Neither Farrer's seeds nor his dried specimens
compared favourably with Forrest’s. He found no new primulas or thododendrons
in 1919. When he heard the news from Balfour it was an awful blow. He wrote to
his mother, ‘I see Forrest’s anticipated a huge majority of my finds’. Balfour wrote
earnestly to him in early 1920, I you want to make history as a Botanical Explorer
and as a benefactor to Horticulture you must go North [away from Forrest]'. To
add insult to injury he continued, ‘Forrest ought to be home in the course of a
month or two with abundance of spoil’.”

With Forrest in Scotland, Farrer thought he would collect with no fear. Then he
heard a rumour that Forrest was coming out again. Farrer wrote pleadingly to
Wright Smith, ‘Please don’t let him and his |collectors] come trespassing in my

direction again!"" For Farrer, it was no fun competing with Forrest.

On the other hand, Forrest did not always teel very secure either. The plant
collector’s life is a big gamble in many ways and, when Ward unexpectedly turned
up on Forrest’s next expedition, it was Forrest’s turn to be unnerved.

A storm over Kingdon Ward

On 16 November 1920 George Forrest gave a lecture to the Rhododendron
Society in the august surroundings of the Linnean Society's Rooms in Burlington
House, Piccadilly. He spoke enthusiastically of recent discoveries of rhododendrons
in China and assured his audience that all this was "but a tithe of what is yet to
come, not only of Rhododendrons, but of inany other genera — Primula, Gentiana,
etc. He had heard from missionaries that country to the west and north-west of
Batang was clothed in Rhododendrons, great and small. *Can we doubt the
existence of many other beautiful and new species?” (Applause.)"

There was good reason for Forrest’s heightened sense of expectancy. J.C. Williams
was in the chair at this meeting and less than three weeks earlier he and Cory had
signed an agreement with Forrest to engage him for a period of two years in N.W.
Yunnan and S.E. Tibet.” He was to *collect bulbs and seeds of plants of horticuleural
value and botanical speciinens’. Forrest had already received his first year’s salary —
£1.000 = in advance, and £800 for equipment and his passage, and he would have



an annual expenditure allowance of £1,400. This generously allowed for inflation.
He now had six to eight weeks left for preparations before departure. He was
confident of a successful expedition with only two major patrons to please in his
botanical work, and extra funding due for any zoological collecting he could fit in
(Chapter 10). Everything seemed in hand.

But in December Forrest was forced to bed with ‘a bad influenza cold’ and he
was not in the best of spirits to receive Cory’s next letter. First Cory suggested that
a young man should accompany Forrest for meteorological work. Forrest squashed
that idea immediately. He was going to a sensitive border area where there had
been ‘frontier trouble’ in 1916-17, and he feared causing any further stic. However,
when he read that Bulley and Cory were also sending Ward to Yunnan. Forrest's
fears soared. Panic gripped him.

Ward had not been in Yunnan for six years, so this was a complete surprise to
Forrest. The blue skies suddenly gathered clouds. A confusion of thoughts overtook
hiin in a whirl of strong, disparaging, views as he wrote to Cory:

Results have shown that Ward has no interest whatever in botanical or horticultural
work...Ward’s interest in the botanical aspect of this venture is merely a side-show, a
greasing of the wheels of the other machinery...Mr Bulley wlks verv largely of
controlling Ward’s movements in Yunnan!...Qnce Ward gets into Yunnan, Bulley will
have as little control of him as he has of the wind currents of the South Pacific!”

There was no logic in this outpouring. If Ward had no interest in his botanical
work, why was Forrest worried? The next minute he was saving,‘l don’t care a row
of pins where Ward goes, for there is little fear of competition from him. Was this
true? In view of his reactions, his words have an empty ring. Forrest’s fear of
competition was probably greater than he ever admitted. Ward had an instinct for
a good garden plant and Forrest knew this. Moreover, the fact that Ward fitted in
other successful activities keeping him in the public eye cannot have helped.

To make things worse, past grievances over Bulley were never forgotten, so the
combination of Bulley and Ward was likely to produce a heated reaction from
Forrest. He even became suspicious that they had heard of his plans and then sprung
this surprise on him. He was like a cat arching its back and bristling with a
combination of fear and aggression towards the invader of his territory. He had
expected a ‘clear run’ at collecting, when in walked Ward, backed by Bulley and Cory.

Moreover, Ward had a history of unpredictability and a knack of causing trouble.
Before the War he had used surveying equipment that made people suspect that he
was a spy. In the winter of 1913-14 he tried to enter Tibet without a passport. his
helpers deserted him and the Chinese authorities subsequently refused him a
passport to re-enter China. Frontier trouble or social unrest of any kind was the last
thing that Forrest wanted. Eight months before Forrest’s planned departure. Balfour
had applied to Viscount Harcourt for assistance in obtaining a special passport tor
Forrest to enter Eastern Tibet, principally the provinces of Tsarong and Chamdo.™
Success in this had not been a foregone conclusion and Forrest didn't want these
careful preparations wrecked by Ward. “Trouble is sure to arise... and almost surely
it will affect the results of my work’

Fortunately, Forrest went to Balfour, who counselled that there should be room
tor them both. It was agreed to let the matter rest. Ward had proposed ‘spheres of
influence” for each of them. Forrest replied magnanimously, claiming no
jurisdiction over his movements or any particular area of Yunnan. Each should have
freedom to go where he pleased. The storm had passed.
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Right:

Plate 116 George Forrest’s
photograph of
Rhododendron decornm
growing in the wild.

Opposite:

Plate 111, Rhododendron
decorum growing in
Benmore Botanic Garden,
on the west coast of
Scotland. It was a rare
plane in cultivation until
mtroduced by Forrest.

154

Forrest apologised to Cory, too, retracting some ol his wilder outburst:

Believe me. when 1 say that [ had not the slightest intention — as 1 had no right to -
criticise your action. 1 am not so foolish as to consider that because of your kindly
participation in Mr Williams’ expedition, you are bound in any manner to refuse 2
share in any other.”

He could not refrain from reminding Cory that ‘I would like all of you to most
thoroughly understand and appreciate that the last ching I anticipated any danger
from was competition through Ward’.

Tavo days after seeing Balfour, Forrest was full of big plans once more.‘How many
men Ward may have | cannot say but [ expect to have fifty or more at work and 1
expect we shall cover most of the N.N.W. and N.E. of the province as well as S.W.
Szechuan and S.E. Tsarong.” He hoped that it would be possible to have a few
moments with Cory before he sailed for Rangoon, whereupon Cory invited him
to stay at Duffryn. All seemed well.

However, sensitivities towards Ward were stll high. When Forrest reached
Bhamo, on his way to Yunnan, he wrote a P.S. in a letter to W.W. Smith: ‘No sign
of Ward yet. Commissioner here says he doubts if he shall be allowed to cross the
frontier!"" Two months later, Balfour wrote nervously to Clementina: *1 hear that
Ward is in Yunnan and making north for Atuntzu, which will be very bad of him."
In September, Forrest wrote to Cory, showing clearly that his wariness of Ward was
the same as ever:

Ward is in the province. and the chances are, should he hear of any success we have had
this season, and learn where, or of our prospects for next, he might be tempted to
anticipate. Personally T don’t mind that a bit, for I'm not such a curmudgeon as to
grudge any other a bit of success, but have only your and Mr. Williams” interests at
heart, still, should Ward be drawn north he would in all probability end by stirring up
the natives, as he has done on every occasion he has been here, and so make the country
too hot for any of us...™

It is hard for leopards to change their spots.
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CHAPTER TEN

Birds, Beasts and Butterflies

1...was astonished at the magnificently fine birds to be found in the pant of the
world 1ehere you are going. ..
R. Cory to G. Forrest. 17 January 1921

t comes as a big surprise to the gardener or botanist to see drawers full of Forrest’s
Ipheasants from China. There seem to be hundreds of them lying hidden in the
outpost of the Natural History Museum at Tring in Hertfordshire. On a smaller
scale, there’s a drawer in London packed with Forrest’s butterflies (see Plate 125),
whilst cupboards hold many different kinds of mammal that he found. And stored
behind-scenes in the National Museums of Scotland in Edinburgh are delicate
dragonflies that Forrest collected in Yunnan. Curiosity draws one to ask: ‘How did
they get there?’

They came because Forrest was a countryman imbued with a deep love of
nature. In the mountains of north-west Yunnan, as at home, he was alert to all forms
of wildlife. He was a collector to his fingertips; collecting came as naturally to him
as walking. If he was gathering plants, why not butterflies or birds? That was the
tradition of naturalists in the Victorian era into which he was born.

The breakthrough to Forrest making his largest zoological collections came on
planning his fourth expedition, 1917-1920. His versatility and organisational strengths
were becoming more widely known and two new sponsors asked him to collect
zoological specimens as well as plants. Colonel Stephenson Clarke of Borde Hill
requested birds and mammals and Reginald Cory of Duffryn asked for butterflies.
Accordingly, Forrest’s legal agreement for that expedition was that, without further
salary, he should direct and supervise the work of any zoological collector or
collectors who might accompany the expediton, provided the sponsors paid their
wages and any other expenses connected with this.' Instructions for Forrest seem to
have been minimal. ‘Collect what you can’ was the gist of the message.

Forrest was happy and willing to do this. He would organise the collection of
animals alongside the plants, and at either side of the plant-growing season. We have
to remember that he shot birds for food and loved the sport of shooting as
relaxation; if the same birds’ skins could be used for science. all the better. The
possibility of a bird or mammal being named after him probably added to the
excitement and allure of the expedition. At the time few people saw anything
wrong in this; they were continuing the culture of collecting that had its hey-day
in the nineteenth century with the foundation and expansion of those great
museums that are part of our heritage. Animals seemed plentiful, ideas about
conservation were only just emerging and there was no prohibition to the
international transfer of skins for scientific purposes.

Bagging birds for the Colonel

Colonel Stephenson Clarke had a twinkle in his eye and he wrote from his
highland estate at Fasnakyle of *having good sport with Brown trout’.” At the age
of sixty-eight he still took a boyish delight in measuring the height of trees in his
garden at Borde Hill in Sussex, to determine which trees were ‘Champions’ of their
species.’ He said that in his youth he had a somewhat illicit acquaintance with
French bird-catchers.* He was an energetic traveller and had collected birds in
New Zealand and Africa. He was adept at taking opportunities and in 1916 he was

Opposite:
Plate 112. Temminck's
Tragopan, Tragepan

temmincki. After seeing

this illustration in
William Beebe's
monograph, Reginald
Cory asked Forrest to

collect the ornamental

skin for him (see also
page 161).
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Forrest’s first sponsor for birds. There was no request tor live or decorative
birds — Stephenson Clarke wanted bird skins for science.

Stephenson Clarke was a well-known figure at meetings of the British
Ornithologists” Club. Akin to the Rhododendron Society (to which he
also belonged), this club was important socially: the gentry, clergy and

services dined, chatted and exhibited their new birds. Colonel Stephenson

Clarke and Walter, 2nd Baron Rothschild had also both been members of the
British Ornithologists’ Union tor over twenty years and would often have

socialised at Club meetings at Pagani’s Restaurant, 42-48 Great Portland Street.
Rothschild was chairman. Stephenson Clarke arranged
that Rothschild should study Forrest’s birds in his
muscum at Tring. The type specimens were to
be presented to the Natural History Museum®
and half the remainder to Rothschild. who may
even have bought them.”
Forrest’s letters to Stephenson Clarke reveal their shared enthusiasm
as Forrest began to build up his bird collection in Yunnan. They show
Forrest’s keen eye for birds — a skill that probably went back to his early
years in Scotland. He was able to identify many Britsh birds and knew
the terms for different feathers. On his first expedition to Yunnan

Forrest travelled with an avid amateur bird collector, Lt.-Col. George

Rippon.” and must have learned a lot trom hin. Over the years
Rippon found new species of birds in N.W.Yunnan and adjoining
areas and presented 3,000 bird skins to the Natural History
Museum.™ In 1916, ten vears after meeting Rippon, when Forrest
was asked to collect Yunnan birds. the challenge seems to have
given him great pleasure. By then he was tamiliar with many of
them. The mountains were alive with birds, from those pecking

in the undergrowth, or gathered noisily in bamboo thickets. to the birds busy in the
crowns of flowering trees and others flocking above the forested slopes.

In 1918, Forrest and his collectors hunted birds in the Lichiang Range (Yulong
Shan). In July he wrote ro Stephenson Clarke:'I'm no ornithologist, but 1 can place
a few 1n their groups’. He estimated that his burgeoning collection included eight
or ten species of thrushes, eight species of tits, six of finches. five ot woodpeckers,
three of cuckoo and three species of wagtails. He went on to list the flveatchers,
warblers, shrikes, nightjar, chough, pigeon, magpie, oriole, quail. partridge.
jackdaws, larks. ete. that he and his men had bagged. He then gave a happy running
commentary, as more birds were brought to him:

Just as 1 write, my boy has come in with two fine specimens ~ males — ot Geoffreys
Blood Pheasant . ..or at least | take it to be that species: ground colour dull grey,
under-tatl coverts magenta, wing coverts and back feathers bright green. about twice
the size of our home partridge. He has also three more Warblers, another tlyeatcher -
male and female, and another bunting.”

Plate 113, Two birds from N W Yannan named after George Forrest by [ord Rothsehild.
They are illustrated by Terence Lambert from Forrests own specimens, The top one s 2
golden-breasted fulvetea, Alippe chrysotis forresti. The bottom one is a slender-billed seiutar
babbler, Niphtrhynchus superciliaris foresti. The type specimens came from the Shweli-
Salween Divide,



Forrest’s slight doubt about the identification of the blood pheasant was
understandable, as there are several races differing in plumage details. Rothschild
examined many more specimens before he settled on the name of this one from
the Lichiang Range, where it forages in flocks among the rhododendrons.
Roothschild first named it Ithaginis clarkei. in honour of Stephenson Clarke. Later he
recognised it as a local, endemic race of a more widespread species and renamed it
Ithaginis cruentus clarkei, as it is today.

Forrest had made a promising start and, at the end of 1918, he and his men had
gathered 825 zoological specimens, mostly birds. They were packed into four cases
for dispatch to the Colonel.

In 1919, Forrest made bird collections further west, around Tengvueh, in the
Shweli valley, and on the Shweli-Salween dividing range. Forrests letters continued
to show his thrill and wonder at the beauty and variety of birds:*Only two evenings
ago whilst returning from the hills I saw a pair of Falcons new to me: beautiful
steel-grey plumaged birds with ruddy beaks and claws. They were as large as our
Gyrfalcon.” He happily described a new goat-sucker (a bird that flies at night with
a gaping mouth like a highly efficient flying insect trap). It had ears almost as
distinct as the long-eared owl, a great spread of wings, and beautifully marked
plumage, much richer in colouring than the common nightjar. He commented on
some finely coloured finches, one resembling the hawfinch at home. and another
that was almost completely black with ‘just a wee touch of white’ on the primaries
when the wing was opened. The adjectives ‘dazzling’. ‘magnificent’, ‘beautiful’ and
‘brilliant’ were all part of his joyful list of birds.

Forrest also enjoyed his men’s company and joked about their varns of brilliantly
coloured birds that they didn’t capture —‘varns ... I neither believe nor disbelieve’.
Above all, he recognised the debt he owed the men for their dedication, energy and
enthusiasm in their work. In particular, he was full of praise for the way they
collected on the Shweli-Salween divide, finding shrikes and bee-eaters that were
new even to them, while Forrest himself was prostrate with enteric fever. He wrote,
‘My men worked splendidly, even better I think because they knew I was helpless.
They are a fine lot of fellows.™

Somehow, Forrest had communicated his extraordinary enthusiasm and drive to
his men in the collection of birds as well as plants. They were all essentially
countrymen ‘at home’ in the mountains with nature and each other, and his men
seem to have been pleased and proud to be part of the work.

As Forrest surveyed his bird collection in September 1919, he saw that the birds
secured in this western area tended to be distinct from those of the Lichiang Range
further east, although there were laughing-thrushes and other birds in common.
The collection was smaller than in 1918, but satisfying. and in February 1920 two
more cases containing 625 specimens were shipped by Bibby Line from Rangoon
to London, on S.S. Oxfordshire. Forrest wrote to Stephenson Clarke “You will |
think find the collection I send you a very interesting one’.

Assembling the collection, however, involved time-consuming chores. Forrest’s
men recorded details of each bird in Chinese. Apart from supervising the
preparation of skins, Forrest had then to write up labels in English. This was in
addition to the plant work, and there was no slack in the system ~ no-one available
to deputise for him. In both 1918 and 1919, when time pressed or he was ill, some
labelling got left until later, even until he got back to Britain, and sometimes he did
not complete the task. He frankly admitted this failing. but Stephenson Clarke was
sympathetic. After all. there were hundreds of bird skins properly labelled and in
good condition, and Forrest was exhausted.



Plate 1140 Sclaters Impevan

pheasant, Lophophons
sclarerr. This illustration in
Wilham Beebe's
monograph prompted
Regmald Cory to ask for
its beautiful iridescent
plumage. Forrest sent
specimiens from the
Shaweli-Salween divide.
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As arranged, Stephenson Clarke sent the bird skins to Lord Rothsehild o study

m his private museum at Tring Park nestling in the Chileern Hills. Ever since the
age of seven, Walter Rothsehild had had the ambition of having his own museum.
Indeed. at the time he received Forrests specimens he was on the way to assembling
the biggest collection of natural history specimens ever made by one muan. This was
to mclude 300,000 bird skins. Fle was an amateur with an FRS, and his collections
were so magnificent chat on the Continent Tring was regarded as a highly successtul
rival of the Natural History Museum.™ It was Ins lite's work and he attended to his
rescarch with single-minded devotion and a passion tor detail. To him cach animal
was an object of wonder. He had a phenomenal memory tor them and a huge
capacity for hard work. There was a great thrill whenever a new bird collection was
unpacked, so we can imagine Forrest’s birds being welcomed by this enormous
man and immediately studied with characteristic, bovish enthusiasm,

Lord Rothschild pored over Forrest’s collection and wrote of certain birds “This is
a most interesting discovery”, or "This appears to be the first certain record for China',
He found that Forrest had collected a remarkably large proportion ot the known
spectes and subspecies of Yunnan, From the mountains he had generally collected
many birds characteristic ot the Himalayas, whercas in valleys, especially nearer
Burima, were birds of warmer climes. Forrese collected birds that were new to Yunnan
and others that had never been recorded betore. Many ol these, like the new form of
blood pheasant namied atter Stephenson Clarke, represented geographical subspecies
or races discovered by relatively intensive collecting of selected arcas. and several
beautitul birds were named atter Forvest (Plates 113 and 115 and Appendices 9 and
10). These newly tound specimens: became the bass for Rothschilds origindl
deseriptions, becoming “type specimens’ in the process and conferrig an added
miportance to the whole collectdon. As i planes, cach tvpe specinien is the unique

representative of that particular species or subspectes. and s forever of key value.



Fourteen new taxa were described based on material from Forrests 1918-1919
collection,"” and they are all now in the Natural History Museum.

The quality and range of the bird specimens was so impressive that Stephenson
Clarke continued his sponsorship for birds during Forrest’s next expedition,
1921-1922.

Pheasants tempt Cory

Forrest was soon off to China again and, at the very last minute, in late January
1921, Reginald Cory was tempted to ask for pheasants. Being a collector of rare
and sumptuously illustrated books, Cory had recently perused a monograph of
pheasants by William Beebe, the Curator of Birds of the New York Zoological Park.
Beebe had been to the Far East and subsequently assembled beautiful colour plates
by leading American and English artists to illustrate the pheasants he had seen
(Plates 112 and 114). Cory was astonished at the ‘magnificently fine’ birds to be
found where Forrest was going™ and asked him to obtain a sample of ornamental
pheasant skins — not more than one of each. This was a request made on a whim,
but Forrest was a servant of the wealthy, at the right price.

He was astute in his reply. Secretly Forrest regretted not collecting more
pheasants before, and did not know whether all Cory’s desired pheasants lived in
the mountains of Yunnan. He agreed to do his best to get Cory skins of ‘the finer
birds’ such as pheasants, hawks and falcons, and shrewdly suggested: ‘I'll put on an
extra man for your work — the cost won't be much — if you wish me to’." He
whetted Cory’s appetite by listing pheasants he knew he could find on the
Tibetan-Yunnan frontier, including the Kalege, the Tragopan, the Silver, and Lady
Amberst’s, and he enticed Cory to consider the White Eared pheasants on the
Lichiang Range, ‘huge birds, as large as the Capercaillie. with beaudful plumage’.
Cory gladly agreed to pay the expenses of an extra man and, using Beebe’s book,
he listed the most beautiful pheasants he desired, rating them by the number of stars
he put against each name. He sent the list to await Forrest in Rangoon and left
Forrest to do the rest.” Cory had the pleasure of anticipation, Forrest gained a
worker in the field, and this extra hunter also meant more pheasants for the drawers
of the Natural History Museum.

One of the most highly starred pheasants listed by Cory was Sclater’s Impeyan
pheasant, an inhabitant of the eastern Himalayas, usually near the snow line (Plate 114).
Beebe had made the first record of this pheasant in western Yunnan. in the
mountains near the source of the Salween river in 1910. He was laboriously
climbing up a small side ravine, when the male birds brilliantly coloured, iridescent
plumage caught his eye, and he watched what he claimed was ‘the first wild Sclater’s
Impeyan ever seen by a white man’." No wonder Cory wanted it; the combination
of beauty and rarity was irresistible to him. Forrest knew the bird. having already
killed and eaten one on an earlier expedition, before he collected birds for
sponsors. But it was to be 1925 before Forrest sent back this magnificent pheasant
from the rocky slopes of the Shweli-Salween divide, and Forrest’s two female birds
were the first to come to England."”

In contrast, another of Cory’s starred pheasants, Temminck’s Tragopan, was more
easily obtained (Plate 112). The bird is a short-tailed, strikingly handsome and
beautifully patterned pheasant. It roosts on low branches among the rhododendrons
in the subalpine forests. and Forrest and his men collected it six times on this 1921-22
expedition. Something of Cory’s delight can be imagined by Beebe's description of
this bird as ‘showing like a glowing coal’ against the autumn foliage of Yunnan.
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Plate 115. The white-bellied \\u«ni}w\ ker, Dryocopus javensts forresti,
illustrated by Terence Lambert from Forrest’s type specimen at the Tring
outpost of the Natural History Museum. It was found by Forrest in the
upper Mekong valley in 1921 and Lord Rothschild described it as a
‘wonderful discovery” (Novitates Zoologicae, XXX (1923), p.38).
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Plate 116, Forrest’s birds, dried, stuffed and labelled. ready to send o
Lord Rothschild for identification.

Plaite 117, Forrests 1921 gun heence issued and samped by the
Taotai. head of the Tengyueh prefecture. 1o allows Forrest two
huneing guns and 1,500 bullets in the tenth vear of the Republic of
China, and is to be shown at all check pomts.

Rothschild wants more

Rothschild also requested more pheasants. but not just one or two. As a scientist he
wanted Forrest to collect large series of birds, so that he could study the variation of
form and colour within each species. He had been disappointed that there were no
long series from Forrest’s 1918-1919 expedition. Only large numbers of birds would
enable Rothschild to sort out the variation across the geographical range of a species.
So the pressure on Forrest was now for quantity as well as quality. and a series meant
collecting males and tfemales, juvemles and even chicks and eggs where possible.

Forrest’s employment of local men served well for this purpose. He combined the
men’s use of traditional weapons. skills and local knowledge with his provision of
guns and organisation (Plate 117). In November 1921 Forrest engaged four men to
hunt for birds on the north-west flank of the Lichiang Range, where the mountains
dramatically drop from their highest altitude, at about 20,000t (6.000m), down to
the water’s edge of the Yangtze river. They camped at 10,000ft. (3.000m) and snowfalls
had begun. The men knew the best places to search tor particular birds and were used
to tracking them. At the end of November Forrest reported that the birds were
mostly snared. some were shot with the crossbow and blunt bolt, so that there were
few damaged specimens. One amazing day his men brought in nearly one hundred
birds and it took a sustained effort to gut and clean all the birds before they rotted.
Each bird was laid on its back, and its skin removed as neatly as possible. leaving the
skull to preserve the shape of the head. Arsenical soap was applied to the inside of the
skin before stuffing and returning the body to its natural shape (Plate 116).

During the vear Forrest would often give his collectors a gun for a day’s shooting,
He had taken two .40 guns with him on this expedition, but atter seven months of
frequent use the locks became too worn for safety. In readiness tor the following
season, he asked Stephenson Clarke to send out two more guns.'a long barrelled
A10 gun, single barrel..and an ordinary double-barrelled 12 bore muzzle-loader. ..
as an emergency gun’. He saved his breech-loaders for his own use.”

At the end of 1921 the year’s bag included beautiful birds new to Forrest. and he
delighted m sending Stephenson Clarke detailed deseriptions of some of them.
including 1 fine grosbeak and a pretey finch that strongly resembled a brambling.
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Plate 118. One of Forrest’s collectors standing by a line of Lady Amherst’s pheasants. Below
them are stacks of drying papers and a crate labelled ‘Johnnie Walker’

Plate 119. White-eared pheasants from the Yulong Shan. Forrest compared their size to the
capercaillie. Lord Rothschild probably exhibited this photograph at a meeting of the British

Ornithologists’ Club in London. Note the piles of dried plants being pressed by boulders
in the doorway.



He was full of wonder as he held them in his hand, before packing them for the
long journey to England and the attention of Lord Rothschild.

Rothschild was in a very privileged position. He had an excellent and
experienced curator of birds and no distraction of other duties. He had a brilliant
brain and concentrated with intense enthusiasm on naming, describing and
classifying birds from all over the world. He was a prodigious worker for ten to
twelve hours a day. Forrest's birds were compared in every detail with others in his
huge collection, and lists of all Forrest’s species and subspecies were written up in
the Tring journal, Novitates Zoologicae, in remarkably quick time.

This is in notable contrast to the naming of Forrest's botanical collections by staff
at the Royal Botanic Garden Edinburgh. They were inundated with greater numbers
of Forrest’s specimens, they had less time each day in which to work on them, and a
far larger task as the basic classification of the huge genus of Rhododendron had to
be worked out as they went along. The time lag between Forrest collecting a plant
specimen and knowing its name was frustrating for everyone.

The relatively quick feedback given by Rothschild must have been very
encouraging, spurring Forrest on to even greater endeavours. Rothschild reported
that the making of the skins was generally excellent and he praised the series of
pheasants. Indeed, long lists of names and numbers come pouring out in a flood
from the pages of Rothschild’s papers. Among these there was the ‘exceedingly rare’
species of koklass pheasant, a ‘very rare’ species of pheasant grouse, new to Yunnan,
and a ‘magnificent’ series of the Lady Amherst pheasant, of which wild shot
examples were very scarce in museums.

Rothschild was so delighted with Forrest’s haul that he sent his curator to show
a selection of Forrest's birds to fellow members of the British Ornithologists’ Club.
The naturalist from the Shackleton-Rowett Expedition to the Antarctic was a guest
speaker when eleven of Forrest’s new Yunnan birds were there for everyone to see.
They included the first three-toed woodpecker to reach England and a new large
white-bellied woodpecker that Rothschild named after Forrest, Dryocopuis forresti
{now Dryocopus javensis forresti)” (Plate 115). Forrest was becoming noticed among
distinguished ornithologists.

Meanwhile, in the distant mountains of Yunnan, Forrest kept collectors on the
Lichiang Range from February to November 1922. He took photographs of the
birds they bagged, and one of these photographs (Plate 118) encapsulates the life
they led. One of his men stood proudly by a line of Lady Amherst’s pheasants hung
from a bamboo cane across the doorway of a house. The birds’ elegant, long striped
tails dangled down and ahmost touched piles of plant specimens drying between
papers. Crates hide their contents from us, but one had the give-away writing of
‘Johnnie Walker’, the whisky gratefully imbibed after a day’s hard slog.

When Rothschild received a selection of Forrest’s bird photographs, he was soon
proudly exhibiting three of them at another meeting of the British Ornithologists’
Club. They showed a ‘bag’ of white eared pheasant and Plate 119 is probably one
of the photographs displayed.

Rothschild was so impressed by Forrests ability to organise a successful
zoological collection that he offered to sponsor him for another expedition.
Rothschild sponsored many bird collectors, but had high standards for his museum.
This was an honour: Forrest had ‘arrived’ in ornithological circles.

Forrest wrote out the contract in careful longhand for Rothschild to sign. The
agreement was for Forrest to collect zoologically for two years (1924-1925) in
accessible areas of West and North-west Yunnan, China and South-east Tibet. The



Plte 120, The idenaficanion
labels of Forreses rock
squirrel, Rupestes forresti (now
Sciroranias forresii), Forrest’s
original Label (white) with
his collecting nunber, hand-
writing and signacure. and
the type Label {pink) added
by the Museum. The squirrel
was named in Forrests
honour. for his “valuable
Yunnan collectnons” and the
“great mrerest m his manmal
work” (O Thomas, Annals and
Magazine of Nawral History,
I 1923 pp.633-663).

| 656

whole results of the work were to be Rothsehilds exclusive property. Annual
remunceration for Forrest was to be at the rate of /375 sterling (about /11,000
today), halt ot it to be paid to his wite twice vearly in March and December.
Brigands and general unrest placed severe restrictions on Forrests travels, but he
stll managed to colleet seven new taxa ot birds. When added to those of previous
expeditions. a total of thirty=six new taxa of birds had been collected between 1918
19257 Thesc

Zoalogicae,”™ and they demonstrate the value of Forrest’s work, when ormithology m

and results were written up in five main papers of Novitares
Yunnan was sull at a proneering stage. His bird collection was approaching the size
of Rippon’s, making a fine contribution to science. More was Tearned about
changes 1 seasonal plumage, places of breeding and patterns of nugration. More
was known about birds’ geographical distribution and vartagon. It emphasised che

diversity of birds in this mountainous region.

A raccoon in the cupboard?

Lets have o peep at owo samples of mamnials that Forrest sent to the Natural
History Museum in London. They are carctully stored among stacks ot capboards
m an arca where only researchers normally go.

When the door of one particular cupboard s opened. vou see the skin ol an
animal with raccoon-like markings. a bushy tail and long hair, and a1 label with the
unmistakable handwritng of George Torrest, I comes as quite ashock. Did Forrest
shoot this? Surely raccoons don't live in China? "L ook at thie shull', the expert savs.
“The skall shows that the animal 0t a raccoon, but a raccoon-like dog. Both skull
and skin are needed o properly identify this animal” Forrest Tad provided bothand
this v a type specimien used for reterence by tainonomisis. [ also narks the furehest
west that the raccoon-dog has been found in China. Forrest and s men did well
to collect it Tor this animal v nocunmal, soliary and hard o ind. chough
widespread i Chima to the cast of Yunnan.

In another cupboard on e fourth foor s 4 tpe specimen o “Forreses rock

squirrel”. Suddenly the past comes vividly 1o e Actached wo one toot s the



original goatskin parchment Libel. provided for Forrest by the Natural History

Museum over eighoy vears ago (Plate 1201, The label was resistant to getting wet or

torn, and lorrest wrote on it in mdehble ik his collecting number tor that
specimen and the stark field note"Shot amongst rocks and serub™. He also neatly
recorded the date, 5621, the location, altitude and latitude. betore he signed his
name. Attached to the squirreds foot is also the distinctive red libel used by the
Muscum for its oope specimens. On arrival at the Museum. the squirrel was
deseribed and nanmed by the taixonomist who specialised in mammals, Mr Oldfield
Thonus, To him 16 was a Sspeaial zoological prize’. and he wrote on the red libel
the Latn name that e gave 16, Rupestes forresti (now Sertronamias forrest), Formerly
all rock squirrels in Yannan had been called "Pére Davids rock squirrel’. as that was
well known further north i China. For the first gme 16 was recognised that the
rock squirrels thar frisk around rocks and erevices of mountain chitis ofYunnan are

ditferene. Yunnan has its own species of rock squirrel named atter Forrest,

Plite 1210A mant thng
squirrel. Preromys alhofu.
mow Pecaniristan atboyuties
collecred Iy Pere Davad
near Moupin. Forrest
divcovered 1 new subspecies
m NW Yunnan, Afeer dusk
1t \Pl’L“lLi\ 1y feet to extend
is parachute membrane,
and eaps from oee to tree,
or from caves i the
limestone chitis of the
Yulong Shan o teed

in the tops of trees

L Milne-Bdwards &

M Alphonse Milne-

Rechaches panr servir a

“dwards,

histone nanpelle des
uraniferes, Plnchie 45, 18670
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When other cabinet doors are opened we see the variety of mammals that Forrest
collected, from several genera of squirrels to bats, Chinese field niice and voles. We
remind ourselves with difficulty that these were simply a sideline to Forrest’s plant
collecting. Kingdon Ward made two usetul collections of small mammals when he
first began plant hunting, and happily recorded when two men trapped some voles and
skinned and fried them for supper. Forrest’s mammal collection is on another scale.
In addition to other mammals, he collected about one hundred specimens of voles™ in
one of the most interesting collections that the Museum had received for many years.

How did this happen? Oldfield Thomas, the mammal specialist at the Natural
History Museumn, first wrote to Forrest in 1909 to ask if he would collect mammals
on his next expedition. Forrest replied with keen interest, but as there was no money
to pay him the idea seems to have fizzled out until Stephenson Clarke came along.
He was the key man, being a new sponsor for Forrest and a benefactor to the Natural
History Museum. He provided the vital link between collector and taxonomist.

The emphasis in the 1918-1919 expedition was on birds, but when Forrest sent
back new type specimens of squirrels, Oldfield Thomas made a plea for more
mammals next time, and Forrest rose to the challenge.”” From then and onwards,
on every expedition, significant numbers of mammals and birds were shot or
trapped as Forrest and his men traversed Yunnan.

Forrest’s fifth expedition, 1921-22, was particularly successful. Not only was he
collecting whole series of pheasants, but a bumper crop of mammals. Month after
month produced new taxa that were identified in the Natural History Museum,
and three hundred specimens of mammals were collected on the Lichiang Range
alone (Plate 121).

The early 1920s were vintage years for Forrest's collections of animals and we can
be sure that he and his men enjoyed the variety and satisfaction of the chase. They
had fun comparing the collections made in different parts of the province and he
listened eagerly to the local gossip: ‘The people here say there are three distinct
species [of pole-cat or martin] ...I may get them yet. if not this, then perhaps next
year’.™ Forrest’s appetite could never be satiated.

Where have all the butterflies gone?

Forrest delighted in the colourful and varied butterflies of Yunnan. He collected them
as a present for his flancée on his first expedition, and years later he enclosed samples
when he wrote letters to their sons. When we search for his insect collections in the
museums of London and Edinburgh, we find awesomely rare and beautiful creatures,
carefully kept in some of the smallest museum drawers. Unknown to many people,
Forrest collected insects on at least five out of seven expeditions.

When he first set off for China he must have taken entomological nets and collecting
material, probably including small jars with cyanide crystals and specially folded
entomological papers into which to place the insects. No-one had asked him to do
this; he took the initiative and, on his second expedition, he collected over 2.000 nsects
from the area around Lichiang. The variety suggests that some were swept into a net.
while others were probably caught at night by shining light on to a white sheet. It
probably took one person two weeks to collect and paper them all,” and Forrest
presented this collection to what is now the National Museums of Scotland.

Forrest’s first payment for insects came on his fourth expedition, which was the
great leap forward in his zoological collecting. Alongside his collection of birds and
mammals, he was catching butterflies for Reginald Cory and tor a new sponsor,
Mr M J. Mansfield, whose collection is now in the Natural History Museum. Here
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we find simall draveers widh rows o Torrese’s buttertlies and. e paroiealar o beautitul
and very rare swallosctal butrerflv (PLice 1235 ehae was firse collecred by Foreest amd
has been the subject of much taxonamic cariosit,

Two Edimburgh contacts then come into the picture. My W.EL Evans, the curator
of the herbariom ar the Bortmie Garden, named many of Forrests planes and also
aked Forrest to collect some nseers for him. And. when Forrest returned from
his wxth expedinon. he presented o collection of dragontlies o a fellow Scor,
K.J. Morton, a great enthusiast who had retired from the Briosh Linen Bank i
order to further his studies. He deseribed and published two new species ol
dragontlies trom Forrests collecnon. with the splendid undersaatement, "Litdle has
been written on the dragonthies of Yannan™. ™ (see Plate 12605

The present collections of Forrests msects mayv only be a small proporton of
what he actually collected. Some were lost by accident, as when Forrest's first
butterfly collections went up in smoke at Tsekou. Private collections, ke Corvy,
can easily “disappear”. The tollowing imcident shows how one large loss occurred,

In 1920 Forrest asked Cory, [Do] vou wish the buttertlv-collectuing to be
continued this journev? It seems a pity not to carry on the work now that I have
the tmaimed men and cvery probability of new species,..” Cory probablv wanted
no more buttertlies. but Forrest contanued to collecr them. He assembled bve orvix
boxes of buttertlies. He took the risk that he could sell them,

There was 2 well-established Natural History Ageney i London, Messrs Janson
& Son, that had 1ts base in Greae Russell Sereet (Place 12230 Established in 18320 dhis
family firm bought and sold natural history specimens from around the world and
had corresponded with many disunguished naturabise, including HOX Bates and

AR Wallace. who collected mr Amazoma. Forrest wrote to the agency:

Dear Sirc 1 have o collection of isects, mosty Lepidoptera, made durmg 1921-22 10
the subalpine and alpme regrons of N Yunnan and SECTibers which Twish o

dispose oft The specimens are sull me paper and number 3-4.000

Fhe firm expressed meerest, provided that the specimens were i good order and
contamned sonme meeresting species. They asked Forrest to send a box for them to
exanmune, Forrest was pleased and opamusue, telhng the firm that he was soon

reruriyg to the same region. and he could collect agam.

Plite 122 The shap ot
Messes Lson & Son
Corcat [oasacli Soreer,
Loidon, toswhich Torre
sent a collecnon of
Leprdoptera specnmens ne

LAk

1Y)



Plate 123, Bluuanitis (Yimanopapilio) mansficldi, a rare
and beautiful swallowtail buttertly discovered by George
Forrest. This is Forrest’s type specimen in the Natural )
History Muscum, London. Tongyued-biny dor En t’"\-l)uii.
“«nnan ) res
Ferveere cof(. (,’J’J

Plate 124. Herochroma mangficldi, a moth discovered by
George Forrest in the district of Tengyueh (Tengchong). .
This is Forrests type specimen in the N | History Gaomefridae Rothschild

his is Forrest’s type specimen in the Natural History genitalia slide Bequest
Museun, London. The label top left shows the place it

No.l@1S £ B.M.1939-1.
was found in Yunnan and ‘Type’ denotes its value to
LAXONONIISLS.

Then came the bombshell. Janson & Son went through the collection and found
it ‘very disappointing’. In their opinion there were very few species, mostly
common ones, and — most damning of all — they concluded they were probably
remainders. Unfortunately, they continued, the moths were also put flat in the
papers, spoiling the upper surface of the wings.”

Forrest was not used to such a rebuff. He had been over-optimistic and had
misread the market. When he first went out to China, French missionaries were
selling butterflies in France, but in 1920s Britain, the Victorian heyday of natural
history agents was well past. This was not a good time to be selling Lepidoptera.
There was little demand and the agency probably had a large stock and could be
fussy over what it bought. Perhaps, too, Forrest had over-reached himself and had
not supervised the butterfly collecting properly. We have seen how difficult it was
for Forrest to keep up with labelling.

A detlated and disappointed Forrest had to receive a returned box of specimens.
He was just about to sail to Rangoon again. Presumably Clementina was left with
the boxes. What did she do with the specimens?

Forrest had to be pragmatic. He could not let a setback weigh him down for
long. He had to carry on to his next goal. Time was always pressing. Maybe, in his
zeal he sometimes took on too much, yet without that zeal and determination he
would not have accomplished what he did. On the expedition immediately after
this setback, he maintained his self-belief and the belief that there were stll new
insects to be found. And what happened? He produced the two exquisite new
dragonflies (Plate 126).

Looking back, we can see that Forrest was at an interesting stage in history. He was
born into the heyday of Victorian naturalists and in many ways he was carrying on that
tradition. He was collecting a diversity of wildlife, keeping taxonomists busy at the
forefront of knowledge in the study of the plants, birds, mammals and insects of Yunnan,

However, by the mid-1920s many of the plants and butterflies of Yunnan were
already known. In order to discover new plants and anmals, Forrest had to
concentrate on less studied animals, like the dragontlics. or more complex genera of
plants. ke rhododendrons. Fortunately for Forrest, old and new sponsors continued
their interest in his work, and his museum collections remain for posterity.
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Criarrer Errves

Recognition

he teell-Ruownr Georec Forrest,
who Jras a weorld ropuration ax a plane colleero
W W right Siith o TS Hauormeton,

Danloc € asdes Killornes 13 Dcocmber 1920

ven i the most active hves there are nmes o recollection and kg stock of
E\\'lmt has happened and what has been achieved. For Torrest such a period
probably arrved i 1926 on his return to Scotland ac the end of his sixth expedioon.
He was hftv-three, held in high esteenmand wanted to muake the very best use of cach
vear of his hfe Ten vears carlier he had written a vear gone atmy ume ofhie s aovear

completeh Tost. Was he now oo old go on another expedinon?

Honours

When Forrest returned trom his tourth expedivon m March 19200 Buliour was
looking older and not i good health (see Place 100 The ware the Toss of his only
son and vears of overwork had tiken therr toll Betore setting out on his fitth
expedition. and no doubt aware that they might not meet again. Forrest asked
Baltour tor an autographed photograph of himselt, tething hon T shall prize icabove
most thigs. Happih, Baltour lived long enough to share Forrests pleasure i the
award ot two specal honours,

The it came from the RHS who had co-sponsored his fourth expedinon. On
30 November 1920 the Counal of the RHS voted to give Forrest the Victoria Medal
of Honour. The drapers son.who had been glad of b minor job i the Edinburgh
Herbarmam less than twenty vears carlier, had ahwavs wanted to prove humselt. The
avard o the coveted VAL marked Forrest as a member of the horuculoural chre. Ty

was anaward held by the Dhrectors of the Roval Botanie Gardens at Kew: Edinburgh

and Dublin (Glasnievint, OF Tus sponsors, onlv: Elwes, SirJohn ewellyn and T ord
Rothseld held the VAE by 1920 aldhough 1c had been ottered to both Bullev and

Opposte:
Plate 127 Forrest reunited
with his fanmly n
Scotland, 1920227 e was
the first cume he had met
s voungest son, Charles,
Forrest staved at homie tor
onfv ten months betore
settng oft on his firth

C\],‘Cdltlnn.

I ett:

Plate 128, Forrest relaning
wath oy dog i camp on a
hot dav, wrth a whsky and
soda o retresh him, on hs
rourth expedinon.



Plate 129 Flotilla House' n
Bhamo, home of Captamn
Medd, the agent of the
Irrawaddy Flotlla Company,
atter whom Forrest named
Rhododendron meddianmm.
Forrest was staving
January 1923 when he heard

> here in

the sad news of Professor
Bavley Baltour's death.

1.C Williams. Comparing himselt to other plant collectors, Forrest must have been
partcularly pleased to hold the same award as E.H. Wikon and Augustine Henry:
Farrer died (aged forty) in 1920 without a VMH. Kingdon Ward did not get his until
after Forrest’s death. Forrest was so pleased with his VMH that he even put the inidals
after his entry in the telephone directory.

Another honour that Baltour would have known about was the award to Forrest
of the George Robert White Medal of the Massachusetts Hortcultural Society.
White, a great benefactor of the city of Boston, endowed a gold medal for the 'man
or woman, conunercial firm or institution in the United States or other countries
that has done the most in recent years to advance interest in horticulture it
broadest sense” or, as put later, for eminent service to horticulture’. In the Soctety's
1924 Yearbook, the medal was described as America’s highest horticultural award.
E.H. Wilson had recerved the medal in 1915, It was awarded to Forrest in 1920, so
in that year he held the premier awards of both Britain and the USA.

On a Member
Rhododendron Society in the same year. The secretary, Charles Eley, conveyed the

smaller scale. he was clected an Honorary of the select

news to Forrest and the two men became friends, Forrest staving at Eleys home in
East Bergholt, Suftfolk around the tme of both his 1920 and 1923
Society in London. Balfour had been one of the first to be clected to Honorary

lectures to the

membership of the Rhododendron Society and had travelled to London “to
Balfour retired
1922, tour

support Forrest” at his 1920 lecture before giving a vote of thanks.’
m 1922 and went to live in Haslemere, where he died on 30 November
days atter Elwes. It was the end of an era.

The news of Baltours death reached Forrest at the end ot his fifth expedition. in

January 1923 when he was staving in Captain Medd's house in Bhamo (Place 129).

He wrote from chere:

My dear Smichy T got i here on the 100 Dec awating me!
Though tor the past 3 months I have dreaded receiving such news as 1t contained. vet
it cane s aovery great shock to me I has killed Lite tor me tor the time being, even
much of the interest i my home-coming is lost tor T had so hoped to see bim again.
I'd :'lll”\' give a year or two of my lite could he have been spared o us for awhile
L not from any selfish reason, but just hecause of what he was 1o all of us. As you
v s gricvous low to saaence and [ doubt i we of this generation shall see bis bike.

and found vour letter of 3

[ for one h.I\L lost o triend whose place shall never be filled.



And TForrest, Tull of news at the end ot lus expedioon and well used oo sending
leteers of up o twenty pages and somenmes many mores onlv managed  tour,
admitting porgnanty T have no hewrt to wrte'

Forrest knew how much he owed to Baltour. who had made Forrests career
possible aind had supported. advised and betriended i for nearly twenoe vears
Baltour understood Forrest, his ambition, lus enthusiasm and his every mood beteer
than almost anvone ehe. Fappily TForrests friend. Wnghe Smich, was appomnted
Professor and Regius Keeper m suceession to Baltour, and the plane collectors
strong link with the Roval Botame Garden BEdinbureh contmued.

Further honours tollowed. T June 1923 the Committee ot Cinniss Botanical

Magazine dedicated Volume 148 (1922) to George Forrest

2 token ot owr admiraton o the energys courage and sagaciey with wineh he has i
repeated expedinons since 1904 explored the o ot the horderlinds of Yannan and
Tibetoand oas o special oribute of owr grautude for the introducnon of the manm new
and beaurrtul plants which hornculture owes to lim and of which nota tew adorn the

pages ol this volume.

Forrest must also have treasured the spectal copy ot Volume 88 of The Guanden
(19240, bound m duk green leather and “dedicated. by permisaon. to George
Forrest VML T he culogy, presunmably written by the Editor. AL Coxcreterred
to the tace that, by 19240 Forrest had collected over 23,000 plant specimens and
discovered over 000 plants new to science. This s a sigmificant total and proves

Mr Forreses zeal and keenness tor his work”

In 1924 he was abo elected Fellow of the Tinnean Socien wath the backimg ot

the Directors of two Botume gardens iBdmburgh and Kewi and three other
And n
Rhododendron Asocanon, and aswarded e dhied gold medall the RIS Veieh
Memornl NMedal (Plate 1311

I smgudarh happy toudh, not onlv was Forrest elected an Asocute of the

927 Hon, Lite Member of the new

Fellows he was to be elected

Botmcal Societs of Tdimbargh, but los wite and dheir two elder sons were elected
Ordinary Tellow and Ordinary Members respectively durmg 192728 They surely

deserved this cesture,

Above feh
Plate 136

Vel

s v el et st

Noew Botme Coadens:
Jearduous tree Ar

discovered 1o Yunmnan by
Forrest m 1914 amd now
recognised s an castern

torm ol Magnofur campheili,

Above nght

Plate 131, Trorrests theee
vold medals: the Vicroria
Meda) of Houour. the
Creorge Robert White
AMedal ot the Massachuscerts
Hortcultural Socienyand
the IRHS Veweeh NMemonal
Medab: o photograph tihen
by s greae grand-daughrer.
Katherine Cameron,



Plate 132, George and
Clementima Forrest

enjoving cach others
company on hohday in
Scotland.
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What next?

Honours brought new demands for Forrest’s acknowledged skills. Gardeners sought
his advice, hoping for a visit from him. Wright Smith wanted his assistance in Lthc
taxonomy of primulas and rhododendrons, and fresh ideas circulated about another
Forrest expedition,

Forrest returned home in 1926 to find the ‘prevailing headlong Rhododendron
rush’ magnificently displayed at the Rhododendron Show in London in April 1926
Never before had so many species, varieties and hybrids of thododendrons been
exhibited under one roof. Forrest’s plants were amonyg those gaining awards, v was
perhaps not surprising that a year later, in September 1927, a rhododendron
enthusiast, Mr ].B. Stevenson of Tower Court, Ascot, asked Forrest whether he would
consider a further expedition for one year.' Forrest was to send him a sketch of his
plans, some maps and an estimate of finances, and it was to be called the ‘George
Forrest Expedition 1928-29".% Wright Smith oftered support and Forrest would
depart at the end of 1928. But this idea, as we shall see, did not come to fruition.

In 1927 Forrest committed himself to helping Smith in a major work on a new
classification of the large genus Primula. The proofs had to be ready for the end of
December, in preparation for an mternational Primula Conference in 1928, and
Smith admitted that he kept Forrest "very closely tied down'." Their paper was
published to acclaim,” Stephenson Clarke maintaming it was ‘the most valuable
result of the Conference’,” and in April Forrest went with his family for two weeks
of fishing and hill climbing in upper Tiveedsdale.”

However, when Forrest went shooting rabbits with his sons and missed some of his
targets, the boys knew something was wrong. Forrest was having trouble with one of
his eyes and an operation seemed nevitable. He postponed going to Ireland. had to
forgo the Primula Conference and was admitted in July 1928 to a private nursing
home in Edinburgh for an operation to his left eye.™ Fortunately 1t was successtul
and m early August he went with his family to convalesce on the Isle of Arran.

Meanwhile another exciting proposal had emerged. which enabled Forrest to
enjoy longer with his tamily and yet serve the insatiable demands of keen gardeners
for more seed from Yunnan. It was to be a vicarious expedition.

Brainwave from Bodnant

When eager men meet, ideas flow, and on 7 June 1928, two weeks after the
Primula Conference, George Forrest was visited by two of the most knowledgeable
and accomplished amateur gardeners, the Hon. Henry 1). McLaren (later Lord
Aberconway) and Major Frederick Stern. It was a pivotal point at this stage of
Forrest's career.

Neither visitor had sponsored Forrest’s previous expeditions, but they had raised his
seeds and had a high regard for his reputation. Stern. a soldier and merchant banker.
travelled up from Highdown on the South Downs, where he grew Prinuila forrestit
on his chalky soil with great success. McLaren, a land owner and barrister with
business interests from china clay to ship building. camie from Bodnant, near Conwy,
North Wales. There he was experimenting with asiage primulas in leal soil” and
raising rhododendrons from seed of Forrests lase twvo expeditions (Plate 133).

These two men were influential establishment figures at the forefront of
gardening. They had ample funds at their disposal and both of them had previously
subsceribed to expeditions of Wilson and Kingdon Ward. Now they were seeking
guidance from Forrest on how to acquire tresh seed ol alpine plants in Yunnan,
They came with a mission to the expert on that area.

The mitative for this meeting came from MclLaren. who was o close friend of



Regmald Corvand LC Walhooas, so Bl waeh Forrest’s sworks Melaren soas o

man ot extraordinary drve. and he was flush widh reeent success ar Cheke

(Plate 1347 He and Tady Aberconway Tad recenved anavwvard for an exhibioon of

Primulas thae thev and ther head gardener. M 1O Puddle. had grown ae Bodnant
Farthermore, Mcelaren had just given a0 paper at the Primula Conterence. on
“Asiatie Primualas tor the Garden™ Inthis paper he lnghhghred the problem of hiow
many primula, ance 19130 had passed oue o culnvaton me this counrry

McLaren understood the need tor more seed stock, and where o go tor it
China. At the same conterence. he had heard Handel=-Nazzeen stress thar the real
home ot the genus Prinmfa s the highland and che bigh mountains of Yunnan
and West Szechuan, where more than a third of Wl of the primula species are
imdigenous.” Handel-Mazzetn had met Forrest m Yunnan tsee pages 123-4) and

knew the value of this arca. He ended his paper by wishig the audience succes in

ramsplanting” many planes to Senjov them without the evil accompaniment ot

sandtlies, Teeches, and Chiese soldiers. . 7 That was Mol aren and Seern’s inherent
purpose m visiung George Forrest, the plane hunter.

In the course of divcussion about Chima and Chinese alpine planes. Forrest
mentoned thae his collectors 1 Yunnan could be recalled to collect more seed.
possibly as soon as that autumun. even without him bemg there, Why not use his
collectors? e had tried this successtully m 1923 when 1 number of his men had
continued collecting while Forrest was in Britam between two expedinons, The
dea had mmense appeal to his visitors, Te seemed o brilliane ruse. No-previous
plant hunter in that arca could posably have suggested this, as they had never buil
up such a pool o well-tramed. reliable and loval focal collecror.

They discussed finances, Forrest agreed to contact s mencand MeLaren was to
sk two more gardenimg friends it they would ke tojom m this new project.

Fhe next dav MeLaren contirmed the plan mowriting, sent Forrest £30 tor
prelimimary expenses and wrote o Tonel de Rothwehild oft Exbury and the
Hon. Robert James of Raclhimond, Yorkshre.

Pyear de Rothselnld.

Stern and | arranged tae he [Forrest] should communieate with Ins collectors swath a
view o collectng seeds of certan selected plants, especully ot alpmes, i the Dichang
ad Tl Ranges, the Tichang Range espeaadlv appealing o Stern s providing the
hie-lovimg planee We thouaht tat we should @ve hime JLorrest) e addinon o the
£ 1A00 230 1o hnmsel o recogmoon of his armangmg the nacceromakmg 2Z2000mall
need hand s dhoe Stern and T aould be dehighied il vou cone i as a0 37 parmer.

Phire 1A% Bodiane Tl
m e Conay Vallew
Norech Wales, where
Henry Molaren imvired
Forrest to sty on 1921
Avzust M0 aher Forrest
had orcaonsed acallection

ol seeds tor him,

Plate 134 Henry D
NMolaren sthe 2nd Lord

Abcrcomuwayi,



17K

Rothschild immediately joined in and so did the Hon. Robert James, who thought
it an excellent plan. They formed a cosy and select syndicate. Forrest was keen to
keep the number of subscribers small, so that the seed could be easily divided, the
RBGE having a selection if desired. Forrest emphasised that the project was a
gamble, but to these enterprising and wealthy gardeners it was a gamble well worth
taking. The scheme had the support of Wright Smith, who confirmed that those
ranges in Yunnan had ‘the most distinctive alpine flora in Asia’.

Within days Forrest assured McLaren that he was willing to assist them to the best
of his ability, and he had already taken steps to get in touch with his men through
missionaries and Chinese friends in Tengyueh and Lichiang. Ever obliging for his
patrons, he was soon sending McLaren a list of names of the species to be found on
the Tali and Lichiang Ranges, seeds of which ‘we may manage to collect for you’.

Forrest had his eye operation the following month, happy that he had started on
a new project. Characteristically, he even cabled to Upper Burma while he was in
the nursing home; wherever he was, his cabling and letter writing never ceased.
However, while he was convalescing with his family on the Isle of Arran he had
bad news. He reported to McLaren, ‘complete failure of telegraphic
communication with Yunnan’. He had tried every route without getting through
and found that all communications were affected by political disturbances in the
province. With great regret he had to admit that it was getting too late in the season
‘to get the machinery in moton with any prospect of a paying harvest’. All he
could do was to offer to try again the following year, 1929, which would give more
time to make the necessary arrangements. Determined and tenacious as ever,
Forrest was keen to have another go, and he cannily challenged McLaren when
writing to him: ‘Even should you withdraw from the venture my intention is to
carry it out alone’. McLaren rose to the bait magnificently, giving the go-ahead for
the following year, sure that his three friends would be of the same opinion; if not,
he would either take another share or replace one of them. He did not want to let
the idea go. He wanted more seed. The arrangement stood firm.

In the spring of 1929 Forrest began to make plans for the proposed autumn
harvest of seed in Yunnan, while McLaren wrote down a list of desirable plants from
which he wanted seed. Forrest explained that whilst most of these would be within
reach of his collectors on their best known beats, others would be more difficult.
‘As most of the plants grow on screes and ledges of cliffs vou will understand how
difficult it is to get anything approaching a satisfactory quantity”* Some plants
would be too rare, or notoriously poor seeders or difficult to describe without

s

showing his men the details. For example, he explained, **a primrose by the river’s
brim™ — may be said |by| many of my men as well as our own people here’.
McLaren understood and was not put off.

A missionary now in Lichiang, Revd James H. Andrews, agreed to contact and
help supervise Forrest’s collectors, concentrating on the two ranges and districts of
Tali and Lichiang, but with the possibility of exploring further afield in the Muli
and Chungtien areas. They commenced collecting on 1 July, early enough in the
season for all that was asked of then1. Forrest was optimistic of their harvest, because
the men emploved had all served him for eight to twelve years.

Even on holiday with his family in Tweedsmuir. from the end of August to early
September. Forrest was still at the helm. writing letters to Wright Smith, McLaren and
to his men in Yunnan, to keep everything on schedule without a hitch. He could not
resist the happy thought that there was a chance that his men nught find something
new, but, as always, he tempered hope with realism, and wisely wrote a warning, ‘'ve
pushed the lever but once going I can only partially control the mechanism’™.™



Forrest was in a strange but privileged position. He was advising and dictating what
should be done in Yunnan, but that was the limit of his involvement and he was free
to have a family holiday in the hills. The whole family was enjoying this. and Forrest
was glad to be away ‘from the beastly city’, reporting that ‘the fishing has been poor,
but we have lots of fun amongst the bunnies. The country is very bare and with a .22
ritle the sport is almost as exciting as deer stalking”.” He was happy and well and
could see with both eyes. Contact with his men was restored and dreams of returning
to Yunnan in the future were being mulled over in his mind.

Meanwhile, administration by others continued efficienty, with Forrest’s
guidance. Forrest learned that the currency in Yunnan was debased, and the cost of
living had risen almost 200 per cent since he was last there, but he used his bank
account in Rangoon to send rupees into the country, and McLaren sent £100 to
Andrew’s account in the Hongkong and Shanghai Bank. It was then imperative to
make sure that the collections were brought out of Yunnan with the greatest
possible speed and without the cases being opened and re-packed, injuring the
contents. Forrest approached this with as much care as others would give to the
export of the most delicate and beautiful porcelain trom China.

Forrest was used to pulling strings and making personal visits to key people with
influence. The Chinese Maritime Customs were still administered from Britain, so
he advocated a personal call at the Head Office in London where, ‘a friend of
mine’, Mr Stephenson, was probably the Commnussioner in charge. If not, ‘another
of my triends — Mr Shone — may be, ... I am sure either of them will gladly assist
you'. During his last three expeditions Forrest had also had to gain consent of the
[nspector-General of the Chinese Customs at Peking. So Forrest advised.

your best approach to him would be through the influence of the Foreign Office and
our minister at Peking. ... Sir Frances Aglen, late Inspector-General of the Chinese
Customs could probably give you much information.”

Forrest knew how to make things happen.

It seems that Wright Smith and McLaren divided the jobs between them. Smith
using his official influence as Regius Keeper of the RBGE. He was to be the official
receiver of the crates in Britain, and, following Forrest’s instructions, he wrote to key
people in Yunnan and Upper Burma to request their help. He wrote to the
Commissioner of Customs and H.M. Consul at Tengyueh to facilitate the dispatch ot
cases to Bhamo, in Upper Burma. He also wrote to the Comumissioner at Bhamo to
ask him to see that material was not held up there, and to Messrs Cook at Rangoon,
to ask them to send the material by the first boat possible. McLaren agreed to pay the
cost of freight into and out of Yunnan and homewards. Arrangements were well under
way. Among themselves, the whole enterprise was referred to as the ‘Forrest’
expedition, even though Forrest himselt did not go to Yunnan.

In late September a report was sent to Forrest that everything was running
smoothly. The men were working well. They had made a collection of dried plants
of over 400 species and the seeds of a good few plants were “already in hand’. Then
Forrest had the most ‘heartening news’ possible: his most reliable of men, his
long-terim headman, Chao, had somehow heard that Forrest had written and he had
resigned a job in distant Tachien-lu in order to join Forrest’s men at Lichiang. Forrest
was thrilled and relieved to tell McLaren that Chao was now running the business,

as T have every faith in him knowing he will do his utmost to make it a success ... and
when I think of the 250 miles, [of] rough and dangerous country, between Tachien-lu
and Lichiang | am amazed. and not a little proud, of his fidelity. | hope we may meet
again so that 1 can thank him."
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By the end of December 1929, the whole collection had been dispatched,
comprising one case of seeds and two cases of dried plants for identification in the
RBGE herbarium. Some of Forrest’s men had taken the cases to the Commissioner
of Chinese Customs in Tengyueh, with a covering letter requesting that they should
be forwarded to Rangoon.

While the seeds were sailing to Britain, the news spread. The Marquis of Headfort
wrote from his home in Ireland, on his personal blue notepaper, complete with
Latin motto, to McLaren:

I believe you are financing Forrest’s collectors this winter in China and [ was wondering
whether it would be possible for you to let me have a small share in this expedition.

He and another gardener hoped to have a half share each:'I should be very grateful
if you would let me in with him’.™

As it happened, McLaren had been concerned that the money so far given would not
cover all expenses, so he took another share in the ‘expedition’ for £50, and presumably
this was divided unofficially berween the Marquis of Headfort and his friend.”!

In early April the cases arrived safely in Glasgow by S.S. Burma, and they were
welcomed in RBGE by Wright Smith and Forrest, who immediately spent the
weekend sorting through them. There had been some confusion in Yunnan in the
numbering of species, Chinese characters being mixed with the numerals universal

in the West, but there was plenty of seed. Forrest wrote jubilantly to McLaren:

an ample supply of seed of some 220 species has been sent, many very fine things being
represented ...] feel sure you will be satisfied with the results.”

He listed some examples: species of Clemaus, Gentian, Lilium, Magnolia,
Meconopsis, Nomocharis, Primula and Saxifrage, and now that the collection had
arrived, the last payment of £50 was sent to Mr Andrews in Lichiangfu. On
16 April 1930 Wright Smith sent the first consignment of seed to McLaren and the
other shareholders. As there was a balance of £40.10.0 in the account, McLaren
gladly paid this to Forrest.

There were smiles and congratulations all round. Stern wrote to McLaren:

My dear Harry, Many congratulations on the success of the Yunnan idea. A wonderful
lot of seed has arrived. It was your brain wave and a fine one.™

On the same day, Forrest also wrote to McLaren:

Thanks for ...the very kind way you write with regard to the little | have done. I also
have had great satisfaction in the results of last year's work. if only in knowing that my
men are still faithful, and eager to serve me...T was not expecting any gratuity to come
my way, though it is very kind of you to think of it.”

Forrest reiterated his thanks to all the sponsors in his next letter to McLaren, and his
genuine gratitude and appreciation for the money was partly linked to his recent
move from Edinburgh. He was writing from a splendid, newly acquired, detached
mansion called ‘Bellfield’, at Eskbank, Midlothian, where he and Clementina planned
to enjoy the garden and countryside in his retirement. Knowing McLaren's pleasure
at Forrests help, he could not resist a personal Post Script:

We have removed to the country. about 6 miles South of Edinburgh. and T should be
greatly indebted if you could give me one or two shrubs for my place here!™

McLaren’s initial desires had been met, Forrests reputation had increased and his
spirits and confidence were high. Looking back to the early days of his plant-hunting



Plate 135. Arisaema candidissimum,
discovered by Forrest 1n the
Fengkou valley, N.W.Yunnan in
1914, It is hardy and widely
available in Britain. From Curtis’s
Botanical Magazine, t.9549.

career, how far he had come! Originally he had been the servant of commerce,
exploring and picking the plants with reladvely little help. Now that he had trained
a faithful band of experienced local collectors. and had the experience, friends and
influence to ‘pull the levers’, he could stay in Britain. have an operation and buy a
larger house in the country, while ‘his men’ still worked for him.

Looked at another way, he had acquired the cachet and experience to satisfy and
serve the appetites and competitive urges of the capitalists, by producing the
primary products, the seeds of plants for their gardens. without leaving home.

But essentially Forrest was still an explorer at heart. longing to return to his loyal
men, the hills and people. the wilderness and dangers of Yunnan. His main aim,
now, was to return one last time to Yunnan, and plans were already taking shape. In
his mind he was there already. and it would take an awful lot to stop him.

Seeking sponsors

In November 1929 Wright Smith dined at a small elite club, the Garden Society,
whose members all belonged to the RHS. He discussed with Lionel de Rothschild
and other keen gardeners the possibility of Forrest going one last time to Yunnan for
seed. After consulting Forrest, a clever plan emerged. Subscribers could be offered
seed from two seasons for the cost of one expedition, if Forrest’s men collected in
autumn 1930 before Forrest arrived. He would stay in Yunnan until January 1932,
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Plite 136, George Trorrest
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costcnlatig to a group of
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Yurman'): Lady Moore,
wife of Sir Frederick
Moore, retred Keeper off
the Navonal Botan
Gardens at Glasnevin,
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Inal expedinon,

Forrest estimated that Z4.000 (/7125000 todav) would be needed for the

enterprise. The RBGE would be the adnmnistraove centre and Smith set about
rasing the money by writing cagerly to potential subseribers. "Another Forrest
expeditton is on the way” proclumed one fetter.” The letters were not identical, but
all stressed the richness of the Yunman flora, Forrests great experience (a4 man who
has never disappointed his subseribers’). and the face that tis would be his Jase
expedition. Many letters contained o Tist of the genera of plants whose seed would
be sought and mdicated the collecting arcas. Snuth hoped to find eight people
willing to pav for a £500 share, but realised that some shares might need ro be
divided. By 25 November 19290 /2000 had been rased. a facte that Soeh
exploited in acer leceers, making e clear that readers should act quickly o take
advantage of an offer that could not be repeated.

News spread. enquiries camie in, and Smith Tased closely with Forrest. Bulley
heard of the expedition from Melaren. and wrote immediately to Smith, asking for
& quarter share of 1250 Smith conveved Torrests assurance that he would be
delighted to collect tor Bulley. In October 19300 the RIS aceepted Smuth’s
imvitation to tike part and sent a cheque for 2300 o Forrest. All previots sponsors
of Forvest who were sall alive supported his tinal expedinion. wath the sole exception
of the Duke of Bedford. then deeply involved with establishimg Whipsnade zoo.

Mro ALC UL Berry wrote to Snuth from Portlind, Oregon: I cannot tell vou how
cager Lam to become asubsariber o the expedition of My Torrest”. She wanted primula
seed U Tes the only way we have any chanee of seemg the Tovely things.and T do enjoy

the gaime tor ity own sake’s She paid 21000 Smath rething her on 27 Auguse 1930

You sill be the only one tr the USA swho s ashare i the expediton andalall goes

swellowill be m possession of srores of things quite ness to American gardens

Fhe thirey-mine sponsors of Torrests Joal expedinon are haed i Appendin 3



Many are well-known names. Some endowed horticultural cups (Cory, Crosfield,
Loder. Lionel de Rothschild). Lord Walter Rothschild paid £500 to get birds for
the Natural History Muscum. Over halt were keen growers of rhododendrons,
many being members of the Rbhododendron Society. with Lionel de Rothschild of
Exbury and Admiral Heneage-Vivian of Clyne Castle, near Swansea. being
respectively the first President and Vice-President of the Rhododendron
Association, Among these experts was J.I3. Stevenson ot Tower Court, Ascot, whom
Forrest had helped in the preparation of the long-awaited and classic handbook.
The species Qt'ledm{cm/mu, which was published in 1930, Earlier, J.CoWilliams had
treasured Balfour's rhododendron publications. looking forward to reading them
‘with greedy eyes’, keeping them on his desk or by his bedside. and thumbing them
‘into a disgraceful state”.” Now Lionel de Rothschild. who had been glad of
Williams™ advice when creating his garden at Exbury. read through the whole of
The species of Rhododendron on holidav. 'l am leaving London today for a yachting
cruise in the Baltie and shall not be back for six weeks” he wrote to Tagg, the
rhododendron taxonomist at the RBGE on 17 July 1930, Another rhododendron
lover was Col. (later Sir James) Horlick, whose business address was "Horlick’s
malted milk Co.. Ltd., Slough (Bucks)'.

Forrest’s final expedition attracted cight Scottish and cwo Irish sponsors (Plate Y3).
The Scottish contingent mcluded McDouall of Logan and FRRS Balfour of Dawvck,
giving their gardens an early historic link with the RBGE betore being partially or
wholly incorporated. Another Scottish sponsor was E.H.M. Cox, who
accompanied Farrer on part of his last journey. Across the sea. Lord Headtort,
President of the Roval Horticultural Society of Ireland. had received some seed
from earlier Forrest expeditions, even though he had not been a sponsor. He
invited Forrest to see his garden, and contributed £ 100 to the final expedition
(about £3.000 todav) (Plates 136 and 137). Headfort’s sister, Lady Beatrix Stanley.
was one of Forrest’s more colourtul sponsors. Married to the Governor of Madras.
she was to be awarded the Imperial Order of the Crown of India. a bejewelled
breast badge with Queen Victoria’s monogram surmounted by an imperial crown.
She was a talented botanical artist (some of her drawings of Indian plants are at
the RHS). and she created a lovely garden in the hills of Qotacamund. but asked
that Forrests sceds be sent to her head gardener at Sibbertoft Manor.
Market Harborough.

The Marchioness of Londonderry, Lady Edith Helen. of Mount Stewart,
Co. Down. had visited McLaren at Bodnant tor a gardening weekend in May 1930
and mvited Forrest to visit her. But time was now pressing on Forrest and he had
to defer this and other visies undl his return in 1932, His very courteous reply to
the Marchioness was appreciated so much that it was pasted m her diary.”

A total of £35.975 was raised. but only five full shares of £500 were taken and
twenty-four subscribers paid £100 or less (see Appendix 3). The syndicate of
thirty-nine who supported Forrest final expedition was probably the Lirgest that
had then been assembled for a collector, with sponsors from all over Britain
(Plate Y3) and trom gardens big and small.

In October 1930, only five weeks before departure, Forrest admitted ‘time is all
too short tor what 1 have to accomplish’.” His friend, George Tavlor. a future
Director of Kew: would have Toved to go with him, but was then working i the
depths of the Natural Histors Muscum, Forrest could not resist ending a letter to
him: T eruse ... that vou keep tit though working in that awful place. Think ot me

on the sun-lit ranges of Yunnan!”

Plate 137, George Forrest,

photographed at Headtore,
near Kells north ot
Dublin, on 25 May 1930
by C.12 Rathll, who wrote
on the back. "With
compliments and best
wishes from vour triend.

C.P2 Rathll,
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CHAPTER TWELVE

The Final Expedition

Deatlr closes all: but something ere the end,
Some work of noble note, may yet be done

Lord Tennyson’

eneath the bustle of activity Forrest had a steely resolution in preparing for this

final expedition. He had a firm belief in his own continuing strength and
ability. He knew his fitness from daily walking and family holidays in the hills: he
might be fifty-seven years old, but he could walk thirty miles in a day. His zest and
enthusiasm were undiminished and he relished the challenge of a new expedition.
He was confident in the complete backing of Wright Smith, and that his wife
understood his desire for one more, last, expedition. He expected to be away no
longer than eighteen months and he would write to her regularly. He left home on
the morning of 7 November 1930, keen to savour again the richest temperate flora
of the world.

Fraught times with Major Johnston

Major Lawrence Waterbury Johnston, founder of the famous garden of Hidcote
Manor, Gloucestershire, was a generous subscriber to this expedition. However,
Forrest’s decision to let Johnston join him in China soon proved to be mistaken.

Forrest had been rather mysteriously warned. ‘Cherry’ Ingram, Reginald Cory
and George Taylor had recently been with Johnston on a plant-hunting expedition
to South Africa,” and advised against him as a travelling companion. However, it
seems that Forrest did not fully understand their reasons.

Lawrence Johnston was keenly interested in the plants that Forrest had
introduced and longed for some seed for his own garden. In 1929 he wrote to H.D.
McLaren, offering him £50 towards the syndicate that he was organising to tund
Forrest’s collectors.' He contemplated going to Yunnan alone, but then rejected this
in favour of joining Forrest a year later.' Forrest wavered, but eventually consented.
It is intriguing, for Forrest had never taken anyone with him from Britain before.
He had invited the young George Taylor, who would have been an excellent, keen
and fit assistant, but Taylor's new appointment at the Natural History Museum
prevented him from taking up the offer.’ We don’t know whart influenced Forrest
to then accept Johnston as companion: perhaps it was Johnston’s persistence — he
had been helpful in eurolling subscribers — perhaps the £500 he invested in
Forrest’s expedition was a lever.

The two men approached the expedition very differently. This was partly because
of their contrasting backgrounds, partly their personalities. They were roughly the
same age, and Johnston was a keen and creative gardener who shared Forrest’s
enthusiasm for new garden plants, but their lifestyles were very ditferent. Johnston
was a wealthy American bachelor who had settled with his mother in England. He
had spent twenty years in the Army, enjoyed ‘Society’ friends, house parties and
antiques, and his social credibility was important to him.* He had two properties,
Hidcote and La Serre de la Madone. near Mentone in the south of France. Just
before he joined Forrest’s expedition, Hidcote featured in the August 1930 edition
of Country Life. In this garden Johnston employed a permanent staff of five
gardeners, with local part-time help when needed.” In neither of his properties, in

Opposite:

Plate 138. Iris wattif,
introduced by Major
Johnston. The plant
illustrated was shown by
Lord Aberconway
(formerly the Hon. H.D.
McLaren) and given an
Award of Merit in 1938.
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England or France, did he ever need to get his hands dirty. He was not used to
‘roughing it” in any way, since he enjoyed an ample income, a cultured milieu, his
own valet, butler, housekeeper and a large domestic staff — a lifestyle epitomised
perhaps by his habit of driving a Lancia himself, while his chauffeur drove the
Bentley. Indeed, his chauffeur and valet accompanied him on the South African
expedition. Forrest never owned a car.

With this in mind, it is perhaps understandable that problems arose. For Johnston,
it was probably a ‘holiday with a purpose’, an opportunity to see and collect some
new garden plants. For Forrest, his work was the whole purpose of the journey. This
was to be the climax of his life’s work before he retired. He had been commissioned
and felt a strong sense of duty to use the expedition time well. Everything was
familiar and he felt no wish to dally. He felt the pressure of his subscribers’
expectancy as well as his own. He desperately wanted to push on, especially as there
were many questions at the back of his mind: would his team of collectors be at
Tengyueh to meet him? Had they found the seed his subscribers wanted? Would
this expedition be a success? Tensions built up between the two men, especially
when Forrest felt that Johnston was not helping.

Johnston, who has been described as a ‘birdlike, ineffectual’ man,* was drawn to
socialising with the British community. Forrest, on the other hand, expected Johnston
to share in the practical preparations as part of the expedition. It was not a situation
likely to be friction free. Forrest described Johnston’s aloofness in Rangoon:

Everything devolved on me, securing passports and permits, calling on the various
ofhicials. booking berths and securing tickets, etc. etc. T had all the purchase of
equipment to attend to and getting stores of food stufls, drugs, tents etc.

Money problems made the situation worse:

I ordered a sufficient supply of stores for a year, on the understanding that he would
pay his share. He coolly informed me that making up lists of stores and purchasing
them bored him to extinction almost, and besides it was much too hot to attend to
such matters!! Then he left me to pay for the transport of the purchases to Bhamo and
also to here [Tengyuch). I am now out of pocket with that and other expenses for our
journey to the amount of Rps. [rupees] 500/-!

Upon arriving in Bhamo, Johnston socialised with the hospitable British Deputy
Commissioner and his wife instead of helping Forrest to prepare for the overland
journey into China. Forrest was left to engage the chairs and chairbearers, coolies
and mule transport. He graphically wrote of his frustration:

I had only an Indian boy as help, and as my Chinese was a bit rusty | had a hard row
to hoe and was well put to it at times, There was much he could have done to lighten
my labours but he was busy gadding around every day...riding in the morning, tea and
tennis in the afternoon and bridge at the club in the evening,.

Forrest described how his resentment and anger buile up:

Knowing me as you do you may not believe it, but | was more than patient under all
of it, but at last I did give way after I hadn't seen him for three days. I sent for him and
asked him what he meant by all of it, and if he thought I was a Cook’s courier
arranging a tour for him and if he thought I was paid to attend to him.

However, Forrest realised he could not change anything and Johnston never
apologised. So when Johnston then fell seriously ilt, Forrest. who never sutfered
fools gladly, could not resist a cutting gibe: *Apparently he had contracted a severe
chill through exhausting himself in playing tennis and then sitting cooling off
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instead of changing’. Johnston's condition worsened:

The Bhamo Divisional surgeon was called in to attend to him.. he informed me that
Johnston was in a very bad state internally, chronic congestion of the liver, lungs
exceedingly weak, and heareand kidneys bad, and that it would be extremely dangerous
for him to attempt such a journey into Yunnan as we had contemplated.

Johnston was forced to stay behind in Bhamo to recuperate. Forrest hectically
cancelled the arrangements for Johnston’s onward journey and left him behind,
setting off, at last, for the Chinese border town of Tengyuch. On arrival, he poured
out his troubles in a letter to Wright Smith. ‘I have had a most harassing time’, he
wrote in February 1931."

Had I raked G.B. with a small tooth comb 1 couldn’t have found a worse companion
than Johnston, and I cannot say how often during the past three months I have cursed
myself for being so foolish in consenting to him accompanying me! I have indeed paid
tor my folly!

However, a heart-warming welcome awaited him. The Commissioner of Customs
gave him accommodation and Forrest’s headman, Chao, and eighteen of his trained
collectors were in town to greet him. The immediately recognisable and familiar
figure of Forrest was present amongst them again, after a gap of four years. They
proudly showed him their haul of the previous year, ‘a collection of herbaria
numbering nearly 1,000 spp. [species] with seed of some 3-400 of them’. Forrest
was thrilled.

Forrest’s rejoicing was interrupted by a determined Johnston who, against all
advice, had undertaken a nine-day trek in sub-tropical conditions from Bhamo to
Tengyueh. He had been carried in a sedan chair, but the track was uneven and
progress slow as the old trade route wound through the mountains and the gorge
of the Taping river. For a sick man used to the comfort of a luxurious limousine
on English country lanes, the journey was a great strain. He became even more
seriously ill. Indeed, Forrest feared ‘poor Johnston would have gone under for
keeps' if medical aid had not been quickly provided by the British Consul and the
Commissioner of Customs. Johnston was warned by the doctor that he had a
life-threatening condition and he decided he had better give up and return to his
second home in the south of France. Forrest feared that Johnston would not abide
by this decision. He wrote that as Johnston *changes his mind more frequently than
his socks” he would give no guarantee what the Major would do: *Since the first
demand made by him he has changed his mind repeatedly’. Forrest’s fear was well
founded. When Johnston was cautioned against attempting a strenuous trek north
with Forrest, he still ventured outside Tengyueh, became seriously ill for a third
time and had to S.Q).S. for medical help.

One final impasse illustrates the difficulties and misunderstandings between these
two men. As he prepared to leave, Johnston wanted to take his share of the stores,
but Forrest pointed out that the cases had already been sealed for the next overland

journey to Lichiang. Johnston wanted to break open the cases. However, the more

experienced Forrest realised this would leave them prey to thieves, and the thought
of re-packing and re-sealing them was more than he could countenance. Forrest
fele that his plans and his leadership were being threatened by Johnston. He was not
used to this on an expedition and he said that Johnston had *fallen out of line’,
Forrest offered to pay for his companion’s share of the stores, but Johnston retused.
Both men were intransigent. The tension was compounded by Forrests own
reaction: I can only construe his refusal as an attempt to give me tarther trouble’.



Forrest exploded m outrage to Wright Smith:

[ have been so meensed over the whale attnr that could T have commumicaed speedihy
with vou Fawvouald have suggesced returnmg hime his share [subseription]. turning him

out of the syndicate and geting comeone else to take s place.
His outburst Hlowed on, culminating in linguage that he would never othenvise use.

He has rotated me so mudh and o constnty hamperig me i every wavs so that [
am much behimd inomy work, correspondence. as well as all elses T e now reahise
pertectdy what was behimd all dhose warnings 1 received from Cory, Tavlor. G, Loder and
others. My God! it only they had been more open with me what a difterence owould
have made tor me. Johnston s not a4 man, not even a bachelor, but a night goed old
Spunter spoilt by bemg born male: A person more utterly selfish 1 have vet to meet,
and 'm not the only one here who thinks so.

Forrest had two elder sisters who were spinsters and he loved and respected them
dearly: The sentiments and Linguage of his temper retlected the trustration and depth
of his desire to get on with the expedition unimpeded. Forrest’s desire for success was
as deep-seated as the slow-burning passion which over nearly thirty years had shaped
him nto an outstanding, collector. Never betore had he been challenged to collect
for so many subseribers. and he did not want to be deflected from this task.

Wright Smith knew Forrest very well and tgnored his outburse, Fle knew the
storm would blow over. He was alo reassured that Johnston was on his way home
and recovering s hiealth, as Johnston had written to him “in very good spirits and
with 1 very commendable spiric of resignation”.

Forrest .nd Johnston had arrived i Ching as spring was conng. Both men

rejolced me the camelhas e Hower and Forrest declared, *T have never seen

Plite 142, Uinder the headimg "New:
plants trom China'Audrosace spinsdifera

was ntroduced through Bees” Ltd. who
called 1ca choiee rock plant’.
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Two contrastng bridges m
Yunnan.

Above:

Plate 143, A chamn
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(Dahij. taken m February
19006,

Opposite:

Plate 144, A precarious but
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(Yangh) river, a tributary
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N.W. Yunnan, in March
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Cameltia speciosa as fine. . .and when Johnston saw it he nearly wene dotey™. Despiee

s appalling health problems Johnston had tasted the thnll of plant hunting in
China. On his way to sulphur springs near Tengyuch, he found a beautitul iris. ris
wartfi (Plate 138) growing near an mrrigation canal: he dug up rhizomes and
(Tl‘li\

garden is now twinned with Hidcote Manor, Gloucestershire.) He also introduced

subsequently planted them successiully in his garden near Mentone, Francee.

to Hidcote the fragrant climber Jasninom polywuhion and two handsome shrubs,
Malonia lomariifolia and M. siamensis.™

As for Forrest, he was relieved to be rid of Johnston: “beyond all things I'm thankful
he accompanies me no further, that I'm quit of biny from now on”.” With cheertul
confidence. Forrest savoured the freedom and the joy of returning to be with the

people and wildhite of the remote mountain areas of north-west Yunnan.

The bonus collection

Forrests most urgent task upon mecting his welcoming party at Tengyueh was to
sort the men’s haul and dispatch it to Britain. This collection was the bonus he had
promised to his subseribers, Delay would lead to deterioration of seeds, specimens,
and public relations. Forrest prized all three. He seetled down with the usual
disciphne aligned with his passion to accomplish any task he set himselr,

It soon became clear to Forrest that his men had done a good job. and so had his
triends who had overseen the work for him. The seeds had been collected mamly
from the snow-topped ranges of the Muli and Yungning districts and the
Chungtien pliteau. Being a perlectionise, it was not casy tor Torrest to aceept that

there had been some mistakes: his collectors had not always been sent 1 the



direction he had planned and they had vnderesamated the number of Nomochans
seeds to collect. But now that Forrest was back m Yunnan, he could put that night
i the comimg vear. Meanwhile there was plenty of sorting to do.

The dried plants and majoriey of the seeds were Iisted and packed with their tield
Labels in woaden cases, The Tirge seeds were waxed tor extra protection and groups
of tweney o thirey seeds were wrapped - otled paper alongside the dred plants.
The hve cases were loaded on mules and escorted by his men to Bhamo. whenee
Mewrs Cook sent them on o Rangoon, by S8 Blanio to Glasgow docks and by
tramn to Edmburgh - the toul journey taking three months. Some seeds are best
sown fresh. but this was dhie cheapest way to send the bulk of them to Britam sice
postal rates had risen far more than anuapated.

Packets of selected seeds were given prioriy and sent at mtervals to Edinburgh

m registered postal packers. Some seeds were selected o elear up the muddle” ol

plans” wdenaticanon and clasiticaton. This mcluded the vellow-tlowered  tree
peontes and some very variable primulas and rhododendrons. Others:“the much
devired seeds of the bewer things™. " were selected tor horucultural purposes. Some
of these were wanted for new trials as they had faled o grow betore or survived
only flectmgly, Tor example, the beaunntul Wi Ll alicnse, st found by Pere
Delavay m 18830 had never been me culovaton. It grows wild m Yunnan and
Secchuan (Sichuani and seeds collected by Torrests mien were the first to flower in
Bricun iPhire 137y,

As the regintered packages ofseeds began o areie at the RBGE, chere was a buzz
of expectnt acivee Fhe contents ot the e packens were sorted and sent to

subseribers waitlim tawo dons, tocether with an estimate o the future number and

Place 145 Omplialogranma

vipcactton, photographed by

Forrest.

134



Plate 146, Cangellia
sadienensts, [orrest
introduced this plant on
his fowrth expedition In
Padn dhe RHS gave the

spectes an Award ol Merit,

T Wil crossed 1t
with € japontca to nuke
the tirst of the willianisn

hvbrds.

tming o seeds expected from Yannan. Anacipaton mounted among cardeners

round the counury. Colonel Stephenson Clarke of Borde TII replicd dhat he was
oft to put up another range of trames and Mr Johnstone of Cornwall reckoned he

would be Kkept busy tor some vears, As tor camielhas, Wright Sonh assured Forrest:

You will certimly please M Wlims [of Cacrhass] vers muach wath the Camellia seed
tor he reckons thac 1t o his opunon the best shrub whieh has come from Chma e
savs with himoatos hurdy and vigorous, vanes much e colour, tolge and halwe but all the
varnatons are good. Tle statess morcover, that he gets chammmyg tesh-pimk hvbnds by
crossing with Caellia gaponica and these are even muore vigorous than the mother plane

No collector could hope for better news to boost his morale. Forrest had tirst
mtroduced  Camellia salwenensis in 1917 (Plae 140) and - these nbndisanon
experiments of his sponsor, LC AT, were cpoch-makimg m producing the firs
sertes of beauatul plants hardier than € afuenensotselt This mdcdudes hvbrids ke
O WAllams ™, of great garden worth.

A few weeks Literswhen cighee nine packets arrved from Forrest alb at onee,and
Al i exeellent condinon, there were enough o send somie of theme taall
thirry-nine subseribers for seeds. Phe st at the RBGE sorted seed and sent oue
3,000 separate packets wathin five davs, Forrest was o sent the news that three
more of s planes were Hustrated o recent isue of Crons s Botameal Magazime

Some sabseribers were o such o hurey to grow the flowers that they sowed seeds
like camelliae without removing the added wax coatng, More carctul girdencers
had good germmanion resules, At Branklvo garden me Perth, Seotlaind, Dorothy
Renton had previowdy obuined some thodadendrons with Torrest numbers, but
this seas the st ume she had subscrbed o a0 Forrest expedinon. She and: her
hushand, Johi, were cager for more plants for therr new rock garden. When they
recenved Forrests seed  they methodically et o7 w0 walle She had
canvas hacked pocket note-bhook headed “Forrest Fapedinon 1931 moswhich e
caretullyv hsted columms of the plant names, then Forrest numbers date sown and
date ot cormination, and the momh moawhich the seeds were pricked ont he
gernimaton vate was pleasinghy high. mcludmg primulas meconopses and centans,
A few vears Lier she ad the pleasure of beme awarded three "George Torrest
edals by the Scomh Rack Goarden Club, Tler terest i the Smos Fnmalavan
ora s established e dhis beautitol, mimate tweo aore garden. overlookimg the
Iover Laeand distnt Inlle e became reosned s Choree collection o plants

and s nose i the care of the Noanonad Drost for Scotland



Forrest’s collectors and the panda

Forrest had brought with him o book to read that he knew would have a special

resonance. It recounted an American expedition to hunt tor the glant panda in the
region north of Yannan in 1928-29 when Forrest was seill in Edinburgh. The
authors were two brothers. Kermit and Theodore Roosevelt. Jr.osons of President
Theodore Roosevelt. A giant panda was shot and the dead  ammal sent
trimphantdy to the States. being among the first panda specimens ever exhibited
there. It created a sensation, as manv zoologists had ¢hought that the giant panda
was extinet. This was betore any grant pandas were captured and taken live to zoos.
thrilling millions of visitors.

Forrest looked forward to reading about this hunt and one day the opportunity
came to relax with his collectors. He opened the book. Trailing the Giant Panda ™
Forrest’s headman, Chao, looked over to see the pictures and recognised some of
the people. because he had been partly involved. Chao had been hired to assist
Herbert Stevens. an English naturalist on this expedition. Stevens was the man left
in the lurch when Chao returned to lead Forrests men tor a season’s collecting
before Forrest arrived (Plate 147), As several of Forrests men had also been part of
the panda expedition, they were eager to know the Rooseveles” version of events,
and they all got caught up in the story.

According o the book.a Lolo hunter had first seen the panda emerging from the
hollow of a spruce tree and the Roosevelt brothers were signalled to come and see
the animal. Just in tme, betore it was lost trom sight in the bamboos. the Roosevelr
brothers “fired aimultancousdy at the outline of the disappearing panda. Both <hots
took cttect’. The panda was Hounderig through the dritted snow’. <o the brothers

fred again. The panda tell. but recovered and made ot through the densely growing

Plate 147, Forrest called
his headman Lao Chae,
seen here on the left, my
best card 1 ens
business” Forrest had
great tadh i him,
knowmg he would do
lis utmost to make the

collecting a succes.
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bamboos ... then, to quote the book. the chase ended in seventy-five vards. He was
a splendid old male’.

Forrest’s men laughed when they heard this. They were sure that the Roosevelts
were lving and that they never actually killed the giant panda. In a chatty leteer to
McLaren of Bodnant, Forrest recounted the tale as told by his men:

*The Giant Panda’ the Rovsevelts secured had been tracked by a local Lolo hunter, shot by
him, and sold to the party tor 200 Syechuan!!! ... Now the wuth is out ... evervone i
chortling. Lying like that is beyond mwy conception. If there was one such als] (‘-.W.\sliingmn
in Amierica then the Good Lord muse have broken the mould as soon as it cooled.™

So, who killed the panda? There s agreement that the Roosevelts shot and
wounded the panda. The book implies that the animal died as a result. From the
evidence of Forrest’s collectors, the Roosevelts were cconomical with the truch and
a Lolo made the final shot that actually killed it. Forrest was certainly influenced
by his chortling collectors. Whatever the truth abourt the panda, the story shows
how well he got on with his collectors. There was a rapport based on vears of
working together, a camaraderie that strengthened bonds. He enjoyed sharing the
story with them, the laughter relaxing them and motivating the team spirit, which
was essential when there was much sull to do.

Spring, the sweet spring

Forrest was keen to plan the year ahead with his collectors. They must collect more
Nomocharis to meet the demand and go to new localities where the men had
previously found much-wanted plants (Plates 148 and 149). These included the
breath-taking, brilliane red flowers of Mecenopsis punicea and a vellow-flowered torm
of Prinmda dryadifolia that had been recently found by Joseph Rock. Forrest, the
ever-compentive hunter, was instinctively keen to find the same primula that Rock
had found. Chao thought he knew where Rock had collected it, because he saw
them when with Mr Stevens. Forrest listened carefully and strategically dispersed
groups of them on difterent ervands. His own appetite tor exploring grew again.
This was the hfe he loved.

As Forrest tfound timie to explore, his sense of awe and wonder was as sharp as on
his very first expedition to Yannan. When he trekked into the virgin torest narth of
Tengvueh, he was still "astounded’ by the size and majesty of the highest trees, When
he rediscovered a small, dainty primala, he was saill overcome by its beauty: There
was never a tecling of déjd e, Pages of his long letters were brim full ot enthusiasm
for the beauty and diversity of the tlora, irrespective of whether the plant might be
suitable tor gardens in Britain. However, if he thought that a plant might be hardy.
his descriptions would whet the appetite of any subscriber awaiting seeds.

When he wrote to H.D. McLaren of Bodnant, who was partial to magnolias, he
described some cousins of the magnolias that he saw in the carly spring. He wrote:

In one large gully, ac well over 9000 . |2, 700m], the whole of one thnk was torested
with immense specimens of Manglictia Forrestii hare silvery grey pillars of 90 or more
feet |27.5m], topped by widely spread masses of L glisteming toliage. . .the ground was
thickly hetered with Tast vear's leaves and cones,

He assured McLaren that he had taken a photograph and then he speculated:'Seeds
of the species trom that high altitude might, [ think, give us a breed hardy enough
tor Ireland and England. and possibly the South of Scotand”.

He continued.'One of the finest {large trees| was Michelia manipurensis 60-80 .



(18-24m) in height, yellow with butter coloured blooms, scenting the air for
hundreds of yards around’. Forrest even shared his wish that the climate of Britain
might be a bit nulder, so that he could introduce even more of the wondrous plants
he saw. He reported:

Rhododendron mackenzianum {now R, mowbhainense] was evervwhere magniticent, up to
40-60 tt. [14-20m] laden with masses of bloom, ranging in specimens from white o the
deepest crimson-magenta, with bare smooth mahogany red pillared stems. 1f we could
grow that species at home as 1 saw at this time the enthusiast would kneel in worshup to «t.

The sheer scale and majesty impressed him so nmuch that his writings could have
featured in a tourist brochure for tellow-lovers of such plants. But those times had
not yet come. Instead, Forrest felt it his role to deseribe to his gardener-subscribers
back home where the seeds had come from and what the plants looked like in their
native habitat, as it he were writing a private nursery catalogue. For Camellia forrestii,
he described how it grew in the upper Shweli valley:

It 1s the dominane shrub for 30-40 miles {30-65km] ... Mile upon mile of the valley
hillsides were absolutely covered with it ranging trom clumpy bushes off 2-3ft. {1m] to
shrubs of 10-20ft. [3-6m]. All in full and most abundant flower, in colour running from
the palest shell pink. and nearly white to the decpest shade of rose, almost a crimson in
bud...and if all goes well 1 hope to harvest a lirge quantity of seed this autumn,

The hunt for giants

Forrest and his collectors showed amazing perseverance in hunting for plants. A key
example on this expedition was their search tor the largest specimen of Rhwdodendron
Qiganteum now R, protistum var. giganteum|. When Forrest first discovered and
named this species in 1921 some people did not believe its enormous size.
Characteristically, he wanted to prove his point.

[t was not easy, because ten years earlier he had found only three trees, but Forrest
was sure that others grew in the area. He sent scouts to the headwaters of the
Shweli river and they reported many ‘immense trees” greater in girth and height
than the original three giganteums. However, Forrest wanted to be sure that these
trees were exactly the same as the species he had previously named and described.
He asked his men to go ahead to make a further search, and to bring back a cross
section of the largest bole they could tind. It was intended for the Garden Museum
at the RBGE.™ He planned to come on later and photograph the best specimens.
He wrote excitedly to both his wite and Wright Smith, even asking Clementina to
pass on the news to the professor, in case his post went astray. Clementina was the
ever-dependable personal link between the home team at Edinburgh and the
overseas team led by Forrest in Yunnan. Her sense of humour saw the highter side
ot Forrest’s carnest endeavour as she wrote to the professor that Forrest and his men
had gone ‘to cut down one of the Giants!™

A month later Forrest reported his trek to the giants:

Qur last camp was 6 days north of here [ Tengvueh]: where the breadth of the Shweh
is Jess than that of the Esk at Lasswade, at an altitude of about 8000 teet [2.500m). Then
the day following we struck still further up the valley until the strean was so small it
could be stepped across,

There. to the east the watershed. the Shweli-Salwin divide towered abruptly above
us toan altitude of 11-13000 ft. [3,500m)], turly well snow capped, the forest in the
gullies and on the spurs flanking it being the home of Rhododendron giganteum....

They were in virgin country, ‘the very devil to get about in, not a track of any
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Plate 148, Nomodharss pardanthing, First intoduced by Forrest

trom his second expedition tor Bees Led.itwas awarded o Tt
Class Certiheate m June 1916 and ity seed was inereasingly i

demand.

Plate 149, Nomocharis aperta, photographed by Forrest.

fae

kind™. and Forrest was astounded at the great size of the specimens. Hle wrote:

[t s indeed mighdy named! ©ogreat towermg boles of 80 w0 120t |24 1o dom]| . We
tound it ac ity besto o amost tull Howers s thousands of russes of huge bloomy ot
varving shades of rose-pink to aimost magenta-crimson, crimson blotehed at hase, The

ground under cach tree hteered mehes deep wath the huge fallen corollas,

With great difficaley they found a space amongst the torest trees where a felled tree
would fall clear. across che bottom of one of the gullies. A photograph ol a standing

tree was impossible but Forrest was keen to record the event:

I exposed o hundred fr

Jomp of emd filmom the lelling of our specimen and the
cuting of the secnon from it the cut being tiken a good 12-11 1t [4m] from the base.
The secoon i fullv 6 /e nearly 7t [ 2m] me arcumterenee and [ shall be much
mterested to know 1f [My] Tage can fix approxinately the age of the tree from e
Jowas o hefry dav’s work tor all us and when T ot back 1o camp at 6,30 1 was more

weary than | have been for many vears having been gong hard for tully 12 hours,

Forrest only thought o menton " maost appalling carthquake” much farer m his
leter. It happened the previous night. and was the worst he had experienced m
Yunnan. The strongest tremor cane at midnght when he was almost thrown out
of his bed.and several of his men Nled into the open. sereamig e terror, Forrest
had great ditheuley i pacitving then . Vibratons continued all 2 am, accompanied
by terntvimg rumbhings hhe o distint rock avalanche. e admiied to bemg 'mare

than & bt windy ™ linsellas they were comped onavery siall meadow - the only



level bit of ground they could get - by the wde of astream with Gt soaring more

than 2,000t [600m | above thems He spent o most uneasy night’ fearing that atany
moment some of the it miaght all on top of them,

Next mornmg, then tents were sheeted with ice and the margis ol the seream
frozen. Thev made o dashy for ther goal. Rlododendron giganicum. and were overjoved
at the size and splendour ol the tees.

Atter cutting one down, they made cross—sections through the trunk and began
the seven-dav trek back 1o Tengvuch with then Llarge Toad. There. the cross—section

was carctully stenalled:

Rirod. grganectm
Specnnen of tully 9o
Section cut 12t rom base
Cut 153.3.31

(@R

Tophandy, ther trophy was placed ma wooden case and sent by sea to Protessor
WAL Snuth at RBG Fdinburgh. There the cross-section was given a place of
honour and Torrest was so proud ot 1t that he told Melaren to see 1t when next
be wasm Ldinburgh. Tle secredy esimuated to Lord Headrort dhae the tree might
be about two hundred vears old and he loped 1 would be man object of interest to
those rhadodendron people who may visie the I—CBLGL during the season™ (19310

However, proot of the enormous sze of these grant trees was not the only
challenge to be mer By 193000 was thought that there were mtermeduae forms
beoween Riododeidion ergantenn and another spectes, R protstim, ™ Forrest wanted

e exanmed the Teaves of dhe telled tree, he tound three

o sort s out When

suthmghy difierent torms on the single Liree tree. The hariness o the underside o

Pluce DAL M ha doleop.

i tower at Cacrhays, Tr

was muoduced by George

Forrest i 1918, The
clustered Howers are
Iragrant and the genusas .
coutsin of Magnohua,

149
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the leaf seemed to vary with leaf maturity. As this had been the main diagnostic
feature separating the two species, he wrote:

I finally proved one thing, that Rhiodos. giganteum and protiston are one and the same
species...So you'll have to cut out one name...I should like gigantenn to stand, for. . .the
name is most fitting! Don'’t you agree?™

The professor must have smiled, for they both knew that this was impossible as the
code of nomenclature gives priority to the first name given to a plant or animal.
However, in a more recent reassessment, Forrest would have been pleased to know
that the name giganteum has been retained for a variety of Rhododendron protistum.™

Forrest’s persistent questioning and turning to the facts mark him out as a
scientific explorer. He had not been in ‘that corner of the woods for fully 10 years'.
He searched afresh for evidence, examined it carefully and, to the best of his ability
and knowledge, drew his conclusions. He could not resist mentioning his personal
preference, but he deferred to the experts in Edinburgh.

Hailed as a great acquisition, this handsome rhododendron can only be grown
out of doors in a few favourable gardens on the west coast of Scotland and in
Cornwall. In 1953 a First Class Certificate was awarded to Her Grace the Duchess
of Montrose, Brodick, Isle of Arran, Scotland, for one that bore the Forrest number
E 19335. The wheel had turned full circle. The Scottish isle that probably inspired
Forrest in his youth, and provided happy holidays for his family, now harboured a
rhododendron whose giant size had gripped his memory and imagination.

An abundant harvest

News of other plant collectors in the region was sent to Forrest and in early April
1931 Wright Smith reported, ‘I hear of Ward being at Fort Hertz [Upper Burma]’.
Ward had not been in Yunnan since 1922 and he had become far more interested
in the mountain ranges further west, in Burma, north India, the eastern Himalaya
and southern Tibet. In contrast, a prime aim of Forrest now was to revisit the
Lichiang Range of Yunnan to collect plenty of seeds for introduction or re-
mtroduction to Britain.

Before Forrest had even set off for Lichiang, another collector, Joseph Rock, was
also heading there. A talented and ambitious Austrian, who had been Professor of
Botany and Chinese at the University of Hawaii, Rock had first entered Yunnan in
1922, by which time Forrest had a head start, being on his fifth expedition. Rock
followed Forrest’s example, staying in Snow Mountain Village and employing
Nakhi collectors, and it is not surprising that Rock’s biographer recounts that
Forrest, Kingdon Ward and Rock were *wary of one another’ when they first met
in 1922." Rock’s presence in Yunnan and even in the same village probably irked
Forrest,” who found him a ‘most unreliable person’.”

Between 1922 and 1931 Rock travelled widely in China, and inYunnan he began
his keen observations of the people and collected herbarium specimens, seeds, birds
and mammals, making valuable collections of rhododendrons, of which thousands
of seeds germinated. But, as the mountainous areas of Yunnan had already been
worked by Forrest and Kingdon Ward, Rock discovered few new plants and he
never caught up with Forrest’s collections of birds, either in total number of
specimens or number of species.

During 1928-9 Rock had spent the winter in Snow Mountain Village while
Forrest was in Britain, and Forrest’s return in1931 prompted memories of their first
meeting in 1922. Rock wrote in his diary on 18 February, 1931: Forrest and I sat



together then among the graves and funched. dhis was ten vears ago. Today | sat

alone in peace and quiet..." He did not seem to want to meet Forrest again. When

he heard that Forrest was coming. he wrote in his diary:

Hochi told me that Forrest 1s coming and that 4 house has been rented for hin in the
upper part of the village. 1 really do not relish dus intrusion and [ <hall move
northwards to Yongning and Muli. -

Dodging an encounter with Forrest. Rock hurriedly departed.” We do not know
Forrests reaction to Rock’s sudden exit. but they continued their expeditions apart.

Forrest mainly sent his men to collect seed while he concentrated on sorting and
dispatching packages to Edinburgh. In turn, knowing Forrest’s particular interest in
primulas, Wright Smith sent him happy reports of their propagation: “Your Primula
seed has done particularly swell and we have a fine braird of plants’. [Braird is a
Scottish term for the first shoots to appear above ground.] He continued:'T do not
think that T have ever seen so many Primula plants as there are now at the
back — not even in our best vears™.”

Wright Smith also hinted of demand tor other planes like Nomocharis (Plate 149).
An article m the Jowrnal of the RHS was extolling their beauty and Stephenson
Clarke and others wanted seed. So Wright Smith wrote tacttully to Forrest, °l
believe seed of various species of that genus will please vour subscribers more than
anvthing else. Evervone seems keen to try .~ And Forrest and his men did their
best to oblige.

As encouragement, Wright Smith sent Forrest good news of his subseribers. In June
he reported that Lord Headtore in Treland. had sent an extra £ 100 for Forrests
expedition, and the newly knighted Sir William Milner, of Parcevall Hall. Yorkshire,
had secured 2 new gardener who was likely "to do your plants well and he 15 lookmy
forward to excellent results”. ™ By November. a delighted Milner confirmed his
pleasure at “the good germination” of practically evervthing he had received. ™

The seeds kept coming from Yunnan and a ripple ot pleasure spread chrough his
sponsors, By mid-December Stephenson Clarke of Borde Hill reported.”l have ¢his
atternoon received Forrests 187 consignment of seeds, they are an teresting lot. 1
hope that Tmay have luck with them™." On che last day of the vear Clarke received
six packets of seed 0 the owentieth sending of Forrest’s packages. There was no
doubting the hard work that was going on 1 Yunnan and the gardeners who
sponsored lim were kepe very busy too.

The value of Torrests seed was displaved in stvle in November at an Exhibidon
of Conifers held by the RHS in London. Lord Headtort won the gold medal for

the tinest exlibit in the show: the samples from his garden including the silver fir

Plates 151 and 132 A
panoran of the castern
Hank ot the Lichumny
Range (Yulong Shan).,
taken by Forrest on s
tourth expedinion, by
pastung together two
photographs. The huge
<eree on the right-hand
peak can be seen from
the Snow Mountain
Village (see Plate 1535].
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Plate 153. Osbeckia yunnanense. Forrest introduced this flower to cultivation through seed
sent in 1931. This specimen, raised from Forrest’s seed, was sent for illustration in Curfiss
Botanical Magazine (£.9588) by Lord Headfort.
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Plae 134 The silver fir
clbies foriesin.

Plate 135 View of the
Lichung Range (Yulong
Shany from the zatesway ot
Joseph Rock s Tormer house
m Snow NMountun Village
I'he same stk shape ol o
]]Ug&' soree can o be

Pl ked out on Forrests
panorama ot this ringe,

Wi gvmec Lo7 70 Phae a4 and dhie spruce, Proca iilnmgonss o746, both grown

o sced collected by Torrest twenny vears carlier: The exlnbioon tortntously
maused treshmterest o the new Chimese contters just as Forrest and s men were
providives more conter seed. The momentum o expectaney was hept going and
ll]&' B ol Torrests seeds AN L‘H][‘]H\I\L‘d

Meama e Tetters of munal reassuranee and news swent to and rom Yumun and
Scothind Forrese e Clementna thae evers thine was gomg well mspice of heavy
v e o senal canthigquakes AW bt Snonch told Torrest not to waiste time wriang,

to hi b swouhd ol o newe conung v Clementinacand he gathered smppets

oo bovre s pddle o Eoes who was o stadent i his botny class ae the
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University. Smith also sent news of auspicious visitors to the Garden, the King and
Queen and Sir David Prain, the former Director of Kew. He kept Forrest up to date
with peoples’ promotions and deaths and sent him newspapers covering the elections.
Above all, Smith confirmed to Forrest that he was in one of the best places in the
world for collecting, as the Chinese-Tibetan region still seemed to be richer than the
Rockies and he had not yet heard of a Chinese collector in Yunnan. Forrest seemed
to be in the best place from every point of view.

The only possible regret expressed from Edinburgh was the long wait for the
seeds to arrive by ship. Wright Smith had just had a visit from an acquaintance who
was going by aeroplane to the Equator to explore Mt. Ruwenzori.

On the last occasion he brought a few plants back in his aeroplane... This is a new way
of doing things, but I guess it will be some time before Yunnan is treated similarly.

Forrest was one of the last British plant collectors in China before the era of air travel.

As the collections were brought in, Forrest became totally focused on sorting and
packing them. It was an unremitting battle against time. He settled in Tengyueh for
this huge task, which included animals as well as plants. The collection of birds and
mamumals for the Natural History Museum had been a sideline gently carried on
through the year. As early as March 1931 he had reported that ‘the bird business is
going on all right. Already 1 have well on towards 200 skins and also a few
mamnmals!™ There were still more birds and mammals to collect through the winter
months, but Forrest dispatched his men to hunt while he carried on with the
labelling and packing. Pressure always piled up at this stage of an expedition, but
Forrest seemed to have everything in hand until the Commissioner of Customs
warned him in early December that the regulations for the export of bird skins had
been tightened up in recent years. Forrest would have to seck spectal permission to
send the bird skins to Britain; the Consul in Tengyueh had been transferred to
another post, so there was no one to write on Forrest’s behalf.

However, Forrest was not a man to be defeated at the last hurdle. He wrote a
courteous and informative request to His Excellency Sir M.W. Lampson,
K.C.M.G., C.B., Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotenuary, British
Legation, Peking. Forrest explained that he was accredited by the Foreign Office:

... The object of this letter is to solicit Your Excellency's valued assistance in facilitating
the export of the zoological collection | have made and hope to add to during the next
three (winter) months. Would you kindly help me by arranging with the present
Chinese authorities? All interested in the venture would be under the deepest
obligation.

My zoological collection consists of skins of small birds, with included, a small
percentage of the smaller mammals.

As 1 say, it has been made solely for the British Museum |Natural History] which’s
financing that part of my work and is of course purely scientific.

The number of cases containing it will, I expect. be some 5 or 6, the number of skins
from 1,500 to 2,000. The insured value, approximately £350 | £12.000 today]|...*

Then Forrest left the wheels of officialdom to turn, while he sorted and packed
more seeds. On Boxing Day, 1931, he wrote ‘Chao and his men have done well this
season, beyond my expectations’." Seed packing would take him at least a week
and he would have over 1,000 sheets of plants to write up and the birds and
mammals. It was hard work but, when he realised that this was the largest haul that
he and his men had ever made, an overwhelming sense of victory seized him. He
wrote a triumphant letter to Edinburgh:



Of seed such an abundance. that 1 searce know shere to commience., nearly evervthime |
wished for and that means a Tot. Primulas in profusion, seed ot some of them as much as
3-51b. [1.75kg
When all are deale with and packed T expect to have nearly i not more than two mule-

csame with Meconopsis, Nomocharss, Liliuni,as seell as bulbs of the later.

Joads of good clean seed, representng, some 400-300 specres, and a mule-load means
130-150 1b [60-70kg]. That is somiething ike 300 0. 130kg] of seed. 10 goes well Tl
have made a rather glorious and satstactory tinish to all my pase vears of Labour.

Forrest had fulfilled the task entrusted to him. He was in the final stage before
returning home and looked forward to retirement with Clem in their lovely new
home. He visited the new Consul and his wite when they arrived  berore
Christmas, cheerfully discussed his planscand they expressed the hope that Forret
might just have time to help them lay our their garden in the New Year.,

The New Year began happily and on 4 January 1932 the Regius Keeper of the
RBGE, Wright Smith, wrote an appreciatnve letter, having just received the latest
package from Forrest that morning. He told Forrest that the Meconopsis expert at the
British Museum. Mr George Tavlor, happened to be at the RBGE and would
immediately be examining Forrests recent dried specimens of the poppy. The seeds
of Nomocharis were giving subscribers particular pleasure. and seeds of che hes Lilim
talicnse and L. ocliacea were “attracting much attention” (Plate 1537). The letter ended
with the message, "All good luck for 1932, Kindest regards from evervone”. ™ But

Forrest never received 1e. Within two davs ot 1e bemg posted, he was dead.

Plite 136, One af
Forrests fanuly wrote on
the buck of chis
photograph: " Charles
likes this one of his
Daddy wich the pet
monkey beste e s very
Like him: but makes him
older-hike, and not too

:_'(N\dl.

203



204




CHAPTER THIRTEEN

Death and Aftermath

The litde forcign cemetery here is in a good position, out on the hillside
overlooking the Tengyuch plain and with a view of distant snow mountains.

Mrs A. Prideaux Brune (the Consul’s wife) to Mrs George Forrest, 15 January 1932

The telegram to Professor Smith, RBGE, was brief and bleak:

Deeply regret Foreign Office
received Tengyueh telegram
stating Forrest died suddenly
heart failure fifth January.'

It was the second telegram saying that Forrest was dead. His death was reported in
1905, but that proved to be untrue; unfortunately, this time it was true. He actuallv
died on the morning of 6 January 1932, while out shooting in the country about
four miles (6km) from Tengyueh (Tengchong). He was buried next day.

The British Consul and his wife both wrote to Mrs Forrest, giving details of what
had happened. The Consul assured her that Forrest's death was very quick:

Three of his Chinese employees were with him at the time ...he suddenly felt faint and
called to his men to assist him. Two of them. who were close by, supported him on the
ground, but he did not speak again and he only lived for a minute or two after the
moment when he called them.

We buried him...in the little foreign cemetery on the hillside just outside the city.
His grave is next to that of Mr Litton, his old friend...A Swedish missionary clergyman
— one of Mr Forrest’s friends here — read our English burial service, and it was attended
by the European community and Mr Forrest’s Chinese friends and servants ... The
Chief of Police came to represent the Chinese officials. We put a Union Jack on the
coffin, and besides the wreaths from us Europeans there was a small one of white roses
from his Chinese house-servant which we put in a place of honour.

This servant was deeply distressed, and [ can see that he is a nice man who was greatly
attached to Mr Forrest... You will know that Mr Forrest’s last time out here was spent
among kind and friendly people.

We are placing a wooden cross on the grave, temporarily, and we have sent out to the
hills for red thododendrons (now at their best) to make a cross which we’ll put on the
grave tomorrow. from you...

Mr Forrest was liked and respected by everyone who knew him, Europeans and
Chinese. His loss is felt acutely by our little community, and we send you our heartfelt
sympathy. The value of his work is, of course, widely known, both here and at home;
one feels that it was a work of most uncommon value, and that he was singularly happy
and successful in his lifelong devotion to it.”

Opposite:

Plate 157. Lilium talicnse: Forrest found this lily on several expeditions, including his last,
whence seeds were raised in Colonel L.C.R. Messel's garden at Nymans, Sussex. This
illustration is from a drawing by Miss S. Ross-Craig of Colonel Messel’s rare flowers.
(Groves’ Supplement to Elwes' Monograph of Lilies, Plate 24 (1939)).



Plate 138, Protessor Sir
Willam Wright Snuth.
VMH. Regius Keeper and
Queens Botanist, who
encouraged Forrest to go
on his final expedinon and
organised the sponsors and
seed distribuoion. He wrote
2 fine appreciation” of
Forrest that was first
pubhshed m The
Rhododendron Sociery Notes,

George Forrest’s eldest son was atea planter in India at the tme Te deseribed Tns

experience of his fathers death: his fetters just stopped commg. Clementing and
her younger sons had been lookmg torward to Forrest’s return. She quretly
sunmmed up her loss: ™ We meant so much to cach other’.

Among people giving her sympathy and support was the lilv expert. Arthur
Grove, who wrote, To me. there s something smgularly appropriate m the fact chat
the great explorer should have gone to s end on the mountains he knew <o
well.7 In the following vears, Groves Supplemient to Elwes” Monograph on lilies
mcluded ustravions of Forrests gathermgs (Plate 137).

Meanwhile, gloom hung over the RBGE. Forrese had worked with sttt there for
twenty-eight vears. Betore his final expedition, when living at 17 Inverleith Place,
he would walk through the back gate of the Garden and ask propagators brightly
at 9w Whats germinated this morning?™ By 930 he would visit the wooden
huts where rthododendrons were studied. discuss taxononne problems and tell
stories of his adventures in China. Cheertul and mspiring, freclanee ver one ot
them Tt was hard to realise that he would not be coming back.

A wide range of obituaries pard wribute to Forrest, one i Nanre stanng, “His
dricd material forms ane ol the great collections, worthy of comparison with that
of any previous explorer many country”

But what happened to Forrests collectuons that were sl in Tengyuel atter his
death?

The bird specimens were the largest problem. There swere five wooden cases of
dried bird skins awaiting shipment to the Natural Thstory Museum. London, but
permission for their export was refused by che Chimese Government on 8 January.
(This was part of the world-wide movement to reduce trade i “feathered skins™)
The Muscum then enlisted the help o the Under Searetary ol State at the Forergn
Oftice to arrange for the specimens to be exported. Pleas were made that Forrest
had been commissioned and paid by the Trustees of the Godman Exploration
Fund to make this collection tor the Muscum, it was necessary to complete the
saientilic knowledge of the Museum. and. s kepr e China during the rann
season, the specimens would be romed. There was o request tor an excepuon to
the rules e the mterest of science: 1t ther export were not allowed. o great
serentilic loss and useless shangheer would have tiken place. O 23 Aarch 1932

Clhinese otficials relented. to assise the Enghsh saenufic swarld s and amember ot



the Chinese Customs Service escorted Forrest’s cases to Bhamo. to the forwarding
agent for Britain.

Ironically, in the same month, on Friday 11 March 1932, there was a shack
heading in The Times: *Loss to British Ornithology. Rothschild Collection Sold'.
The newspaper reported: “Ornithologists have learned  with dismav that the
wonderful collection of birds in the muscum at Tring has been sold and s going to
the United States’. It was hoped that Lord Rothschildy private collection of birds
at Tring, including Forrest’s birds. would eventually go the Nartural History
Museum, London, but ‘cconomic conditions have interposed”.

Lord Rothschild had been blackmailed by a peeress and torced to sell most ot his
bird collection to the American Museum of Natural History. Forrest never knew,
but many of the birds he had earlier collected for Lord Rothschild were packed in
cotton wool and newspaper and shipped in crates to New York.

Forrest’s botanical collections of his final expedition had a more straightforward
course. After Forrest’s death, his Chinese assistants helped the Consul to complete
the packing of twelve cases of specimens and seeds ready for despatch to the
RBGE. On arrival, the seeds were to be divided and distributed among Forrest’s
subscribers. When the first tea chest was opened at the RBGE. hundreds of large
white ants swarmed out. but othenwvise the specimens were in beautitul condition. ™
The subscribers received their nightful share of sceds. and a few plants even
flowered in Britain for the firse time (Plate 157). Two things Forrest had prized
highly. trust and good organisation, enabled his final expedition to be brought to a
successful conclusion.

When Forrest died, he had been on the point of concluding an arrangement for
his collectors to carry on working tor the Hon. H.D. McLaren of Bodnant during
1932, McLaren’s confirmation of their plans reached Tengyueh a few days too late,
but the Consul wrote offering to give assstance. and happily this collecting
continued as Forrest had arranged.

GEORCE FORREST

Plate 139.The grave of George Forrest. Behind
is the grave of Consul Litton.
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Plate 160. Camellia reticulata was first grown by
J.C. Williams at Caerhays from seed collected
by Forrest near Tengyueh (Tengchong), in
1924, In March 1932, after Forrest’s death, he
sent this flower, E25352, for illustration in
Curtis’s Botanical Magazine (t.9397) where
J.R. Sealy wrote, ‘After more than a hundred
years, the wild form of the species has at last
been discovered and introduced into
cultivation’.

Plate 161. Camellia x williamsii ‘Donation’, the
best-selling camellia in Britain. This delicate
pink flower was produced by Colonel
Stephenson Clarke, at Borde Hill, Sussex, when

he crossed a form of Forrest’s Camellia

saluenensis with C. japonica.




CHAPTER FOURTEEN
George Forrest — A Perspective

Perhaps Forrest has spoiled us as a Prince of Collectors
Prof. Bayley Balfour to J.C. Willianis, 22 February, 1920

Ithough the ttle of this book is George Forrest: Plant hunter, it should be clear

by now that Forrest was much more than this. He was a man of the open air,
a keen observer who appreciated the wilds and had a curiosity about everything
there. Forrest had a background of hobbies in the countryside, fishing in Scottish
streams when no taller than his grandfather’s walking stick. He knew the birds of
Scotland and their habitats, from the largest falcon to the smallest finch. His sound
Scottish education had given him a broad understanding of the natural sciences,
and he grew up to be an all-rounder with an interest in geology, plants. snakes.
mammals, butterflies, and birds. A job in the Herbarium of the Royal Botanic
Garden Edinburgh led him to collect dried plant specimens and seeds in N.W.
Yunnan, China. as his primary focus of work. But zoological collecting became part
of his later expeditions. whilst observing the customs of the varied minority groups
added to the interest and enjoyment of his travels.

Forrest inherited a strong and sturdy physique and as a young man he proved his
toughness and endurance, as well as his love of adventure, by gold-digging and
exploring in Australia. Difficulties were a challenge, risks added spice to life. So
when a Liverpool cotton broker, A.K. Bulley, was seeking a young man to collect
eastern seed of alpine and hardy plants for his new plant nursery, Bees Ltd, Forrest
immediately took the opportunity. Bulley sent him by the shortest route to the
high mountains of Yunnan, in S.W. China, where a French missionary, Pére Delavay,
had made rich pickings of new plants, but relatively few seeds.

Forrest’s first expedition was a huge success, even though it nearly cost him his life.
He discovered new species valuable to science and gardens, he introduced many
others and longed to return for more. The beautiful mountains of Yunnan were to
become like a second home. They often reminded him of Scottish moorland and he
spent slightly more of his married life on expeditions there than he did in Scotland.

Forrest’s career evolved step by step, through a series of short-term contracts. One
sponsor gradually led to another, each with new interests and demands. Bulley had
wanted seeds of alpine and hardy plants; Williams wanted more shrubby, woody
plants, particularly rhododendrons and magnolias; Elwes’ syndicate organised for
Forrests fourth expedition included Stephenson Clarke, who was interested in
mammals and birds; Lord Rothschild particularly asked for birds from Forrest’s sixth
and seventh expeditions. Each time Forrest obliged his sponsors, stimulated and
encouraged by their fresh enthusiasm. He was driven by his own ambition and
scientific curiosity, and by his sponsors’ acquisitiveness. Forrest was satisfying the
general desire of the time for new species, plants and animals.

He was always willing to explore another set of ranges that he had not been to
before, optimistic that he would find new species. One driving force was his theory
of a ‘centre of rhododendrons’ where their greatest diversity would be found. This
idea drove him further and further north-west into Tibet and northern Burma. It
was an enormously exciting period for all those involved.

As Forrest’s reputation among gardeners grew, so did Balfour’s praise for his
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scientific achievements. In 1912, when Farrer and Kingdon Ward were relatively
inexperienced as collectors, Balfour wrote, "Forrest is unquestionably the finest
collector of modern times".' In 1914, when Forrest was collecting prolifically for
J.C. Williams, Baltour was comparing Forrest favourably with previous well-known
and revered collectors in China:

Forrest should now recognise that his position as an explorer of the vegetation of
Western China is established for all time on the plane of Henry, Fortune, Delavay,
Wilson, to name the giants.

High praise indeed. Balfour had already substantiated his view, based on herbarium
material:

Forrest’s collection is, like all his previous ones, magnificent. He is undoubtedly the
prince of collectors. No one approaches him, alike for the excellence of the specimens,
proper selection of forms, and notes upon habitat. ..’

In an obituary of Forrest in 1932, E.H.M. Cox wrote that ‘Forrest was certainly the
greatest plant collector of his generation’.’

So what enabled Forrest to achieve so markedly?

For one thing, Forrest had incredible determination. As Williams wrote to Balfour
in 1919:.“Where Forrest serves us so well is in the iron way in which he battles to
get the seed when most men would abandon the task as hopeless after the early
snow has set in’." Balfour agreed that Forrest had ‘more grit than any of the other
collectors” — an assessment that bears out Balfour’ initial recommendation of
Forrest to Bulley in 1904. This opinion would later be confirmed by the fact that
Forrest collected in China tor almost twice as long as Wilson.

Forrest was no saint. He would not suffer fools gladly and could become unduly
suspicious of others. His temper blew up when he felt affronted, let down or not
trusted, and Elwes described him as *difficult’. But, in 1919, J.C. Williams picked out
Forrest’s particular assets: ‘Forrest has his faults like the rest of us, but as far as the
work he undertakes to do, his capacity, his energy and his knowledge are what we
shall hardly see again in any one’." In support of his genuine admiration of Forrest’s
qualities as a collector, Williams invested in five of Forrest’s expeditions, to a total
of £354,000, in present day value. (See Appendix 3.) And in 1922 the dedication
of Curtis’s Botanical Magazine to Forrest mentioned the combination of “energy,
courage and sagacity” with which he explored the flora.”

The Protestant work ethic was a feature of Forrest’s upbringing, and this meant
that, whoever his sponsor was, Forrest always felt it his duty to do his best for those
who hired his services. As a man he was highly principled and keen to be trusted
to undertake the work that he had said he would do. He was entirely focused on
his job and could at times be disparaging of other collectors who, in his eyes, did
not measure up to his level of dedication. Kingdon Ward, for example, first went to
Yunnan as a plant collector for Bulley, but he had a wide range of other interests,
from mapping and journalism to scientific theories. Forrest could hardly believe
that Kingdon Ward should spend so much time ‘playing around with a theodolite’
when Bulley had paid him to collect plants. Similarly, unlike johnston, on their ill-
fated pairing at the outset of Forrest’s final expedition, it never entered Forrest’s
head to spend time socialising when there was work to be done.

Along with this single-mindedness, Forrest had very high standards and wanted all of
his work to be as good as possible. This meant that he could be a hard task-master, both
of himself and of his collectors. and his organisational skills enabled his prodigious



productivity of high quality specimens, as shown in a 1918 letter from Balfour:

When one looks at the collection as a whole one cannot but wonder ar the industry of
the man and at the meticulous care with which everything is arranged. Certainly there
never was a collector who sent home finer dried specimens. Wilson's and Ward' are very
poor in comparison. The very few which Farrer has sent home are unduubtcd.l;'
beautifully dried but then he has dealt with tens — Forrest has dealt with thousands.. *

Balfour mused: ‘Forrest has really spoilt us for the gatherings of every other
collector...™

Forrest’s superb organisation was reflected in his planning. Before an expedition
he drew up detailed lists ot purchases needed in Britain and Burma (see Appendix
4) and when in Yunnan he arranged the shipment of his collections and their
passage through customs. In the field he maintained overall responsibility for the
life of his group: from camping to the medical care and feeding of animals and men,
and the recording, drying and packing of specimens and seeds. Nothing was left to
chance, yet if social unrest interrupted his plans, he adapted quickly and made new
arrangements.

Forrest did not, however, attempt to do everything by himself. He had a natural
ability to form bonds with people. He was open and companionable, and made
friends with a wide range of people, the statt of the RBGE, gentlemen landowners,
ships’ captains, consuls, customs officials. missionaries and his own collectors.
Wherever he went he built up a network of contacts which helped him to maintain
some continuity between expeditions.

He appreciated the value of properly trained collectors. He learned the language
sufficiently to train them untl they were able to go with a trusted headman on
mini-expeditions without him. Groups would go ahead into different mountain
ranges, exploring new areas and collecting specimens of plants and animals. Each of
his expeditions therefore covered a much larger territory than one man alone could
possibly have done. The consequent size of harvest could lead to pressure of time
to label all the specimens, leaving some to be completed on his return to Britain.

Forrest enjoyed a great rapport with his men and appreciated their comradeship.
In fact, he got on so well with his Nakhi collectors that on his third expedition he
lived in their village. He learnt from them about their customs, the mountain
ranges, and the local wildlife, building up a good two-way relationship.

Loyalty was a big feature of Forrest’s life. There was his personal loyalty to his
wife, even though he was away from home for such long periods, and the trust and
loyalty of his wife for him. There was his loyalty to the RBGE, to which he always
wanted his plant specimens and some of his seeds to go; and the tremendous loyalty
that he inspired in the local people that he employed in Yunnan. A core of Forrest’s
collectors worked with him on every expedition. They would sometimes travel
hundreds of miles to welcome him back when he returned on his next expedition.

The bond berween Forrest and his well-trained men was exemplified by the fact
that between his fifth and sixth expeditions they continued collecting without
Forrest even being in the country. With this experience, Forrest later organised a
seed collection in Yunnan for a McLaren syndicate in Britain, whilst he underwent
an eye operation in Scotland — an amazing and unprecedented situation.

If the case can be made that Forrest was ‘a Prince of Collectors’, it is perhaps
puzzling that he is not as well known as Farrer and Kingdon Ward. One explanation
is that part of the reputation of these two men springs from their writings. They
were both gifted with words and conveyed the excitement and the romance of
plant hunting to a wide home audience at a time when there was no competition
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to books from radio or television. Both Farrer and Kingdon Ward were selt-publicists:
Farrer wrote books that became garden classics, whilst Kingdon Ward captured the
imagination of readers with the titles of his books — The romance of plant hunting,
The riddle of the Tsangpo gorges, Plant Iinting on the edge of the world Wilson also wrote
a book on his travels. Forrest, of course, did not write a book; he concentrated on
his fieldwork and on writing up his collections. Forrest did write thousands of
letters, which caused some to hope that he would turn his hand to a more
substantial piece of writing. Balfour, for instance, wrote to Williams:

I hope when Forrest comes home you will be able to persuade him to write an account
of his journeyings. He began, but did not complete the story of his first trip. He has an
easy pen — more graphic than that of Wilson — not ultra exuberant as in that of Farrer,
and his great knowledge and experience would give his book qualities that are wanting
in Ward's daring immature effort." Taken when he is hot from the field, and before details
of his collections accumulate to overweight him, he could produce a really good book."

Even in retirement it is doubtful that Forrest would have written up his travels. He
did not take easily to writing, except for letters, and if asked he would probably
have continued to maintain,'Like the man who hadn’t changed his shirt for 2 years,
I have so much else to think oft’* He liked to be busy, sociable, always on the move.
His field observations were valuable to taxonomists. He took enormous pleasure
from visiting keen gardeners to see his garden introductions and to advise on the
conditions in which the plants immight best thrive. He was a popular lecturer. And,
just before his last expedition, he and Clem had bought an elegant detached
mansion with a large garden awaiting attention.

Forrest is renowned for introducing some outstanding garden plants, from tall
conifers (Abies forrestii) and small flowering trees (Sorbus forrestii) to the springtime
delight of bushes of Picris formosa forrestii and the bright blue flowers of the autumn
gentian, Gentiana sino-ornata. His camellias, candelabra primulas and range of
rhododendrons have been long accepted as part of our garden heritage and
hybridisers have used his species to produce beautiful and usetul new cultivars.
What is less well known is the scientific importance today of his dried plant and
animal collections that are used internationally for taxonomic studies, whilst his
living, botanical, collections in botanic gardens provide more information for
research, education and conservation. Some of Forrest’s rhododendrons in the
RBGE are being propagated and repatriated to Yunnan for use in the conservation
of plant diversity on the Yulong Shan, the magnificent mountain range whose
grandeur he admired, and whose wealth of plants and animals amazed him. Its
slopes, near Lijiang, now support a field station, a new botanic garden and a nature
reserve, easily reached by plane.”

The fascination of Forrest’s life today is partly that it reflects a complerely
ditferent era. From China he depended for communication on the telegraph and
postal links of the British Empire, when the quickest way to travel to and from
Britain was by a combination of steamship, paddle steamer, rail and mules. Only
those with a pioncering spirit or a sense of mission undertook such journeys.

Whilst writing this book I have been struck by the number of people who have
said that George Forrest is one of their heroes. Plant enthusiasts who visit Yunnan
today speak with pleasure of walking in his footsteps. It is not only Forrest's
achievements that evoke admiration. His capacity to excite and thrill us by his zest
and determination, his spirit of adventure and sheer guts, is a personal legacy that
we can all share.



EPiLOGUE

George Forrest in His Own Words

The beauty of the country
In the morning — the sun as it touches the tops of the Mekong divide, sends shafts
of turquoise light down the side gullies to the river which seems to be transformed
to silver.
From Forrest’s address to the Royal
Geograplical Society, 1908

Next morning we were off very early, in moonlight.... and reached the summit [of
the dividing range of the Yangtze and Mekong basins| after a tremendous climb of
about 3 hours ... the view from the top is entirely beyond my powers of
description. The morning was wonderfully clear and we could see for hundreds of
miles on all sides. Nothing but range after range of tremendous mountains, many
of the peaks covered with eternal snow, and all glistening in the carly morning
sunlight like gems, lay before our eyes. Add to this billows of vapour rolling about
in ceaseless movement in all the valleys and, above all, the intense stillness there was
at this elevation, not even the rustle of a leat, or blade of grass and you can perhaps
have a faint idea of what the scene was like. 1 cannot tell you what my feelings were
as I sat and gazed at it all. One feels in a place such as that that one is nearer
something, call it by any name you like. I could have sat and dreamed all day, but
time and tide wait for no man, and neither did Litton on me.
Undated 1st expedition letter from
Forrest 1o Clememtinag

Autumn on the Yulong Shan

Even in the green summer coating those |Sorbus] trees are a delight to the eyes,
but after the arrival of the first frosts simply magnificent. The foliage then becomes
the deepest richest crimson scarlet, and each individual tree stands out like a
glowing torch on the hillsides. visible for miles...

Some of the patches of mixed forest I saw were marvels of beaunful colouring
and 1 long for the power to photograph or otherwise record them; the pure golds
of the birches, the silvery yellows of the poplars, the ruddy browns of oaks, and the
yellows and reds of acers, backed and mixed with the black green of Abies and the
lighter shades of Picea and larch make a picture bevond the power of any to
describe. And behind and above all the bare limestone crags powdered with
glistening snow and outlined against the deepest sapphire blue. It was grand! I got
a few fairly decent photos of the scenery, but they express little of the grandeur as
seen with the naked eye.

Forrest to J.C. Williams 9 November 1913

Cold

Eventually we gained the summit... after fully 8 hours’ stff climbing. This was. ..
covered with snow from 12 inches to 4-5ft [30.5¢m to 1.22-1.5m] in depth. A
bitterly cold wind blowing from the N.W. didn't make it any pleasanter... I have
experienced 40° [of frost], 8° below zero [Fahrenheit] in my time and that was
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nothing to it...The animals and we ourselves were so done up that 1 found it
absolutely [essential] to camp...] got my tent pitched on about 14 inches [35.5¢m]
of snow ... | never spent a more miserable night in all my life. I went to bed, of
course, with all on bar my boots and in spite of this and a big heavy pugi or quile,...
I was half dead before daybreak. The whole interior of the tent was white, also
everything in it, my hair, pugi, blankets, etc.. all covered with frozen moisture from
my breath and I rose in the morning for all the world like a Father Christmas. I had
a bottle of water and my sparklet bottle ... and these were both split ... Felt much
better after I had swallowed a pint of hot chocolate. Had breakfast then got dressed
for the weather and started to do a little collecting. It was indeed a little, as
everything was buried in snow. ..
Undated Ist expedition letter from
Forrest 10 Clementina

Wind
This bitter wind from the N.W. blowing over the snow-clad Tibetan mountains was
a curse to us all the time we were on the plateau. It made every one of us as crabbed
as the very deuce, and before a couple of days had passed I fear very much if you
would have recognized me. My hands, face and lips were so severely chapped that
every movement was torture to me and as for laughing, that was out of the
question, even supposing there had been anything to laugh at.
Undated 1st expedition letter from
Forrest to Clementina

Danger
I spent two of the hardest and most dangerous months of my hfe there, a time [
shall never forget. Roads of no kind; deep jungle-choked and panther-haunted
gorges, bounded by break-neck precipices and dense forests at the lower altitudes,
crane-brakes [?] and boulder-strewn, marshy moorlands with snow dnifts and eternal
mists at the higher, above all a chaos of screes, ragged peaks and glaciers with,
however, flowers dominant everywhere! A place to visit once and have as a
memory always.

Forrest to R. Cory 7 Sept 1921

Insects
Animal and bird life along the Upper Salwin is conspicuous by its absence — an
important matter for the traveller, who cannot count on replenishing his larder
with game. On the other hand, the river-banks at a low alutude, and where wholly
sheltered from the north winds, have an almost tropical climate, and vegetable and
insect life 1s both vigorous and troublesome. Creatures with inconveniently long
legs plunge suddenly into one’s soup; great caterpillars in splendid but poisonous
uniforms of long and gaily coloured hairs arrive in one’s blankets with the
business-like air of a guest who means to stay. Ladybirds and other specimens of
Coleoptera drop off the jungle down one’s neck, whilst other undesirables nsert
themselves under one’s nether garments. The light in the tent attracts a perfect army
of creatures which ereep, buzz, fly, crawl and sting.
pp-245-246 of . Forrest, Journey on Upper Salwin”,
October = December 1905, The Geographical Journal, 32 (1908) 239-266.



His first wolf

Just about dusk 1 shot my first wolf. It was coming down the moraine quite boldly,
probably after the horses, but when it saw it was detected slunk off in a cross-
direction. [ bolted after it but even the appearance of my chasing it did not make
it hurry. Got miy first shot in about 250 yds [230m], a clear 1miss, as likewise was the
second, as the animal was going hard then. However, after running to a good
distance, perhaps 7 to 800 yds [685m], something in front seemed to startle it, and
it stood broadside on for a few seconds. This was my opportunity and I got in my
third shot. It was a mere chance as my Winchester rifle is only sighted up to 300
yds [275m}, but I did as I used to do in Australia when kangaroo shooting, cast up
above the object to what I reckoned was the elevation, and I found I had not
entirely lost my skill as I got it clean through the back part of the skull. It dropped
stone dead of course.

Undated 1st expedition letter from Forrest 10 Clementina

Separation
Hoping to hear from you next week with all the love I am capable of and heaps of
hugs and kisses from your own loving boy,
George.
My own sweet Clem. When will I have you in my arms again dear?
Undated 1st expedition letter from
Forrest to Clementina



APPENDIX 1

Chinese and Burmese Place Names

The spelling of Chinese place names has often varied, but since the time of Forrest the official system
for transcription has completely changed. In the text of this book the names are those used at the time.
The following lists show the names currently accepted.

Names used at the time of Forrest Names used today

PROVINCES AND REGIONS

Szechuan .. ... ... ... .. .. ... Sichuan
Tibet .. .. Xizang
Tsarong . ... ... Tsarong
Yunnan . ... e Yunnan

TOWNS AND HAMLETS

Atuntse, Atuntst, . ... ... ... ... Dechen, Deqen,
Atuntze, Atuntzu .. ... L. Degqin, Dequn
Bhamo .. ... ... ... ... .. o Bhamo
Chengtu . ............ ... ....... Chengdu
Chung-tien . ................. ... Zhongdian
Fengkou . . ....... ... ... ... ... .. .. Fengke
Hpimmaw . ... .. ... ... ... ... ... ... Pianma
Lhasa ... ... . ... ... .. Lhasa
Lichiang, Likiang . ... ................ Lijiang
Linping .. ... .. .. Litiping
Mengtze. Mengsi . . . ... oL Mengzi
Muli ... Muli
Myitkyina . ... ... oo oL Myitkyina
Ningpo . ......... ... ... ... ... ... Ningbo
Putao . ... .. ... Putao
Szemao .. ... ... Simao
Tachien-lu, Tatsien-lu . ... .. ... ... .. Kangding
Tali,Talifu ... ... o Dali
Tengyueh ... ... ... oo Tengchong
Tsekou ... ... Chigu
Wethst .. ... Weixi
Yungning . ... Yongning
Yunnan-fu ....... . ..o oL Kunming

Names used at the time of Forrest Names used today

RIVERS AND LAKES

LakeTali . ........ ... .. .. .. ...... Er Hai
Litang . ...... . ... ... ... Litang Qu
Mekong . ....... ... L Lancang Jiang
N'MaiKha . ......... ... ... .. N'Mai Kha
Salween, Salwin .. ........ ... ... .. Nu Jiang
Shweli . ... ... ... .. ... ... Longchuan Jiang
Taping . ... ... ... Daying Jiang
Yang-pi . . ... Yangbi Jiang
Yangtze (upper) .. ... ..., Jinsha Jiang
Yangtze (lower) . ........... .. ... Chang Jiang

MOUNTAINS AND PASSES

BeimaShan ... ... ... .. .. .. ... Beima Shan

Chimili (Chimili Alps) ... . .. (just north of Pianma)
Chungtien plateau .. .. ........ ... . Zhongdian
DokerLa ... ... .. .. ... ... ... Doker La
Karipass .. ... ..o (near Fugong)
Lichtang Range .. ............... Yulong Shan
Litiping . ....... .. Litiping (plateau east of Weixi)
Mount Omel .. .................. Emei Shan
Sung Kweipass ....... .. ... . ... .. Songgui
TaliRange . .. ................ ... Cang Shan
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APPENDIX 2

George Forrest (1873-1932) — A Chronology

13 Mar. Birth of George Forrest at
Falkirk, Scotland

Moves with his parents and sisters to
join his elder brother, James, in
Kilmarnock.

Actends Kilmarnock Academy until
1891.

14 Sept. George Forrest's facher dies.
Starts work at Rankin & Borland’s
pharmaceutical shop in Kilmarnock.
Inherits legacy and goes to Australia.
21 June. Hon. John Abercromby writes
to Prof. [. Bayley Balfour, Regius
Keeper. RBGE, on behalf of Forrest.
7 Sept. Forrest starts work in the
Herbarium of the RBGE.

Apr. Arthur K. Bulley of Ness
engages Forrest to collect seeds of
alpine and hardy plants in N.W.
Yunnan for Bees’ nursery.

May. Sets sail aboard S.S. Australia on
his 1st expedidon to Yunnan.

Sept. Reaches China Inland Mission
(CIM) at Tali (Dali). N.W.Yunnan.
Sept. to Nov. A “preliminary canter’
with Consul Litton to the Mckong
valley.

21 Jul. Lamas sack French Catholic
Mission at Tsekou in the Mekong
valley. Forrest flees with missionaries,
who are later murdered.

17 Aug. Foreign Office telegram
reports Forrest murdered on 21 July.
19 Aug. A further telegram reports
that Forrest is alive and safe.
Oct.-Dec. Exploration of the Upper
Salween with Consul Litton.

10 Jan. (approx.). Death of Consul
Litton.

Apr. Forrest returns to Scotland and
works in the Herbarium of the RBGE.
15 Jul. Marriage of George Forrest
and Clementina Traill at Rosslyn
Chapel.

14 Aug. Resigns from the RBGE.

5 Sept. Mects Charles Sargent,
Director of the Arnold Arboretum,
USA atVeitch's Nursery, Chelsea to
discuss collecting plants in N. China.
Nowv. Forrest declines Sargent’s offer.
26 Mar. Birth of George Forrest's
eldest son, George (jnr).

2 Jan. George Forrest's mother dies.
Jan. Funded by Bees’ nursery, Forrest
sails aboard $.8. Irrawwaddy on his 2nd
expedition to Yunnan, his last
expedition for a nurseryman.

21/23 Jan. Departs from Rangoon
on S.S. Amarapoora.

7 Jan. Birth of George Forrest’s
second son, John Eric.

Feb. (or late Jan.). Funded by

1913

1915

1915

1917

1918

1920

1921

1922

1923

1924

J.C. Williams of Caerhays Castle,
Cornwall, Forrest boards S.S. Martaban
for his 3rd expedition to Yunnan.
Clementina and sons move from
Glenkevock House, Lasswade to
Loaningdale, Peebles while Forrest in
Yunnan.

Jan./Feb. Departs from Rangoon on
S.S. Tenasserim.

20) Jul. Lectures to the RHS.

Nov. Family moves from
Loaningdale, Peebles to Broomhill
House, Lasswade.

11 Jan. Funded by a svndicate of seven
gendemen and the RHS. Forrest
departs aboard S.S. Chinduin on his
4th expedigon to Yunnan. His contract
includes making zoological collections.
8 Jul. Birth of GF’s third son.
Charles, at Broombhill House.

11 Aug. Plants lost when the Cirty of
Adelaide, bound for Liverpool from
Rangoon, is sunk by enemy
submarine in the Mediterrancan.

6 Feb. Forrest boards S.5. Sirtang
bound tor home

June. Elected Hon. Member of the
Rhododendron Society.

16th Nov. Lectures to the
Rhododendron Society.

30 Nov. Council of the RHS votes
to award Forrest the Victoria Medal
of Honour (VMH).

13 Dec. Notified that the
Massachusetts Horticultural Society
awards him the George Robert
White Medal of Honour for eminent
service to Horticulture.

20/21 Jan. Funded by J.C. Williams
and R. Cory, Forrest sets off on

S.S. Bhamo on his 5th expedition to
Yunnan.

Volume 148 of Curtis’s Boranical

1925

1926
1927

1928

1929

Magazine is dedicated to Forrest.  1929-30
30 Nov. Death of Professor

[. Bayley Balfour.

Mar. Returns to Britain. 1930

Nov. Lectures to the Rhododendron
Society.

20 Dec. Lectures to the Botanical
Society of Edinburgh.

Jan. Funded by J.C. Williams.

R. Cory and Lord Rothschild,
Forrest sails from Britain on his
6th expedition to Yunnan.
Clementina and sons move from
Broomhill House, Lasswade to

17, Inverleith Place, Edinburgh.
19 June. Forrest clected Fellow of
the Linnean Society.

Volume 88 of The Garden is
dedicated 1o Forrest.

1931
1932

21 Nov. Death of George Forrests
elder brother, James.

Mar. Returns to Britain,

July. Council elects Forrest as Hon.
Life Member of the new
Rhododendron Association.

20 Oct. Elected an Associate of the
Botanical Society, Edinburgh.

RHS awards Forrest the Veitch
Memorial Medal.

13 Jan. Lectures under the auspices of
the Botanical Society of Edinburgh.
16+ Feb. Mrs George Forrest elected
‘Ordinary Fellow and their two ¢lder
sons, George jor. and John Eric,
elected as ‘Ordinary Members' of the
Bounical Society of Edinburgh.

3 Mar. Lectures to the Kirkcaldy
Naturalists’ Sociery.

13 Mar. Lectures under the auspices
of the Botanical Society of
Edinburgh.

7 June. Discusses with Hon. H.D.
McLaren and Maj. FC. Stern the use
of his collectors to send seed from
Yunnan, whilst Forrest stays in
Britain.

June. Has eye operation.

23 Aug. Death of George Forrest's
sister, [sabella.

15 Nov. Lectures under the auspices
of the Botanical Society of
Edinburgh.

Autunin. Forrest’s collectors gather
seed in Yunnan for Hon. H.D.
McLaren.

Qctober. RHS awards Forrest the
Loder Rhododendron Cup for his
introduction of new and rare species
of Rhododendrons.

24 Oct. Lectures under auspices

of the Botanical Sociery of
Edinburgh.

Prof. W.W. Smith organises
subscriptions for Forrests 7th and
final expedition.

31 Jan. Lectures under auspices of the
Botanical Society of Edinburgh.

1 Feb. Purchase of Bellficld, Eskbank,
Midlothian. Forrest family move
from 17. Inverleith Place, Edinburgh.
25 May. Forrest visits Ireland.

19-21 Aug. Forrest visits Bodnant.
Nov. Funded by a syndicate of
thirty-nine sponsors, Forrest sails
with Maj. Lawrence Johnston of
Hidcote Manor, Gloucestershire, to
Rangoon.

Mar. Major Johnston returns carly.

6 Jan. Dies suddenly near Tengyueh
(Tengchong). Yunnan.



APPENDIX 3

The known sponsors of George Forrest

Contemporary documentary evidence shows that the following people and
institutions sponsored Forrest on expeditions to Yunnan. For expeditions three to
six written contracts exist and for the seventh expedition we have what appears to
be a complete list of subscribers in Forrest’s own hand.' Many who subscribed for
Forrest’s seeds shared some with their friends and later shared cuttings of the plants,
so having a plant with a Forrest number is no proof of having been a subscriber.
Where a sponsor had more than one garden, only one is listed below. Forrest’s
annual salary and the total cost of each expedition are given, if known.

Forrest’s 1st Expedition (1904-07)
A.K. Bulley’s nursery, Bees Ltd Ness, Neston, Cheshire
Forrest’s 2nd Expedition (1910-11)

A K. Bulley’s nursery, Bees Ltd Ness, Neston, Cheshire
Bulley was the original sponsor on behalf of Bees Ltd, but J.C. Williams paid Bees for
rhododendron and conifer seed. Forrest’s annual salary was £200 and Bees' total
expenditure was £933.95.4d.”

Forrest’s 3rd Expedition (1912-15)

J.C. Williams Caerhays Castle, Cornwall
Forrest’s salary was £500 per annum. He was also given a travelling allowance of £400 per
annum, passage monies of £50 each way, and itemised initial expenses of £166.95.6d. (in
Britam) and £142.4s.0d. (in Rangoon). The total cost of the three-year expedition was
£3.108.13.6d.

Forrest’s 4th Expedition (1917-20)

Sponsors listed on the original contract' are as follows. They are listed in order of the
amounts they contributed.

7 parts J.C. Williams Caerhays Castle, Cornwall
5 The Royal Horticultural Society Wisley. Surrey
3 R. Cory Duffryn, Carditt
2 Duke of Bedford Woburn Abbey, Bedfordshire
2 Sir J. T.D.-Llewellyn Penllergaer, Swansea
2 Col. Stephenson R. Clarke Borde Hill, Haywards Heath, Sussex
2 H.J. Elwes Colesborne, Gloucestershire
1 G.W.E. Loder Wakehurst Place, Ardingly, Sussex

One part comprised £20.16s.8d. for initial expenses and an annual payment of £50. Four
additional sponsors appear on a later list.' They joined later, when the expedition was
continued into 1919. Their individual contributions are nor given.

Lord Barrymore Fota, Carrigewohill. Co. Cork. Ireland
A.K. Bulley Ness, Neston, Cheshire
C.C. Eley East Bergholt Place, East Bergholt, Suftolk
M Yorke®

Forrest was paid an initial expenditure allowance of £500, a salary of £500 per anmun and
travelling expenses overseas of £700 per annum. The total cost of the three-year expedition
was £4,100.



Forrest’s 5th Expedition (1921-23)

Sponsors listed on a contract® are:

R. Cory Dutfryn, Cardifl
J.C. Williams Caerhays Castle, Cornwall
They contributed equal amounts, paying Forrest an initial expenditure allowance of £800,
a salary of £1,000 per annum and an expenditure allowance of £1,400 per annum. This
two-year expedition cost them a total of £5,600.

Col. Stephenson R. Clarke seems to have sponsored Forrest to collect birds, for Forrest
wrote to him in 1921 asking him to send him some new guns.”

Forrest’s 6th Expedition (1924-26)

Two contracts for this expedition have survived.” The first lists two sponsors:

R. Cory Duffryn, Cardiff
J.C. Williams Caerhays Castle, Cornwall
As for the 5th expedition, they paid Forrest an initial expenditure allowance of £800, a
salary of £1,000 per annum and an expenditure allowance of £1.400 per annum. In
addition there was an allowance for an assistant of £500 per annum. This two-vear
expedition cost them a total of £6,600.

In the second contract, Lord W. Rothschild of Tring, Hertfordshire agreed to pay Forrest a
salary of £375 per annum ‘to collect zoologically for a period of two years'.

The total cost to Rothschild was £750.

The McLaren syndicate helped by George Forrest (1929)

The sponsors were:”

2 shares = L£100  Hon. H.D. McLaren Bodnant, Tal-y-Catn, N.Wales
1 share = 50  Hon. R. James St. Nicholas, Richmond, Yorkshire
1 = 50 L. de Rothschild Exbury House, Exbury, Hampshire

1 "
Total £250

50 Sir EC. Stern

Highdown, Goring-on-Sea, Sussex

The RBGE received one share of seed gratis. Forrest was paid £50 for his services and a
gratuity of £40.105.0d., the amount left over after all expenses had been paid.

Forrest’s 7th Expedition (1930-32)

Spousors for seeds are listed in the order of their contributions:

L500:
The Royal Horticultural Society

Crosfield, JJ.
Johnston, Major L.W.
Rothschild, L. de

250:
Cory, R. (for RBGE)
L200:
Wilhiams, J.C.
L£125
Rothschild, L. de (for RBG Kew)
Bulley, A K.
Clarke, Col. Stephenson R.
McDouall, K.
McLaren, Hon. H.D.
Messel, Leonard C.R.,
Milner, Sir William
Stevenson, J.B.
Swaythling. Lord S.A.S.M.
L£100:
Bentley, W.
Berry, Mrs. A.C. UL
Cooke, R.B.

Wisley. Surrey

Embley Park. Romsey, Hampshire

Hidcote Manor, Campden, Gloucestershire
Exbury House, Exbury, Hampshire

Duffryn, Cardiff
Caerhays Castle, Cornwall

Exbury House, Exbury, Hampshire

Ness, Neston, Cheshire

Borde Hill, Haywards Heath. Sussex

Logan. Port Logan. Wigtownshire, Scotland
Bodnant, Tal-y-Cafn. N. Wales

Nymans, Handcross, Haywards Heath, Sussex
Parcevall Hall, Skipton, Yorkshire

Tower Court, Ascot, Berkshire

Townhill Park, West End, Southampton, Hampshire

48, Rickmansworth Road, Watford. Hertfordshire
Portland, Oregon, US.A.
Kilbryde, Corbridge, Northumberland

219
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Headfort, Marguess of Headfort, Kells, Co. Meath, Ireland

Heneage-Vivian, Admiral A.W. Clyne Castle, Blackspill, Swansea, Wales
Horlick, Le.-Col. J.N. Achamore, Isle of Gigha, Scotland
Johnstone, G.H. Trewithen, Probus, Cornwall
Kent. Sir S.H. Chapelwood Manor, Nutley, Sussex
Leconfield, Lady Petworth House, Petworth, Sussex
Loder, Gerald, W.E. Wakehurst Place, Ardingly, Sussex
MacEwen, Brig.-Gen. D.L. Corsock, Dalbeattie, Kirkcudbrightshire, Scotland
Ramsden, Sir J.E Muncaster Castle, Ravenglass, Cumbria
Sandeman, EID.S. The Laws, Kingennie, Angus, Scotland
Straker, Murs. Stagshaw House, Corbridge, Northumberland
Younger, H.G Kittoes, Bishopsteignton. Teignmouth, Devon
£62 10s:

James, Hon. R. St. Nicholas, Richmond, Yorkshire
Morley, Earl of Saltram, Plympton, Devon

50

Cox EH.M. Glendoick, Perthshire, Scotland
Renton, J.E. Branklyn, Perth, Scotland
Guiseppe. Dr J.PL. Trevose, Felixstowe, Suffolk
Londonderry, Marchioness of Mount Stewart, Newtownards, Co.Down, N.Ireland
Balfour, FRS Dawyck, Stobo, Peeblesshire, Scotland
Stirling-Maxwell, Sir J. Pollok House, Pollockshaws, Glasgow, Scotland
Stanley, Lady Beatrix Sibbertoft Manor, Market Harborough, Leicestershire

In addition, Lord Walter Rothschild of Tring. Hertfordshire, subscribed £500 for birds and
mammals to be collected for the British Museum (now the Natural History Museumy), London.
Counting Lionel de Rothschild once (he paid for himself and for Kew), Forrest had thirty-
nine sponsors for this expedition.

Summary

During his career Forrest had forty-six different sponsors, of whom thirty-six only
sponsored a single expedition. The total present-day (November 2003) value of sponsorship
was £1,020,000, of which 85% was provided by his seven largest sponsors, with nearly
three-quarters of the total being provided by just three men — J.C. Williams (36%), Arthur
Bulley (19%) and Reginald Cory (18%).

The top seven sponsors of George Forrest by number of expeditions
supported and total present-day value of sponsorship

J.C. Williams 5 expeditions £364,000
Arthur K. Bulley 4 190,000
Reginald Cory 4 186,000
Royal Horticultural Society 2 40,000
Lord Walter Rothschild 2 39,000
Lionel de Rothschild 2 23,000
Col. Stephenson R. Clarke 3 18,000
Total: L860,000

Notes:
1. Wherever possible, calalations are based on known written contracts and on data supplied by the
Bank of England on the value of £ 1 sterling from year to year. Bulley’s contributions o the first
expedition and 1o the last part of the fonnth have been estimated, as has Stephenson Clarke’s
contribution to the fifth.
2. Qualification: Spousored two or more expeditions with a total contribution having a present-day
value of at least £ 10,000
3. The money given by Lord Rothschild was purely for zoological collecting.
4. Lionel de Rothschild spensored Forrest on his final expedition and for the collection for the McLaren
spndicate of 1929,

With thanks to Robin Mclean



APPENDIX 4
Supplies for the Third Expedition (1912-15)

(as written in longhand by George Forrest)

List of necessary items for expedition which had best be procured here [Britain]: also other expenses

Passage to Rangoon from Liverpool,
train fare to Liverpool,
insurance of luggage, porterage, etc:
Medicine chest £7 10s
Automatic repeating fowling piece.
5 shot, 12 bore, full choke.
Double barrel fowling piece, 12 bore,
right cylinder, left choke.

Winchester repeating carbine, 12 shot. (40-41)

Colt repeating pistol -45.

Sundries, and cartridges for testing same.
Two axes.

Carborundum sharpening stone.
Camp bed x pattern.

Pillow for same.

Camp table and chair x pattern.
Rubber bath.

Oilskin coat and sou’wester.

Palm and needles for leather work.
Field note books, stationery etc.
Sheath knives.

Leather cases for mule travel.
Boots, special clothing etc.

A sufficient supply of stout linen-lined
envelopes for forwarding

seeds, address (to be given later) printed,
also a number of smaller

stout paper envelopes for the seeds
themselves, price indefinite?

Also 3-5,000 labels plus price of envelopes.

approx.

approx.

N)

[V

10

0

9

0
0

0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0

Ruby Reflex camera for hand work,
also wide angle Jens.

Places.

Cans for same, approx.

PO.P 7]

Chemicals etc., approx.

Seed envelopes, printing.

Articles best bought in Rangoon

Two Willesden canvas tents @ Rps 400.
Ammunition.

Mosquito curtain for camp bed.

Water Bottle.

Spare drugs, lancets, etc., approx.

Hotel expenses in Rangoon for 7 days.

Fare to Bhamo, cooly and cart hire & extras.

Stores to be bought at Bhamo and Rangoon.

Saddle and bridle.

Additional £6 14s for [?]
Saddle and bridle.

L s d
Stores Rangoon. 131 10 0
England. 141 9 6
Salary, allowance, etc. 2750 0 0O

£302219 6

£166

20
10

~J e

10
80

£131

D -

(SIS

0

0

0
0

0

0

0



1905

1907
1908
1908
* 1909
1909
1910
1910
1910
1910
1910
*1910
1910

1910

1910
1910

*1911
*1911

1911

1911
*1911

1911
*1911

1912

1912

1912

1912
1912

1915

1916

[
[
ta

APPENDIX 5
Publications by George Forrest

*Each of these items largely comprises notes of GF and one of his full-page illustrations. The
material is credited to him in the text, but his name does not appear at the foot of the note.

G.C. = The Gardeners’ Chronicle

6 Nov. Lama disturbances in North-west Yunnan:
Destruction of a French Mission. A Scotsman'’s personal
narrative, The Scotsman.

Gentianaceae from castern Tibet and south-west
China, Nores R.B.G. Edinburgh 4: 69-81.
Primulaceae from western Yunnan and eastern Tibet,
Notes R.B.GG. Edinburgh 4: 213-239.

Journey on the Upper Salwin, October-December
1905, The Geographical J. 32: 239-266.

20 Nov. Chinese primulas [Primula listcra, Prinwila
vincacflors and Primuda poissonii], G.C. 46: 344-345,
18 Dec. Cypripedivum tibeticunt and C. margaritaceun,
G.C.46: 419,

The land of the crossbow, National Geographic Magazine,
21: 132-156.

1 Jan. Lycoris aurea, G.C. 47:12.

8 Jan. Androsace spinulifera, G.C. 47:27.

15 Jan. Crawfurdia Trailliana, G.C. 47: 44.

22 Jan. Primula sonchifolia, G.C. 47: 58.

5 Mar. Our supplementary illustration [Primula
denticulata), G.C. 47:152.

26 Mar. Our supplementary illustration, Scenes in Tibet
and China, G.C. 47: 202.

21 May. The perils of plant-collecting, G.C. 47:
325-326.

28 May. The perils of plant-collecting (cont.), G.C.
47:344.

28 May. Rhododendron racemosum, G.C. 47: 343,
Gentianaceae novae Orienti-Tibeticae atque Austro-
Occidentali-Chinenses, Repert. Sp. Nor. Fedde 8:
152-157. (A republication of the descriptions of

10 species. originally published in Forrest, G., 1907.)
22 July. Meconopsis delavayi G.C. 50: 51-52.

19 Aug. Our supplementary illustration [Incarvillea
lutea}. G.C. 50:130.

16 Sept. Chinese primulas, Prinmla membranifolia and
P dryadifolia, G.C. 50: 207-209.

30 Sept. Primula Beesiana, Forrest, G.C. 50: 242-243.
11 Nov. Our supplementary illustration [Meconopsis
insegrifolia). G.C. 50: 339.

2 Dec. Iopyrum grandiflorum, G.C. 50: 391,

30 Dec. Our supplementary illustration | Privmila
lichiangensis), G.C. 50: 473.

11 Jan. Plant collecting in Western China, J. Horticulture
and Home Farmer, 64: 34-36.

10 Feb. Saussurca gossypiphora and 8. fencoma. G.C.
51:85.

13 Apnl. Our supplementary illustration {Primula
forresnit], G.C. 51: 240.

4 May. Rhododendrons in China. G.C. 51: 291-292.
11 May. Primula vincacflora and P pinnaiifida, G.C. 51:
320.

The flora of north-western Yunnan, J. Royal Horticultural
Soc., London 41: 200-208.

13 May. Primula blarariformis, G.C. 59: 254,

1916 27 May. Meliosma cunceifolia, Fr., G.C. 59: 279-280.
1916 2 Sept. New Chinese plants [Aster staticefolins], G.C.,

60: 116.

916 9 Sept. New Chinese plants [ Delphinium likiangense],
G.C. 60:129.

1916 28 Qct. Didissandra lanyuginosa, Clarke, G.C, 60:
205-206.

1916 Notes on the flora of north-western Yunnan, J. Roeyal

Horticultural Soc., London 42: 39-46.

1917 Contribution to Millais, J.G., Rhedodendrons and the
various liybrids. Longman, pp.18-25.

1917 15 Sept. Flora of the Chinese-Tibet borderland, G.C.
62: 105.

1917 27 Oct. Plant collecting in China, G.C. 62: 165-166.

1917 Plant hunting in Upper Burmah. The flora of Yunnan
and Upper Burmah, Garden 81: 346-347.

1918 26 Jan. Plant collecting in China, G.C. 63: 31-33.

1920 A lecture by Mr. George Forrest on recent discoveries
of thododendrons in China, Rhred. Soc. Notes 2: 3-23.

1923 Some Meconopsis of Yunnan, (1), Counrry Life 54:
614-615. (1), Conntry Life 54: 632-653.

1923 Rhododendrons of 1921 and 1922 and some trees and
shrubs of Yunnan, Rhod. Soc. Notes 2:147-158.

1924 Exploration of N.W.Yunnan and S.E.Tibet. 1921-1922,
J. Royal Horticultiiral Soc., London 49: 25-36.

1924 The exploradons and work of George Forrest (pp.16-19)
and Exploration for Rhododendron. 1917-22 (pp.19-26)
in Millais, J.G., Rhododendrons and the various hybrids,
Longman, 2nd edition.

1927 Magnolias of Yunnan. In Millais, J.C.. Magnolias,
Longman, pp.31-40.

1932 Primula klaveriana, New Flora & Silva 5:51-52,

Joint publications by W.W. Smith and G. Forrest

1916 New garden Dracocephalums from China, Trans. Bot.
Soc., Edinburgh 27: 89-93.

1923 New Primulaceae, Notes R.B.GG. Edinburgh 14: 31-36.

1927 Some new Asiatic Primulaceae, Notes R.B.G. Edinburgh
15:247-258.

1928 The sections of the genus Primula, Nores R.B. G.
Ediburgh 16: 1-50. (Reeprinted with alterations in
J. Royal Horticultural Soc., London 54: 4-50 (1929))

Joint publication by H.F. Tagg and G. Forrest
1927 New species and varicties of Asiatic rhododendrons,
Notes R.B.G. Edinburgh 15: 305-320.

Publications by others in which Forrest’s help is

acknowledged

Stevenson, J.B. (Edit.), The species of Rhododendron, The
Rhododendron Society, 1930,

Taylor, George, An account of the genns Meconopsis, New Flora and
Sylva Lud.. London. 1934,



APPENDIX 6
Plants introduced to Britain by Forrest and available today

This is not a comprehensive list, but the following are all available in commerce in the UK and
most of the plants have many suppliers, according to the RHS Plant Finder. a Plant Directory
compiled by The Royal Horticultural Society. Forrest may not have been the first person to
introduce them to cultivation, nor does it follow that stocks available today are derived from his
introductions, but at some stage he did introduce all of them. Plants with awards (particularly the
AGM) and with names related to Forrest have been given priority.

Non Rhododendrons

Abies forrestii (syn. A. delavayi)

Acer davidii (particularly
‘George Forrest” AGM)

*Adenophora bulleyana

* Allivum beesianum AGM

* Allivm forrestii

Anemone rupicola

* Arisaema candidissimum

Arisaema consangineum

*Berberis jamesiana

Buddleja fallowiana (var. alba has
AGM)

*Buddleja forrestii

Camellia salucnensis

Cardiocrinumi giganteum var.
yunnanense

Clematis armandii

Clematis chrysocoma

*Codonopsts bulleyana

Cynoglossum amabile AGM

Daphne odora

Daphne tangurica Rctusa group
(syn. D. retusa) AGM

Gentiana orcodoxa

*Gentiana sino-ornata AGM

*Hypericum forrestii (syn. H.
patulum var. forrestit) AGM

Incarvillea delavayi

*carvillea delavayi ‘Bees' Pink’

Incarvillea mairei var. grandiflora

*Iris bullcyana

Iris chrysographes AM AGM

Iris delavayi AGM

*Iris forrestii AM AGM

* Jasminum beesianum

Jasminum polyanthum

Litium damdii AGM

Lilivm lankongense

*Magnolia campbellii subsp.
mollicomata (syn. A,
mollicomata)

Meconopsis integrifolia

Nomocharis aperta (syn. N. forrestit)

Nomocharis pardanthing (syn. N.
maires)

Nomocharis saluencensis

Osmanthus delavayi (syn.
Siphonosmanthis delarayi) AGM

Osmanthus yunmanensis (syn. O.
Sorrestir)

Paeonia delavayi AGM

Paeonia delavayi var. lutea

Paraquilegia anemonoides

Picea likiangensis

*Pieris fornosa var. forrestii (some
forms AM FCC AGM)

Pimis armandii

*Primula aurantiaca

*Primula bulleyana ssp. becsiana

*Primula bulleyana AGM

Primula burmanica

Primula cernna AM

Primula chionantha subsp.
sinopurpurea

Primula chionantha subsp.
chionantha AM AGM

Primula chungensis AGM

Primula deflexa

Primula flaccida (syn. P nutans)
AGM

* Prisnula_forrestii

Prinnila malacoides

Prinula muscarioides

Primula obconicu

Primula poissonii

Primula polyncura

*Prinwila prolifera (syn. P
helodoxa) AGM FCC

Primula secundiflora

Primula stkkimensis

Primula sonchifolia

Primula vialii (syn. Plittoniana)
AGM

*Prinntla wilsonii var. anisodora
(syn. P anisodora)

Rheum alexandrae

Rhododendron — see separate list

Roscoea cautleyoides AGM

*Roscoea humeana AGM

*Salvia bulleyana

*Sorbus forrestii

Trollius chinensis

Trollius pumilus

Trollius yunnancnsis

Through specialist societies and
certain individuals it is possible
to obtain hardy Chinese plant
material (plants or seeds) by
exchange or as a gift. For
example, the following plants,
that were introduced by

Forrest, are not now generally
commiercially available, but may
be obuined.

*Androsace bulleyana
Androsace spinulifera
*Camellia forrestii
Carmellia reticulata
*Codonopsts forrestii
*Cotoncaster forrestii
Daphne aurantiaca
Daphne caleicola
*Dracocephalum forrestii
*Gentiana georgei
*incarvillea forrestii
*Hemerocallis forrestii
*Magnolia nitida
*Magnolia rostrata
Meconopsis delavayi
Meconopsis pseudointegrifolia
Plcione albiflora
*Pleivne x confusa
Pleione grandiflora
*Podocarpus forrestii
*Rheum forrestii

Rhododendrons

This list has a bias towards
plants that have received
awards (AGM. AM or FCC),
those with partcular
connection to Forrest, perhaps
by the name, those with very
distinctive character, and those
that are commonly available.

*adenogynum

*arizelum (rex ssp. arizelum)

*halfourianum

burcavii AM

calostrotum ssp. keletiaum (syn.
radicans)

campylogymuim AGM

*clementinac

*cuncatum

cyanocarpiim AM

deconimt AGM

*dichreanthum AM

*forrestii var. repens FCC

*fultum AM AGM

*alischrum

*griersonianum FCC

hacmatodes FCC

heliolepis

hippophacoides AM

*impedinon AM

irroratum

lacteun FCC

lepidostylum

maddenii ssp. crassum  (syn.
crassum)

megeratum

*oreofrephes

*orthocladum

*phacochrysum

*pronum

*proteoides

*protistum

*pubescens

*rex ssp. fictolacteum

*roxieanum var. oreonasics AGM

rubiginosum

*rupicola

*russatum FCC AGM

saluencnse AM

*saluenense ssp. chamaennum

scabrifolium

selense

*sinogrande FCC AGM

*sperabile

*taggianum

*telimateium

tephropeplimn AM

*railliarmim

trichocladum

trichostomum

*valentinianum AM

wardii AM

yunnanense

AGM
AM
FCC

Award of Garden Merit
Award of Merit

First Class

Certificate

* New species

With thanks to David Rankin
and Peter Cunnington for Non
Rhododendron lists.

With thanks to David Rankin
and Ken Hulme for
Rhododendron list.
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APPENDIX 7

The most important cultivars raised directly from

Forrest’s Rhododendron species

(a) Rhododendron griersonianum has been the direct parent of 159 garden hybrids. Introduced in
1917, it is sensitive to low temperatures. Hybridising with hardier species has combined its qualities
of colour and floriferousness with an ability to grow in a wide range of conditions. As it flowers
later than most species, its hybrids also extend the season of garden display. Thirty-four of the 159
hybrids with R. griersonianum as a direct parent have been given horticultural awards by the RHS:

*Aladdin’ AM ‘Guielt’ AM ‘Romany Chal’
‘Arthur Osborn’ AM ‘Ivanhoe’ AM ‘Romarez’
‘Dorinthia’ FCC Jeritsa® AM ‘Rosabel’
*Elizabeth’ AM,FCC  ‘Jibut’ AM ‘Saltwood’
‘EC.Puddle’ AM “Karckov’ AM ‘Sarita Loder’
‘Fabia’ AM ‘Laura Aberconway’ AM ‘Tally Ho’

‘Fire Flame’ AM  ‘Master Dick’ AM  ‘Tensing’
‘Fusilier’ AM, FCC ‘Matador’ AM, FCC ‘Tortoiseshell Wonder'
‘Glamour’ AM ‘May Day’ AM ‘Vanessa’
*‘Goblin’ AM ‘Mrs Leopold de Rothschild® AM “Vulcan’
‘Grenadine’ AM, FCC *QOuida’ AM ‘Winsome’
‘Gretia’ AM  ‘Romany Chai’ AM

AM, FCC
AM
AM
AM
AM

FCC
AM
AM

FCC
AM
AM

(b) Rhododendron forrestii has been the direct parent of thirty-eight hybrids, of which eight have

been acclaimed by horticultural awards by the RHS:

"Badeilsen’ AM ‘Little Ben’ FCC ‘Red Lacquer’
‘Ethel’ FCC ‘Little Bert’ FCC “Spring magic’
‘Fascinator’ AM Red Carpet’ AM

(¢) Four well-known hybrids with Rhododendron impedituni as a direct parent:

‘Blue Star’ ‘Little Imp’
‘Blue T1t’ ‘St Tudy AM

(d) Rhododendron russatumn is a direct parent of ‘Bue Chip’
(e) Rhiododendron roxicanum is a direct parent of ‘Blewbury’
() Rhododendron sinogrande is a direct parent of *Fortune’

Source: H.E. Salley & H.E. Greer, Rhododendron Hybrids, 1992, Batsford.

AM
AM

With thanks to Ken Hulme
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APPENDIX 8
People honoured in the names of Forrest’s plants

Forrest’s newly discovered plants had to be named. He had a large network of friends and relatives
to whom he felt indebted for their assistance and support. Naming plants after them was a plant
collector’s way of saying ‘thank you'. The list gives examples, and includes some named after Bulley
or Bees for commercial purposes. Most, but not all of the names are still used today.

Forrest’s Family RBGE gardeners killed in WWI
Wife: Buddlcja fallowiana
Clhirita trailliana Roscoca humeana
Gentiana trailliana
Rhododendron clementinac Sponsors
Tratlliaedoxa Bulleyia yunnancnsis
Androsace bulleyana
Brother and sisters: Diapensia bulleyana
Androsace graceac Iris bulleyana
Berberis jamesiana Primula bulleyana
Dracocephahum isabellae Beesia calthaefolia
Allium beesianum
Father-in-law: Jasmintim beesianum
Rhododendron traillianum Primula bulleyana spp.beesiana
Rlododendron beesiantm
Missionaries Salvia bulleyana and others
Primula dubernardiana
Rhododendron genestieriaman Primula coryana
Rhododendron roxicanum Lignstrum coryanum
Rhedodendron valentinianum Rhododendron corpanum

Others in the Far East
Primula littoniana (British Consul, Tengyueh)  (J.C.Williams put an embargo on any of Forrest’s plants
Rhiedodendron albertseniamim being named after him.)
(Customs officer, Tengyuch)
Rhododendron gricrsonianm
(Customs officer, Tengyueh) Sponsor’s gardener
Rihwdodendron mackenzianum (Friend, Rangoon) Rhododendron martinianum
Rhododendron meddiansim (.C. Williams® gardener at Caerhays)
(Agent of the Irrawaddy Flotilla Co., Bhamo)



APPENDIX 9

Plants and animals named after George Forrest

An impressive tally of plant species is named forrestii after George Forrest, with variations of forrestiana
and georgei. On the basis of Index Kewensis, more than one hundred genera have species named after
George Forrest. The following list gives a guide, although the exact number is not given, as through
time some species have been put into a different genus, and are mentioned twice. There are many
subspecies and varieties named after him, but only a few famous ones in cultivation are given.
Some animals were named after him as forresti. As in the plants, many of the names have been
changed more recently, or the species reduced to subspecies. Examples of mammals named forresti
in the Natural History Museum, London, are listed in Appendix 10. Birds and a dragonfly named

after him are given below.

PLANTS

Genera with a _forrestii species named after George Forrest:

Abics
Abutilon
Acer
Aconitrmn
Acronema
Actinodaphne
Adenophora
Agapetes
Ajuga
Allantodia
Allirm
Amitostignia
Angelica
Arenaria
Artentisia
Arundinaria
Aster
Astragalus
Begortia
Berberis
Berula
Braya
Buddleja
Cacalia
Caniellia

Caragana
Carex

Carum
Caryopteris
Cheiranthus
Chelonopsis
Chirita
Chrysosplenium
Cirsinunm
Clematis
Chtlctts
Corallodrsas
Cotonceaster
Craibiodendron
Cremanthodium
Cymbidium
Cynanchum
Cypripedinm
Daisiva
Delphinim
Didymacarpus
Diospyros
Distephanus
Delomiaca
Dracoccphalum

Duhaldea Isodon Onosma Polygonnm Serratula
Dumasia Itea Orchis Potentitla Sinarundinaria
Epilobium Jurinca Orcocharis Primulda Sloanca
Enonymus Lactica Ornithoboca Psendotsiga Swmiilacina
Euphrasia Laportea Osmantlhs Preracanthus Sorbus
Festuca Leprodermis Otochilus Prerocarya Staphylea
Galitom Lespedeza Parasenecio Pucraria Strobilanthes
Ganiga Lifitm Paris Pyrorchis Swertia
Gentiana Linnaca Parrya Rabdosia Symiplocos
Geraninm Liparis Pentapanax Randia Syzyginim
Gueldenstacdtia Litsca Perantha Rhanmella Taraxacum
Gurzlaffia Lloydia Peristylus Rherm Thea
Habenaria Lomatogoniim Petrocosniea Riwdiola Theopsis
Hedychium Loxostigma Phlomis Riwdodendron Tibetia
Hencrocallis Lysionotus Phlomoides Rhodoleia Tovaria
Hemipilia Maianthemm Phocbe Roettlera Trachydium
Heraclenm Maunglietia Phyllanthus Rosa ‘Tremacron
Herminiin Margbensonia Physospermopsis Roscoca Tiipteryeium
Hibiscus Meconopsis Pieris Salix Tsuga
Hircttlus Meliosma Pimpinella Salvia Utricularia
Hydrocotyle Micronla Piptanthus Saxifraga Faccinium
hmpatiens Aonorchis Plectranthus Schima I'ernonia
Incarvillea Nomocharis Pleione Scrophularia I-eronica
Indigofera Omphalodes Plewrogyne Setrtellaria incetoxicrim
Inula Omphalogramma  Podocarpus Sedun 1adimiria

Popular plants in cultivation named
forrestii after George Forrest

Acer pectinatim subsp. forrestii
Pieris formosa var. forrestii

Genera with a forrestiana species
named after George Forrest

Andrasace
Avristolocliia
Jasmiimn
Leontopoditm
Pedicularis
Pyrola
Rosw
Riutbus
Vil
Fittara
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Genera with a georgii or georgei
species named after George Forrest

Doloniaea
Gentiana
Jurinea
Saxifraga

Iladimiria

The author is grateful to the Trustees of
the RBG Kew for use of the Index
Kewensis on CD-ROM and Index
Filicales, with thanks to John Edmondson,
Rosemary Davies and Peter Edwards.

DRAGONFLY named after George
Forrest

Ternmogomphus forresti

BIRDS named after George Forrest

Dryocopus_forresti

Fulvetta chrysotis forresti
lfanthocincla forresti

Phylloscopus proregrlus forresti
Strepropelia chinensis forresti
Xiphithynchus superciliaris forresti

With thanks to Edward Dickinson and
Mary LeCroy.

Source: M.LeCroy & E.C.Dickinson,
“Systematic notes on Asian birds. .
17.Tvpes of birds collected in Yunnan by
George Forrest and described by Walter
Rothsehild. Zool. Terh. Leiden 335, 2001,
183-198.



at the

20 Taxa described as new:

Original names
Apodenus ilex Thomas
Crocidura praedax Thomas
Dremomys pernyi lichiensis Thomas
Eothenomys fidelis Hinton
Eothenomys melanogaster
confinii Hinton
Eothenontys proditor Hinton
Microtus clarkei Hinton**
Nasillus investigator Thomas
Neodon forresti Hinton*

APPENDIX 10)
Forrest’s mammal collection

Natural History Museum, London

Current names

Apodesus sylvaticus ilex
Cracidura fuliginosa

Dremomys pernyi periy
Eothenontys melanogaster miletus
Eothenomys melanogaster sleusis

Uropsilus soricipes investigator
Pitymys Irene forresti

Nycterenttes procyonoides orestes Thomas

Ochotona forresti Thomas*

Ochotona thibetana sacraria Thomas
Preromys alborufus ochraspis Thomas
Petaurista clarkei Thomas**

Rattus ¢ha ninus Thomas

Rupestes forresti Thomas*

Tadarida teniotis caccata Thomas
Tamiops clarkei Thomas**

Tamiops maritinus forresti Thomas*
Trogopterus edithac Thomas

Ochotona (2) pusilla_forrests
Ochotona thibetana thibetana
Petaurista alborufus alborfus
Petaurista elegans clarkei
Niniventer cha

Scinrotamias forresti

Tamiops swinhocl clarkei

Trogopterus xanthipes edithae

*named in honour of George Forrest
**named in honour of his patron Col. Stephenson R.Clarke

All these animals were collected by

Original names from the Mammal Section Register. Natural History Museum, London.

George Forrest, in Yunnan, S.W. China. 1918-22.

English names
wood mouse
shrew

Perney’s long- nosed syuirrel

vole
vole

vole

field vole

Chinese shrew-mole
vole

raccoon dog

pika

pika

giane flying squirrel
giant flying squirrel
rat

Forrest’s rock squirrel
free-tailed bat
Swinhoe's striped squirrel

flying squirrel

o
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